
P.T.O. 
 

 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov .uk 

Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010 

 

  

 

AGENDA 
for a 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 
Tuesday, 8 February 2022 at 2.00 pm  

 Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek, ST13 6HQ 
 

Contact Officer: Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
or Tel: 01538 395613 

 
 

Membership 

Councillors:-  

 S. Ralphs MBE 
M. Deaville 
M. Bowen 

T. Hall 
A. Hart 

J. Porter 
S. Scalise 

Leader of the Council (Chair) 
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader) 
Communities 

Customer Services 
Property and Tourism 

Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Environment 

 

 

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise. 
 

1. Apologies  

2. Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 3 - 6) 

3. Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)  

4. Declarations of Interest, if any  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. Other Interests 

5. Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any (Pages 7 - 16) 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 

scanning the code below: 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

A G E N D A  (Continued) 
 

 

6. Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with 
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any  

7. Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any  

8. Leader  

8 .1 Forward Plan (Pages 17 - 34) 

8 .2 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2021/22 
(Pages 35 - 76) 

8 .3 2022/23 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26 (Pages 
77 - 176) 

8 .4 Staffordshire Leaders Board / County Deal (Pages 177 - 198) 

8 .5 The Queen's Platinum Jubilee Grant Fund (Pages 199 - 202) 

8 .6 Access to Services, Digital and Organisational Development Strategies 
(Pages 203 - 268) 

8 .7 Appointments to Outside Bodies  

9. Communities  

9 .1 Developer Contributions SPD issues and options (Pages 269 - 300) 

10. Leisure and Sports  

10 .1 Sports Grants Scheme (Pages 301 - 306) 

10 .2 Rural Sports Villages (Pages 307 - 314) 

11. Property and Tourism  

11 .1 Car Parking Strategy (Pages 315 - 436) 

12. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 The Chair to Move:- 
 

“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely 
that confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would 

be disclosed to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt 
information as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.” 

13. Property and Tourism  

13 .1 Facilities Management Joint Venture (Pages 437 - 480) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 

any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
) 

 



 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CABINET DECISIONS 
 

TUESDAY, 7 DECEMBER 2021 
 

PRESENT: Councillor S E Ralphs MBE (Chair)   

 
 Councillors M Bowen, M Deaville, T Hall, A Hart and J Porter 

 
IN ATTEDNANCE: Councillors G Bentley, B Cawley, N Hawkins, T Holmes. K Hoptroff, 

I Plant and P Roberts,  

 
APOLOGIES: Councillor S Scalise 

 
33 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED) 

 

DECISION: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 5 October 2021 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 

34 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY 
 

There were no declarations of interest made. 
 

35 FORWARD PLAN 

 
DECISION: 

 

That the Forward Plan be approved for publication. 
 

36 SECOND QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2021/22 

 

The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th September (“Second 

Quarter 2021/22”).   The report was considered by the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel on 17 November 2021.  The position was summarised as follows: 
 

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Second Quarter were: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the Second Quarter stage the General Fund projected outturn for 

2021/22 was an underspend of £1,719,820 including £1.5m in 

Section31 grants, which would need to be placed into reserves at 

year-end for distribution via the Collection Fund in future years. 

Efficiency Programme 

 At Quarter Two £633,000 in savings had been taken against the 

2021/22 general fund efficiency target of £830,430. It was 

Appendix A 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet - 7 December 2021 
 

 
 

anticipated that there would be a £167,000 shortfall in the year. 

Capital Programme 

 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 was £4.83 

million including the carry forward of capital underspends from 

2020/21.  The projected outturn for the year at Quarter Two was 

£4.71million; an underspend of £0.12million. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 30 September 2021 totalled £21.7 million. 

The Ascent loan and debenture currently stood at £19 million. 

 Council borrowing at 30 September 2021 totalled £12 million 

(relating to the Ascent loan) 

 The Council’s net interest income receipts for the year was forecast 

to  exceed the  budget by £4,000 at the Quarter Two stage. 

Revenue Collection 

 55.88% of Council Tax was collected by 30 September 2021 

compared to 55.60% for the same period last year (56.34% in 

2019/20) 

 44.95% of Business Rates was collected by 30 September 2021 

compared to 50.32% for the same period last year (55.57% in 

2019/20) 

 At the end of the Second Quarter debt that was over 60 days old 

was £53,157 which compared with £101,700 at 30 September 2020.  

 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Second Quarter were: 

 18 procurement activities were completed  

 The Procurement forward plan included 36 procurement activities 

for completion in 2021/22 (either SMDC only or joint) 

 At the 30 September 2021, 51% of procurement activity 

undertaken was on the forward plan. 

 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the Second Quarter were: 

 80% of the key performance indicators were on track (34% are 

better than the previous year) 

 The Council received 36 complaints, 102 comments and 28 

compliments 

 Priority Actions - 15 green, 2 amber, 1 completed, 15 grey 

 

Appendix C 

 

Options considered: 
 

Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report. 
 

 
 

 
 Page 4



Cabinet - 7 December 2021 
 

 
 

DECISION:  
 

1. That the Second Quarter 2021/22 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the 
covering report be noted. 

 
2. That the write offs set out in Appendix D of the report be approved. 

 
 

37 ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 

 

The report presented the Council’s Annual Report for 2020/21, this was a core 

document which compared Staffordshire Moorlands’ performance and costs with 
councils in the West Midlands region and nationally; and highlighted further action 
where needed.   

 
The report was considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 17 

November 2021. 
 

Options considered: 
 

The report was for information. 
 
DECISION:  

 

That the findings of the benchmarking exercises and the additional Priority Actions of 

the Corporate Plan suggested for the following 12 months be noted. 
 

38 SMDC DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE PART 2 PLAN 

 

The report presented the Council’s approach to tackling the climate change 

emergency and incorporated a number of updates following consideration by the 
Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 15 November 2021 (to include further 
reference to social prescribing, rural transport, use of solid fuel, the importance of 

our peatland, and targets for vehicle emissions and waste). 
 

Options considered: 
 

None were identified. 
 
DECISION:  
 

That the Climate Change Strategy 2021 – 2030 be approved. 

 
39 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED: 

 

That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 

transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public 
in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 

Page 5



Cabinet - 7 December 2021 
 

 
 

100 I (1)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by 
virtue of the Paragraphs indicated. 

 
40 SECOND QUARTER 2021/22 FINANCE, PROCUREMENT & 

PERFORMANCE REVIEW - APPENDIX D 

 

The Cabinet approved a report that sought to write off balances which were deemed 

non recoverable. 
 

41 PURCHASE OF CHEADLE MARKET HALL 

 

The Cabinet approved a report with regards to the possible purchase of Cheadle 

Market Hall. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 3.17 pm 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

_________________________________Chairman  

Page 6



 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

SERVICE DELIVERY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
PANEL MEETING 

 

Minutes 
 

WEDNESDAY, 26 JANUARY 2022 
 

PRESENT: Councillor R Ward (Chair)   
 

 Councillors G Bentley, C Brady, B Emery, K Flunder, N Hawkins, 
I Herdman, K Hoptroff, B A Hughes, L Page, H Plimley, D Price, 

P Roberts and J Salt 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Councillor M Bowen, M Deaville, A Hart, K Martin, J Porter, 

S E Ralphs MBE, L Swindlehurst, P Wilkinson, N Yates, J T Jones, 
C J S Atkins, M Gledhill, I Plant and P Routledge 

 
APOLOGIES: Councillors J Aberley, H Sheldon MBE and P Wood 
 

17 NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS, IF ANY. 
 

Substitute members were as follows:-  
 

- Councillor Martin for Councillor Bentley 

- Councillor Wilkinson for Councillor Wood 
- Councillor Yates for Councillor Page 

- Councillor Swindlehurst for Councillor Salt. 
 

18 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING. 

 

RESOLVED:   

 
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 3 November 2021, be approved as 
a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS:- 

 

 
The following declarations of interest were made: 

 
Agenda No. Member Declaring 

Interest 
Nature of Interest 

Agenda Item 10 – Car 

Park Strategy 

Cllr Wilkinson   Other – Business 

owner of  premise 
situated on High Street, 

Cheadle. 

Cllr Routledge Other – Morrison’s 
employee. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

Agenda Item 9 - Rural 

Sports Villages 

Councillor Porter Other – One of the 

applications for outdoor 
sports capital funding 

was within his ward. 

 
20 QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS, IF ANY. 

 
Questions received from Councillor Bentley: - 
Q1. “The Support Businesses Christmas Leaflet to promote shops costing, I believe, 

£17,000. Who put this together?” 

 
Response from Councillor Ralphs: The print and distribution of the guide was 

undertaken by a reputable firm which the Council had previously contracted to 
undertake this type of work. Every household in the Moorlands should have received 

a copy and I have received compliments about the guide. A further hospitality & food 
guide was currently being produced by the Council.  

 
Councillor Bentley reported that only a few residents and businesses in Cheadle had 
received this guide, to which Councillor Ralphs was sorry to hear and asked if he 

could keep her updated on the receipt of the hospitality and food guide in Cheadle 
once it has been distributed. 

 
Q2. “Who put the leaflet together that is in theatres bars clubs etc, called Discover 

Staffordshire? What is the cost and why there is there no mention of Cheadle 

on there at all?” 
 
Response from Councillor Ralphs: This leaflet had not been produced by SMDC. 

 
The lack of any mention of Cheadle within the leaflet was a concern to Councillor 

Bentley and he thought that the Council made a financial contribution to the 
organisation that had produced the leaflet.  
 
Question received from Councillor Cawley: 
Q3. “My wife and I spent a day in Bollington recently. We visited the Discovery 

Centre, a local history museum, in the Clarence Mill which has been open since 
the summer and which is funded by local authorities in East Cheshire. 
Other museums and heritage centres are open in close proximity to Leek and 

have been for some time in other towns and cities in Staffordshire as well as 
Cheshire and Derbyshire. 

Why does the Nicholson Museum and Art Gallery remain closed to the 
detriment of tourism in Leek as well as handicapping local history and family 
research?” 

 
Response from Councillor Ralphs: I regret that the Nicholson Museum and Art 

Gallery had to temporarily close due to the pandemic. However, an ambitious 
programme of events is planned from February 2022, when the Nicholson is due to 
reopen. 

 
On behalf of Councillor Cawley, Councillor Gledhill explained, that he had secured 

an offer for items to come on loan from the Victoria and Albert Museum, but he had 
not received a response from senior officers at the Council. He requested for this 
project to be considered. In response, the Leader advised, that she hadn’t received 

any communication from Councillor Cawley in relation to this matter. Page 8



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

Plans were in place for a William Morris Exhibition which had been planned a year in 
advance.  

 
In response to the second question around tourism and the Tourist Information 
Centre (TIC), Councillor Ralphs explained, the relocation of the TIC was due to the 

high cost of the site when situated on the Market Place and the type of work 
undertaken by the staff had changed, as tourists independently carried out research 

on the internet. There were plans to relocate the TIC to Moorlands House and a 
report would be available in the near future.  
 
Question received from Councillor Yates: 
Q4.   Plots 12-14 Victoria Business Park, Biddulph 

  
“I note that the special conditions with regards to establishing suitable ground 
conditions prior to the commencement of the above development have been 

signed off. Could you please confirm whether these were confirmed via a 
physical intrusive site investigation (drilling or test pits), or via a desktop, written 

survey, i.e, the Coal Authority Mine Entry Interpretive Report 15.2.21, with no 
physical intrusive investigation having taken place?” 

 
Response from Councillor Bowen: 

Prior to discharging the conditions attached to the planning permission we consulted 

with the Coal Authority as it was them who recommended that the condition be 
attached. They had no objections to the discharge of conditions stating: 
 

“The applicant has submitted a Factual Report (March 2002, prepared by Forkers 
Ltd) in support of the discharge of the aforementioned condition. On the basis that 

the Coal Mining Risk Assessment (August 2018, prepared by Wardell Armstrong), 
which accompanied the planning application was able to discount any risks posed by 
the recorded mine entries, and that the Report is able to confirm that the shallow 

coal mine workings previously identified underlying the site have been consolidated, 
the Coal Authority would have no objection to the LPA discharging Condition 

12.” 
 

The Forkers Report was based on an intrusive physical investigation. Paragraph 

2.2.1 of the report states: 
 

“Six hundred and ninety one boreholes were dri lled with a Krupp rotary 
percussive drilling head and mast located on a modified JCB 814 360 degree 
hydraulic excavator. 70mm diameter drilling bits were used with water as a 

flushing agent. The holes were drilled to depths of between 10m and 45m 
with 101mm diameter steel casing installed to rockhead in each borehole.” 

 

An apparent lack of response from senior officers in relation to this matter and the 
sale price of the land was queried, to which Neil Rodgers – Director (Place), agreed 

to investigate and provide a detailed response after the meeting. This would be 
circulated to all members of the Panel.  

 
Question received from Councillor Wilkinson: 
Q5. “The proposed car parking strategy for Cheadle will be detrimental to local 

residents and businesses.  Why are SMDC recommending a strategy that the 
communities of Cheadle and Checkley are opposed to?” 
 

Page 9



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

Response from Councillor Hart: It’s difficult to reply to a statement and this matter 

will be scrutinised as part of the main agenda item on the Car Parking Strategy. 

Substantial consultation has taken place in Cheadle and some aspects have been 
accommodated within the Strategy. 
 

By way of supplementary questions, Councillor Wilkinson agreed that consultation 
had taken place in Cheadle, but his view was that opinions had not been listened to. 

The Portfolio Holder advised that comments had been taken on board and 
accommodated as best as possible, within the proposed strategy. The Panel was 
given assurance that there was no hidden agenda to redevelop the car park.  

 
Question received from Councillor Swindlehurst: 

Q6. “At a meeting of a Service Delivery Overview and Scrutiny Panel in September 

2019 the transfer of 11 sites to Staffordshire Wildlife Trust with a promised 
saving of £54,000 per year to SMDC. My colleague Cllr. Page posed a question 

365 days ago to the Portfolio Holder asking what progress had been made with 
the transfer of Wetley Moor Common which is jointly owned by SMDC and 

Stoke on Trent City Council. We were assured progress is being made towards 
a conclusion. I have asked on several occasions in the year since about 
progress to be told it is progressing.  This transfer has implications related to 

the Green Infrastructure plan and is also the very costly exercise to SMDC). 
So, my question is… 

 

Can members be updated about progress that has been made on the transfer 
of Wetley Moor Common to Staffordshire Wildlife and when will this transfer 

materialise?” 
 
Response from Councillor Porter: 

I’m pleased to be able to advise that progress with this project has gained pace in 
recent months. The work programme for this committee includes a report for 

members of this panel at the meeting due to be held on the 16 th March 2022. This 
report will detail the work that has been undertaken on this project to date and the 

outcomes of this work this being; the transfer of all of the Moorlands countryside 
sites to the Staffordshire Wildlife Trust (SWT) in Spring 2022 and any related 
financial savings.  

  
The project had been delayed due to SMDC waiting on key information in relation to 

Wetley Moor from SOTCC. This information is still awaited, however officers at 
SMDC and SWT have developed an alternative proposal which the report will detail. 
 
Question received from Councillor Hoptroff: 
Q7. “Can the portfolio holder provide a detailed breakdown of how the SMDC share 

of the Welcome back funding (33K) was spent, to include fees paid to 
consultants and the costs for the catalogue?” 

 
Response from Councillor Ralphs: 

Welcome Back funding is intended to encourage customers back into town centres 

High Streets (include or larger villages with a parade of shops) and can support:  

 activities that allow the local authority to safely reopen their local economies. 

E.g. temporary public realm changes  

 Communications and public information activity to promote a safe public 

environment, encourage residents and visitors back and direct business-

Page 10



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

facing activities including temporary works that are additional to normal 

maintenance regimes in town centres. 

 Support local authorities to develop plans for responding to the medium-term 

impact of Covid-19, including through employment of temporary staff. 
Activities funded to date:  

  SMDC 

Total RHSSF & Welcome Back Grant award £174,180 

spent & committed  

Theme 1 Support to develop an action plan Staff salaries and 

footfall Wi-Fi 
-£37,417 

Theme 2: Theme 2 Communications and public information 

activity (includes printing and distribution of local gift guide 

and local food guide) 

-£30,097 

Theme 3: Business-facing awareness (digital skills pack) -£5,676 

Theme 4: Temporary public realm works including additional 

‘cleaning’ 
-£10,313 

Theme 5: Support for visitor economy/boost footfall  including 

works undertaken by SLA with town/parish councils, tourism 

marketing delivered by Marketing Peak District and refresh of 

Cheadle Heritage Interpretation panels.  

-£77,314 

Theme 6: Support local authorities to develop plans for 

responding to the medium-term impact of CV-19 includes 

proposed Cheadle town centre workshops -£5000 

Balance uncommitted  £8363 

 

The three town councils have all received delegated funding for the delivery of 
events including 

 Leek Town Council (£17,800) To date claimed £6701 

 Cheadle Town Council (£15,840) – To date nil claimed 

 Biddulph Town Council (£18,450) – To date nil claimed 

We are awaiting further information from the Town Councils on their forecast spend 
to 31.3.2022 but have assumed they will defray their allocations above. 
 

Councillor Hoptroff also reported issues with the delivery of the Christmas Guide, 
and it was agreed by the Leader, that inquiries would be made with the relevant 

officers and the company involved. The outcome would be provided after the 
meeting. 

 
21 WORK PROGRAMME 

 

RESOLVED:  
 

That the Panel’s Work Programme be agreed. 
 

22 DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 

DOCUMENT ISSUES AND OPTIONS - (DOCUMENT AND PRESENTATION). 
 

The Panel gave its consideration to a briefing paper which outlined the need to 
review the Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
for Staffordshire Moorlands. The current SPD dated back to 2004 and therefore 

Page 11



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

required updating to take account of changes within the legislative and policy 
framework.  

 
As part of the initial work undertaken, a series of stakeholder engagement was 
carried out with key service areas across the Council and the County Council to 

gain a more detailed understanding of current processes, key issues and 
potential opportunities that could be addressed through the SPD.  

 
The Issues and Options document was the next stage in the review process 
leading to production of an updated Developer Contributions SPD. It identified 

key planning obligations that that could be sought to mitigate against the 
impacts of development and set out a number of options for consideration and 

inclusion within the SPD, including the recommended approach taken where 
relevant. Where appropriate, a preferred option had also been given based on 
stakeholder engagement and desktop research. The next steps in this process 

would be to refine these options and develop a first draft SPD document.  
 

Once adopted, the SPD will help ensure that development proposals made a 
positive contribution to sustainable development by providing social, economic 

and environmental benefits to the community as a whole that was in line with 
current local plan policies. In addition, it would also help to increase 

understanding of Planning Obligations and provide greater transparency in how 
they were applied, thereby enabling developers to take potential costs of 
proposed development into account at the earliest opportunity.  

 
Mark James – Principal Planning Officer and Ruth Woodisse – Planning 

Officer, gave a presentation which covered the following subject areas: -  
 
 

 Section 106 Agreements 

 Background 

 Purpose of SPD 

 Limitations 

 Scope 

 Issues and options 

 Indexation 

 Prioritisation options and sub-option 

 Viability 

 Monitoring fees 

 Affordable housing 

 Open space, sport and recreation 

 Biodiversity and Climate Change 

 Health 

 Training and Employment 

 Transport and accessibility 

 Education 

 
Members broadly welcomed the document and thanked the officers for their 

comprehensive report.  
 
Discussion took place around a more ambitious SPD in regard to climate 

change, neighbourhood plans and additional support for education. A 
suggestion was made for a cross working group (Planning Applications Page 12



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

Committee, Health & Service Delivery O&S Panels), to assist with a more 
meaningful and understandable document.  

 
More details on green infrastructure and travel plans were requested and for 
reports to be available as soon as possible prior to meetings. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the presentation be received. 
 

 
23 RURAL SPORTS VILLAGES 

 

The Panel gave its consideration to a report which detailed the progress of 
the work undertaken to identify and support projects with a view to allocating outdoor 

sports capital funding. 
 

Towards an Active Staffordshire Moorlands was the Council’s Physical Activity and 
Sport Strategy which identified key priorities and actions that the Council would take, 
supported by its partners, to enable residents to become more active. 

 

The Council has assigned £100,000 of capital funds in the current MTFP to be used 

towards supporting the delivery of local projects, with a focus on a ‘sports village’ 
concept and particularly projects that were located in more rural areas of the District. 
 

At the Cabinet meeting on Tuesday 3rd August 2021, approval was given to allocate 
£11,500 funding from the outdoor sports capital budget towards projects being 

delivered by Waterhouses Parish Council and Kingsley Parish Council. Both projects 
were progressing well, new maintenance equipment had been purchased by 
Waterhouses Parish Council, whilst the funds given to Kingsley Parish Council had 

enabled them to access additional funding from a local business to complete the 
installation of a new play area during spring 2022. 

 

It was now requested that  allocation of further funds totalling £10,700 to Endon & 
Stanley Parish Council and Leek Cricket Club. Should approval be given, £77,800 
would remain available to allocate towards projects identified in the future. 

 

Endon and Stanley Parish Council wished to improve the walking/running track 
which boarders the playing fields at Hillswood Playing Fields. The total cost to 
upgrade the track was £6,700 and it was proposed to allocate the full amount 

towards this due to match funding being unavailable. As an ‘in kind’ contribution 
towards the project, the Parish Council would plant a variety of trees in the vicinity, 

install picnic tables, bird/bat boxes and improve the outdoor gym area that was on 
the edge of the track. 

 

Leek Cricket Club had aspirations to improve their  grounds maintenance 
programme and develop their intergenerational work within the club, through the 

refurbishment of existing grounds maintenance equipment. The cost to refurbish 
their equipment was £6,650 and the club had raised £2,650 towards this project. It 

was therefore proposed that £4,000 funding was allocated to this project from the 
outdoor sports capital budget.  
 

Page 13



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

Officers were also working on a project to develop a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) 
at Hot Lane playing fields in Biddulph Moor. In order to assess the viability of 

developing this project further, a feasibility study was required which would include 
various site surveys that would enable an accurate cost to complete the project to be 
identified. A recent enquiry to a reputable company had provided a cost of this study 

at around £6,500. It was recommended that revenue funds would be allocated to 
commission this study. Once this had been completed an updated report would be 

brought forward with a request to allocate capital funds from the Rural Sports 
Villages Fund. 
   

In order to maintain momentum when developing projects, working with partners and 
planning, it was proposed that future reports which request funds to be allocated 

from the outdoor sports capital budget be made via a delegated decision report, to 
be approved by the Portfolio Holder for Leisure. 
 

Concerns were expressed in relation to Ball Haye Green Football Club and the 
Bowling Green at Brough Park, to which Councillor Deaville gave assurance that 

everything possible was being done to accommodate the football club, and that he 
would investigate the maintenance issues at the bowling green. 
 

Other members also commented on reduced levels of maintenance since the staff 
had transferred to AES. This was noted and would be investigated after the meeting.  

 
As Chair of the Leisure Facilities Working Group, Councillor Salt enquired as to 
when the next meeting would take place as it had not met for a while. She also 

asked if a potential allotment site at Slater Street in Biddulph could be given 
consideration. These points were noted, and officers would respond accordingly.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the progress made in supporting projects that were previously allocated 
capital funding and the work undertaken to develop new projects be noted. 

 
2. That the Cabinet be recommended to approve the allocation of £10,700 towards 

two projects in Endon and Leek from the outdoor sports capital budget as 

detailed within the report. 
 

3. That the Cabinet be recommended that future reports requesting funding can 
progress via delegated decision reports to be approved by the Portfolio Holder for 

Leisure and Sports.  
 

24 CAR PARK STRATEGY 
 

Councillor Hart – Portfolio Holder for Property and Tourism, presented the newly-

drafted Staffordshire Moorlands Car Parking Strategy to members of the Panel. 
 

A review of car parking was contained within Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan 2019-23. 
As part of the recovery from the first wave of Covid-19 in Autumn 2020, this work 
was escalated within the service plan, such was the importance of parking within the 

recovery of town centres and to ensure a thriving local economy. Parking Matters 
were retained towards the end of 2020 to review the existing parking provision with 

SMDC and to develop a new strategy for the car parks for a 5 year period. The aim 
was to tackle a number of salient issues, including, condition, payment options and 
tariffs.  Page 14



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

 
Wide consultation with the residents, local businesses and visitors who used the car 

parks had taken place. Members Groups, Town and County Council, Peak Park and 
local business groups had all been included to ensure the widest spectrum of views 
had been heard. Balancing conflicting opinions and ideas and setting these against 

factual evidence was often challenging, and it was inevitable that the strategy would 
not fulfil the wishes of all, however its focus had been to deliver the vision and 

ensure that positive changes were made and the service invests for the future and 
meets the needs of residents businesses and visitors.   
 

Following the consultation and review of the Council’s service, Parking Matters 
produced their base case findings, which were presented to the Car Parking Working 

Group for feedback. This was then developed into the main report setting out all the 
findings (Appendix 2). This was discussed by the Car Parking Working Group and 
Cheadle stakeholder group and further feedback was taken on board.   Since then, 

work had centred around the financial modelling to determine the affordability of free 
periods and tariff changes in light of impact that Covid-19 had on parking revenues 

along with the underlying trend of reduction in demand.  
 
The Summary Strategy Report was attached as Appendix 1 and set out the base 

case findings, reported the outcome of the consultations, made recommendations 
and finished with an action plan to ensure that the Council’s plans were open and 

transparent for all to see. If the Strategy was adopted this document would be 
published on the Council’s website.  
 

Key actions and projects were as follows: 
 

1) Implementation of contactless digital payment provider, such as Pay by 
Phone to offer an alternative to coin only payments. This could be delivered in 
the short term, ideally before the end of the financial year.  

2) Changes in charging hours and tariffs to be implemented for the new financial 
year, to include short free parking periods on certain car parks to support 

quick trips into town centres.  
3) Review of parking permits being offered including provision of a tourist pass. 
4) Development of a separate EV strategy which determined suitable locations, 

types of chargers and options for delivery partnerships funding and rollout, 
supported by the objectives of a County lead strategy to ensure a consistent 

approach across highways and off-street parking.  
5) Implementation of new zones across Tape Street Car park to facilitate short 

stays, including free half hour options and also long stay parking section.  

6) Commence with the recruitment, (subject to final approvals of the Norse 
project and the restructure of the Assets team) of a new car parking post to 

implement the actions set out the in the strategy and strategically manage the 
service.  

7) Deliver improvements to wayfinding and signage on car parks.  

 
The Strategy noted the importance of the car parks to regeneration initiatives, and 

the potential for new car parking and consolidation, but that each of these major 
decisions needed to be reviewed and a business case determined before any 
decisions could be made. 

 
Although there was support for the Strategy and the investment plans that it 

contained, there were concerns raised by some members in relation to the  
detrimental impact it would have on the town of Cheadle. In particular, the proposed Page 15



Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 26 January 2022 
 

increased charging period of 8am – 6pm and 1 hour free parking at Well Street, and 
only half an hour at Tape Street. It was  asserted  that the extended charging times 

would negatively affect businesses on the High Street and the town would be 
congested during school pick up and collection times, due to the free  1 hour parking 
period only being available at Well Street.   

 
Members queried the cost of a new officer, increased enforcement and if the Council 

had checked the rateable value of the Tape Street Car Park. 
 
It was felt by some members that the report did not reflect the needs of Cheadle, the 

emerging work of the High Street Task Force and the lack of an agreed Masterplan 
for Cheadle.  If the Strategy was adopted, a member commented that they had the 

right to challenge parking policies under the Traffic Management Act 2004. 
 
Discussion also took place around a dedicated EV Charging car park, advantages 

and disadvantages of cashless payments, lack of child and parent bays and 
consultation in rural areas. 

 
The Portfolio Holder noted the concerns raised by members and explained that the 
increased charging period generated the income for the Council to be able to offer 

the free parking periods. Assurance was given that the machines which accepted 
cash would be phased out gradually and the payment App was compatible with most 

mobile phones.  Other councillors commented that some of the points raised during 
meetings of the Car Parking Working Group had been incorporated, such as zoned 
parking areas.  

 
The time restraints in relation to the setting of the Council’s Budget and the adoption 

of the Strategy was highlighted to the Panel.   
 
Members proposed that the Cabinet should review the Strategy 12 months after 

implementation to evaluate its impact and that consideration be given to defer the 
changes relating to the revised charging period in Cheadle.  The meeting closed at 

this point in order for Cabinet members to consider the implications of the proposals 
with view to a further meeting of the Panel being arranged should this be beneficial. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 9.52 pm 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date 

Page 16



1 
 

 
CABINET FORWARD PLAN  

 
February – April 2022 

 
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take shortly. 
Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’  The Plan is updated and 
published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is available, together 
with all public reports referred to, from our website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
and offices, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, 
ST13 6HQ.  Should you have any questions regarding these documents please 
contact the Council’s Member Services Team via our website or by telephoning 
01538 395613. 
 
A key decision is one defined as: 
 

"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard 
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates." 

 
 OR 
 

"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more District Wards." 

 
Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be 
available five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the Council’s 
website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or by telephoning 01538 395551. They are 
also available from our offices – Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek 
Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents relevant to decisions to be 
taken may be submitted to the decision maker. 
 
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public.  However, occasionally, some meetings, 
or part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content of the reports 
to be discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal information).  This 
document indicates which reports and dates of meetings where this will apply and 
the reason for this.  
 
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further 
notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private.  This will again state why this is 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 8.1

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/
http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/


2 
 

necessary and give the details of any representations received about why the 
meeting should be open to the public.  This will also include a statement of the 
Council’s response to any such representations. 
 

I N D E X 
 

Matter to be decided Date of decision 
to be made 

Page 
No. 

COMMUNITIES   

Developer Contributions SPD issues and options 8 February 2022 3 

Housing Delivery Programme 5 April 2022 4 

CUSTOMER SERVICES   

Access to Services Strategy 8 February 2022 5 

Digital Strategy 8 February 2022 6 

Procurement Strategy 5 April 2022 7 

Review of Equalities and Diversity Policy 5 April 2022 8 

LEADER   

Staffordshire Leaders Board / County Deal 8 February 2022 9 

Organisational Development Strategy 8 February 2022 10 

Third Quarter Financial, Procurement & Performance Review 2021/22 8 February 2022 11 

2022/23 Budget & Medium-Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26 8 February 2022 12 

The Queen's Platinum Jubilee Grant Fund 8 February 2022 13 

Appointments to Outside Bodies 8 February 2022 14 

LEISURE AND SPORTS   

Rural Sports Villages 8 February 2022 15 

Sports Grants Scheme 8 February 2022 16 

PROPERTY AND TOURISM   

Car Parking Strategy 8 February 2022 17 

Facilities Management Joint Venture 8 February 2022 18 
 
 

Page 18



3 
 

Communities 
 

Matter for decision Developer Contributions SPD issues and 
options 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



4 
 

Communities 
 

Matter for decision Housing Delivery programme 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 5 April 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Bowen 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



5 
 

Customer Services 
 

Matter for decision Digital Strategy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Hall 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Chief Executive 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



6 
 

Customer Services 
 

Matter for decision Access to Services Strategy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Hall 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Chief Executive 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



7 
 

Customer Services 
 

Matter for decision Procurement Strategy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Hall 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Chief Executive 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



8 
 

Customer Services 
 

Matter for decision Review of Equalities and Diversity Policy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Hall 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Chief Executive 

Public/Private report Public  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



9 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision Staffordshire Leaders Board / County Deal 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Chief Executive 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



10 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision The Queen's Platinum Jubilee Grant Fund 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Chief Executive 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 26



11 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision Organisational Development Strategy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Chief Executive 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



12 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision Third Quarter Financial, Procurement & 
Performance Review 2021/22 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Interim Executive Director (Finance and 
Revenues & Benefits) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



13 
 

Leader 
 

Matter for decision 2022/23 Budget & Medium-Term Financial Plan 
2022/23 to 2025/26 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Interim Executive Director (Finance and 
Revenues & Benefits) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leader 

Page 29



14 
 

 
Matter for decision Appointments to Outside Bodies 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council No 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Ralphs 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Governance and 
Commissioning) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leisure and Sports 

Page 30



15 
 

 
Matter for decision Rural Sports Strategy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Deaville 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Governance and 
Commissioning) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leisure and Sports 

Page 31



16 
 

 
Matter for decision Sports Grants Scheme 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Deaville 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Governance and 
Commissioning) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 32



17 
 

Property and Tourism 
 

Matter for decision Car Parking Strategy 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Hart 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Service Delivery 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Public 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



18 
 

 
Property and Tourism 

 
Matter for decision Facilities Management Joint Venture 

Key decision to be made on 
behalf of the Council Yes 

Decision maker Cabinet 

Expected date of decision 8 February 2022 

Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr Hart 

Relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel Resources 

Documents submitted to the 
decision taker for 
consideration 

Executive Director (Place) 

Public/Private report Private - Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 34



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

 
Cabinet 

 
8 February 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Appendices Attached 

 Appendix A (2021/22 – Third Quarter (Financial Report) 

 Appendix B (2021/22 – Third Quarter (Procurement Report)  

 Appendix C (2021/22 – Third Quarter (Performance Report) 
 

 
1. Reason for the Report  

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December (“Third 
Quarter 2021/22”). 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
  

 

 Note the Third Quarter 2021/22 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report. 

 
 

3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 This report essentially summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and 

performance position after considering service activity up to the end of the Third 
Quarter (i.e. 31st December 2021).  

 
3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B (Procurement) 

and Appendix C (Performance).  

TITLE: Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and 
Performance Review 2021/22 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader SMDC 

  
CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance 

Vanessa Higgins – Information Business 

Partner  
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 35

Agenda Item 8.2



  

 
3.3 The position can be summarised as follows: 
 

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the Third Quarter stage the General Fund projected outturn for 
2021/22 is an underspend of £1,749,210 including £0.906m in 
Section31 grants, which will need to be placed into reserves at year-
end for distribution via the Collection Fund in future years. 

Efficiency Programme 

 At Quarter Three £633,000 in savings have been taken against the 
2021/22 general fund efficiency target of £830,430. It is anticipated 
that there will be a £160,000 shortfall in the year. 

Capital Programme 

 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 is £4.83 million 
including the carry forward of capital underspends from 2020/21.  
The projected outturn for the year at Quarter Three is £13.96million; 
an overspend of £9.13million.  This reflects a £10m loan to Your 
Housing Group in relation to the provision of affordable housing in 
the District. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 31 December 2021 totalled £18.7 million. 
The Ascent loan and debenture currently stands at £17.15 million. 

 Council borrowing at 31 December 2021 totals £8 million (relating to 
the Ascent loan) 

 The Council’s net interest income receipts for the year is forecast to  
exceed the  budget by £2,130 at the Quarter Three stage. 

Revenue Collection 

 83.07% of Council Tax was collected by 31 December 2021 
compared to 83.03% for the same period last year (43.92% in 
2019/20) 

 76.34% of Business Rates was collected by 31 December 2021 
compared to 80.61% for the same period last year (80.45% in 
2019/20) 

 At the end of the Third Quarter debt that was over 60 days old was 
£46,727 which compares with £71,620 at 31 December 2020.  

 

Appendix A 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

 13 procurement activities were completed  

 The Procurement forward plan included 41 procurement activities for 
completion in 2021/22 (either SMDC only or joint) 

 At the 31 December 2021, 50% of procurement activity undertaken 
was on the forward plan. 
 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

 74% of the key performance indicators on track  

 The Council received 47 complaints, 142 comments and 35 
compliments 

 Priority Actions - 13 green, 2 amber, 1 completed, 16 grey 
 

Appendix C 

 

 
 

4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  

Page 36



  

 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the effective 

management of performance and financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report. 

 
5.       Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report. 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None. 
 

6.2 Workforce 

None. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 

and Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report. 

 
6.5 Legal 

None. 

 
16.6 Climate Change 

None. 
 

6.7   External Consultation 

  None. 
 

6.8           Risk A    Risk  Assessment 
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 
identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A. 

 
 

 
JOHN BETTS 

Interim Executive Director Finance and Revenues & Benefits 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 
Report appendices A-C 

 
Moorlands House 

 
Keith Pointon 

01538 395400 Ext. 4193 
Vanessa Higgins  
01538 395400 Ext. 4195 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  
 

APPENDIX A 

 

 
 

2021/22 
 

Third Quarter  
 Financial  
Review 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



2 
 

1.      Background and Introduction 

 
1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 

recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to 
members. This is the third report for 2021/22. 

 
1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2021/22 with 

particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. 

Specific considerations are as follows: 
 

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 

performance on the General Account by looking at variations in 
income and expenditure and the funding received by the Council.  

 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – considers 

progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings 
forecast for 2021/22.  

 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 4) – highlights the 

performance of the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste 

and Fleet services. 
 

 Capital Programme (Section 5) – provides an update to Members on 

progress against the Council’s capital plan  
 

 Treasury Management (Section 6) – sets out the key statistics in 

terms of investments and borrowings; 
 

 Revenue Collection (Section 7) – considers progress-to-date in 

collecting the Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. 
 

Page 40



3 
 

2. General Fund Revenue Account 
 

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the 

General Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations 
in income and expenditure and funding received by the Council.  

 
 

 

Service (with staff*) 
2021/22 
Budget 

Expected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

Variance 

Contribution 
to / (Use of) 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

Net Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Alliance Leadership Team 51,780 34,350 (17,430) - (17,430) 

Audit 9,940 6,880 (3,060) - (3,060) 

ICT 702,760 736,600 33,840 - 33,840 

Human Resources 52,360 61,770 9,410 - 9,410 

Member Services 360,310 299,200 (61,110) - (61,110) 

Property Services 640,970 758,120 117,150 (22,350) 94,800 

Benefits (243,160) (237,390) 5,770 - 5,770 

Planning Applications (357,460) (462,000) (104,540) - (104,540) 

Building Control 54,510 50,000 (4,510) - (4,510) 

Customer Services 132,280 86,140 (46,140) - (46,140) 

Legal Services 64,520 28,500 (36,020) - (36,020) 

Electoral Services 97,790 50,000 (47,790) 40,000 (7,790) 

Licensing and Land Charges (210,970) (214,970) (4,000) - (4,000) 

Regeneration 59,020 (115,230) (174,250) 210,000 35,750 

Communities and Cultural 128,830 124,920 (3,910) - (3,910) 

Housing Strategy 24,660 33,080 8,420 (13,380) (4,960) 

Transformation 6,760 2,570 (4,190) - (4,190) 

Community Safety and Enforcement 151,050 76,150 (74,900) - (74,900) 

Finance & Procurement 129,410 135,510 6,100 - 6,100 

Revenues (303,120) (231,180) 71,940 - 71,940 

Corporate Finance* 5,920,340 6,031,340 111,000 - 111,000 

Waste Collection 1,936,010 1,701,470 (234,540) - (234,540) 

Street Scene 386,930 402,520 15,590 - 15,590 

Leisure Services 455,970 352,330 (103,640) (95,490) (199,130) 

Horticulture 539,400 563,150 23,750 (5,200) 18,550 

Environmental Health (24,660) (42,700) (18,040) - (18,040) 

            

Net Total of Services 10,766,230 10,231,130 (535,100)  (421,520) 

           

Net Interest (319,010) (321,140) (2,130)  (2,130) 

  10,447,220 9,909,990 (537,230) 113,580 (423,650) 

Funding       

- external (6,179,940) (7,887,120) (1,707,180) - (1,707,180) 

- reserves contribution to/(from) 
 

    

     general contingency (256,080) (256,080) -  - 

     use of carry forward from 20/21 (14,160) (14,160) -  - 

     Earmarked – business rates (3,989,340) (3,615,420) 373,920  373,920 

     Earmarked – general (7,700) 113,580 121,280 (113,580) 7,700 

        
Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (1,749,210) (1,749,210) - (1,749,210) 

           

* Staff budgets are currently budgeted w ithin Corporate Finance. 

 

Page 41



4 
 

2.2. A revenue budget of £10,433,060 was set for 2021/22. In accordance with 
Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £14,160 in unused budgets from 
2020/21 has been authorised. 

 
Planning (£5,500): in respect of the development of the Local Plan in 2021/22 

Member Services (£8,660): in respect of Member Initiative funds to 

applied in 2021/22. 
 

 This brings the 2021/22 budget to £10,447,220 
 

2.3.  The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services. 
 

2.4. The Q3 projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for the year 

is £8,698,010. This represents a projected surplus for the year of £1,749,210.   
 

2.5. There are five areas of significant underspend (>£50,000): 
 

 Member Services (£61,110 underspend); Savings across a number of 

budget heads such as policy consultations, civic transport, councillor 
expenses and initiatives. 

 
 Planning Applications (£104,540 underspend);  Savings of some 

£24,000 are accruing against policy and other budget heads.  Application 
fee income is projected to exceed expectations by £80,000. 

 

 Community Safety and Enforcement (£74,900 underspend); To date 

grant monies received towards community initiatives are exceeding 

anticipated in-year spend by some £34,000. A further £38,000 underspend 
is accruing against the CCTV equipment budgets, both purchase and 
repair. 

 
 Waste Collection (£234,540 underspend); £20,000 of the underspend is 

as result of asset sales being credited to the service.  The remainder 
arises from an anticipated rebate of the AES management fee as a result 

of improved recycling basket of goods prices achieved. This more than 
offsets other budgetary pressures such as increased disposal costs. 

 

 Leisure Services (£199,130 underspend); There is scope to make 

operational savings of some £104,000 mainly against the Covid-19 

support budget put in place to fund the cost-plus arrangement with the 
leisure contractor.  The service will also benefit from the application of 
some £95,490 of earmarked reserves arising out of Government support 

earmarked at the end of 2020/21. 
 

 
2.6. There are three areas of significant overspend (>£50,000): 

 
 

 Property (£94,800 overspend); Covid-19 has impacted this service 

significantly.  Firstly car parking, where a £95,000 reduction in income is 
forecast. Secondly, the on-going cost pressures deriving from the facilities 

management arrangements are currently forecast to result in a £20,000 
overspend, mainly in respect of additional building and public convenience 

Page 42



5 
 

cleaning costs.  These latter costs are however offset by savings against 
building repair and maintenance budgets. Similarly the additional £22,000 
cost of an energy audit is being funded out of the earmarked climate 

change reserve.  
 

 Revenues (£71,940 overspend); The impact of Covid-19 on the 

Recovery service was initially predicted to be significant. However the 
income generated from summons activity is now running only £4,000 

below original expectations. Further budget pressure in the region of 
£70,000 is predicted in local taxation from the level of spending on 

external services to support billing processes and address backlogs 
arising out of Covid.   

 

 Corporate Finance (£111,000 overspend); At this stage of the year the 

impact of Covid-19 on the Authority’s ability to achieve its efficiency targets 
is predicted to result in a £160,000 shortfall in budgeted savings offset in 
part by predicted net savings of £77,000 in the establishment. Further 

pressure across a number of Corporate budget heads could add a further 
£28,000 to this overspend. 

 

    
2.7. Net interest costs, as detailed in section 6, are currently expected to 

generate £2,130 more income than budgeted. 
 

2.8. The level of funding anticipated for the year is £1,211,980 above that budgeted 
due to the following: 

 

 External Funding: (£1,707,180) 
 

 Business Rates Retention (£1,707,180 additional funding): 
o The Council expects to receive £2,111,770 in additional S31 grants 

in the year due to continuation of Extended Retail and Nursery 
Discounts to respond to the covid-19 situation as well as the Covid-

19 Additional Relief Fund – at the time of budget setting central 
government had not confirmed these reliefs. Accounting practice 
dictates that these grants are treated as general fund revenue in the 

year. However, the extended reliefs impact the Collection Fund by 
increasing the deficit in the year, which will need to be distributed in 

future years, therefore this additional funding needs to be 
earmarked to accommodate this and cannot be used to support 
other services. 

o The Council’s share of the business rates collection fund deficit to 
be distributed in 2022/23 is £906,580; this amount of the s31 

funding will be put in to reserves at the end of this year to be drawn 
down in 2022/23 to smooth the effect between years. 
 

o An increase of £348,280 in the net levy payable on growth to the 

Staffordshire Business Rates Pool is currently forecast compared to 
the budgeted amount. This is due to fluctuations in the level of 

growth affected by the provision for appeals. 
Part of the levy payment savings achieved as member of the pool 

are dependent on the performance of the whole pool so could only 
be estimated at year end. The pool has now advised the draft final 

Page 43



6 
 

amount due for the previous year (subject to completion of external 
audits), this is £56,310 greater than the accrued amount, which will 

offset the surplus Business Rates Retention in the current year. 

 
 

Movement of Reserves: (£495,200 contribution) 
 

 Earmarked Reserves (£495,200 additional contribution): 
o Business Rates (£373,920 contribution); The 21/22 budgeted use of 

reserves included a £3,989,340 use of the earmarked Business 
Rates reserve to offset the collection fund deficit brought forward 
from 20/21. This has left a balance of £532,660 on the reserve. As 

reported in the Business Rates Retention section above a deficit of 
£906,580 is anticipated to be funded out of this earmarked reserve 

in 2022/23.  Therefore an additional contribution of £373,920 is 
required. 

o Other Earmarked (£121,280 additional contribution); These reserves 

exist to match available funding with future projects and activities.  
Often it is not possible to anticipate when eligible spend will occur 

and so as the year progresses services will identify projects and 
schemes where earmarked reserves can be applied. To date across 
the authority net contribution into these reserves amounts to 

£121,280 more than nominally anticipated at the beginning of the 
year. 

 
 

 

3. Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

 

3.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the 
Council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2021/22. 
 

3.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2019) 
included the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation 

Strategy targeting savings of £3.14 million.  This was required to balance the 
forecast budget deficit position of £2.7m and also the carry forward of 
unachieved efficiencies from 2016/17 of £0.4m. 
 

3.3. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both 

reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now 
more of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. 
The strategy has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting 

frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to 
enable the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 

established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. 
 

3.4. The 2021/22 budget was set in February 2021 with the assumption of 

£448,000 of savings in the year. Unachieved efficiencies of £382,400 were 
brought forward from 2020/21 in line with the MTFP, making an in-year target 

for 2021/22 of £830,430. A large part of this savings requirement is focussed 
on the removal of surplus budgets no longer needed. 
 

Page 44



7 
 

3.5. The major focus of the savings programme in 2021/22 being on growth, 
income generation and major procurements. 
 

3.6. At the end of Quarter Three, £633,060 in savings have been taken against 
the 2021/22 efficiency target. These relate to the removal of surplus leasing 

budgets (£419,660); removal of underspent budgets within the 
Environmental services (£53,220) and insurance services (£15,000); and 
savings in the AES contract (£145,180)  
 

3.7. There is a significant risk that not all of the current year savings will be 

achieved in the year, particularly those relating to growing fees and charges 
and income generation. At this stage it is assumed that £160,000 in savings 
will remain unachieved at year-end. This will continue to be monitored over 

the rest of the year and further savings opportunities explored to make up the 
shortfall. 
 

3.8. The longer term need for a new Efficiency Programme will be considered as 
part of the revision of the 2022/23 Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

3.9. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the 

Efficiency Strategy, which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of 
delivering the efficiency programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve 
currently stands at £493,000. It has not been necessary to draw on this 

reserve in previous years so it remains intact to underwrite performance 
against future savings targets in the Efficiency Programme. 

 
4. Alliance Environmental Services 

 

4.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance services to both Staffordshire Moorlands 

District and High Peak Borough Councils. The Councils are shareholders of 
the company along with Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire 
East Council. 

 
4.2. AES’s financial performance and impact on this Council’s budget is 

summarised below: 
 
 

2021-22 £ 

    
AES Contract budget 4,565,970 

    
Management fee 4,683,331 

Net additional claim/rebate (250,495) 

Allocation of AES efficiency (21,721) 

Covid-19 costs 16,305 

Total management fee payable 4,427,420 

Allocation of Joint Operation profit (45,717) 

Net total 4,381,703 

    
Variance to budget (184,267) 

Page 45



8 
 

 
4.3. The AES business plan for all services being delivered to the Council during 

2021/22 includes a budgeted management fee of £4,683,331. The Council’s 

£21,721 share of the total AES forecast efficiency target for 2021/22 is 
repayable to the Council at the end of the year and is allocated against the 

management fee costs. 
 

4.4. An additional pressure on the Pay Award compared to the budgeted amount is 

forecast to be offset by an anticipated rebate on recycling contracts income 
following an improvement on the basket of goods rates. Whilst markets 

continue to fluctuate this is subject to change, but is currently forecast at a net 
benefit of £250,495. 

 

4.5. Some additional costs relating to Covid-19, such as additional cleaning 
products, PPE and additional agency costs are forecast at £16,305. 

 
4.6. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is incorporated in to 

the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to 

separate group accounts being reported.  The profit is therefore apportioned 
between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of 

original budgeted resources from each department. The Council’s share of the 
forecast profit based on the forecast outturn is £45,717 and is offset against 
the management fee costs. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 46



9 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
5.       Capital Programme  

 

5.1. This section of the report provides an update to members on the Council’s 

Capital Programme. 
 

5.2. The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund 

Capital Programme position at 31st December   2021. Further detail – on a 
scheme by scheme basis – is contained in Annex A: 

 

  
2021/22   

Approved 
Budget  

Q3 Changes  
2021/22 
Revised  
Budget 

Expected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

Expected 
Variance 
2021/22 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing               -                  -                  -    10,000,000 10,000,000 

Housing Standards 1,523,200               -    1,523,200 1,523,200               -    
Property Services 711,010               -    711,010 508,660    (202,350)  

ICT 143,560               -    143,560 122,000     (21,560)  
Leisure Services 150,000               -    150,000 150,000               -    
Fleet Management  1,712,530               -    1,712,530 1,062,630    (649,900)  
CCTV 85,650               -    85,650 85,650               -    
Community  200,000               -    200,000 200,000               -    
Regeneration 53,520               -    53,520 53,520               -    

Horticulture 251,720               -    251,720 251,720               -    

Total 4,831,190               -    4,831,190 13,957,380   9,126,190  

Funding:-           

External  Contributions 1,519,940 - 1,519,940 1,519,940               -    

Capital Receipts 25,000 - 25,000 3,215,750   3,190,750  

Revenue  Reserves -  -   1,200,000   1,200,000  

Earmarked Reserves  88,500 - 88,500 1,185,650   1,097,150  

Borrowing 3,197,750 - 3,197,750 6,836,040   3,638,290  
Total 4,831,190  - 4,831,190    13,957,380    9,126,190  

 
 

5.3. The 2021/22 General Fund Capital Budget was approved by Members in 

February 2021 as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan (£4,689,570); and 
then updated in Sept (£141,620 – relating to carry forwards from 2020/21 

resulting in a revised overall capital programme of  £4,831,190, no changes 
have been made during quarter three. 

 

5.4  The changes made to the capital programme since approval in February 
are as follows:-   

Page 47



10 
 

 

 The carry forward of 2020-21 capital budget variances as a result of 
projects which were either behind schedule or had progressed quicker 

than expected in the year 
 

 
 
 

5.5 The General fund capital programme is currently forecast to record an overall 
net overspend position of £9,126,190, significant variances are:-  

 

 Housing £10,000,000  Following the return of the Ascent loan ( reported 
at 6.5) a capital loan of £10million is being made to Your Housing 

Group for the maintenance of and provision of affordable housing within 
the Staffordshire Moorlands District. This is anticipated at the end of 

January 2022. 

 (Property Services £202,350 under-spend)  & (Fleet Purchases 
£649,900 under-spend) caused by the revised timing of capital spend 

against Asset Management Projects and vehicle purchases,  which 
have been reprofiled into the latest update of the 5 year rolling capital 

programme,  
 
5.6 Consequently  overall capital funding which is anticipated to be  applied to the 

2021/22 Capital Programme is higher than forecast, reflecting the revised 
timing of capital spend and repayment of  Ascent loan and   funding of the 

Your Housing Group  Loan  
  
 

 
 
6. Treasury Management 

 
6.1. This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in 

relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a 
high level treasury management summary.  The Audit and Accounts 

Committee receives detailed operational updates on treasury management. 
 
 

Investments 
 

6.2. Cash Investments held on the 31st December 2021 totalled £18.7million. 
Interest earned on these investments up to the end of the third quarter totalled 

£20,960 and the average level of funds available for investment was 
£19.7million. 

 

6.3. The Council budgeted to receive £20,710 in investment income in 2021/22. As 
interest rates have improved slightly since the time of budget setting following 

the increase in the Bank of England base rate in December to 0.25%; a small 
surplus of £6,450 is anticipated against the budget. 

 

 
 

 

Page 48



11 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

     Ascent Joint Venture 

 
6.4. The Council has a debenture of £5million paying 2% and loan of £14million 

paying an average 3.02% with Ascent, the joint venture company established 
to deliver affordable housing across the District. 
 

6.5. These are expected to be returned to the council at the end of January upon 
the cessation of Ascent Housing LLP: £14million loan and £3.15million 

impaired debenture. 
 

6.6. The investment income budget was based on the original investments 

continuing for the full year: £100,000 income from the debenture and 
£422,880 from the loan. Therefore there will be a shortfall against the budget 

of £12,000 for the debenture and £81,870 for the loan. 
 

     Borrowing 

 
6.7. External borrowing outstanding as at 31st December 2021 was £8million 

following the repayment of £7m of Local Authority loans during the year. 
 

6.8. The Council has agreed a £10million capital loan to a housing company, Your 

Housing Limited, as part of the current year capital programme. Costs 
associated with this are offset by income resulting in a net income of £40,020. 

 

6.9. The Council budgeted to incur £224,580 in net interest charges in 2021/22. 
This was based on externally funding the full Ascent loan balance of 

£14million and a £1million general fund borrowing requirement. Including the 
net income above, there is an overall underspend of £89,550 forecast against 

the borrowing costs budget. 
 
7. Revenue Collection 

 
7.1. This section of the report details progress to date in collecting the Council Tax, 

Business Rates and Sundry Debt. 
 

7.2. The Quarter 3 collection rate was as follows: 
 

 Council Tax – 83.07% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 

2021, compared to 83.03% for the same period in 2020/21, and 83.92% in 
2019/20. 

 Business Rates – 76.34% of Business Rates was collected by 31st 

December 2021, compared to 80.61% for the same period in 2020/21, and 
80.45% in 2019/20. 

o The longer term effects of Covid-19 on collection rates continue 
to be monitored. Timings of payments have also been affected 

Page 49



12 
 

by the change to the amount of Extended Retail discount by 
central government. 

 
7.3 At the end of Quarter Three the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old 

was £46,727 which compares with £71,620 at 31st December 2020.   
 
 

 
 

ANNEX A 

 
Capital Programme Update 31st  December 2021 

 
 

Capital Schemes 
2021/22 

Approved 
Budget  

Q3 
Changes  

2021/22 
Revised  
Budget 

2021/22 
Expected 
Out-Turn 

Expected 
Variance 
2021/22 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing Strategy           

Other Housing                 -                 -                   -    10,000,000 10,000,000 

Total Housing Strategy                -                 -                   -     10,000,000   10,000,000  
Housing Standards           

Private Sector Grants 1,523,200              -    1,523,200    1,523,200                 -    
Total Environmental Health  1,523,200               -     1,523,200     1,523,200                 -    

Property Services           
Asset Management Plan  711,010              -    711,010       508,660     (202,350)  

 Total Property 711,010              -        711,010        508,660     (202,350)  
ICT 143,560   143,560       122,000       (21,560)  

 Total ICT     143,560               -        143,560        122,000       (21,560)  

 
          

Vehicle & Plant Purchase 1,712,530              -    1,712,530 1,062,630     (649,900)  
Fleet Management   1,712,530               -     1,712,530     1,062,630    (649,900)  

CCTV - Upgrade  85,650 

               

-    85,650         85,650                 -    
CCTV       85,650               -          85,650          85,650                 -    

Regeneration           
Moorlands Partnership Grants  53,520   53,520         53,520                 -    

Total Regeneration       53,520               -          53,520          53,520                 -    
Community           
Forsbrook Community Facilities  200,000              -    200,000 200,000                -    

Total Community      200,000               -        200,000        200,000                 -    
Horticulture           
Brough Park Improvements 251,720              -    251,720       251,720                 -    

Total Horticulture     251,720               -       251,720        251,720                 -    
Leisure           
Sports Clubs Facilities  150,000              -    150,000 150,000                -    

Total Horticulture     150,000               -        150,000        150,000                 -    

            

Total Programme 4,831,190 

               

-    4,831,190 13,957,380 9,126,190 

 
 

 

Page 50



 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

2021/22 
 

Third Quarter 
 Procurement  

Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was agreed 

by Full Council in February 2017. 
 
1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives 

linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  
The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development of a 

professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support 
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and 
procurement systems. 

 
1.3 The revised Procurement Strategy is scheduled for presentation and 

implementation following consultation with Members during 2021/22.   The revised 
strategy will focus on the following key objectives to support the aims of the 
Council’s Corporate plan and align with the LGA National Procurement Strategy: 

 

 Delivering Value for Money 

 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management 

 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership 

 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement  

 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth 

 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts 

 

1.4  The strategy is timetabled for decision and implementation in March 2022, due to 
 further review on the key priorities and outputs to align with other relevant key 
 strategies currently being developed.  Further consultation is planned with local 

 business forums to actively engage local small to medium businesses to gain 
 feedback on our key priorities. 

 
 

2. Third Quarter Completed Procurements 

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function during the third quarter 

September 2021 to December 2021 is summarised below: 

Third Quarter   High Value 

(> £181,000) 

Low Value    

(< £181,000) 
Total 

SMDC Only [-] 5 5 

JOINT (SM/HP) [-] 8 8 

TOTAL   13 

 

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 13 procurements exercises reviewed and 
completed during Quarter three. 

 
 
3.0  2021/22 Procurement Forward Plan 

 

Page 52



 

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for completion or starting in 

2021/22. 

2021/22 Activity High Value 

(> 181,000k) 

 Low Value  

(< £181,000k) 
Total 

SMDC 

 

1 18 19 

JOINT (SM/HP) 4 18 22 

TOTAL   41 
 

In addition to the above, there are 223 listed entries brought forward from previous 

years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined).  

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 

delivery in 2021/22 includes:- 

 Facilities Management (Joint venture delivery model) 

 Cornhill West Industrial Units Project (Subject to Approval) 

 Consultancy levelling up fund 

 Professional Services Contract – Architectural 
 
4. Procurement Performance 

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity 
and the payment of suppliers. 

 

4.2 Performance for the second quarter is highlighted below:- 
 

Performance Indicator Target 

Performance at 

31st December 
2021 

% of Alliance Procurement 

Activity on Forward Plan 
 

68% 50% 

Annual contract spend as % 

of gross expenditure budget 
 

94% 94% 

Supplier (Creditor) spend 
within the local area as a % 

of total spend 
 

Baseline 
Result 20/21 

6.3% 

% of Contracts awarded to 

local suppliers following 
submission of EOI (over 

£5,000) 
 

Contextual 
Result 20/21  

33% 

  

   Performance Indicators – targets off track 

4.3 We are continuing our communication programme of regular service review 
meetings to ensure planned activity is captured and monitored on the plan. We are 

continuing to work with service areas to ensure they are compliant in 

Page 53



 

commissioning Supplies, Services or Works and that the internal processes are 
adhered to. 

 

5.0 Revised Public Contract Regulations Threshold changes 2022 
 

5.1 Notification of the new threshold values to apply for the purposes of the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015, Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016, Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016 and the Defence and Security Public Contracts 

Regulations 2011. The threshold values are refreshed every two years and it is 
mandatory for public sector contracting authorities to adhere to these regulations. 

 

5.2 The new procurement threshold values will apply to contracts advertised on and 
after 1 January 2022. 

 

5.3 The revised thresholds below are exclusive of VAT and relate to the full life of the 
Contract: 

 
PUBLIC CONTRACT THRESHOLDS 
2022 & 2023 

£  

 
Works Contracts 5,336,937 

Small Lots 884,720 
Supply, Services and Design Contracts 213,477 

Small Lots 70,778 

Social and other specific Services 

Light Touch Regime  
663,540 

Subsidised services contracts 213,477 
Concession Contracts 5,336,937 

 

5.4 Changes to the estimated value methodology will apply from January 2022 to 
include VAT on contract values.  Therefore when calculating the estimated value 

of the contract to determine whether the regulations apply, the contract value 
estimation should be inclusive of VAT (where applicable) from 1 January 2022. 

 

5.5 This is a change in practice, as a result of the UK's independent membership of 
the GPA. The revised thresholds have been calculated in accordance with 

established GPA practice. Procurers should calculate the estimated value of a 
contract based on the total amount payable including VAT without making a 
deduction for any available VAT recovery. 

 
5.6 The Council’s Procurement Procedure Rules for Authorisation to procure and 

award contracts are requested to be updated to reflect the changes in the new 
thresholds. This will be presented for approval in the Procurement Forward Plan 
as part of the MTFP submitted to full Council in February 2022. 

  

Page 54



 

ANNEX A 

Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed - SMDC 

Contract Title Brief contract 
description 

Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail  Term  
(years) 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £ 

Biddulph 

Grange Path 
Surfacing 

Minor works One Off Service 
Commissioning 

RFQ RGS (Leek) n/a 2,387 

Research 
Services – High 

Streets 

GPS Based footfall 
plus High Street data 

provision and 
Monitoring data for 
SMDC towns 

One Off Regeneration RFQ Place 
Informatics Ltd 

n/a 4,150 

Staffordshire 
Means Business 
Staffs 

Apprenticeship 
500 

SLA with 
Staffordshire County 
Council 

SLA Regeneration Change 
control 

Staffordshire 
County 
Council 

Until 
31

st
 

March 

22 

65,000 

Market Licence 
reviews 

Antiques Market 
Leek 

Recurring Regeneration Taken off work plan for individual review 

Welcome back High street Business 
support Staffordshire Moorlands 

n/a Regeneration Taken off work plan for exercise – delivered 
through SLAs detailed in Q2 report 

 

Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC) 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duratio

n 
 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

Email Security 
Software- 
VIPRE 

IT systems and software Recurring Transformation RFQ Vipre Security 
Ltd 

2 yrs 8,094 

Stationery Items Provision of stationery 
supplies  

Recurring Customer 
Services 

Framework 
via DCC 

Banner Ltd 2 (+2) 
yrs 

Est 
29,000 

Levelling up 
Fund 

Consultancy Support (initial 
scoping) 

One Off Regeneration Single 
Source  

Mutual 
Ventures 

4 wks 12,000 

Cycle to work 
scheme 

Employee incentive scheme  Recurring Transformation 
OD 

Framework Cyclescheme 
Ltd 

1 yr 5,000 

Page 55



 

Water Sample 
risk 
Assessments 

Risk Assessments for private 
water supplies  

Recurring Environmental 
Health 

Single 
Source 

R H 
Environmental 

Until 
31/03

/22 

11,893 

Climate Change 
Explainer 
Videos 

Creation of videos – Climate 
Change strategy and 
measures 

One Off Communities  
Climate Change 

RFQ Be Inspired 8-10 
wks 

2,160 

Organisational 
Development 
Consultancy 
Support 

Consultancy Appointment to 
support Alliance’s OD 
Strategy 

One Off Transformation Single 
Source 

Camburg 
Collective 

8-10 
wks 

29,850 

Collection and Disposal of Confidential waste 
from offices 

Recurring Assets 
Compliance 

Taken off workplan – incorporated in wider FM 
project (low value) 

 

Page 56



 

 

 

Staffs Moorlands Performance & Customer Feedback Report: 2021/22 (Q3) 

  

P
age 57



 

 

P
age 58



74%

20%

6%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

On Track Off Track N/A

47%

32%

21%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

Staffordshire Moorlands Q3 Summary  

The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April to December 2021 in 

relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects. The report also provides an overview of 

the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints and the level of comments and 

compliments.        

Performance Overview  

There are 35 targeted measures against which the council reports on a monthly and quarterly basis, the remaining measures in the council’s 

performance framework are considered contextual in nature and feature in the Annual Report. The charts below show the results for both 

attainment and trend data up until December 2021; with 74% of targets on track at the end of Q3 and 68% of measures maintaining or 

improving on their performance compared to last year. The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at the end of 

this report. 

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the 2019-2023 Corporate 

Plan. The table below right explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these projects / actions.  

Customer Feedback Overview  

There has been an increase in the number of complaints received compared to last year, although it remains low at just 47 in nine months. 

There have been no repeat complaints and performance in handling complaints in 20 days is slightly ahead of its 97% target. Further 

information about lessons learned is included in the report.    

 Off Track 

 In danger of going off Track 

 On Track 

 Not yet started / Decision 

awaited 

 Complete / Closed 

P
age 59



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track N/A

SM Aim 1: December Results 2021/22

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 1: December Trends 2021/22 

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The grey bar denotes data which has been unavailable due to IT issues with the Civica system and relates to the two housing benefit 

processing measures for new claims and changes in circumstance. This issue is expected to be resolved by a software upgrade in early January 

with data being provided from then onwards.  

Three homelessness measures remain off track pertaining to temporary accommodation placements in excess of 6 weeks and settled 

accommodation outcomes for homelessness applications, which are being hampered by slow turnover and reduced availability within the 

private rented sector. However, the proportion of applications being opened at the ‘prevention’ rather than ‘relief’ stages has improved and is 

now above target.    

 

Celebrating Success:  

At the end of Q3, the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

✓ initial homelessness applications opened at the prevention and relief duty stages 

✓ external funding awarded in support of physical activity 

 

P
age 60



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary – December 
Develop a strategy for further 
development of affordable and specialist 
housing 

 A report on the Accelerated Housing Delivery Programme which includes affordable housing 
has been prepared and was scheduled for Cabinet and Service Delivery. However, the report 
has been delayed in regard to issues with Tape Street. A meeting will be arranged to discuss 
this in detail.   

Complete the review of the CCTV system 
and implement the agreed 
recommendations 

 Upgrades are currently underway and should have been finished by mid-December, however 
there are complications around delivery. 

Develop and implement an ongoing 
indoor leisure facilities improvement 
plan focused on improving the health 
and wellbeing of residents   

 Work is ongoing with FMG Consulting, internal project board met with a number of actions 
assigned to members of the project group. 

Develop and implement an outdoor 
leisure facilities improvement plan 
focused around the 'sports village' 
concept 

 Report which summarises progress to date and required funds towards new projects is being 
drafted for Service Delivery Panel on 26th January. Two new pipeline projects are in 
development (Endon and Forsbrook). Waterhouses project is now complete, funding has 
been given to Whiston Parish Council to progress their project. 

Develop a Private Sector Housing 
Strategy to improve conditions for 
homeowners and private tenants  

 Information digest report issued, and feedback received. Policy will be out for consultation in 
the new year. 

Refresh the Council’s Communication 
Strategy in order to ensure that there is a 
more effective dialogue with residents  

 Information digest report is being prepared. 
 
 

Review the Council's community safety 
arrangements in order to maintain 
strong partnerships with community 
groups 

 ACTION COMPLETED.  
Completed and reported to Members. 

Influencing Action: Reducing crime, the 
fear of crime and ASB 

Influencing Action: Combating illegal 
money lenders such as loan sharks 

P
age 61



Priority Actions Status Commentary – December 
Review the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy in order to integrate 
communities and sports clubs into the 
delivery of its objectives 

 Staffs Moorlands - work to progress this review will commence in the new year and will follow 
a similar stakeholder engagement process to the review undertaken in High Peak.  
Individual project updates within the action: 
- Active Communities Plan: The plans are being refreshed to take into account new strategic 
priorities and re-start of roles/activities which focus on communities via Lex Leisure. 
- Refresh sports & physical activity strategy: Staffordshire Moorlands - stakeholder 
consultation was paused due to Cheadle project residents survey but looking to restart this in 
the new year. Information Digest report expected in February. 
- Review Community Sport Grants: Review is complete.  

Implement the Covid-19 Community 
Recovery Plan 
 

 The council is working with its county and community partners on recovery plans 

Influencing actions 
Ensuring effective health provision 
particularly for the elderly 
 
 

The Council’s Health O&S Panel met on 15th Sept 2021, and members considered the following health 
related matters: - 
 
Health related matters considered: 
• Aftercare Following Discharge from Hospital  
• Midlands Partnership NHS Foundation Trust Annual Update included the latest update for Leek 
Minor Injuries Unit. 
• West Midlands Ambulance Service - Review of Community Ambulance Stations & rural provision 
of the Ambulance Service 
 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 62



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track

SM Aim 2 : December Results 2021/22

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 2 : December Trends 2021/22

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance under Aim Two at Staffordshire Moorlands remains strong with over 80% of aligned measures on track. Sickness absence across 

the Alliance has now passed its reduced 6-day target for the year with 1,999 FTE days lost during the first nine months of 2021/22. Almost 

three-quarters of these absences are due to cases of long term sickness.  

There has also been an increase in reactive procurements to assist with external funding spend, which has affected the proportion of planned 

commissioning activity. FOI responses have seen a small improvement but remain low.     

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Q3, the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

✓ IT systems and network availability 

✓ repeat complaints and complaint handling 

✓ customer interactions and portal accounts 

✓ internal audit recommendations implemented 

 

 

P
age 63



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary – December 
Develop and implement a plan to 
identify new and innovative ways of 
generating income 
 

 Individual projects updates within the action: 
Advertising/Sponsorship - On hold  
Fees & Charges- Proceeding in line with the MTFP. 
Empty properties-Review of empty properties completed in October 2021. This was a one-
off project that is now complete. Out of the caseload issued for review 19% of the cases 
were found to be occupied. 
Trade Waste- To be picked up when AES project resources become available. 

Refresh and implement the Asset 
Management Plan, including a 
review of public estate, and ensure 
adequate facilities management 
arrangements are in place 

 Individual projects updates within the action: 
- Asset Management Plan : Slight delays to Stock Condition and Energy Audits due to staff 
sickness (Covid-19 related). Unlikely to get the surveys and data back before the end of 
January.  
- Capital program: Next year’s budget confirmed. Overall, most projects are on track and 
few project will progress into next year.  
- Norse Contract Options: Cleaning and Caretaking proposal should be here within the next 
week. Service Spec being reviewed by Head of Service, final workshop happening on 11th 
& 12th of January and final publication by Norse on 14th Jan. Cllr Work group is being 
pulled together following this publication for January for both sides for wc.17th & 31st. 
Report to be written and agenda to be prepared, with overall aim of agreement on 8th & 
10th Feb.  
-  Facilities Management Arrangements: Vertas has given Notice on Atlas from 30th April. 
Linked to Norse project.   

Develop an Access to Services 
Strategy to ensure that Council 
services are accessible to all 

 To be presented to members alongside other strategies in 2022. 

Implement the Council’s Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Programme 
(This will focus on several projects 
including procurement, income 
generation, trading, advertising, 
and sponsorship, etc.) 

 Staffordshire Moorlands report is being prepared.  Individual project updates within the 
action:  
Parish Grants-Proceeding in line with MTFP timetable 
Refresh Efficiency & Rationalisation programme-Proceeding in line with MTFP timetable 
 

Develop a new Organisational 
Development Strategy to ensure 
that our workforce is developed 

 Report has been prepared - Due to go to members with other strategies (Feb 2022). 

P
age 64



Priority Actions Status Commentary – December 
effectively 

Develop a new procurement 
strategy with a focus on spending 
money locally 
 

 The procurement team had a brainstorming session in late November to review the 
strategy ambitions and associated actions. Aspiration is to have the draft strategy 
produced by early Feb 2022 with a committee report requesting its adoption in March 
2022. 

Develop a new ICT strategy to 
enhance and support the delivery 
of services 

 Digital Strategy due February 2022 meeting cycle.  
Individual project updates within the strategy:  
Civica Pay- Notification received from Civica on 7th December that owing to their need to 
ensure that they have the resources to deliver 3Dsv2 compliance across their customer  
base they were no longer able to support a March 2022 go-live. 
Civica Open Revenues- First phase completed for automation of moves/MOP and benefit 
forms completed June 2021. 
Collective - We have published the Christmas changes calendars and launched the new 
SMDC calendar for this period on time. However, we have identified some flaws with 
original missed form coding not completely fitting our operational needs & the potential 
to cause problems operationally. Negotiations with IEG4 have been underway, work 
scheduled for early 2022 –workarounds put in place for the issues. We shifted some target 
dates into 2022 to ensure maximum effort and attention can be put into each stage of the 
implementation and get it right. Quality remains our highest priority, corners are not being 
cut and extra effort is going into the detail setting the standard for future integration 
projects. 
ICT upgrade- Socitm Advisory has been commissioned to support the co-creation of a new 
Digital Strategy and roadmap for the Alliance. To do this, the Socitm Advisory team has  
been engaging widely with stakeholders across the councils’ as well as reviewing our 
existing digital landscape to form a roadmap which considers our architecture as well as 
our aspirations. Deliverables of the ICT / Digital Strategy will rely on this platform, and this 
is a project that will lead on our future opportunities & benefits that could be gained from 
a wider digital workspace - all yet to be fully scoped so project documentation cannot be 
provided. Timescale from ongoing to Post TRA2. 
 

Implement the Covid 19 Reinstating 
Service Plan, Financial Recovery 
Plan and Positive Legacy Plan 

 Following the latest changes the group will be stood up to plan the Councils’ return. 
Financial recovery is being built into the MTFP. The Agile Working Policy is with the Unions 
for sign off and will be launched before the end of January.  

 

 

P
age 65



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track

SM Aim 3: December Results 2021/22 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 3 : December Trends 2021/22 

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and 

villages   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

The Council is on track for all the targets contained under Aim Three and 100% of major applications have been determined on time.       

 

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Q3 2021/22, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets: 

✓ major planning applications processed on time 

✓ minor planning applications processed on time 

✓ other planning applications processed on time 

✓ major and minor developments allowed on appeal 

  

 

 

 

P
age 66



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary – December 
Support the development of Cornhill 
and improved rail links 
 

 Individual projects updates within the action: 
Cornhill development: East- The project is included within a long list as part of visioning work 
on levelling up. Proposal provided of what we will do with the funding, if successful. West - In 
contact with Developer regarding confirmation on owners willingness to sell freehold of 
industrial units to support LEP funding application. Proposed to appoint Fisher German to 
undertake RICs valuation and lead on negotiations for land purchase. Overall site viability 
assessment (required to support s106 variation application) expected 10/12/21 - outcome of 
which will have significant impact on delivery timescale both of industrial units and full site. 
Remains the risk that landowner could disengage with site delivery and revert to sale for fully 
commercially led development. 
Rail projects: Stoke to Leek Rail feasibility -Inaugural meeting (chaired by MP) to be held 
10/12/21. Leekbrook-Leek heritage rail track due to commence in January, resubmitted 
planning application as expired (due to inability to start on site due to covid), unclear if this 
has been approved - Planning to comment. 

Influencing Action - Support the 
Churnet Valley Railway with their 
plans to bring trains back to Leek 

Support the development of the 
former Churnet Works site, Leek 

 Subject to existing developer option expiry & continued Travelodge interest, business case 
required for Council led development.  

Develop and implement plans to 
extend the public market operations  

 Quarterbridge project management 1st draft report received of market service overview. On 
target for final report and Market Hall business case reports for end of December 2021, 
Traders offered discount to trade in Market Hall on Fridays from January (following 
withdrawal of antiques market). positive response to date. Wednesday outdoor trader 
numbers remain low and officers dealing with high number of complaints. Final option to be 
determined in January. 

Develop a master plan for bringing 
redundant mills back into use 

 Leek Mills Commercial Demand Assessment: An external site tour was held with regeneration 
and planning on 3rd November. Consultants Lambert Smith Hampton have almost completed 
their background report and are working on the heritage review. LSH have arranged meetings 
with three of the mill owners to date, these meetings are set up for the 9th of December.  
Sixteen initiations have been sent to local agents on 12th November and LSH are starting to 
get responses with meetings set up in the coming weeks. We are attempting to identify the 
owners of York Mill. Review meetings have been set up with LSH.  

Implement the Council’s growth 
strategy to bring about the 
regeneration of towns and rural 
communities 

 Biddulph Wharf Rd masterplan- Reviewing next steps and required budget. Planning policy 
have contacted the owners regarding delivery status. 2 responses received.   
Tunstall Road- Planning Policy have contacted owners regarding status. Two responses 
received to date. 

P
age 67



Priority Actions Status Commentary – December 
Influencing Action- HP - Ensure the 
best use of public assets across the 
borough by working via the One 
Public Estate project 
 
 
 
 

Blythe Vale- Meeting to be held with SCC to consider draft specification for procurement of a 
masterplan.  Meeting to be arranged with National Highways and St Modwen Homes to 
discuss access to Phase 3, the employment allocation to the south of the A50. The council has 
allocated £30,000 to the project - Progress should happen in the New Year.  
Cheadle town centre masterplan - Stakeholder Panel meeting held 15th December.  Report to 
be taken to Cabinet meeting of 8th February 2022 to set out feedback from the public survey 
and agree next steps.  These are proposed to be:  
1.  Consider the Council response to feedback from the public and map out the way forward 
under each theme (housing; High Street; parking; leisure; integrated health and well-being 
services). 
2. Consider an updated role for the Stakeholder Panel. 
3. Issue a second community newsletter to update residents in February. 

Influencing Action- SM-Expand the 
Growth Deal Partnership to provide 
inward investment 

Develop a Tourism Strategy to 
maximise the positive impact to our 
communities 

 Specification being prepared. Cllr. Hart to comment before the project re-starts. 

Implement the Covid-19 Economic 
Recovery Plan 

 Recovery packages in place including grants to business, business support initiatives and close 
liaison with partners to develop redundancy responses & job fair events. Tourism promotion 
in partnership with DMO's to promote staycation market and launch of hospitality charter to 
support recruitment to industry. Tourism Strategies commissioned for both districts. 
Welcome Back funding used to attract footfall to town centres and support markets.     

Influencing Actions                
Provide bus services which connect 
our villages with our three market 
towns for services, shopping, and 
leisure 

Staffordshire County Council have been successful in a bid to the Rural Mobility Fund to support demand 
responsive transport projects in rural areas. The funding will be used to extend and enhance the Moorlands 
Connect service over the next four years, linking in directly with the scheduled local bus services at interchange 
points in the area to enable onward travel. There will be three buses with journeys available from 7am to 7pm 
Monday to Friday and from 8am to 6pm Saturdays. A service on summer Sundays will also be starting from next 
April. The new service will commence on the 25th of October 2021. A survey is currently running and has been 
shared with the District Council, all the Parish Councils in the operating area, schools in the area, Leek and Buxton 
College, the local bus service providers, and the Peak District National Park. 

Improve access and traffic flows to 
our town centre 

Continued liaison with Development Services and SCC regarding new development sites & key projects including 
Cheadle Town Centre masterplan and Blythe Vale. CRF bid submitted for development of Blythe Vale ‘Long list' of 
projects identified as part of Green Infrastructure plan now being taken forward with partners. Feasibility Study 
funding agreed for the Stoke-Leek Railway. Development Control officers continue to consult with highways on 
new schemes and S106 contributions towards town centre improvements are sought where appropriate.  

 

P
age 68



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

On Track Off Track

SM Aim 4: December Results 2021/22

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 4 : December Trends 2021/22

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Staffs Moorlands has fallen to 83% on track this month with just one measure below target at the end of December – estimated recycling 

rates, which now stand at 56.3% against a target of 57.5% at Staffs Moorlands. Fly tipping is showing an improved trend on last year with 267 

incidents at Staffs Moorlands. The W.A.R on fly-tipping campaign was launched with the council’s waste partner – AES, at the end of the 

summer.               

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Q3 2021/22, the following performance indicators outstripped their targets: 

✓ missed bins 

✓ paper consumption 

✓ residual household waste 

✓ high risk premises inspections 

✓ routine permitted process premises inspected  

 

 

P
age 69



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions  Status Commentary – December 
Identify and implement an approach 
to reduce the cost of country parks 

 Progress is slow as we are yet to have any response from SOTCC, despite chasing up their 
Director in the last few weeks. This lack of response is requiring us to develop the 
alternative options to progress the project and the legal support and advice required to 
aid this process. Heads of Terms have been reviewed by SWT and a follow up meeting is 
scheduled for the 10th of January. 

Develop a plan to improve Brough 
Park and John Hall Gardens 
 

 Brough Park Improvement plan- Work to refurbish the two remaining tennis courts 
commenced on 15th November as planned. The weather conditions meant that a 
number of days were lost but the vast majority of the work is now complete. There are a 
few snagging elements outstanding and also the new line marking needs to be finished. 
The courts may have a temporary line marked until the spring as the normal thermo-
lines are applied better in the warmer weather.  
We have received confirmation from the LTA that the £30 million funding will not 
commence until April next year and as such this project will not be able to apply for any 
funds towards the refurbishment. We will continue to talk to the LTA over the potential 
of having a gate system installed, but we need to understand the implications of this 
before we move forward. 

Develop a climate change strategy & 
an action plan of response to a 
declared climate emergency 

 Reports are being considered during the current committee cycle, comments have been 
received and provided back to the internal project group. Staffs Moorlands to be signed 
off in December.  

Review the Council's waste and 
recycling arrangements to increase 
recycling and to respond to the 
emerging national strategy 

 Consultation responses were issued to DEFRA ahead of 4th July deadline 

Influencing Action- Provide waste 
and recycling centres across the 
district 

Review the Environmental 
Enforcement Policy in order to take 
steps to further reduce 
environmental crime 

 Corporate Enforcement policy drafted.  

Develop a new Parking Strategy to 
ensure that our car parks meet the 
needs of residents and visitors 

 Report being drafted for Service Delivery in January prior to Cabinet in February. 
 

P
age 70



Priority Actions  Status Commentary – December 
Influencing Action - The provision of 
accessible on street parking 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 71



P
age 72



 

 

P
age 73



 

Areas for Improvement: December 2021  

Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2021/22 

Result 
December 

2021 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

% of prevention duty 

discharges resulting in a 

settled accommodation 

outcome 

Aim 1: Increased supply of 
good quality affordable 

homes  

Head of Housing 
Services 

64% 56% Christmas slowdown has impacted options 

around accommodation, together with reduced 

stock availability and demand issues. 

% of relief duty discharges 

resulting in a settled 

accommodation outcome 

62% 49% Christmas slowdown has impacted options 

around accommodation, together with reduced 

stock availability and demand issues. 

Number of TA placements 

(including B&B made for 

families) placed over 6 

weeks 

 5 8 (0) The current Covid situation coupled with 

Christmas and reduced turnover of housing stock 

is impacting move options. 

FOI requests: % responded 

to within statutory time 

frame (include numbers in 

commentary) 

Aim 2: Ensure our services 
are easily available to all 

our residents  

Head of Legal and 
Elections 

95% 64% 

(260/405) 

Response times have been affected by the impact 

Covid 19 has had on resources within the Service 

Areas 

% of household waste sent 

for reuse, recycling and 

composting 

Aim 4: Effective recycling 
and waste management 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

57.5% 56.31% Results are estimated as data has not been 

received from SCC relating to disposal tonnages 

nor from recycling contractors for December.  

Joint Alliance Measures 

P
age 74



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2021/22 

Result 
December 

2021 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

Ave days sickness per FTE 

(Alliance measure) (include 

short and long-term 

absence per FTE) 

Aim 2: Invest in our staff 
to ensure we have the 
internal expertise to 
deliver our plans by 
supporting our high 

performing and well- 
motivated workforce 

Head of OD and 
Transformation 

6 days 6.62 days Ave days sickness per FTE short term: 1.90; long 

term 4. 74. There have been 1999 FTE days lost to 

sickness across the Alliance year to date. 1430 of 

those days are due to long term sickness, the 

majority of which sit within direct services.  

% of Procurement activity 

on forward plan (Joint 

Alliance measure) 

Aim 2: Effective 
procurement with a focus 

on local business 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

68% 50% The PI is off track due to the increased level of 

reactive procurement exercises as a result of the 

pandemic external funding schemes which has 

been made available to support our towns in both 

regions throughout 21/22.  In addition, there 

continues to be an increased level of direct 

awards outside of any prior planning as reactive 

and urgent requirements for external spend.  In 

Q3 Procurement held service review meetings in 

the aim to capture any further activity which is 

known to be procured by the end of this financial 

year with Service leads and plan ahead for 22/23. 

 

  

 For a full list of all performance measures and the Q3 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this link.  

 

P
age 75

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/staffs_moorlands_performance_indicator_database_december.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 February 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Appendix Attached 

 Appendix A (Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26) 

 Appendix B (Capital Strategy 2022/23) 

 Appendix C (Fees & Charges 2022/23) 

 Appendix D (Procurement Forward Plan 2022/23) 
 

 
1. Reason for the Report  

 
1.1      The purpose of the report is to present the proposed Budget for 2022/23, 

updated Medium-Term Financial Plan 2022/23 – 2025/26, Capital Strategy 

2022/23, proposed Fees and Charges for 2022/23 and Procurement Forward 
Plan 2022/23. 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 That Cabinet support the following recommendations to Council: 
 

 Approves the General Fund Budget for 2022/23 as detailed in Appendix A 

(section 9) 

 

 Approves the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2022/23 to 2025/26) 
as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised Capital Programme 

(attached at Annex A) 

 
 Approves the Capital Strategy 2022/23 as set out in Appendix B 

 

 Approves the proposed Fees and Charges for 2022/23 as detailed in 
Appendix C 

 

TITLE: 2022/23 Budget & Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26 

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader 
  

CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8.3

file:///C:/Users/chazeldene/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Documents%20and%20Settings/cstone/Local%20Settings/astokes/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/9RF23P99/SMDC%20-%20Budget%202012-13%20&%20MTFP%20App%20A%20(15-02-12).doc


  

 Approves the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for 2022/23, providing 
the authority to procure based on procurement activity detailed in 
Appendix D 

 

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £163.14 for 2022/23 (an increase of  

2.99% from 2021/22) 
 

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £52.92 for Leek and £10.64 for 

Biddulph for 2022/23 (no increase from 2021/22) in respect of Special 
District Expenses 

 

 Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves are 
adequate for the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in 
place at the time of preparing it (Appendix A Annex E) 

 
 

3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1  This report makes recommendations to Council for the budget and the level of 
Council Tax for 2022/23. The report also provides an update on the Council’s 
medium-term financial position through to 2025/26.  Additionally, it establishes 

an overarching Capital Strategy, sets out the fees and charges that are 
proposed for 2022/23, and details the Procurement Forward Plan 2022/23. 

 
3.2      The budget setting and medium term financial planning process provides the 

Council with the opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in 

accordance with local priorities. There are also risks around the outcomes of 
national funding reviews (i.e. fair funding; business rates retention; and new 

homes bonus) which may have a detrimental impact on the future financial 
position. 

 

3.3 The current four year MTFP was updated in September 2021 to reflect further 
Covid-19 related pressures and updated economic forecasts in order to begin 

to understand the medium term financial impact.  
 

3.4 This  version of the MTFP updates the September forecasts,  based on the 

provisional settlement information released in December, latest economic 
forecasts, assumptions around the timing and level of capital and revenue 

expenditure and income and the impact of the recovery from Covid-19. 
 

3.5      The 2022/23 local government finance settlement was better than anticipated 

in the MTFP, but contained one-off monies or greater uncertainty and it was 
also a one-year settlement, which isn’t good for medium term service planning.   

 
3.6   The Council received £117k of Lower Tier Services Grant, which wasn’t 

expected, as it was announced as a one-off grant last year. The assumption in 

setting the MTFP is that it won’t recur. The Council also received £180k in the 
form of a new Services Grant. The Secretary of State has said that the 

Government “will then take the time to fully consider its future distribution”. So 
this grant looks set to continue, but the Council’s future share is unknown. The 
Council also received an allocation of £63k in Rural Services Delivery Grant, 

this is assumed to be on-going throughout the life of the plan. 

Page 78



  

 
3.7 Lastly, the Council received £255k in New Homes Bonus for 2022/23, which 

was anticipated and is  positive news. In the finance settlement, the 

Government stated it would reform New Homes Bonus to improve 
how housing growth is incentivised, but it didn’t say how this would be done. 

So, in the MTFP, it is prudent to revise downwards the Council’s current 
reliance on it to balance in the medium term. 
 

3.8 In terms of costs, the Council will incur costs higher than originally anticipated 
when setting the MTFP last year. The pay award for this year (2021/22) will be 

at least 1.75% and probably at least 2% next year. The current MTFP had 
anticipated 1.0% on the basis of a Government announced squeeze on public 
sector pay. General inflation will also be higher than anticipated last year, with 

an average consolidated rate in the 2022/23 budget of 3.5%, rather than 1.0%.  
  

 

3.9 This leaves a balanced 2022/23 budget on both the revenue and capital side, 
but with greater uncertainty and risk in the MTFP for future years. Particularly 

so, as the outcomes from  Government’s business rates review, fair funding 
review, or new homes bonus review are all unknown.  
 

3.10 The current efficiency strategy ends this year (2021/22). Any savings from re-
commissioning and re-procurement during the year will be taken. It is 
recommended that underspends at year end are put into a financial resilience 

reserve, which will provide a buffer if national reviews have negative impacts 
for the Council. And for the same reasons, work should begin on a new 

efficiency strategy during 2022/23.  
 

3.11 The financial settlement allows for a 2% or up to £5 increase in Council Tax. It 

should be noted that Treasury’s published figures do assume all Authorities 
maximise the increase. The way capping (or “referendum limits”) works, if the 

maximum increase isn’t taken then that opportunity is lost forever (there’s no 
way to catch up in subsequent years).  
 

3.12 Having completed the annual budget exercise, a balanced budget for 2022/23 
has been achieved. The final General Fund budget proposal for 2022/23 

provides for a net budget of £10,792,890 and a Council Tax increase of £4.74 
on a Band D equivalent property (2.99%) with the Special District Expenses 
remaining at £52.92 (Leek) and £10.64 (Biddulph) respectively    

 
3.13 A new financial year (2025/26) has been added to the MTFP and the overall 

financial assumptions have been updated for the four years. It must be 
stressed that there is a great deal of uncertainty in regard to this position, both  
from the coronavirus pandemic and the outcomes of national funding reviews 

(i.e. fair funding; business rates retention; and new homes bonus), which 
remain unknown at this stage.   

 
3.14 The forecast predicts a balanced budget position by 2025/26 – on the basis 

the Country has fully recovered from the Coronavirus pandemic at that point 

and the Council can once again become self-sustainable (without reliance on 
reserves) – albeit it with the risks identified above. 

 

Page 79



  

3.15 The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme have been updated and 
allow for additional investment in priority areas. The Medium Term Financial 
Plan includes an updated Capital Programme of £27,948,070 over the period 

2021/22 – 2025/26.  
 

3.15 The Procurement Forward Plan sets out details of the expected activity during 
2022/23. 

  
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report. 

 
5.       Options and Analysis 

 

This  report recommends a Council Tax level and associated budget, Medium 
Term Financial Plan,  Capital Strategy (and future capital programme) and 

Fees & Charges for 2022/23 designed to best deliver the Council’s  corporate 
priorities within a balanced budget. Other options are feasible, but any 

alternatives would need to robustly identify the service and financial 
implications, in order to satisfy the Council’s Section 151 Officer (under the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988, section 114) of the need to deliver a 

balanced budget.  
 

6.  Implications 

 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None. 
 

6.2 Workforce 

None. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies. 

 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 

Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report. 

 
6.5 Legal 

The Local Government Act 2000 states that it is the responsibility of the full 

Council, on the recommendation of the executive, to approve the budget and 
related council tax demand. The Local Government Act 2003, section 25 

requires the council’s Section 151 officer to report to the council on the 
robustness of the estimates made and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves assumed in the budget calculations. The Local 

Page 80



  

Government Finance Act 1988, section 114 requires the Section 151 officer 
to report to all of the Authority’s councillors if there is likely to be an 
unbalanced budget. 

 
16.6 Sustainability 

An earmarked reserve has been established to support with climate change 
related activities. Climate Change considerations are indirectly included in 
many aspects of the MTFP – including capital programme projects focused 

on Council buildings and vehicle purchases, as well as being a consideration 
in procurement activity reflected in the Forward Plan. These are highlighted, 

wherever possible, in the MTFP report itself. 
 
 

6.7 External Consultation 
The Council’s budget plans have been subject to a consultation via the 

Council’s website. 
 

6.8   Risk A Risk Assessment 

A full risk analysis has been undertaken which is contained within the plan 
 

 
 
 

 
JOHN BETTS 

Interim Executive Director Finance and Revenues & Benefits 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 

Various background working papers 
 

Moorlands House 
 

John Betts 

John.betts@highpeak.gov.uk 
07581 010628 
 
Keith Pointon 
Head of Finance 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 

 
 

 
 

Page 81

mailto:John.betts@highpeak.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

 

                               

 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  

 

 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN             

2022/23 to 2025/26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

February 2022 

Page 83



 

INDEX 

 

1 Introduction 
 

2 Strategic Priorities 
 
3 Current Spending Levels 

 
4 Coronavirus Pandemic 

 
5 Transformation Programme 

5.1 Introduction  

5.2 Capital Strategy 
5.3 Capital Programme 

5.4 Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
5.5 Major Contracts  
5.6 Member Priority Projects 

 
6 Financial Forecasts 

6.1 Introduction 
6.2 Interest Rates 
6.3 Inflationary Projections 

6.4 Budgetary Demand 
6.5 Budget Growth 

6.6 Pensions 
 
7 Funding & Income Generation 

7.1 Introduction 
7.2 Council Tax 

7.3 Business Rates Retention 
7.4 Collection Fund 
7.5 Income from Government Grants 

7.6 Fees & Charges 
 
8 Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves  
 
9 Budget 2020/21 

 
10 General Fund Revenue Financial Position  

 
11 Consultation 
  

Annex A Proposed Capital Programme   
Annex B MTFP Principal Risks 

Annex C Chief Finance Officer Review of Contingencies / Reserves 
Annex D Proposed Revenue Budget   
 

 

Page 84



1. Introduction 

 

1.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the Council’s budget 
and policy frameworks. It ensures resources are targeted towards delivery of the 

Council’s Corporate Plan. It describes the financial direction of travel for the 
Council for planning purposes and outlines the financial pressures the Council is 

likely to face over the next 4 years.   
 
1.2. The medium-term financial planning process establishes how resources will be 

allocated to services in line with the Council’s priorities, which have been 
determined following consultation with residents, councillors and other 

stakeholders. The process facilitates the prudent management of the Council’s 
finances, whilst building resilience to provide for the needs of residents over the 
medium and longer term.   

 

1.3. The MTFP is updated regularly as part of the budget setting cycle. This review of 
the MTFP builds on the existing plan and updates assumptions to reflect known 
changes to income, costs and funding. The plan incorporates revenue and capital 

financial projections over the four years 2022/23 to 2025/26.  It also includes an 
assessment of key risks and a presentation of longer-term financial issues which 

have the potential to impact on the Council.  
 

2. Strategic Priorities 
 

2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is driven by local priorities. The Council’s 
spending strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by members of 

the Council. 
 

2.2. Following the elections in May 2019, there was a fundamental review of the 

Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2019-2023 (up to the end of the current 
political administration).  The Corporate Plan was agreed by Council on 16 th 

October 2019 and establishes the Council’s vision, corporate objectives and key 
priorities for the medium term.  It establishes the Council’s commitment in the 
delivery of service and community leadership to the residents of the Staffordshire 

Moorlands.  
 

2.3. The delivery of the Corporate Plan is measured through the Performance 
Framework.  A set of local performance indicators and targets will be established 
in preparation for the start of the financial year 2022/23 to help monitor delivery. 

The Medium Term Financial Plan has been updated to reflect the contents of the 
plan and to ensure that resources are directed towards key priorities.  

 

2.4. The Council’s vision is expressed as:    
 

“Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high quality services that meet the needs 
and aspirations of our communities”  

 
 This vision is articulated further by four aims:-:  
 

 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live 
and work 

Page 85



 Effective use of resources and provide value for money 

 Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns 
and villages 

 Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 
emergency 

 

2.5. These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 

framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below:  

 
 

 Aim Objectives 

1 

 

Help create a safer 
and healthier 

environment for our 
communities to live 

and work 
 

 Increased supply of good quality affordable homes 

 Develop a positive relationship with communities 

 Effective relationship with strategic partners 

 Effective support of community safety arrangements including CCTV 
 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused upon 

improving health 

2 

 

Effective use of 
resources and 

provide value for 
money 

 
 

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for 
money 

 Ensure services are easily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time” 

 A high performing and well motivated workforce 

 More effective use of Council assets 

 Effective procurement with a focus on local business 

 Effective use of ICT 

3 

 

Help create a strong 
economy by 

supporting further 
regeneration of 

towns and villages  

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises 

 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy 

 Encourage and develop tourism 

 High quality development and building control with an “open for 
business” approach 

4 

 

Protect and improve 
the environment and 

respond to the 
climate emergency  

 Effective recycling and waste management 

 Meeting the challenge of climate change 
 Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and 

environmental health 

 Provision of quality parks and open spaces 

 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 
businesses and visitors 

 

2.6. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local area. In  

doing so the Council recognises its community leadership role.  Fulfilling this role 
effectively means influencing partners in a number of areas such as supporting the 
police and other partners to reduce crime; ensuring effective health provision 

particularly for the elderly; working with partners to improve the provision of bus 
services and continuing to support the Churnet Valley Railway with their plans to 

bring trains back to Leek.  
 

2.7. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in the 
development of performance targets and key actions.  A significant proportion of 

the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them:-  
 

 

Page 86



Aim Objectives 

 

 
Help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities 

to live and work 
 

 Increased supply of quality affordable homes 

 Improved  health 

 Improved community safety 

 

Effective use of resources and 
provide value for money 

 

 Council services provide value for money 

 High level of resident and customer 
satisfaction 

 

Help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages  

 Sustainable towns and rural communities 

 Increased economic growth 

 Increased tourism 
 

Protect and improve the 
environment and respond to the 

climate emergency  

 High recycling rates 

 Reduction in carbon emissions 
 

 

2.8. The Council maintains a Strategic Alliance with High Peak Borough Council, 
formed around the principle of shared services in the pursuit of efficiency and 
realisation of savings. The Strategic Alliance has enabled the implementation and 

transformation of a joint management structure and services, consequently 
realising significant efficiency savings. The Council intends to continue to drive 

savings and service improvements through collaboration with its Alliance partner. 
 
3. Current Spending Levels 

 

3.1. The starting point for the development of the MTFP is the current level of spending 

and the approved capital expenditure commitments. 
 

3.2. The Council’s current year (2021/22) General Fund budget can be summarised as 

follows: 
 

 Income and Expenditure 
2021/22 

Budget 

  £ 

Employees 6,320,320 

Premises 2,202,120 

Transport 141,260 

Supplies & Services 7,591,880 

Benefits 5,010 

Borrowing 224,580 

Financing Costs 231,380 

Total Expenditure 16,716,550 

Fees and Charges / Other Income 
       

(5,739,900) 

Interest Receipts    (20,710) 

Ascent LLP Income (522,880) 

Net Expenditure 10,433,060 

 
 
 

Page 87



3.3. The net expenditure is financed as follows:  
 

Financing 2021/22 

Budget 

  £ 

Council Tax        (5,679,150) 

Business Rates Retention   (3,801,300) 

New Homes Bonus       (121,880) 

Covid-19 Funding   (639,400) 

Collection Fund (Surplus)/ Deficit 4,061,790  

Earmarked Reserves / Balances (4,253,120) 

Total Financing   (10,433,060) 

 

General Fund Capital Budget 

3.4. The medium-term projection for capital commitments approved by Members in 

February 2021 is detailed below: -  
   

Service Area  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Asset Management Plan 775,640 663,160 1,404,360     915,490   1,081,390  4,840,040 

Housing Grants 790,000 1,515,650 1,500,000  1,500,000   1,500,000     6,805,650  

ICT Strategy     116,610    141,900      50,000       50,000       50,000  408,510 

Fleet Management  986,130 1,716,940             -        301,640                -    3,004,710 

Other Schemes 408,850 651,920 100,000      41,920        50,000  1,252,690 

Total Revised Programme 3,077,230 4,689,570 3,054,360 
   

2,809,050  
   

2,681,390  
   

16,311,600  

Financed by:-             

External Contributions  795,000 1,512,390 1,500,000 1,500,000  1,500,000  6,807,390 

Capital Receipts      110,000      25,000      77,500                -                  -    212,500 

Capital Reserve 557,000             -                -                  -                  -    557,000 

Earmarked Reserves     220,850              -                -                  -                  -    220,850 

Borrowing 1,394,380 3,152,180 1,476,860 1,309,050  1,181,390  8,513,860 

Total Revised  Financing  3,077,230 4,689,570 3,054,360 2,809,050 

   

2,681,390  16,311,600 

 
 
  Reserves 

 
3.5. The forecast general fund reserves position over the life of the current approved 

MTFP was estimated to be:- 
 

Contingency reserve 
2020/21 
(Budget) 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

   £ £ £ £ £ 
 

Balance at year end 3,480,790 3,224,710 2,917,060 2,730,350 2,724,380 
 

Minimum requirement  1,107,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 
 

Headroom 2,373,790 1,744,710 1,437,060 1,250,350 1,244,380 
 

 
 

Page 88



4. Coronavirus Pandemic 

 

4.1. The Coronavirus pandemic has had, and is likely to continue having, an impact on 
the Council’s financial position.  The financial impact includes additional 

expenditure in dealing with the crisis both externally and organisationally and  lost 
income.  This version of the MTFP updates the forecasts included in the 

September 2021 refresh for the latest coronavirus pandemic response and 
recovery impact and assumptions around the timing and level of capital and 
revenue expenditure and income. The forecast use of reserves required to 

balance the MTFP position in February 2021 (as a result of the pandemic) has 
remained steady and it not envisaged that further contributions will be necessary.  

 
4.2. The Council has established a Covid-19 earmarked reserve specifically to support 

with the financial impact of Covid-19 totalling £600,000. 

 
5. Transformation Programme 

 
5.1. Introduction 

 

5.1.1. The Council’s ‘transformation programme’ incorporates all major projects which 
meet the strategic priorities of the authority and have significant financial 

implications, including:- 

 The Capital Programme  

 Treasury management implications  

 The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 

 The Council’s major contracts 

 Member Priority Projects 
 

5.1.2. The delivery of transformation programme projects is monitored by the 
Transformation Board made up of Directors, along with key Heads of Service and 
officers.  A Director is allocated as ‘project executive’ and a full business case 

appraisal is completed for each project. 
 

5.1.3. The progress and current financial projections of the transformation programme is 
explored below along with any potential revenue and capital consequences.  Any 
further work required to identify the financial implications of the programme are 

discussed and will feed into future MTFP updates. 
 

5.2. Capital Strategy  

 
5.2.1. In accordance with the requirements of the 2017 edition of the Chartered Institute 

of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities, the Capital Strategy has been updated for 2022/23.  

 
5.2.2. The Strategy, which is being presented to members along side this report, explains 

how capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with the 

Council’s Corporate Plan and service objectives, taking account of stewardship, 
value for money, prudence, risk management, sustainability and affordability.  

 
5.2.3. The Capital Strategy is detailed in APPENDIX B. 
 

 

Page 89



 

5.3. Capital Programme  
 

5.3.1. The Capital Programme presented to Members in February 2021 has been 

reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest position in terms of capital 
projections to 31st March 2026.  Some projects have inevitably been delayed due 

to the lockdown periods, social distancing measures and contractor availability. 
 
5.3.2. Consequently, the five-year capital programme (including 2020/21) is forecast at 

£27,948,070.  The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major 
schemes, are summarised in the table below.  Full detail is attached in ANNEX A. 

 
Service Area  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Asset Management Plan 508,660 734,260 1,509,790    717,700  2,824,390  6,294,800 

Housing Grants 1,523,200 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000  1,500,000     7,523,200  
Housing  10,000,000              -                 -                  -                  -     10,000,000  
ICT Strategy      122,000      20,000      50,000       50,000       40,560  282,560 

Fleet Management  1,062,630    774,070     320,000       15,000                -    2,171,700 
Other Schemes 740,890 473,000 171,920    170,000     120,000  1,675,810 

Total Revised Programme 13,957,380 3,501,330 3,551,710 

   

2,452,700  

   

4,484,950  

   

27,948,070  
Financed by:-             
External Contributions  1,519,940 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000  7,519,940 

Capital Receipts    3,215,750       71,000       16,000       11,000                -    3,313,750 
Revenue Reserves    1,200,000               -                 -                  -                  -    1,200,000 
Earmarked Reserves   1,185,650               -                 -                  -                  -    1,185,650 

Borrowing 6,836,040 1,930,330 2,035,710 941,700 2,984,950  14,728,730 

Total Revised  Financing  13,957,380 3,501,330 3,551,710 2,452,700 
   

4,484,950  27,948,070 

 

 
5.3.3. The capital projections above include the carry forward of £141,620 capital 

budgets from 2020/21.  Further detail on the capital schemes are provided below.  
 
 

 
Asset Management Plan (AMP) 

 
 

5.3.4. It is essential that the Council maintains an asset base, which delivers the 

ambitions of the Corporate Plan – however, this needs to be affordable.  The 
Capital Strategy sets out the proposed outcomes and actions, including the 

potential capital and revenue financial implications of maintaining the Council’s 
current property assets over a 30 year period, as summarised below:- 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 90



 
 SMDC AMP Capital Investment & Revenue 

Consequence                                                             

(AS AT SEPT 2016) 

2016-17 – 

2019-20 

2020-21 – 

2045-46            

(26 years) 

TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Public Buildings 1,010,850 2,761,600 3,772,450 

Car Parks 754,000 4,293,431 5,047,431 

Public Conveniences 181,400 415,800 597,200 

Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 479,361 448,761 928,122 

Leisure Centres 310,000 10,005,995 10,315,995 

Depots and Parks Buildings 97,070 2,355,714 2,452,784 

Industrial Units 80,380 392,050 472,430 

TOTAL 2,913,061 20,673,351 23,586,412 

    
Revenue Consequences (cost of borrowing) 115,959 943,653 1,059,612 

    
 

5.3.5. The table below reflects the updated capital investment requirements as at 
February 2022, adjusted for 2020/21 actual outturn, any in-year re-profiling that 

has taken place in 2021/22 and changes to spending plans. This amends the 
overall forecast capital spend by £966,592 over the 30 years from the original 
position. 

 
 

SMDC AMP Capital 
Investment  

          MTFP 
   2026-27 
to 2046-

47 
TOTAL 

  
2016-17 

(Actuals) 

2017-18 

(Actuals) 

2018-19 

(Actuals) 

2019-20 

(Actuals) 

2020-21 

(Actuals) 

   2021-
22 to 

2024-25 

    2025-

26    

(20 

Years)  
  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Public Buildings 70,020 410,000 387,460 12,120 - 601,560 603,220 2,008,770 4,093,150 

Car Parks - 1,290 4,660 394,620 99,890 671,950 441,350 3,368,207 4,981,967 

Public Conveniences - 3,280 - 31,310 67,170 166,780 - 297,000 565,540 

Waterways/Infrastructure  5,270 261,090 1,790 84,640 14,500 217,580 - 343,761 928,631 

Leisure Centres 1,700 95,170 5,090 2,410 539,910 853,210 1,279,050 6,293,763 9,070,303 

Depot/Parks/ Cemeteries - - 1,650 3,920 6,340 959,330 360,060 1,176,629 2,507,929 

Industrial Units - - 3,810 58,580 - - 140,710 269,200 472,300 

Total 76,990 770,830 404,460 587,600 727,810 3,470,410 2,824,390 13,757,330 22,619,820 

                    

Revenue 

Consequences - 11,250 30,700 22,300 14,410  192,570 54,270 635,020  960,520  
 

5.3.6.   The Council is  developing an Asset Management Strategy to ensure the future 
delivery of efficient asset management.  This work will be progressed once the 

condition surveys have been undertaken and the updated 30 year costs of 
maintaining the general fund asset stock are known.  The above will then be 

reset.   
 
5.3.7.   Any positive revenue implications of the asset management strategy, for 

example, reduced annual maintenance and utility costs due to fewer and/or more 
efficient buildings and income receipts from shared accommodation partners will 

be taken towards the efficiency programme. 
 

  Housing 

 
5.3.8.   A capital loan of £10million is being made to Your Housing Group for the 

maintenance of and provision of affordable housing within the Staffordshire 
Moorlands District. This is anticipated at the end of January 2022. 

Page 91



 

5.3.9.   This follows the cessation of the Council’s joint venture housing company, Ascent 
Housing LLP, with Your Housing during the same time period; and the return of 
the £14million loan facility and £3.14m impaired debenture facility. 

 
5.3.10. The new loan will be financed in part by the capital receipt from the debenture of 

£3.14m; £1.1m from an earmarked reserve previously set up to offset the 
impairment in the debenture; with the remainder being financed by borrowing. 
 

 
 

 
   Housing Grants 
 

5.3.11. The District Council is the duty holder under the Housing Grants, Construction 

and Regeneration Act 1996 for mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFGs) and 
this status remains despite changes to funding arrangements. All eligible 
applicants are entitled to receive mandatory funding for certain major 

adaptations to their properties.  
 

5.3.12. The funding for these adaptations had previously been given directly to the 
council but from 2015/16, the funding has been incorporated into the Better Care 
Fund and paid to the County Council.   

 
5.3.13. The Better Care Fund is a single pooled fund for all health and social care 

provision and covers the whole range of services including public health, social 

care services and clinical commissioning groups 
 

5.3.14. Government funding has increased each year since 2015/16.  Based on current 
information (as at Quarter Three), the allocation for 2021/22 will not be fully 
utilised to support the current year’s grants programme; this will bring the 

Disabled Facility reserve up to £4.2m at year end. 
 

 

  ICT Strategy  
 

5.3.15. An updated IT Strategy is currently being developed, alongside a Organisational 

Development Strategy and Access to Services Strategy.  The aim is to drive a 
change in culture and deliver the systems, processes and skills required in an 
environment where information is shared seamlessly though connected 

systems.  This will potentially reduce costs of services through optimisation, 
improving online services and enabling customers to self-serve.  This will also 

reduce manual administrative tasks, removing paper processes and allowing 
Officers to focus on high-value tasks.  

 

5.3.16. Consequently, estimated requirements have been included within the MTFP.  
There are other projects currently at initial business case or procurement stage. 

More accurate costings of these will be developed as business cases progress. 
 

5.3.17. There is also £225,000 set aside in an earmarked reserve which was established 

specifically to support with the implementation of the ICT Strategy 
 

 

Page 92



Fleet Management 

 
5.3.18. The Council’s Fleet management service is now provided by Alliance 

Environmental Services (AES) including procurement, whereas the responsibility 

for funding fleet acquisitions remains with the Council.  The capital programme 
contains a forward plan of fleet replacement requirements based on estimates of 

the useful lives of the existing fleet and future business needs.  
 

5.3.19. For the purposes of this report, it has been assumed that all replacement vehicle 

requirements over the next four years will be funded via direct capital purchase, 
but this will be subject to further funding options appraisals prior to purchase.   

 
5.3.20. The proceeds from the sale of vehicles will be used to fund future purchases and 

where possible, funds are set aside and held within an earmarked reserve for 

the purpose of funding short-life capital purchase such as fleet. This further 
reduces the overall cost of financing the vehicle fleet by reducing borrowing 

costs. 
 

New/Other Capital Commitments –  
 

5.3.21. The below provides details and estimated costs of new capital schemes which 
the Council is aiming to progress during the 4 year MTFP period, as well as any 
other potential schemes currently being developed where further work is required 

to estimate costings: 
 

            -  Market Town Regeneration    - £373,000 

Initiative towards enhancing and supporting investment. 
 

 

- Moorlands Partnership grant funding - £50,000 

Moorlands partnership annual contribution; to support the board’s work in 
awarding  grants to  improve historic buildings and structures. 

 

In addition,  there is £140,000 set aside as the remaining committed contribution 

to support the refurbishment and upgrade of Cheadle Town Council facilities (first 
tranche was allocated to play facilities), the Council is currently awaiting detailed 
proposals of these plans. 

 
  Financing the Capital Programme   

 

5.3.22. The capital programme can be funded from a number of options which include 
external grants and contributions from third parties comprising of Government 

and lottery funding; capital receipts from asset sales as part of the asset 
management plan; earmarked revenue reserves and borrowing.  

 

5.3.23. The main area of spending within the current programme which is expected to be 
funded from external resources is support towards Disabled Facilities Grants. 

Estimated capital receipts of £3.31m will be available over the next five years 
(subject to a review of surplus assets).  Revenue and capital reserves of £2.39m 
are forecast (at this stage) to be applied over the period.  

 
5.3.24. Where no other resources can be applied, borrowing becomes the funding option 

for the programme.  The Council’s estimated borrowing requirement over the 4 
years is shown below:- 

Page 93



 

 
 
 

 
 

5.3.25. The Treasury Management Strategy then considers whether this is funded 
externally or internally - both options have a consequence on revenue either 

through reduced investment income or increased external interest liability as 
highlighted in the table in 5.3.27.   

 
5.3.26. It is proposed to utilise reserves allocated for capital spend (where possible) 

where an options appraisal on the acquisition of short-life assets such as 

vehicles, plant and equipment has been carried out and suggests that the most 
financially viable option is to outright purchase.  

 
  Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme 

 

5.3.27. The capital investment proposals above will result in estimated revenue 

consequences as follows:   
 

 

 

 

 

 

    
 ** Disposal of capital assets and termination of associated loan / debenture 
 
 

5.4.   Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy 

 

5.4.1. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by Members in 
February 2017 and is due to finish in 2021/22. It had the effect of both reducing 
expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now more of a 

priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing (that is, not 
reliant on direct government funding such as revenue support grant).  

 

5.4.2. The strategy was developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline 

service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the 
Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the established 

priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. It focused primarily on major 
procurements, the asset management plan, growth, income generation and 

rationalisation.  
 

5.4.3. The current strategy is now largely delivered and any remaining targets will be 
rolled inro 2022/23. A notional target of £100k has been incorporated into this 

iteration of the plan, largely reflecting good housekeeping around new 
procurements and recommissioning and delivery is not until 2025/26. However, 

any further savings or income generation opportunities identified will be factored 

Borrowing Requirement 

 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2024/25 

 £ £ £ £ 
Total 99,310 160,780 184,470 254,500 

     

Revenue Consequence                     

(changes year-on-year) 

 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £ £ £ £ 

Investment Income 

 

 

 

(5,170) 5,010 900 370 
Ascent LLP windup ** 522,880 - - - 
Borrowing Costs 139,970 39,960 37,110 21,530 
     
Total 657,680 44,970 38,010 21,900 
     

Page 94



into MTFP updates and work will begin on developing a new efficiency 

programme during 2022/23, to provide capacity to respond to any negative 
funding outcomes arising from central Government reviews of local government 
funding. 

 
5.5.    Major Contracts 

 

5.5.1. One of the major cost pressures as a result of Covid-19 has been the impact on 
some of the Council’s major contracts.  However, there are also other potential 

pressures, as well as potential savings that need to be reflected in the MTFP 
forecast. 

 
    Alliance Environmental Services 

 

5.5.2. Alliance Environmental Services (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing and 
grounds maintenance services to both High Peak Borough and Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Councils. The company has three shareholders: Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council, High Peak Borough Council and Ansa, which is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council.  

 
5.5.3. The contract fee for 2022/23 has been established following discussions between 

the Council and AES.  The contract fee has been calculated based on the base 
2021/22 contract fee plus future inflation/growth items less forecast savings 
achieved.   

 
5.5.4. Change demand items flagged by AES which will affect the management fee 

from 2022/23 include: hydrotreated vegetable oil (HVO) introduction; an 
improvement on recycling markets basket of goods prices; organic contract 
savings; tonnage changes; drivers pay and hours changes; and National 

Insurance increase. 
 

 
    Leisure Centres  
 

5.5.5.   Financial support was provided in respect of the Council’s leisure centres during 
the various lockdown and recovery periods in both 2020/21 and 2021/22. A 

£272,000 growth item was built into the MTFP in 2021/22 and this is reversed 
back out from 2022/23 onwards, on the working assumption of a return to pre 
COVID-19 levels. 

 
      Facilities Management 

 
5.5.6. The Council are currently exploring an alternative delivery model for the operation 

of Facilities Management via establishing a trading company in partnership with 

Staffordshire Moorlands D.C. and Norse Commercial Services (wholly owned by 
Norfolk County Council)  This is subject to conclusion and approval of the 

business case.  No financial consequences of this arrangement have been built 
into the MTFP at this stage, but it is expected that service improvements and 
client functions will be delivered within existing budget constraints. Proposals for 

a new depot should contribute towards a response to the Climate Change crisis 
by provision of charging points, more efficient vehicles and heating systems.  

 

Page 95



 

 
 
 

5.6.     Member Priority Actions / Projects    
 

5.6.1. During the development of the Corporate Plan a number of priority actions have 
been identified and prioritised by members. These are as follows: 

 

 

 

Financial Implications 

Member Priority Actions / Projects 
(y/n) 

Firm - in 

plans 

Costs 

understood - 

not in plans 

Costs 

not  yet 

known 
Leader  

    
Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of 

generating income  
Y    

Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links Y    

Develop a masterplan for bringing redundant mills back into use Y    

Support the development of Cornhill and improved rail links  Y    

Refresh the Council’s  Communications Strategy in order to ensure that 

there is a more effective dialogue with residents 
N    

Implement the Council’s Growth Strategy to bring about the 

regeneration of towns and rural communities 
N    

Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy to ensure that our 

workforce is developed effectively 

Y    

Leisure and Sports     

Identify and implement an approach to reduce the cost of country parks  Y    

Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy in order to integrate the 
communities and sports clubs into the delivery of its objectives 
 

 

N    

Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd, to deliver ground maintenance services on 
behalf of the Council in order to achieve improved performance and 
value for money outcomes 
 

Y    

Develop a plan to improve Brough Park and John Hall Gardens  Y    

Develop and implement an ongoing indoor leisure facilities 
improvement plan focussed on improving the health and wellbeing of 
residents 

Y    

Develop and implement an outdoor leisure facilities improvement plan 
focussed around the “sports village” concept 

Y    

 

Page 96



 

 

Financial Implications 

Member Priority Actions / Projects 
(y/n) 

Firm - 

in 

plans 

Costs 

understood - 

not in plans 

Costs 

not  yet 

known 
Customer Services  

    
Continue to embed good information management practices through the 
ASSURED framework 
 

N    

Develop a new ICT Strategy to enhance and support the delivery of services Y    

Develop a new Procurement Strategy with a focus on spending money locally N    

Develop an Access to Services to ensure that Council services are accessible 

to all 

Y    

Environment  

    
Successfully deliver Phase 3 of the transfer of services to Alliance 
Environmental Services Ltd to deliver street cleansing services on behalf of the 
Council in order to achieve improved performance and value for money 
outcomes 
 

Y    

Review the Council’s waste & recycling arrangements to increase recycling 
and to respond to the emerging new national strategy 
 

Y    

Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy in order to take steps to further 
environmental crime 

N    

     Climate Change     

Develop a Climate Change Strategy and an action plan of response to a 
declared climate emergency 
 

Y    

Communities     

Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed 
recommendations 
 

Y    

Develop a strategy for further development of affordable and specialist housing Y    

Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy to improve conditions for 
homeowners and private tenants 
 

N    

Develop a Tourism Strategy to maximise the positive impact to our 
communities 
 

N    

Review the Council’s community support arrangements in order to maintain 
strong partnerships with community groups 

N    

Planning & Property  

Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan, including a review of 

public estate, and ensure adequate facilities management arrangements are in 

place 

 

 

Y 
  

 

Develop and implement plans to improve the public market operations Y    

Adopt a new Local Plan Y    

Develop a new Parking Strategy to ensure that our car parks meet the needs 
of residents and visitors 

Y    

 

  

Page 97



5.6.2. Any costs or revenue associated with these actions will need to be included in 

the MTFP. The impact of a number of them is already included in this iteration 
of the plan but additional work will need to be undertaken to develop a number 
of the actions further and at the same time identify any financial implications.   

 
 

6. Financial Forecasts 
   

6.1. Introduction 
 

6.1.1. A review of financial forecasts includes:- 

 Updated interest rate forecasts 

 Updated inflationary projections 

 Any pensions impact relating to economic changes 

 Estimation of any budget demand or growth items that have been 

incorporated into the MTFP 
 
6.2. Interest Rates 

 

6.2.1. The Bank of England base rate increased from 0.10% to 0.25% in December 

2021. The Council’s advisors, Link, forecast a slow but stead increase in average 
earnings over the period of the medium term financial plan, reaching 0.75% by the 

end of 2022/23, with a quarter % increase each year thereafter up to 1.25% at the 
end of 2025/26. PWLB borrowing rates are also seeing an increase over the 
period with 5 year rates, for example, increasing from 1.5% to 2%. 

 
6.2.2. Based on the current forecasts, changes in investment income and borrowing 

costs (based on interest rate changes) are highlighted below:- 

 *income from the housing capital loan is netted off the borrowing costs 

 

 
 

6.2.3. The forecast budget for borrowing costs and investment income are shown 

below:- 

 
 

6.3. Inflationary Projections  

 
6.3.1. The Retail Price Index (RPI) and Consumer Price Index (CPI) 12 month rate, as at 

December 2021, stood at 7.5 % and 5.4% respectively.  Inflation forecasts are 

Changes to treasury estimates 

based on interest rate changes 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £ £ £ £ 
Changes in Investment Income (53,510) (100,980) (50,650) (38,560) 

Changes in Borrowing costs (265,240)* 21,510 (11,420) 46,500 

Treasury Budgets – Borrowing 

costs and investment Income 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £ £ £ £ 

Borrowing Costs 99,310 160,780 186,470 254,500 

Investment Income (79,390) (175,360) (225,110) (263,300) 

Page 98



made reflecting the composition of the Council’s expenditure, resulting in an 

inflation rate specific to the Council. 
 
6.3.2. This includes the impact on staff pay, supplies and services, premises related 

costs and transport. The current high levels of inflation arising out of effects of 
Covid, supply chain pressures, and increased utility prices will feed through the 

system as increased service costs as contracts are renewed and uplifted. 
 
6.3.3. The MTFP has been updated to reflect the latest forecasts on inflation and to roll   

forward a further 12 months to include the 2025/26 financial year. The full costs to 
the Council arising from inflation are forecast in the table below. 

 

Expenditure/Income 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  £ £ £ £ 

Employee Costs 330,600 151,330 125,640 127,770 

Premises Costs 110,110 92,490 48,090 49,060 

Transport 0 1,410 1,430 1,440 

Supplies and Services 224,090 197,180 135,080 140,570 

          
In-Year Inflation Pressure 664,800 442,410 310,240 318,840 

          

 
6.4. Budgetary Demand  

 

6.4.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council in February 2021 analysed 
and projected forward both income and expenditure.  This has been revised to 

reflect known changes in budgetary demand. 
 
6.4.2. The current changes in budgetary demand, included in this iteration of MTFP, are 

highlighted below:- 
 

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  £ £ £ £ 

          

Uniforms – Customer Services 

            
2,500 

         
(2,500) 

             
2,500 

         
(2,500) 

Car Park income - Covid effect reversal 

       
(81,000) 

      

Leisure Centre Support reversal 

     
(272,000) 

      

Regeneration - Market Stalls Arrangements 
  

       
(53,000) 

    

Car Parks - LED Lighting upgrade 

        
134,000 

     
(134,000) 

    

Write-back Excess budget 

       
(100,000) 

             
5,000 

    

BioDiversity Strategy 

          
25,000 

       
(25,000) 

    

ICT - Customer Services software 

           
11,000 

       
(11,000) 

    

Page 99



Community Funding 

           
20,000 

         
(20,000) 

    

Assets - Asbestos & Legionella surveys 
  

       
(10,000) 

    

Assets - H&S Path Maintenance 
  

         
(2,500) 

    

Assets - Asbestos works 

          
25,000 

       
(25,000) 

    

Assets - Bus shelter maintenance 

         
(5,000) 

      

Assets - CCTV upgrade Moorlands House 

          
20,000 

       
(20,000) 

    

Assets - Warslow WC grant 

            
4,000 

      

Local Plan - Revision & Maintenance 

       
(20,000) 

          
35,000 

           
20,000 

        
150,000 

AES - Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) fuel 

          
15,900 

               
300 

                
300 

               
300 

AES - Green Waste contract saving 

     
(136,800) 

      

AES - NIC increase 

          
18,700 

      

AES - HGV Driver costs 

          
81,300 

      

AES - Waste tonnage changes 

       
(53,000) 

            
6,200 

             
6,600 

            
6,900 

AES - Recycling markets improvement 

     
(208,500) 

      

AES - contract sum planned reduction 

       
(25,000) 

       
(25,000) 

        
(25,000) 

       
(25,000) 

Elections Reserve adjustment 

       
(15,000) 

          
15,000 

    

          

 Total 
     

(558,900) 
     

(266,500) 
             

4,400 
        

129,700 

          

 
 

6.4.3. In the table above the following items merit further explanation: 

 Leisure centres – removal of the one-year contractor support of £272,000 

added to the budget in 2021/22. 

 Car parks -  reversal of the £81,000 Covid income loss adjustment added 
into the budget in 2021/22 

 Waste Collection - Recycling cost reduction arising out of increased 
tonnages (£53,000); green waste gate fees savings (£136,800) and 

material sale values (£208,500). 

 Local Plan – Build up of costs in maintaining and revising the Plan 

 Car Park – Introduction of energy saving LED lighting to the Council Car 
Parks 

 
6.4.4. In addition to the above, there may be a requirement to include upfront increased 

budget demand in relation to climate change related projects in future years.  

Some of these costs may already be included with the MTFP forecast – for 
example, schemes within the asset management plan and fleet purchase 

Page 100



programme where environmental impact will be a significant consideration.  

However, any additional costs will be assessed and included within future MTFP 
iterations once known and the business case has been developed.    

 

6.4.5. It may also be necessary to include increased budget provision as a result of the 
completion of service plans and in accordance with the Organisational Strategy – 

which is scheduled to be reviewed in line with Corporate Plan objectives.  
Additional staff resource or expertise may be necessary to deliver specific 
projects.  This will be reviewed by the Transformation Board as part of the 

business case process for each project.  

 
 
6.5. Budget Growth 

 

6.5.1. In previous years, very few additions in respect of budget growth have been 
included in the MTFP. It is assumed in light of the financial pressures faced by the 

Council, that any local issues that necessitate budget growth will be financed by 
internal spending reductions elsewhere. Occasionally, however, it is necessary to 
include budget growth to meet spending commitments.  No such items are 

included in this iteration of the MTFP. 
 

6.6. Pensions  

 
6.6.1. The Pension Fund triennial valuation, which took place in 2019, fixed the Council’s 

contributions for the first 2 years of this plan. A further valuation is to take place in 
2022, which will set the contributions payable up until 2025/26. 

 
6.6.2. At this stage the plan assumes no further increase in contributions will be 

necessary arising out of the 2022 valuation. At the 2019 valuation the Staffordshire 

Moorlands portion of the Pension Fund had a funding level of 84%. 
 

6.6.3. The impacts of Covid19 are not expected to have an effect on pension contribution 
rates at this stage. The long term nature of Pension Fund forecasting means the 
impacts of short term financial shocks are mitigated. This situation will continue to 

be monitored following the outcome of this next valuation. 
 
 
7. Funding & Income Generation 

 

7.1. Introduction 
 

7.1.1. The key areas of funding and income generation include: 

 Council Tax and Business Rates collection  

 Income from Government Grants 

 Longer term impact on fees and charges income 
 

7.2. Council Tax   

 

7.2.1. The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition of 
capping.  However the Council’s ability to increase Council Tax by more than a 
certain percentage is subject to referendum. For 2022/23, this percentage has 

Page 101



been confirmed as 2%, but alternatively, lower tier Authorities have the option to 

increase the Band D by up to £5 – whichever is higher. 
 
7.2.2. The MTFP assumes that a 2.99% increase is applied in 2022/23 (which equates to 

£4.74 on Band D) with 1.9% assumed from 2023/24 onwards (as Government 
consultation is currently ongoing regarding future years). 

 
7.2.3. Provision has been included within the Plan to reflect anticipated growth in Council 

Tax base over the next 4 years. The figures included are shown in the table 

below: 

 

7.2.4. There is an increased risk associated with non-payment as a result of the on-going 
impact of Covid-19, with some households potentially struggling to meet 
instalments. However, the financial impact will only be felt by the Council if 

outstanding debts are not collected in the medium term and are subsequently 
written off.  

 
 

7.3. Business Rates Retention  

 
7.3.1. Under the 50% Business Rates Retention system, the Authority retains 40% of 

Business Rates income less a tariff that is payable into a pool made up of 

Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Authorities. This amount is then compared to a 
Funding Baseline (estimated at £2,622,420 for 2022/23); any amount in excess of 

this Baseline is subject to levy, or conversely if the amount of retained Business 
Rates is below this Baseline, the loss is capped by a safety net payment. The 
MTFP does not anticipate the Council falling below the Baseline. 

 
7.3.2. As part of the Staffordshire Pool, the levy or the safety net payment is made to or 

from the Pool instead of Central Government. If the Council was not in the 
Staffordshire Pool it would have to pay 50p in the £1 to the Government as a levy, 
effectively limiting the income the Council can gain from business rates growth. 

However, as part of the Pool, the Council retains 40% of this levy plus 20% or a 
minimum amount (currently £192,000); meaning that for every £1 achieved above 

the baseline at least 60% is retained by the Council with the remainder going to 
the Pool to be distributed within Staffordshire. The benefit to the Council of being 
part of the Pool arrangement is estimated to be £542,100 in 2022/23. 

 
7.3.3. Whilst central government continues to review business rates, the MTFP forecasts 

the Council’s income from Business Rates Retention under the current system 
throughout the plan. Changes in the level of the Council’s business rates will be 

Increased Council Tax Income 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £ £ £ £ 

Council Tax increase (203,100) (111,760) (114,770) (117,850) 

Revenue from future tax base 

growth 

- (46,380) (47,260) (48,160) 

TOTAL (203,100) (158,140) (162,030) (166,010) 

     

Council Tax Income Budget (5,882,250) 

 

(6,040,390) (6,202,420) (6,368,430) 

     

Page 102



impacted by a range of factors, including the Staffordshire Pool’s success in 

generating new and retaining existing business within its area. At this stage, 
predicted levels of business rates income are based on known and expected 
changes to the current business rates listing.  

 
7.3.4. Where collectible income is suppressed due to the award of reliefs announced by 

the government (including increased small business rate relief, caps on inflation to 
the multiplier, extended rural relief, public convenience relief, retail discount, 
supporting small businesses and extended transitional relief), the council is 

compensated with funding received under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003. The MTFP assumes equivalent Section 31 grants will continue on any 

extension to reliefs announced by the Government. 
 
7.3.5. Risks to the Council’s funding associated with non-payment of business rates 

which may occur following the effects of Covid-19 on businesses are 
accommodated for through an increased provision for bad debts: in the recent 

past this has been calculated as 0.6% of collectible income; this was increased to 
1% for the 2021/22 budget. As things begin to recover, this is reduced to 0.75% 
for the first two years of the MTFP plan, then back to the original level of 0.6% in 

the final two years. 
 

 

 

Business Rates Retention 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £ £ £ £ 
In year:     

      Baseline Funding (2,622,420) (2,665,170) (2,708,610) (2,752,760) 

      Achievement against Baseline 643,620 (104,910) (159,100) (208,760) 

      Section 31 Grant (2,366,150) (1,698,170) (1,740,590) (1,783,660) 

Total (4,344,950) (4,468,250) (4,608,300) (4,745,180) 

     
Change between years:     

      Business Rates retained  478,470 (791,280) (97,630) (93,810) 

      Section 31 Grant (1,022,120) 667,980 (42,420) (43,070) 

Total (543,650) (123,300) (140,050) (136,880) 

      

 
7.4. Collection Fund  

 
7.4.1. The Council maintains a Collection Fund to record the receipt of Council Tax and 

Business Rates and their distribution to precepting authorities. Any surplus or 
deficit generated is distributed or recovered from the preceptors in subsequent 
years. 

 
7.4.2. The Staffordshire Moorlands’ share of a surplus, in respect of Council Tax, to be 

distributed in 2022/23 is £61,320.  
 
7.4.3. The Staffordshire Moorlands’ share of the business rates deficit to be distributed in 

2022/23 is £906,580. This largely relates to the award of Extended Retail Relief, 
Nursery discount and Covid-19 Addition Relief Fund announced by the 

Government in response to the Covid crisis. The Council will ringfence the 

Page 103



associated s31 grant funding received in 2021/22 to offset this deficit distribution in 

2022/23. 
 
7.4.4. These and future year movements are set out in the table below: 
 

Changes in Collection 

Fund Income 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £ £ £ £ 

Council Tax  (133,770) 31,280 (1,410) (1,480) 

Business Rates  (3,082,760) (906,580) 0 0 

Total (3,216,530) (875,300) (1,410) (1,480) 

      
 

7.5. Income from Government Grants   

 
New Homes Bonus (NHB)  

 

7.5.1. In the provisional Local Government financial settlement released in December, 
the Government confirmed that during 2022/23, it would be consulting on a 

replacement for the New Homes Bonus scheme (originally planned for 2020/21, 
but delayed due to Covid-19). The new housing incentive scheme will reflect a 
more targeted approach that rewards local government where they are ‘ambitious’ 

in delivering housing growth. At this stage, there is no further detail on what form 
the new scheme will take. 

 
7.5.2. The allocation of New Homes Bonus is secure for 2022/23 with the Council  

receiving £255,050 in funding; beyond that no commitment is made for future 

years. 
 

7.5.3. The recent tendency towards one-off annual awards with no associated legacy 
payments, has further eroded the base income received by the Council from this 
funding source. 

 
7.5.4. In the absence of any further information, this iteration of the MTFP assumes that 

the Council will continue to receive funding from New Homes Bonus in future 
years albeit on a reducing basis. The Plan assumes funding of £100,000 in 
2023/24 (Year 2) reducing further to £75,000 for years 3 and 4. This reduces the 

inherent funding risk associated with the uncertainty of this income source.   
 

Other Grant Support 
 

7.5.5. As part of the spending review announcement in December 2021, it was  
confirmed that Government support would be provided into 2022/23, including the 

following grant awards:- 
 

 Lower Tier Services Grant (£117,630) 

 New Services Grant (£180,780) 

 Rural Services Delivery Grant (£63,440) 

 
 

Page 104



7.5.6. At this stage, it is assumed that the Rural Services Delivery Grant will be on-going 

throughout the life of Plan; the New Services Grant will reduce to 75% of that 
received in 2022/23; and the Lower Tier Services Grant will not be awarded in 
2023/24 or thereafter. 

 
 
Summary of Income from Government Grants  
 

7.5.7. The table below summarises the movement in Government funding over the 

MTFP period: 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
7.6. Fees and Charges   

 

7.6.1. Charging for local services makes a significant contribution to the Council’s 
finances. The Council also uses charging to influence individual choices and 
behaviour, and to bring other benefits to local communities. The Council’s 

Charging Policy sets out the following principles for establishing the level of fees 
and charges:   

 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income 

 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes 

 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the development of 
Council services in accordance with priorities 

 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually 

 
7.6.2. Charges are set in line with the categories below 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Government Grant (gain) / loss 

of funding 

2021/22 

(Budget) 

2022/23 

(forecast) 

2023/24 

(forecast) 

2024/25 

(forecast) 

2025/26 

(forecast) 

  £ £ £ £ £ 
New Homes Bonus 

 

 

(121,880) (255,050) (100,000) (75,000) (75,000) 

Covid Support Grant (435,880) - - - - 
Lower Tier Service Grant  (111,680)

) 

(117,630) - - - 
New Services Grant - (180,780) (135,580) (135,580) (135,580) 
Rural Services Delivery Grant - (63,440) (63,440) (63,440) (63,440) 
Local Council Tax Scheme Grant (91,840)     
 (761,280) (616,900) (299,020) (274,020) (274,020) 
      
(Gain)/ Loss in Govt Funding  - 144,380 317,880 25,000 - 

 
       

Charging Policy Policy Objective 

Full commercial 
Service is promoted to maximise revenue within an overall objective of generating a 
surplus from the service 

Fair charging 
Service is promoted to maximise income but subject to defined policy constraints 
including commitments made to potential customers on an appropriate fee structure 

Cost recovery Service generally available to all but without a subsidy 

Subsidised 
Service is widely accessible, but users of the service should make some contribution 
from their own resources 

Nominal Service to be fully available and a charge is made to discourage frivolous usage 

Free Service fully available at no cost 

Statutory Charges are set in line with legal obligations 

Page 105



7.6.3. The proposed fees and charges for 2022/23 are presented in APPENDIX C to this 

report. 
 
7.6.4. The Medium Term Financial Plan would normally project that the Council will 

increase fees and charges (and other income) broadly in line with inflation.  Whilst 
recognising that certain income streams (such as car parking, planning receipts) 

may not increase each year and that other income streams (such as grants and 
rental income) are fixed or subject to periodic review. 

 

7.6.5. However, the assumed general increase in base income was suspended for years 
1 and 2 of the current plan, whilst fees and charges income levels recovered from 

the effects of Covid19; meaning that no inflationary increase is assumed for 
2022/23. 

 

7.6.6.  The underlying annual total expected from inflationary increases to fees and 
charges from 2023/24 onwards has reverts to £25,000 per annum.  

 
7.6.7. In 2022/23, additional revenue reflects an increase in car park charges arising out 

of a review of the Parking Strategy conducted over the last 2 years.   

 
7.6.8. The projected revenue from increased fees and charges (and other income) is 

summarised in the table below: 
 

 

Increased Fees and Changes 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 £ £ £ £ 

Revenue from increased Fees and Charges - (25,000) (25,000) (125,000) 

Revenue from Car Park charge increase* (85,000) - - - 

     Total (85,000) (25,000) (25,000) (125,000) 

     Total budgeted Income from Fees & Charges  (5,905,900) (5,930,900) (5,995,900) (6,080,900) 

     
*subject to the outcomes of the Park ing Strategy review 

 

 
8. Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves 

 
8.1. Contingencies   

 

8.1.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is underpinned by a number of assumptions. 
These assumptions have been made in the light of currently available information. 

New information, when it emerges, may require the Council to alter its 
assumptions with a consequential effect on the Council’s financial position. 

 

8.1.2. Key risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
remedial action taken.  Members will receive quarterly updates on performance 

against the budget.  
 

8.1.3. The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks cannot be 
fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Chief 

Page 106



Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the estimates included in the 

budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the budget provides.   
 

8.1.4. While there is no detailed guidance on calculating the level of general reserves the 
Council is encouraged to take into account the strategic, operational and financial 

risks facing the Council.  These amounts are then moderated to acknowledge the 
likelihood of all risk events occurring together. The table below presents the 
analysis undertaken by the Council last year in calculating the minimum level of 

general reserve required. 
 

Risk Item Calculation Factor Value Reserve 

Requirement 

  £’m £ 

Expenditure Items (gross) – Employee Related 3% of value 6.33 190,000 

Expenditure Items (gross) – Other 3% of value 10.39 312,000 

Housing Benefits  0.25% of value 11.50 29,000 

Fees and Charges 5.5% of value 5.10 281,000 

Interest Receipts/Payments 50% fall in average rate 0.02 10,000 

Efficiency Provisions 50% of value 0.70 352,000 

Council Tax Collection 2.5% of value 5.68 142,000 

Business Rates Retention 6% of value 3..80 228,000 

Development Services Income 6% of value 0.50 30,000 

Local Land Charges 6% income fall 0.14 8,000 

New Homes Bonus 50% income fall 0.12 61,000 

Total Requirement all events   1,643,000 

   Moderation 10% reduction  (164,300) 

Total Requirement   1,478,700 

 

8.1.5. These factors all remain valid, so it is proposed that the minimum general reserve 
contingency balance should remain at £1,478,000 to meet unforeseen expenditure 

and/or shortfalls in income.  
 

8.1.6. The level and utilisation of reserves is determined formally by the Council, having 
received the advice and judgement of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The Chief 

Financial Officer’s advice is:   
 

“In the view of the Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 
Officer), the budget includes estimates which take into account circumstances 

and events which are reasonably foreseeable at the time of preparing the budget. 
The view is therefore held, that the level of reserves are adequate for the Council 
based on this budget and the circumstances in place at the time of preparing it.”  
 

[Note: A formal record of the Chief Finance Officer’s advice is recorded in the 
minutes of the Council meeting.  In the unusual event that a Chief Finance 

Page 107



Officer’s advice is not accepted by a Council, the rejection by a Council of the 

Chief Finance Officer’s advice must be recorded in the minutes]. 
 

8.1.7. Further detail of the CFO’s determination in regard to contingency balances and 
reserves is detailed in ANNEX C.   
 
 

8.2. Use of Reserves and Balances   
 

8.2.1. When setting the Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan in February 2021, the 
general fund contingency reserves balance as at 31st March 2021 was estimated 
to total £3.481 million. 

 
8.2.2. Following the 2020/21 outturn position and after other earmarked reserves 

movements, the general fund contingency balance as at 31st March 2021 
improved to £4.087m.   

 

8.2.3. The updated MTFP shows a forecast cumulative surplus position of £5,340 over 
the four years – which represents the required use of reserves in order to balance 

the 4 year plan.  The annual changes in the contingency reserve as well as other 
earmarked reserves where it is planned to draw funding, are shown in the table 
below: 

 
 

8.2.4. With effect from 2022/23, the MTFP reflects a £5,340 contribution to Contingency 
reserves over the next 4 years (2022/23 £120,230 contribution; 2023/24 £63,900 

usage; 2024/25 £50,990 usage; and 2025/26 £0 usage).  
 

  2021/22 
(Budget) 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Reserve 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Contingency (256,080) 120,230 (63,900) (50,990) 0 

Section 106 Monies (7,700) (7,700) (7,700) (7,700) (7,700) 

Business Rates s31 Reserve (3,989,340) (906,580) 0     

Total Contribution / (Usage) (4,253,120) (794,050) (71,600) (58,690) (7,700) 

Change in use of reserves   3,459,070 722,450 12,910 50,990 

 
 
8.2.5. The table below shows the revised level of contingency reserves over the life of 

the Medium Term Financial Plan: 
 

Contingency reserve 
2021/22 

(Budget) 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

   £ £ £ £ £ 
 

As at February 2022:           
 

Balance at year end 5,522,300 5,642,530 5,578,630 5,527,640 5,527,640 
 

            
 

Minimum requirement (8.1) 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 
 

Headroom 4,042,300 4,162,530 4,098,620 4,047,630 4,047,630 
 

            
 

 

Page 108



8.2.6. At the end of year 4 of the plan (2025/26) there would be an estimated balance of 

£5.528million in General Fund Contingency reserves – which would be £4.048 
million above the required £1.48 million minimum balance. 
 

 
8.3. Risk Identification and Management 

 
 

8.3.1. The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Budget and 

Medium Term Financial Planning process. Risks are assessed, mitigated and 
actively managed to ensure that the Council delivers its services effectively within 

the funding at its disposal. The principal risks to the Medium Term Financial Plan 
are summarised in ANNEX B. 

 

8.3.2. Risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an on-going basis and 
remedial action taken as appropriate.  Risks associated with specific projects will 

be identified within the project methodology documents and reviewed monthly by 
the Transformation Board. 

 

8.3.3. The table overleaf highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within this 

Medium Term Financial Plan:  
 

 

8.3.4. In addition, there are a number of Covid-19 related financial risks to the MTFP to 

be regularly reviewed and considered:- 
 

 The impact that a recession may have on Council Tax and Business Rates 

collection and increased risk of non-payment which is not subsequently 
collected 

 The period of recovery is prolonged which has further cost pressure 

consequences for the Council – especially in regard to the operation of leisure 
centres 

 Fees and Charges income levels do not return to pre-Covid levels as forecast 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks 

 Inflationary assumptions 

 Interest rates 

 Revenue consequences of 

capital 

 Housing benefits 

 Fees and charges 

 Universal Credit 

 Business Rates Retention 

scheme 

 Council Tax collection 

 New Homes Bonus 

 Financial benefits from 

partnerships / shared services 

 Pension costs 

 Insurance costs 

 Waste management costs 

 Brexit implications 

 Interest rates  

 External funding 

 Capital receipts 

 Capacity to deliver capital 
programme 

 Project overspend 

 Project overrun 

 External factors (e.g. 

planning objections, judicial 
reviews etc. leading to 

project delay) 

 Housing Joint Venture 

 Suppliers / Contractors / 
Contract Management 

 Weather  

 Brexit implications 

Page 109



 The economy is deflated post-recovery leading to ongoing economic problems 

in town centres and the broader economy, as well as community safety issues, 
which lead to increased cost pressures 

 Increased demand on certain services e.g. Benefits and economic support. 

 Further national lockdowns / tiered systems imposed which leads to further 
pressures on businesses and households and additional costs to the Council 

in providing support 
 

9. Budget 2022/23 
 

9.1. Budget preparation work has now been completed and an overall balanced budget 

position has been reached with the inclusion of a projected contribution into 
reserves of £120,230. 

 
 
 

Proposed Budget 
 

9.2. The proposed 2022/23 Budget is detailed below:- 
 

Budget Heading 2022/23 

  £ 

Employees 6,650,920 

Premises 2,312,230 

Transport 141,260 

Supplies & Services 7,569,450 

Benefits 5,010 

Borrowing 99,310 

Total Expenditure 16,778,180 

    

Fees and Charges / Other Income (5,905,900) 

Interest Receipts  (79,390) 

Net Expenditure 10,792,890 

    

Council Tax (5,882,250) 

Business Rates Retention (4,344,950) 

Government Funding (361,850) 

New Homes Bonus (255,050) 

Earmarked Reserves (914,280) 

Contingency Balances 120,230 

Collection Fund 845,260 

Total Financing (10,792,890) 

    

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus) 0 

    

Efficiency Requirement 0 

    

In Year Deficit / (Surplus) 0 

    
 

 

Page 110



 

Council Tax Requirement 2022/23 
 

9.3. The table below illustrates the Council Tax requirement for 2022/23:- 
 

  
2022/23 

  £ 

Net Expenditure 10,792,890 

    

Efficiency Target 0 

New Homes Bonus (255,050) 

Government Funding (361,850) 

Business Rates Retention (4,344,950) 

Use of Reserves (794,050) 

Collection Fund 845,260 

    

Net Requirement from Council Tax 5,882,250 

    

 
 
9.4. Members will be aware that the Council has adopted the following items of 

expenditure as Special District Expenses (SDEs) to be levied on specific parishes: 

 Leek – Brough Park, Birch Gardens, Recreation Grounds and Leek Cemetery; 

and 

 Biddulph – Recreation Grounds. 
 

9.5. Estimated net expenditure for 2022/23 in respect of Special District Expense items 
is set out in the table below: 

 

Special District Expense Net Cost 

  £ 

Leek  

Brough Park 100,340 

Recreation Grounds 81,920 

Birch Gardens 30,730 

Cemetery 135,010 
Total 348,000 
  

Biddulph  
Recreation Grounds 67,430 
Total 67,430 
  

TOTAL LEVY 415,430 
  

 

9.6. Members should note that overall Special District Expenses have been adjusted to 
stay within the 2.99% overall increase, to accord with the Council’s strategy for 
District Council Tax levels in 2022/23. 

 
9.7. The overall Council Tax requirement contained within these proposals is 

summarised in the table below. 

Page 111



 

 
Budget 

Requirement 
£ 

Tax Base 
Band D 

Council Tax 
£ 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

% 
 

District Council Tax 
 

5,466,820 33,510 
 

163.14 
 

2.99% 

Special District Expense   
  

Leek 
 

348,000 6,576 52.92 0% 

Biddulph 67,430 6,337 10.64 0% 

 
 

10. MTFP General Fund Revenue Position    

 
10.1. The medium term general fund revenue position is as set out in the table below, 

which summaries the impact of the discussions in the previous sections of the 
report:- 
 

 

Summary Revenue Position 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  £ £ £ £ 

Revenue Consequences of Capital Spend (section 5.3.27) 
        

657,680 
        

44,970 
         

38,010 
         

21,900 

Interest Rate Changes (section 6.2.2) 
      

(318,750) 
      

(79,470) 
       

(62,070) 
          

7,940 

Inflation Pressures (section 6.3.3) 
        

664,800 
       

442,410 
        

310,240 
       

318,840 

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand (section 6.4.2) 
      

(558,900) 
     

(266,500) 
           

4,400 
       

129,700 

Budget Growth (section 6.5.1) 
                 

0 
                

0 
                 

0 
                 

0 

Increased Council Tax Income (section 7.2.3) 
      

(203,100) 
     

(158,140) 
      

(162,030) 
     

(166,010) 

Business Rates Retention (section 7.3.5) 
      

(543,650) 
     

(123,300) 
      

(140,050) 
     

(136,880) 

Changes in Collection Fund Surplus (section 7.4.4) 
   

(3,216,530) 
     

(875,300) 
         

(1,410) 
        

(1,480) 

Reduction in Government Grant (section 7.5.7) 
        

144,380 
       

317,880 
         

25,000 
                 

0 

Additional Fees and Charges (section 7.6.8) 
       

(85,000) 
      

(25,000) 
       

(25,000) 
     

(125,000) 

Contribution to/(Use of) Reserves & Balances (section 8.2.4) 
     

3,459,070 
       

722,450 
         

12,910 
         

50,990 

In Year Change in Position 
                 

0 
                

0 
                 

0 
       

100,000 

Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan (section 5.4.7) 
                 

0 
                

0 
                 

0 
     

(100,000) 

Budget (Surplus) / Deficit 0 0 0 0 
 

 

 

Page 112



 

10.2. The table above table shows a balanced position over the life of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan assuming Efficiency Programme savings of £100,000 are achieved.  

 
10.3. The above position includes the contribution of £5,340 into contingency reserves 

during the life of the plan. 
 
10.4. ANNEX D shows the indicative detailed revenue budget for the period 2022/23 – 

2024/25. 
 

11. Consultation 

 

11.1 The Council is committed to consulting with residents and other stakeholders to 

help inform the budget setting process and spending priorities/non-priorities. The 
Council already holds comprehensive information gathered about residents’ 

spending priorities. Normal processes of consultation have been hampered by 
Covid, so the consultation process for the 2022/23 Budget was undertaken via an 
online communication on the Council’s website. With significant uncertainty and 

risk around the MTFP (particularly around Government funding reviews), it has 
been extremely difficult to undertake meaningful consultation. This will be 

enhanced again for next year’s budget setting and MTFP process. 
 
 

Page 113



 

ANNEX A 

Proposed Capital Projections (2021/22 to 2025/26)   

Capital Schemes 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Asset Management Plan             

Public Buildings                 -         50,000     183,340    368,220    603,220    1,204,780  
Car Parks      100,000     400,000                 -       171,950     441,350    1,113,300  

Public Conveniences          2,240       64,900       99,640                 -                   -         166,780  

Infrastructure/Waterways                -           9,360     208,220                 -                   -         217,580  

Leisure Centres      247,730       60,000     373,080     172,400  1,279,050    2,132,260  

Depots & Park Buildings       158,690     150,000     645,510         5,130     360,060    1,319,390  

Industrial Units                -                   -                   -                   -       140,710       140,710  

       508,660     734,260  1,509,790     717,700  2,824,390    6,294,800  

              

Private  Housing Grants 23,200                -                   -                   -                   -    23,200 

              

Loan - Housing Company  10,000,000                -                   -                   -                   -    10,000,000 

              

Disabled Facilities Grants   1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000   1,500,000  7,500,000 

              

ICT Projects 122,000      20,000       50,000       50,000         40,560  282,560 
              

Fleet Management  1,062,630 774,070    320,000  15,000                -    2,171,700 

              

Other Schemes              

Conservation  53,520 50,000      41,920       50,000       50,000  245,440 

Market Town Regeneration  - 373,000 - - - 373,000 

Outdoor Sports Facilities       150,000       50,000                 -                   -                   -         200,000  

Public Parks/Play Facilities 251,720                -       130,000     120,000       70,000  571,720 

CCTV        85,650                 -                   -                   -                   -    85,650 

Community Facilities       200,000                 -                   -                   -                   -    200,000 

  740,890 473,000 171,920    170,000     120,000  1,675,810 

              

TOTAL PROGRAMME 13,957,380 3,501,330 3,551,710 2,452,700 4,484,950 27,948,070 

              

CONTRIBUTIONS 1,519,940 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000    1,500,000  7,519,940 

              

NET PROGRAMME 12,437,440 2,001,330 2,051,710      952,700    2,984,950  20,428,130 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

ANNEX B 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks 

 

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls 

 
Financial 
Implications 

 
Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Strategy 

 

 
Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process 

 
Financial 
Implications 

 
Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost & income  

 
The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary. 

 
Service 
Continuity 

 
Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards 

 

 
Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals. 

 
Corporate 
Governance 

 
Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability 

 
Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
takes into account the new approach.   

 
Management of 
Change 

 
Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual 
effects of aggregation; 
proposed changes to 
organisational structure, roles 
& responsibilities 

 
Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development. 
 

 
People Risks 

 
Impact of cultural changes; 
assessment of skills; 
recruitment & retention; 
capacity issues 

 
Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme 

 

 
Key Projects & 
Partnerships 

 
Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements 
 

 
The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery   

 
Performance 
Management 

 
Adequacy of framework to 
monitor transition 

 
Risk management processes are 
embedded 

 
Reputation and 
Relationship 
Risks 

 
Maintaining existing partner 
confidence 

 
Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme 

 
 
Programme 

 
 
Delays in implementation of 

 
 
Effective governance arrangements in place 

Page 115



Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls 
Delivery efficiency savings to monitor plans.  

 
Executive Directors and Senior Managers 
own delivery of efficiencies.  

 
Chief Executive Director acts as  
programme director.  

 
Programme 
Delivery 

 
A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are 
not achieved 

 
Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting 

 
The strategy is kept under constant review 

 
Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups   

 
Political Support 

 
Lack of Members support for 
Plan. 

 
Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements 

 

Page 116



 

ANNEX C 
 

Chief Finance Officer’s Review of Contingencies / Reserves 

Chief Finance Officer’s Section 25 Review 
 

The purpose of this statement is to provide councillors with information on the robustness 
of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves in the Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP). 
 

Background  

 
The Council sets in budget in February each year. In setting the budget the level of 
Council Tax and other fees and charges are established. Decisions are based on a 

budget that sets out estimates of what the Council plans to spend on each of its services 
in the forthcoming year.  

 
The decision on the level of the income is taken before the financial year begins and it 
cannot be changed during the year, so allowance for risks and uncertainties that might 

increase service expenditure above that planned, must be made by:  

 

 Making prudent allowance in the estimates for each of the services; and 

 Ensuring that there are adequate reserves to draw on if the service estimates turn out 
to be insufficient.  

 
Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that the Council’s Chief Finance 

Officer reports to Full Council when it is considering its Budget for the forthcoming 
financial year. The report must deal with the robustness of the estimates and the 
adequacy of the reserves allowed for in the budget proposals, so that councillors have 

professional, authoritative advice available to them when they make their decisions. 
Section 25 also requires members to have regard to this report in making their decisions.  
 
Robustness of Spending Forecasts  

 

Heads of Service in conjunction with the Council’s Head of Finance monitor detailed 
budgets throughout the year. This enables additional service pressures to be identified 

on an on-going basis.  
 
Reports are presented on a quarterly basis to the Corporate Select Scrutiny Committee 

and Executive.  These reports highlight all variances between spending and budgets.  

 

The proposal for the 2022/23 Budget and updated MTFP are based on analysis and 
assurances from Heads of Service and their finance support staff. Executive Portfolio 
Holders have worked with their respective Executive Directors throughout the process. 

Corporate Select members scrutinised the progress of spending throughout the year and 
received a report on the draft MTFP in September 2021.   

 
Extensive work has also been carried out to produce the MTFP. A range of broad 
assumptions have been utilised and robustly challenged as part of the process. 

 

Page 117



Forecasts take account of the financial commitments that emerge from the Council’s 

Corporate Plan.  
 
The Council has taken all reasonable and practical steps to identify and make provision 

for the Council’s commitments in 2022/23 in order to achieve a balanced budget.   
 

Robustness of Income Forecasts 

 
The level of Council Tax has been established with reference to the maximum increase 

allowed without requiring a referendum. A £5 (Band D equivalent) increase has been 
provided for in 2022/23, followed by a 1.9% increase in years 2-4 of the MTFP. 

 
The forecasts of the business rates that will be retained by the Council have been 
calculated in line with the current Business Rates Retention Scheme. The forecasts 

taken account of the following: 
 

 The baseline income set by government; 

 Prudent forecast of the financial benefits of being a member of the Derbyshire pool 

arrangements; 

 The award of reliefs and the receipt of Section 31 grants to compensate; 

 Adequate provision to meet the impact of successful appeals; and 

 Predicted levels of business rates income are based on known and expected changes 
to the business rates listing.  

 Impact of Covid-19 on collection and debts 
 

The level of fees and charges has been assessed in conjunction with Heads of Service. 
The proposed levels for 2022/23 take account of the following factors in line with the 
Council’s Charging Policy: 

 
 

 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income; 

 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes; 

 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the development 

of Council services in accordance with priorities; and 

 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually. 

 Impact on demand for services in light of Covid-19 
 
Key Budget Risks  

 
The Government is expected to consult on a number of national reforms which will 

impact of the Council’s finances. These include: 
 

 Fair funding review; 

 The Business Rates Retention Scheme including resetting the baseline income; 

 Replacement of the New Homes Bonus Scheme. 

 
These changes will have a significant impact on the Council’s finances. 

 
The national economic situation remains unpredictable. The coronavirus pandemic has 
and will continue to impact on the Council in terms of both the response phase and 

subsequent recovery phase.  The economic position remains volatile and there is a risk 
that a number of local and national drivers such as inflation, interest rates, the valuation 

Page 118



of assets and liabilities and the demand for and funding of services will be affected. In 

response to this, the Council will set up a financial resilience reserve in 2022/23 and start 
planning for a new efficiency programme.    
 

Adequacy of Reserves  

 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Local Authority 
Accounting Panel (LAAP) has a guidance note on Local Authority Reserves and 
Balances (LAAP Bulletin 77) to assist local authorities in this process. This guidance is 

not statutory, but compliance is recommended in CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the 
Finance Director in Local Government. It is best practice to follow this guidance.  

 
The guidance however states that no case has yet been made to set a statutory 
minimum level of reserves, either as an absolute amount or a percentage of budget. 

Each Local Authority should take advice from its Chief Finance Officer and base its 
judgement on local circumstances.  

 
Reserves should be held for three main purposes:  

 

 A working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves;  

 A contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – this also 
forms part of general reserves;  

 A means of building up funds known as ‘earmarked reserves’, to meet known or 

predicted funding requirements.  

 
The CIPFA Guidance highlights a range of factors, in addition to cash flow requirements, 

that Councils should consider including:  

 

 The treatment of inflation; 
 The treatment of demand led pressures; 
 Efficiency savings;  

 Partnerships; and  
 The general financial climate, including the impact on investment income.  

 
The guidance also refers to reserves being deployed to fund recurring expenditure and 
indicates that this is not a long-term option. If the Council chooses to use reserves as 

recommended within the Budget, appropriate action will need to be factored into the 
MTFP to ensure that this is addressed over time.  

 
The risk assessment process has identified a number of key risks which could impact on 
the Council’s resources. The Council continues to face significant funding reductions and 

on-going budget pressures.  
With these risks in mind, it is recommended that the Council adopts a policy for reserves 

as follows:  

 
 Set aside sufficient sums in earmarked reserves that it considers prudent. These 

reserves are established as are required and are reviewed regularly for both 
adequacy and purpose and levels are reporting appropriately in line with the 

established reporting processes; and 

Page 119



 General Reserves are maintained to be at least at the level of the contingency 

requirement calculated with reference to LAAP Bulletin 77 and reported to Council as 
part of the approved MTFP.   

 

Earmarked reserves have been established to provide resources for specific purposes.  
 
CIPFA Resilience Indicators  

 
In 2019 CIPFA produced a Financial Resilience Index. This is a comparative analytical 

tool that may be used by Chief Finance Officers to support good financial management, 
providing a common understanding within a council of their financial position.  

 
The index shows a council’s position on a range of measures associated with financial 
risk. The selection of indicators has been informed by the extensive financial resilience 

work undertaken by CIPFA over the past four years, public consultation and technical 
stakeholder engagement.  

 
The index is made up of a set of indicators. These indicators take publicly available data 
and compare similar authorities across a range of factors. There is no single overall 

indicator of financial risk, so the index instead highlights areas where additional scrutiny 
should take place in order to provide additional assurance. The indicators where the 

Council is showing higher risk are associated with the use and level of reserves and – in 
particular\r – earmarked reserves. In response to this, the Council has increased its level 
of earmarked reserves by £1,293,000 as well as adding £1,668,000 to Contingency as 

part of the 2020/21 outturn.  
 
Opinion 

 
In my professional view, if the Council were to accept the current MTFP then the level of 

risks identified in the budget process, alongside the Council’s financial management 
arrangements suggest that the level of reserves is adequate.  

 
 
John Betts 

Interim Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 120



ANNEX D 

Proposed Revenue Projections (2022/23 to 2025/26) 

 

 

Budget Heading 2022/23  

Projection 

2023/24  

Projection 

2024/25  

Projection 

2025/26  

Projection 

  £ £ £ £ 

Employees 6,650,920 6,802,250 6,927,890 7,055,660 

Premises 2,312,230 2,404,720 2,452,810 2,501,870 

Transport 141,260 142,670 144,100 145,540 

Supplies & Services 7,569,450 7,500,130 7,639,610 7,909,880 

Benefits 5,010 5,010 5,010 5,010 

Borrowing 99,310 160,780 186,470 254,500 

Financing Costs 0 0 0 0 

Total Expenditure 16,778,180 17,015,560 17,355,890 17,872,460 

          

Fees and Charges / Other Income 

   

(5,905,900)   (5,930,900) 

   

(5,955,900)   (6,080,900) 

Interest Receipts         (79,390)      (175,360) 
      

(225,110)      (263,300) 

Recharges                  0                 0                  0                  0 

Net Expenditure 10,792,890 10,909,300 11,174,880 11,528,260 

          

Council Tax 
   

(5,882,250)   (6,040,390) 
   

(6,202,420)   (6,368,430) 

Covid-19 Grant Funding 

      

(361,850)      (199,020) 

      

(199,020)      (199,020) 

Business Rates Retention 
   

(4,344,950)   (4,468,250) 
   

(4,608,300)   (4,745,180) 

New Homes Bonus 
      

(255,050)      (100,000)        (75,000)        (75,000) 

Earmarked Reserves 

      

(914,280)         (7,700)          (7,700)         (7,700) 

Contingency Balances 
        

120,230       (63,900)        (50,990)                  0 

Collection Fund 
        

845,260       (30,040)        (31,450)        (32,930) 

Total Financing 

 

(10,792,890) (10,909,300) 

 

(11,174,880) (11,428,260) 

          

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus)                  0                 0                  0        100,000 

Efficiency Requirement (cumulative)                  0                 0                  0      (100,000) 
          

Deficit / (Surplus)                  0                 0                  0                  0 

          
 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

 

                               
 

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

CAPITAL STRATEGY  
2022/23 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 123



 
1 Introduction & Background  

 
1.1 The 2017 edition of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 
requires local authorities to produce a ‘Capital Strategy’ from 2019/20. The 
purpose of the Capital Strategy is to demonstrate that the Council’s capital 

expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with corporate 
priorities and properly take account of the following: 

 

 Stewardship; 

 Value for money; 

 Prudence; 

 Sustainability; and 

 Affordability.  
 

1.2 The Capital Strategy is intended to give a high level overview of how capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to 

the provision of services along with an overview of how associated risk is 
managed and the implications for future sustainability. It allows authorities to 
give greater weight to local circumstances and explain their approach to 

borrowing and investment. 
 

1.3  The Strategy forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital financial 
planning and sets out the long term context in which capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are made. It is an integral component of the Medium 

Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and is aligned with the Council’s: 
 

 Corporate Plan 

 Asset Management Strategy;  

 Growth Strategy; and 

 Treasury Management Strategy 
 

1.4  The strategy will provide for a balanced, sustainable capital programme over 
the medium term planning period ensuring that limited resources are applied 

in the most effective, efficient and economical way to contribute to the 
achievement of the Council’s Corporate Plan.  

 

1.5 The strategy sets out how the Council will prioritise its capital spending plans 
within the resources available and indicates the action to be taken to 

maximise resources for capital spending. The strategy is strategic in nature 
and will focus upon the process for determining capital investment priorities.  

 

1.6 The strategy sets out the strategic approach to the management of debt and 
borrowing. The detailed implications of this are contained within the Treasury 

Management Strategy (TMS) which is updated annually. . 
 
1.7 The Capital Strategy will be updated annually alongside the Council’s MTFP. 

There will also be a fundamental review of the strategy alongside a revision of 
the Corporate Plan. 

 

Page 124



2. Corporate Priorities 

2.1 The Capital Strategy is driven by local priorities. The Council’s spending 

strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by the Council. 
 

2.2 Following the elections in May 2019, there was a fundamental review of the 
Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2019-2023 (up to the end of the 
current political administration).  The Corporate Plan was agreed by Council 

on 16th October 2019 with 2020/21 representing the first full year of the new 
Corporate Plan. 

 

2.3 The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) establishes the Council’s 
vision, corporate objectives and key priorities for the medium term.  It in effect 

establishes the Council’s commitment in the delivery of service and 
community leadership to the residents of the Staffordshire Moorlands.  

 

2.3 The Council’s vision is restated as: 
 

“Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high quality services that meet the 
needs and aspirations of our communities”  

 

2.4 This vision is articulated further by four aims: 
 

 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live 
and work 

 Effective use of resources and provide value for money 

 Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns 
and villages 

 Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 
emergency 

 
2.5 These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 

framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below: 

 

 Aim Objectives 

1 

 

Help create a safer 
and healthier 

environment for our 
communities to live 

and work 
 

 Increased supply of good quality affordable homes 
 Develop a positive relationship with communities 

 Effective relationship with strategic partners 

 Effective support of community safety arrangements including 
CCTV 

 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused 
upon improving health 
 

2 

 

Effective use of 
resources and 

provide value for 
money 

 
 

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for 
money 

 Ensure services are easily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time” 

 A high performing and well motivated workforce 

 More effective use of Council assets 

 Effective procurement with a focus on local business 

 Effective use of ICT 
 

Page 125



 Aim Objectives 

3 

 

Help create a strong 
economy by 

supporting further 
regeneration of towns 

and villages  

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises 

 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy 

 Encourage and develop tourism 

 High quality development and building control with an “open for 
business” approach 

 

4 

 

Protect and improve 
the environment and 

respond to the climate 
emergency  

 Effective recycling and waste management 

 Meeting the challenge of climate change 

 Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and 
environmental health 

 Provision of quality parks and open spaces 

 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 
businesses and visitors 

 
2.6 The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local 

area. In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role.  

Fulfilling this role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key 
areas in order to ensure that services are shaped and delivered around the 

needs and aspirations of citizens.  
 
2.7 The Council’s influencing role is focused in the following areas: 

 Support the police and other partners to reduce crime, the fear of crime 
and anti social behaviour 

 Ensure there is effective health provision particularly for the elderly 

 Ensure that there an effective provision of waste and recycling centres 

across the district 

 Work with Staffordshire County Council to provide accessible on-street 
parking 

 We will work with partners to improve the provision of bus services which 
connect our villages with our three market towns for services, shopping 

and leisure. 

 Expand the Growth Deal partnership with Staffordshire County Council 

on the will be expanded to provide inward investment  

 Work to combat illegal money lenders such as loan sharks 

 Continue to support the Churnet Valley Railway with their plans to bring 

trains back to Leek 

 Work with Staffordshire County Council 

 
2.8 The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in 

the development of performance targets and key actions. A significant 
proportion of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them: 

 

Aim Objectives 

 

Help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities 

to live and work 
 

 

 Increased supply of quality affordable homes 

 Improved  health 

 Improved community safety 
 

Effective use of resources and 
provide value for money 

 

 

 Council services provide value for money 

 High level of resident and customer 
satisfaction 

Page 126



Aim Objectives 

 

Help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages  

 

 Sustainable towns and rural communities 

 Increased economic growth 

 Increased tourism 
 

Protect and improve the 
environment and respond to the 

climate emergency  

 

 High recycling rates 

 Reduction in carbon emissions 
 

 
3. Capital Spending Priorities 

 

3.1 The Council’s capital investment priorities are determined by the corporate 
priorities set out above. The key capital investment priorities for the Council 
are therefore as follows:  

 

Corporate Property – the Council will invest in maintaining the properties 
that support the delivery of services direct to residents.  

 
Other Corporate Assets – the Council will invest in other assets that support 

the delivery of services e.g. transport fleet.   
 
Affordable Housing & Private Sector Housing Renewal – the Council will 

support the development of affordable housing and investment in the 
improvement in housing conditions throughout the district   

 
Enabling Growth – the Council will support the growth of business and 
employment opportunities within the district in addition to housing 

development in line with the commitments set out in the Local Plan   
 

Service Transformation – the Council will invest in projects that improve 
service performance or reduce service expenditure on an “invest to save” 
basis the will include investment in ICT  

 
4. Asset Management Planning 

 
4.1 The overriding objective of asset management is to ensure that the Council 

maintains a portfolio of property assets that is appropriate, fit for purpose and 

affordable. 
 

4.2 The council’s property portfolio consists of the following: 
 

 Operational property i.e. assets that support core business and service 

delivery 
 

 Investment properties held to support economic growth and / or to 

provide a financial return to the Council e.g. industrial units 
 

 Community assets e.g. parks, playgrounds and open spaces. 

 
4.3 Asset management is an important part of the counci l’s management 

arrangements and is crucial to the delivery of value for money services. The 
Council through production of its Asset Management Plan (AMP) is committed 
to: 

 

Page 127



 Optimise the Council’s land and property portfolio through proactive estate 
management and effective corporate arrangements for the acquisition and 

disposal;  

 A regular review of the condition of retained properties including a long-

term (30-year) assessment of the necessary investment to maintain the 
assets fit for purpose; and 

 Realise the value of any properties that have been declared surplus to 
requirements in a timely manner, having regard to the market conditions. 

 
5. Commercial Activities  
 

5.1 The Council currently undertakes and will continue consider commercial 
activities. These are in two forms:  

 

Alternative service delivery arrangements – where the Council has a stake 
in a company which is established for the delivery of Council services  
 

Commercial investments - investments taken for mainly financial reasons - 

these may include: 
 

 Investments explicitly taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for 
the Council. 

 Commercial investments also include fixed assets which are held primarily 
for financial benefit or to support economic growth. 

 
5.2 The reasons for commercial investments are: 
 

 Financial returns to fund services to residents; 

 Reductions in service spending; 

 Pursuing the Council’s Growth Strategy; and 

 Economic development and regeneration activity in the district  

 
5.3 The Council will continue to invest prudently on a commercial basis and to 

take advantage of opportunities as they present themselves, supported by our 

robust governance process. 
 

5.4 Such investments do not always give priority to security and liquidity over 
yield. In these cases, such a decision will be explicit, with the additional risks 
set out and the impact on financial sustainability identified and reported. 

Before considering any such investments the Council will ensure:  
 

 That it has the appropriate legal powers to undertake such investments; 

and 

 That any investment is proportionate of all investments in order to avoid an 

excessive level of risk.  
 

5.5 The commercial investments may involve the acquisition of property. The 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) define 
investment property as property held solely to earn rentals or for capital 

appreciation or both.  Historically, property has provided strong investment 
returns in terms of stable income. Property investment is not without risk as 
property values can fall as well as rise and changing economic conditions 

could cause tenants to leave with properties remaining vacant. These risks 
will continue to be identified and managed through the Council’s Risk 

Management Framework. 

Page 128



 
5.6 The council may fund commercial investments by borrowing. The revenue 

returns should exceed the cost of repaying the borrowed money each year.  
 

6. Loans to Third Parties 
 

6.1 The council has discretion to grant loans to third parties for a number of 

reasons. These loans are treated as capital expenditure. In making loans the 
Council is exposing itself to the risk that the borrower defaults on repayments. 

The Council, in making these loans, will therefore ensure they are prudent 
and that the risks have been identified and fully considered.  

 

6.2 The Council will periodically review its loan portfolio in order to ensure that the 
cumulative exposure of the Council is proportionate and prudent. 

 
6.3 The Council will ensure that a full due diligence exercise is undertaken for 

each individual loan and will ensure that adequate security is in place. The 

business case for each loan will consider all of the benefits and the risks.  
 

6.4 It will be necessary to assess the level of risk attached to the provision of 
each individual loan and consequently build in a ‘risk premium’ into the 
interest rate charges to account for this. The factors taken into account in 

determining this premium: 
 

 the level of security; 

 financial position and credit rating;  

 the overall term of the loan; and  

 the value of the loan.  
 

6.5 The step by step process undertaken is outlined below:- 
 

STEP 1 – Assessing 

available market rates 
In liaison with the Council’s Advisors, the interest rate the third 

party would be expected to pay if accessing funding from the 
market (based on amount/loan term etc) is estimated.  This is to 

ensure the rate the Council is offering is competitive and not 
undercutting the market. Reference is also made in this 
consideration to subsidy (formerly known as state aid) 

implications.   
STEP 2 – Assessing 
credit quality 

The next consideration is credit quality – which may then 
consequently reduce/increase the rate.  Factors that are taken 

into account include:- credit ratings (if applicable), the financial 
position of the borrower, what security is available etc. 

STEP 3 – Assessment 

of Corporate Plan 
objectives 

Finally, there is an overall assessment of the purpose of the third 

party loan and linking this to the Council’s Corporate Plan 
objectives – local factors based on the outcomes of the loan 
may have an influence on the rate charged. 

 

6.6 All loans are agreed by full Council in line with the Council’s constitution. All 
loans will also be subject to regular monitoring. 

 
7 Capital Expenditure 

 

Page 129



7.1 Capital spending decisions will appropriately reflect the aspirations and 
priorities included within the Corporate Plan and its supporting strategies. 

 
7.2 Any scheme / project to be added to the Capital Programme will be subject to 

a ‘gateway’ process and prioritised according to availability of resources and 
the longer-term impact on the council’s financial position. The ‘gateway’ 
process will be undertaken in line with the Council’s agreed project 

management methodology with a robust business case being developed at 
the critical stages of project approval and initiation. This process will be 

overseen by the Council’s Transformation Board. 
 
7.3 The business case will include the following considerations: 
 

 A clear assessment of the cost of financing the capital scheme, net of 

revenue benefits, profiled over the lifetime of each scheme; and 

 Commissioning and procuring for capital schemes will comply with the 

requirements set out in the Council’s Procurement Procedure Rules. 
 

7.4 The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme will be agreed by the 
Council in February each year as part of the budget setting process. The 
Medium Term Financial Plan, Asset Management Plan and Treasury 

Management Strategy will be considered at the same time.  In year variations 
of spend (subject to budget tolerance levels) and the re-profiling of schemes 

will be considered and approved by Cabinet.  
 
7.5 The Cabinet and the Resources Overview & Scrutiny Panel receive capital 

monitoring reports as part of the quarterly performance and financial 
monitoring reports. 

 
7.6 Cabinet considers and approves new bids for inclusion in the capital 

programme. Approval to spend on individual capital schemes will only be 

given once this approval has been achieved. 
 

7.7 Each approved scheme will be included in the Council’s Transformation 
Programme and one of the Council’s Alliance Management Team (AMT) will 
be assigned as Project Executive and will be responsible / accountable for the 

delivery of the scheme.  
 

7.8 Wherever possible the Council will take a long term view of plans in order to 
assess affordability and the demand on future capital resources. It is essential 
for example to consider the lifespan and fitness for purpose of assets. This 

will be considered through asset management planning (condition surveys) 
and wider service based exercises e.g. leisure centre provision evaluation.  

 
7.9 There is a clear demand for long term planning for capital and treasury 

management purposes. The council’s current debt portfolio contains loans 

that mature up to 2023. The debt repayment profile needs to be managed 
alongside the longer term expectations for capital expenditure and funding 

forecasts. 
 
7.10 Long-term forecasts are not easily predicted and the accuracy of all financial 

estimates will be limited. However, long-term forecasting is valuable in 

Page 130



informing strategic plans taking account of the cumulative sustainability and 
affordability of existing and planned investments which will need to be repaid 

over future periods. For major projects and investment the funding and 
financial implications need to be planned well in advance. 

 
 
8 Resourcing Capital Expenditure  

 
8.1  In order to fund its capital investment, the Council will have access to limited 

sources of funding. The main sources of funding are as follows:  

 Capital Receipts  
 

These will be yielded from the disposal of land and property. A programme of 
disposal will be agreed by the Cabinet. This will be informed by the asset 

management planning process. In considering disposals the Council will take 
account of the following: 
 

o Potential loss of income from investment properties  
o Projected saving in running costs, and capital costs of major investment 

required  
o Assessment against fitness of premises for purpose and current patterns 

of need  

 
The Secretary of State has allowed the flexible use of capital receipts. It is 

considered that individual local authorities will be best placed to decide which 
projects will be most effective for their area. The key criteria to use when 
deciding whether expenditure can be funded by the capital receipts flexibility 

is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings. If the Council plans to use 
this funding option a proposal will be prepared setting out the planned use, 

listing the projects and the expected savings and / or improvements in service 
outcomes for each project, and the impact on the Council’s prudential 
indicators. 

 

 Borrowing  

 
Capital projects that cannot be funded from any other source can be funded 

from borrowing. Local Authorities can borrow to fund schemes where it is 
prudent to so. They need to consider their ability to pay for the borrowing. The 
levels of borrowing are determined by using the indicators set out in the 

Prudential Code. The borrowing repayment and interest charges on the loan 
need to be met from existing revenue budgets or identify them as new growth 
in the annual budget setting process and factor them into the MTFP. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will make an assessment of the overall prudence, 

affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing requested and the impact 
of the Council’s borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management 
Strategy alongside the Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential 

Code for Capital Finance. 
 

The Chief Finance Officer will also determine whether the borrowing should 
be from internal resources or whether to enter into external borrowing. This 

Page 131



decision making will be undertaken in line with the Council’s Treasury 
Strategy and will be reported to the Audit & Accounts Committee as part of 

the monitoring of treasury management activity.  
 

 Revenue Funding 
 

The Council may use revenue budgets to fund capital expenditure. This may 
be via a capital reserve which has been established to finance capital 

expenditure as an alternative to external borrowing. 
 
The Council will formally review such reserves and their application both as 

part of the budget setting process and at finalisation of the annual accounts.   
 

 S106 contributions  
 

The principal purpose of S106 agreements is to support individual planning 
applications in line with the Council’s planning policies. Wider contributions 
are constrained by legislation and have to be negotiated and justified. 

 
The Council will ensure these are where possible focussed towards corporate 

priorities subject to the legislative constraints. 
 

 External Grant Funding  
 

The Council has a history of success in bidding for grants from a number of 
sources. There is a risk of reacting to funding opportunities informed by 
external priorities rather than chasing those that match the Council’s priorities 

/ needs.  
 

The Council will seek to ensure that bids are submitted to support investment 
that is directed to the commitments made in the Corporate Plan.   

 

 Partnership Funding 
 

There are a number of examples where the Council has attracted third party 
funding from partners e.g. leisure centre investment from long-term 
contractor.     

 
The Council is aware of the need to be innovative and to work closely with the 

private, public and voluntary Sectors to deliver outcomes in line with the 
Corporate Plan priorities at a time when there will be reduced levels of capital 
resources. 

 
Any such investments will be considered only if they are more cost effective 

than the Council investing directly. 
 
 

 
 

 
9 Forecast Expenditure and Resources 

 

Page 132



9.1 The forecasted spend over the current financial planning period (2021/22 to 
2025/26) is as follows: 

 
Service Area  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Asset Management Plan 508,660 734,260 1,509,790    717,700  2,824,390  6,294,800 
Housing Grants 1,523,200 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000  1,500,000     7,523,200  
Housing  10,000,000              -                 -                  -                  -     10,000,000  

ICT Strategy      122,000      20,000      50,000       50,000       40,560  282,560 
Fleet Management  1,062,630    774,070     320,000       15,000                -    2,171,700 
Other Schemes 740,890 473,000 171,920    170,000     120,000  1,675,810 

Total Revised Programme 13,957,380 3,501,330 3,551,710 
   

2,452,700  
   

4,484,950  
   

27,948,070  
       

 

 
9.2 The individual projects that are included in the above include:   

 

 Asset Management Plan (AMP) – the costs identified in ensuring the 
Council’s property portfolio remain fit for purpose.  This includes: - 

- Public Buildings 
- Car Parks 

- Public Conveniences 
- Waterways & Infrastructure assets 
- Leisure Centres 

- Depots & Parks Buildings 
 

 Housing Grants – the District Council is the duty holder for the mandatory 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s).  All eligible applicants are entitled to 
receive mandatory funding for certain major adaptations to their properties.  

Funding for this scheme is provided through the Better Care Fund via the 
County Council 

 

 Housing - A capital loan of £10million is being made to Your Housing 

Group for the maintenance of and provision of affordable housing within 
the Staffordshire Moorlands District. This is anticipated at the end of 
January 2022. 

 

 ICT Strategy – the key priorities of the ICT Strategy are to provide the 

technological infrastructure to support joint working, new ways of workings 
and improve access to services for the Council’s customers  
 

 Fleet Management – the estimated costs of the replacement fleet 
programme are included within the capital programme.  However, options 

appraisals are undertaken prior to purchase to determine the most cost 
effective method of financing.  Therefore, other funding models, for 
example, contract hire or leasing may be undertaken for some vehicles 

categories 
 

 Other schemes – include schemes such as park and play facility 
improvements, community facility improvements, conservation grants, 

CCTV equipment  
 

Page 133



9.3 Further detail of the above capital schemes is included within the main body 
of the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

 
9.4 The resources that are to be used to finance the Capital Programme are as 

follows: 
 

Service Area  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
External Contributions  1,519,940 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000  7,519,940 
Capital Receipts    3,215,750       71,000       16,000       11,000                -    3,313,750 

Revenue Reserves    1,200,000               -                 -                  -                  -    1,200,000 
Earmarked Reserves   1,185,650               -                 -                  -                  -    1,185,650 
Borrowing 6,836,040 1,930,330 2,035,710 941,700 2,984,950  14,728,730 

Total Revised  Financing  13,957,380 3,501,330 3,551,710 2,452,700 
   

4,484,950  27,948,070 

 
 

9.5 The commercial investments held by the Council can be summarised as 
follows: 

 

 Industrial units – commercial units available for small and medium sized 
organisations to rent for the operation of their business 

 Property rentals – rental streams generated from sharing Council 
properties with partners/external organisations 

 Alliance Environment Services (AES) – company established in 

partnership with ANSA (wholly owned company of Cheshire East Council)  
to deliver waste, streets, fleet and grounds maintenance. 

 
9.6 The following investments are currently being considered: 
 

 Investment in key strategic land to enable housing and business 
development  

 The purchase of additional investment property 

 An alternative funding model working with Your Housing to further 

enhance the provision of affordable housing 

 Alternative service delivery arrangements for the delivery of trading 
services 

 
10 Long-term Considerations 

 
10.1 There a number of functions where there are long term capital spending 

liabilities have been identified. 

 
Asset Management Plan  

 
10.2 In line with the commitment made in this strategy, asset condition surveys 

were last completed for the Council’s property portfolio in 2016. A new 

conditions survey is currently in progress. These ascertain the overall 
condition of the properties and establish the necessary capital investment 

required to ensure that they are maintained to an appropriate standard.  
 
10.3 The indicative capital investment required at that stage  can be summarised 

as follows:  

Page 134



SMDC AMP Capital Investment & Revenue 

Consequence                                                             

(AS AT SEPT 2016) 

2016-17 – 

2019-20 

2020-21 – 

2045-46            

(26 years) 

TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Public Buildings 1,010,850 2,761,600 3,772,450 

Car Parks 754,000 4,293,431 5,047,431 

Public Conveniences 181,400 415,800 597,200 

Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 479,361 448,761 928,122 

Leisure Centres 310,000 10,005,995 10,315,995 

Depots and Parks Buildings 97,070 2,355,714 2,452,784 

Industrial Units 80,380 392,050 472,430 

TOTAL 2,913,061 20,673,351 23,586,412 

    
 

 
*The latest update of the 30year plan is presented in the Medium Term Financial Plan report Appendix A 

 
10.4 The overall outcomes of the surveys can be summarised as follows: 
 

 A number of the Council’s operational assets are dated in appearance and 
require investment; 

 The Council’s car parks require capital investment; 

 There are structural issues associated with a number of the Council’s 

buildings  which require resolution; 

 There are urgent works related to health and safety requirements that 
need to be resolved; and 

 Investment is required to the electrical and mechanical infrastructure of a 
number of buildings.  

 
10.5 The results from these surveys have informed the development of the 

Council’s four-year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). Adjustments have 
been made to exclude any major investment in the Council’s leisure centres 
and operational depots where it is assumed that investment will be deferred 

pending the major decisions that linked to changes in the service delivery 
arrangements which are in progress.  

 
10.6 The indicative investment for 30-years will have a significant impact on the 

Council’s future revenue budgets and the analysis showed that the Council’s 

property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable. The estimated impact of 
the indicative capital projections for the 30-year investment requirements at 

the point the surveys were completed is detailed below: 
 

SMDC Estimated Revenue Consequences - Cumulative 

Impact 

2016-17 - 
2019-20 
(MTFP) 

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years) 
TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Fit for Purpose Standard works - Cumulative Cost       115,959     943,653     1,059,612  
Less Existing MTFP - Cumulative Cost (111,403) - (111,403) 

Potential Additional Budget Requirement           4,556     943,653       948,210  

    

 

Page 135



10.7 The above analysis showed that providing the investment in the longer term to 
maintain the Council’s property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable.   

  
 

10.8 In order to address this, the Council agreed to a number of actions to reduce 
the impact of the necessary capital spending. It was agreed that the following 
are considered before investment in each of the assets is made:  

 

 Asset rationalisation  

 Shared use of assets  

 Reduction in specification and functionality 

 Generate additional capital receipts 

 Identify grants to support investment  

 Generate additional revenue from asset holdings  
 

Review of Strategic Land Holdings 

 
10.9 In order to address a number of the considerations above the Council agreed 

to review the Council’s strategic land holdings with a view to developing 
options to either generate additional capital receipts or opportunities to 
generate ongoing financial returns. The outcome of this review is reflected in 

the revised programme funding.    
 

Leisure Centres 
 
10.10 Given the age and condition of the leisure centres, significant capital 

investment is required over the next 30 years in order that these assets 
remain fit for purpose.  

 
10.11 The Council commissioned a review of its leisure centre provision in the 

context of its sports facility needs focusing on sports halls, swimming pools 

and other indoor provision. The purpose of undertaking this review was to 
inform the Council on options for future provision of council leisure centres 

and other sports facility based services.  
 
10.12 The outcome from this review in effect set out a position statement on the 

suggested facility hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for 
the phasing of future facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to 

ensure that the Council can develop a more sustainable solution in relation to 
meeting customer needs, affordability and partner aspirations, whilst 
supporting the overall vision of the Council’s newly adopted Physical Activity 

& Sports Strategy. 
 

10.13 The effectiveness of the current leisure centre provision was also assessed. 
This assessment considered current income and expenditure benchmarks. 
The conclusion of the review was that the Council should consider the 

following investment requirements:  
 

 Replacement of South Moorlands Leisure Centre with smaller community 
pool and fitness offer.  

 Refurbishment and essential works at Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre;  

 Replacement pool at Brough Park Leisure Centre & 3G pitch development;  

Page 136



 Increased access to school sites for sports hall provision / club use; and 

 Development of 3G pitch provision – potentially linked to school sites 

 
10.14 The indicative capital cost for these investments would be in the region of 

£19.25m. At this stage the investment costs are significantly in excess of 
revenue savings, and consequently it will be necessary for the Council to 

identify additional sources of capital investment to deliver these 
improvements. Options are currently being explored in the on-going future 
Leisure Provision review. 

 
 Operational Depot Provision 

 
10.15 In 2017 established Alliance Environmental Services (AES) which was 

created jointly with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA (a company owned 

by Cheshire East Council) to deliver the Council’s waste collection, street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance services. The Council’s waste collection 

service was transferred to the company in July 2018 with the rest of functions 
transferred in April 2019.     

  

10.16 Major investments in the operational depot facilities which have been leased / 
licensed to AES has been deferred until the opportunity has been taken to 

review the requirements of the new company in light of widening of the base 
of the services provided. 

 

 
11 Debt, Borrowing & Treasury Management 

 
11.1 Effective treasury management is critical to the safeguarding and 

management of the financial resources at the Council’s disposal.  Investment 

and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s formally 
adopted Treasury Management Strategy.  The Treasury Management 

Strategy is presented annually and approved by Full Council.   
 
11.2 There are key prudential indicators set in respect of the impact of capital 

expenditure.  The report details the forecast borrowing requirement over a 
four year period, the consequential borrowing costs and the impact of the 

Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR). The CFR is total outstanding 
capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for either from revenue or 
capital resources, essentially the Council’s underlying borrowing need.  

 
11.3 The table below summarises the impact of the Council’s capital expenditure 

plans on the CFR:- 
 

Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR) 

2020/21 

Actual 

2021/22 

Estimate 

2022/23 

Estimate 

2023/24 

Estimate 

2024/25 

Estimate 

2025/26 

Estimate 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

CFR – service investments 18,082 10,832 12,541 14,315 14,956 17,620 

            
Movement in CFR 1,254 (7,250) 1,709 1,774 641 2,664 

       

Page 137



Represented by:  

 

 

 

 

Net financing need for the 

year 
1,313 (7,164) 1,931 2,035 942 2,984 

Less Minimum Revenue 

Provision* 
(59) (86) (222) (261) (301) (320) 

Movement in CFR 1,254 (7,250) 1,709 1,774 641 2,664 

 

11.4 Where a borrowing requirement is identified, an assessment takes place on 
the most cost effective way to fund this.  This could result in ‘external 

borrowing’ from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), other Local 
Authorities, direct from the market or by utilising lease arrangements.   

 

11.5 Alternatively, ‘internal borrowing’ – the use of cash balances – could be used 
temporarily, particularly in the current interest rate climate where investment 

returns remain low.  However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when the Council may not be 
able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the 

refinancing of maturing debt. 
 

11.6 The Council’s forward debt projections are shown in the table below in relation 
to the CFR:- 

 

 

March ’21 

Actual      

£000 

March ‘22 

Estimate 

£000 

March ‘23 

Estimate 

£000 

March ‘24 

Estimate 

£000 

March ‘25 

Estimate 

£000 

March 

‘26Estimate 

£000 

External Borrowing 15,000 12,604 10,104 11,104 11,104 14,104 

Other long-term liabilities* 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gross Debt at 31st March 15,000 12,604 10,104 11,104 11,104 14,104 

Change in Debt position 5,000 (2,396) (2,500) 1,000 0 0 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 
18,082 10,832 12,541 14,315 14,956 17,620 

(Under) / over borrowing (3,082) 1,772 (2,437) (3,211) (3,852) (3,516) 

*Other long-term liabilities will include Right-of-Use assets under accounting standard IFRS16 to be adopted 
from 2022/23. These are assets formerly known as operating leases which will be included on the balance 
sheet and therefore increase the CFR, similar to the former treatment of Finance Leases. The impact is 

expected to be immaterial therefore is not included at this stage. Should any changes be significant, the CFR 
limit and forecast will be revised during the year. 
 

12 Risk Management 

 

12.1 There are a number of key risks that will impact upon the successful 
implementation of the Council’s Capital Strategy  

 

12.2 The Council operates effective risk management through its Risk 
Management Framework. Risk management is the process of identifying 

risks, evaluating their potential consequences and determining the most 
effective methods of managing them and/or responding to them. It is both a 
means of minimising the costs and disruption to the Council caused by 

Page 138



undesired events and of ensuring that the element of risk in all activities is 
properly understood. 

 
12.3 In order to manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital 

project need to be systematically identified, analysed, influenced and 
monitored. It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and 
for the capital programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital 

assets held primarily for financial returns.  
 

12.4 An assessment of risk should therefore be built into each individual capital 
project and the major risks that identified should be recorded in the Projects 
Risk Register which is reported to the Council’s Audit & Accounts Committee.  

 
12.5 The risks associated with the Capital Strategy are detailed below with the 

mitigating actions: 
 

Risk Mitigating Actions 

Diminishing Resources   The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) carefully monitored 
and managed 

 New grant / funding opportunities explored 

 Partnership opportunities explored to share investment 
 

Project Delivery  Spending / Funding closely monitored  

 Projects managed through the Council’s project management 

methodology 

 Major projects reported through the council’s performance 
framework  

Commercial Investments   Exposure to non-repayment carefully managed through the 
contract management arrangements 

 Disinvestment potential will be regularly considered 

VAT Partial Exemption  Each capital investment will be closely reviewed to assess its 
VAT implications. 

 
 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Animal Boarding Establishments (Kennels & 
Cateries) including Domestic Day Care & 
Over Night Licence (initial or renewal, 
excluding vet fees). Vets fees are charged in 
addition to these fees based on full cost 
recovery:

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

11 + animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

25 Plus Animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Animal boarding (Crèche Facility) - 
Commercial 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £250.00 £250.00 0.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 
upto 5 Households 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £400.00 £400.00 0.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 
upto 5 - 10 Households 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 
upto 10 Plus 

Price on 
Request

Price on 
Request

Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%
Interim Inspection (Commercial) £100.00 £100.00 0.00%
Interim Inspection (Domestic) £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Approved Food Premises  
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Caravan & Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Park Homes: New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Fee per additional 
pitch

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Licence amendment
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Transfer of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Annual fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Deposit of site rules
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Contaminated Land Enquiry:
(Initial Enquiry 2 
Hours Minimum 

Charge ) 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £110.00 £110.00 0.00%

Each subsequent 
hour or part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Cooling Tower Notification
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Dangerous Wild Animals Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £400.00 £400.00 0.00%

Dog Breeding Establishments Licence (initial 
or renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:

1-4 dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

5 - 10 dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

10 Plus
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Interim Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Environmental Health Pre-Application advice 
(minimum 2 hours) 

(Initial Enquiry 2 
Hours Minimum 

Charge)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Each subsequent 
hour or part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Environmental Permit Fees Set by DEFRA
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Copy of Register of Authorisations  (Permits): 
Copying Charge Plus officer time charged for 
photocopying per hour or part thereof.

per side of A4 (or 
equivalent electronic 

format)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Cost recovery £20.00 £20.00 0%

Officer Time (EIR)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £130.00 £130.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 
(Max 25 Certificates) 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £1,600.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 
(Max 50 Certificates) 

£3,000.00 £3,000.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly (50 
Plus)

Price on 
Request

Price on 
Request

Export Health Certificate for Brewery/Artisan 
Products 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Page 141



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 
Brewery/Artisan Products (Max 25 
Certificates)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Export Health Certificate (Samples/ Low Value 
goods up to £500 per consignment)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Amendment to Health Certificate
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Amendment to Health Certificate 
(Artisan/Brewery Products)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme - Re-Rate 
within 3 Months of Inspection 

Price On Application 
Officer Time hourly 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit 
with Safer Food Better Business Pack (upto 2 
hours) 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £125.00 £125.00 0.00%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit 
with Safer Food Better Business Pack (upto 3 
hours) 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £175.00 £175.00 0.00%

Safer Food Better Business Pack Incl 2 Year 
Diary 

£20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Copy of Food Register (Full Copy of 
database) 

Full Register
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £175.00 £175.00 0.00%

One Copy of Any Entry in the Register
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

List of Food Premises In a Particular Category
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Food Premises Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

House in Multiple Occupation Licence: First application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £385.00 £385.00 0.00%

 
Subsequent 

application/renewal by 
same landlord

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Change of ownership 
application

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Improvement Notice Fee
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Immigration Housing Certificate per application
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Hypnotism Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Land Drainage/Culvert Maintenance for 
Private Individuals or Companies 

Full Price On 
Application inc. Officer 

Time hourly 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Pet Shop Licence (initial or renewal) 
(excluding vet fees. Vets fees are charged in 
addition to these fees based on full cost 
recovery):

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Interim Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%
Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Pleasure Boats & Pleasure Vessels to be let 
for hire or used for carrying passengers for 
hire (Exemption for such boats on any inland 
waterway owned or managed by the British 
Waterways Board)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Riding Establishments Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:  (Annual Vet Inspection 
required)

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

11-20 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £175.00 £175.00 0.00%

21+ animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Re-Rate Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Interim Inspection £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Sex Shop & Cinema Licence (including Sexual 
Entertainment Venues of any type):

New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £3,100.00 £3,100.00 0.00%

Renewal
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £1,700.00 £1,700.00 0.00%

Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £700.00 £700.00 0.00%

Special Treatments Registration (Premises) 
including: Massage; Manicure; Other Special 
Treatments e.g. Vapour, Sauna or Other Bath 
Treatments

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Statement of Officers Opinion: Initial Enquiry 2 Hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £105.00 £105.00 0.00%

subsequent hour or 
part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Page 142



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Home/Mobile Tattooing, Piercing, 
Acupuncture Including 1 person 

Premises/ Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Tattooing, Piercing, Acupuncture, Electrolysis 
Licence (initial or renewal):

Premises
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £90.00 £90.00 0.00%

Guest Tattooist
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Ear Piercing Only: Premises 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Amendment (e.g. 
Change of address)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Zoo Licence (excluding vet fees). Vets fees 
are charged in addition to these fees based on 
full cost recovery:

First (4 year licence)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.00%

Second & subsequent 
(6 year licence)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.00%

Zoo Licence: Interim periodical
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory  

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Renewal periodical
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Informal inspections
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Pest Control Officer Time/ Pesticides/ Transport

Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £110.00 0.00%

treatments in addition to contract agreement: Single treatment
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £110.00 0.00%

up to 3 treatments
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £215.00 £215.00 0.00%

up to 5 treatments
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Non Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Rodents (Rats) (Domestic) - up to three visits 
to treat:

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Wasps Nest (Domestic Treatment):
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £32.50 0.00%

Rodents (Mice) (Domestic) - up to three visits 
to treat:

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £32.50 0.00%

Bed Bugs:
2 bed house

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £62.50 £62.50 0.00%

3 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £250.00 £250.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £125.00 £125.00 0.00%

>4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £400.00 £400.00 0.00%

Page 143



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Fleas:
2 bed house

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

3 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £125.00 £125.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £62.50 £62.50 0.00%

4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

>4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £250.00 £250.00 0.00%

Ants 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Other insect pests (domestic):
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial

Benchmark with other Derbyshire 
Districts where info. Available on 
website

£70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Moles (Commercial Only)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial

Price on 
Application

Price on 
Application

Appointment Missed/Cancelled (Site) £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Private Water Supply Charges

Risk Assessment: Upto 2 properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Including Officer Time on Site 3-5 Properties £400.00 £400.00 0.00%
5 Plus Properties £500.00 £500.00 0.00%
Large Commercial £500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Sampling
Officer Time per 

Sample 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Investigation Per investigation 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Analysing a sample under regulation 10 Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 
Charge

Laboratory 
Charge

Analysing a check monitoring sample 
Regulation 9

Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 
Charge

Laboratory 
Charge

Analysing an audit monitoring sample Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 
Charge

Laboratory 
Charge

Request from Search Company for Data 
relating to Private Water Supplies in a 
particular area. 

Hourly Rate 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Stray Dogs Statutory fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Admin fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Kennel fee per day or 
part thereof

 
Fee set by 

kennel owner
Fee set by 

kennel owner

Page 144



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Gambling Act

Bingo - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,500.00 £2,500.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Adult Gaming Centre - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment Centre - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £750.00 £750.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,600.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Betting Premises (excluding Tracks) - New 
Application

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Page 145



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Race Tracks - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Gambling Act Permit Fees set by the 
Secretary of State 

Licensed Premises Automatic Notification 
Process: Payable on Notification

Up to 2 
machines

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Charges for Annual Licences (unless 
stated)

Small society Lotteries Application Application Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Small Society Lotteries Annual Renewal Renewals Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Street Trading Consent Annual Rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £3,100.00 £3,100.00 0.00%

Street Trading Consent - Upto 2 Days Annual Rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £1,600.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Daily Street Trading consent Daily rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Street Trading Change of Name & Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Taxi Licences - Hackney Carriage & Private 
Hire Vehicles

Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Licence (new & 
renewal) Including Brackets & Plates/Decals 
(The fee includes 10% for enforcement duties)

Yearly 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Replacement Driver Badge or Vehicle Plate 
Per 

Plate/Badge
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Hackney Carriage Decals - Provided by 3rd 
party company 

Change of Vehicle Including Plate/Card
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

New Licensed Driver/Renewal: Including 
Knowledge Test and Resit, Safeguarding 
Training & Driver Badge (The fee includes 10% 
for enforcement duties)

Annual
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

3 years
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Private Hire Operators Licence (The fee 
includes 10% for enforcement duties)

1 Year
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £105.00 £105.00 0.00%

Private Hire Operators Licence (The fee 
includes 10% for enforcement duties)

5 years
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Document Identification Check (Fee set by 
Crown Post Office

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Statutory
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

DBS Check by 3rd Party Company 
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

Re-Sit Knowledge Test 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Taxi Test (Paid Directly to Garage) 
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

Scrap Metal Dealers

Collectors Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £245.00 £245.00 0.00%

Page 146



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Variation to Collectors Licence 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £95.00 £95.00 0.00%

Site Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £390.00 £390.00 0.00%

Variation to Site Licence 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
£115.00 £115.00 0.00%

Variation to licence Change of Name or 
Address

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates - First Year Fee:

Band A Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Band B Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Band C Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Band D Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £450.00 £450.00 0.00%

Band E Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £635.00 £635.00 0.00%

Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates Annual Fee:

Band A Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Band B Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Band C Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £295.00 £295.00 0.00%

Band D Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £320.00 £320.00 0.00%

Band E Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Personal  Licence (Application or Renewal) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £37.00 £37.00 0.00%

Temporary Event Notice Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Permitted Temporary Activities, Personal 
Licences and Miscellaneous:
Theft/ Loss, etc. of Premises Licence or 
Summary

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application for a Provisional Statement where 
premises being built etc.

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Notification of change of name or address Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application to vary licence to specify individual 
as premises supervisor

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Application for transfer of premises licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Interim authority notice following death etc. of 
licence holder

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of certificate or summary Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Notification of change of name or alteration of 
rules of club

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Change of relevant registered address of club Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of temporary event notice Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of personal licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Duty to notify change of name or address Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Right of freeholder etc. to be notified of 
licensing matters

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Minor Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £89.00 £89.00 0.00%

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Page 147



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Transfer Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Change of Name Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Club Gaming Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Club Machine Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Change of Name Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Copies of all Permits Each Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Other Licences

Street Collection Licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Free No Cost £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Registrations

Statement of Officers Opinion Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging Appropriate Fee Structure £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Page 148



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% 
increase

LLC1 Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £27.80 £27.80 0.00%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Con 29R Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £39.60 £39.60 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £26.00 £26.00 0.00%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 
Con 29 (Inc. Vat)

Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £67.40 £67.40 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 
Con 29 (Inc. Vat)

Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £36.00 £36.00 0.00%

Con 29O - Each Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 
Register

Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

A search on each individual part of the Local 
Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Part 3 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

LLC1 Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £24.00 £24.00 0.00%

Con 29R Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £82.80 £82.80 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £42.00 £42.00 0.00%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 
Con29 (Inc. Vat)

Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £122.80 £122.80 0.00%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 
Con29 (Inc. Vat) 

Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £66.00 £66.00 0.00%

Con 29O - Each Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 
Register

Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

A search on each individual part of the Local 
Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.50 £4.50 0.00%

Part 3 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.50 £18.50 0.00%

Fees for access to individual Con 29R 
questions:

Con 29R Q1.1 a-j Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £4.80 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £4.80 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.2 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q2
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.2
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Residentail Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.4
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Page 149



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% 
increase

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.6
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 (a-d, f) Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q 3.7 e
Residential request direct 
to Staffordshire County 

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £10.80 £10.80 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.12 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.14 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 a-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.2 Commericla Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q2
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Commerical Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.2
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.4
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.6
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 a-d, f Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Con 29 R Q 3.7 e
Commercial Request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £18.00 £18.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.12 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.14 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.40 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.40 0.00%

Page 150



Planning Enforcement Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

Justification for Charging Category
2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Desk-based history check requested by 
member of the public

Per check
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Site visit requested by member of the public Per visit
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £80.00 £80.00 0.00%

Service benefits applicant

Charges do not apply to alleged breaches of planning 
regulations which are provided free of charge

Page 151



Planning Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% 
increase

Householder PD check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £67.00 £67.00 0.00%

Listed Building enforcement check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

COPYING

Decision Notice Per notice
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £47.00 £47.00 0.00%

A4 OS maps 4 Copies
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £31.00 £31.00 0.00%

Planning Applications (Current & Historic): First page
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Additional 
pages

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - AO size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £18.50 £18.50 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - A3 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £13.50 £13.50 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - A4 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £8.25 £8.25 0.00%

Weekly Planning List Per year
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £370.00 £370.00 0.00%

Informal or history Searches: First hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £51.25 £51.25 0.00%

Additionals
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Postage:
Cost of 
Postage

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs Postage Cost Postage Cost

Admin Charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £8.25 £8.25 0.00%

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE

Meetings

Strategic major applications

Over 50 
dwellings or 
10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£1,130.00 £1,130.00 0.00%

Major proposals 

Between 10 
and 50 

dwellings or 
1,000-

10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£845.00 £845.00 0.00%

Minor proposals and other 
structures/developments not in the above 
categories

Between 1 and 
9 dwellings or 

under 
1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£570.00 £570.00 0.00%

Written Advice

Strategic major applications

Over 50 
dwellings or 
10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£565.00 £565.00 0.00%

Major proposals

Between 10 
and 50 

dwellings or 
1,000-

10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£425.00 £425.00 0.00%

Minor proposals 

Between 1 and 
9 dwellings or 

under 
1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£285.00 £285.00 0.00%

Statutory Planning Fees Statutory
See Planning 

Portal
See Planning 

Portal

Page 152



Street Naming Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

New Properties, small developments 
1-5 Properties 

(each)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £72.00 £72.00 0.00%

New Properties, large developments 
6+ Properties 

(each)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £42.00 £42.00 0.00%

New Street Name
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £215.00 £215.00 0.00%

Renaming Existing Properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £72.00 £72.00 0.00%

Confirmation of Postal Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £46.00 £46.00 0.00%

Benchmarked against other 
LAs and service providers

Page 153



Waste Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Trade Waste & Recycling

Domestic Waste All benchmarked to other LAs

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement waste or recycling bin of any size 
or colour  for use at a single domestic dwelling.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery to recover cost of service £31.00 £31.50 1.61%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 140l, 180l or 240l bin for use by 
multiple domestic dwellings or for a trade 
premise to replace a bin damaged by the 
customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £43.50 £44.00 1.15%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 360l bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £69.00 £70.00 1.45%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 660l  bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £280.00 £285.00 1.79%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 1100l  bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £315.00 £320.00 1.59%

Purchase of one roll of blue sacks roll of 16
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £3.95 £3.95 0.00%

Purchase of a paper garden waste sack Each
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £0.70 £0.70 0.00%

Supply and delivery of additional Garden 
Waste Bin and ongoing collection

Each
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

service charge is over and 
above cost to authority

To ensure that the Council remains competitive and is 
commercially focused, rates levied for trade waste and trade 
recycling collections will be calculated based upon volumes and 
demand ensuring at all times that they do not fall below the cost 
of service provision to the authority.

Page 154



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Burial Plots Exclusive right of burial & 
issue of certificate 

All benchmarked to other 
LAs

Purchase Fee

New Coffin Grave - Leek parish resident per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single fees £700.00 £700.00 0.00%

New Coffin Grave  (all other SMDC residents) per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double fees £1,400.00 £1,400.00 0.00%

New Coffin Grave  (residents from outside 
SMDC area)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple fees £2,100.00 £2,100.00 0.00%

New Cremated remains Grave - Leek parish 
resident

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single fees £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

New Cremated remains Grave  (all other 
SMDC residents)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double fees £700.00 £700.00 0.00%

New Cremated remains Grave (residents from 
outside SMDC area)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple fees £1,050.00 £1,050.00 0.00%

Pre-purchased new coffin grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

10% uplift on costs to 
discourage pre purchases 
which are using up valuable 
grave space

£770.00 £770.00 0.00%

Pre-purchased cremated remains grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

10% uplift on costs to 
discourage pre purchases 
which are using up valuable 
grave space

£385.00 £385.00 0.00%

Interment/burial Fees

Coffin grave for three (Leek Cemetery only) per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £954.00 £954.00 0.00%

Coffin grave for two per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £822.00 £822.00 0.00%

Coffin grave for one per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £734.00 £734.00 0.00%

Cremated remains casket burial per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £241.00 £241.00 0.00%

Lawn burial of ashes per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £154.00 £154.00 0.00%

Cremation Casket in Garden of Remembrance per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Out of area fees: per grave

Leek Parish residents only per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single fees Single fees

Re-opened graves for those not residing in the 
Leek Parish and
New graves for SMDC residents not residing in 
Leek Parish

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double fees Double fees

Outside Staffs. Moorlands (newly dug graves 
only)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple fees Triple fees

Interment/burial of a child (aged 0-15 years)

Child's grave or ashes grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free

Free in line with 
recommended best practice 
nationally

Free Free

Child's new full size grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £411.00 £411.00 0.00%

Child's reopened Grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £367.00 £367.00 0.00%

Out of SMDC area  child's interment fee per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Nominal £241.00 £241.00 0.00%

Memorial permits
We have separated out 
permits from memorials to 
aid the VAT query

Permit for a new upright memorial including 1st 
inscription

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £165.00 £165.00 0.00%

Permit for a memorial desk tablet/ vase 
including 1st inscription

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £117.00 £117.00 0.00%

Permit for a replacement memorial per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £117.00 £117.00 0.00%

Permit for an additional inscription on memorial/
tablet/ vase etc.

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Permit for a child's "single use" memorial on 
any grave type

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free Policy Free Free 0.00%

Page 155



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Memorial items
We have separated out 
permits from memorials to 
aid the VAT query

Cast Bronze/ Granite memorial plaque (up to 
75 letters)

per plaque
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial

This is for a memorial 
plaque

£390.00 £390.00 0.00%

Cast bronze sponsored tree plaque (existing 
tree only)

per plaque
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial

This is for a memorial 
plaque

£390.00 £390.00 0.00%

Sponsored memorial bench & bronze plaque
50% deposit 

required before 
order

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Full commercial
This is for a memorial 
plaque and bench

£1,356.00 £1,356.00 0.00%

Other Charges

Replacement or transfer of grave deed
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£49.00 £49.00 0.00%

Search fee Per half hour
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£27.00 £27.00 0.00%

Grave selection requiring Cemetery Officer 
attendance 

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£27.00 £27.00 0.00%

Large coffin (both dimensions over 6' 5" and 
25")

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £72.00 0.00%

Cancellation of funeral within 72 hours of burial
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £72.00 0.00%

Coffin size not confirmed within 48 hours of 
burial

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £72.00 0.00%

Headstone not removed from grave when 
requested

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £72.00 0.00%

Paperwork not received in cemetery office 
before burial

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £72.00 0.00%

Late arrival of funeral at cemetery (>30 
minutes)

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £72.00 0.00%

Page 156



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Copy of Tree Preservation Order Per hard copy
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial

Changed from 25 to 0.Have not supplied 
a charged for copy for a couple of years

£41.00 £41.00 0.00%

Fishing Tickets (Biddulph Grange Country 
Park)

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Fair charging
Benchmarked to compare prices at 
neighbouring fishing locations

£7.00 £7.10 1.43%

Memorial Bench in a countryside park
Purchase & 
Installation

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Full commercial
costs should be comparative with bench 
in open space

£1,050.00 £1,050.00 0.00%

Memorial bench purchase and installation in a 
public open space

Purchase & 
Installation

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Full commercial
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£1,050.00 £1,050.00 0.00%

Adoption of an existing memorial bench located 
in a public open space

Purchase & 
Installation

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£550.00 £550.00 0.00%

High Hedges

High Hedge Complaints Per complaint
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £510.00 £510.00 0.00%

Parks & Open Space Concession

Sport / Fitness Classes Per session
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging min uplift to encourage phsical activity £6.90 £7.00 1.45%

Park /Open Space Event Charges

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £56.50 £58.50 3.54%

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £225.50 £230.00 2.00%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £115.00 £120.00 4.35%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £430.00 £445.00 3.49%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £56.50 £58.50 3.54%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £137.50 £143.00 4.00%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £112.50 £117.00 4.00%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £370.00 £385.00 4.05%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £57.00 £58.50 2.63%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £132.50 £140.00 5.66%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £85.00 £88.00 3.53%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £260.00 £270.00 3.85%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £110.00 £115.00 4.55%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £385.00 £400.00 3.90%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £220.00 £230.00 4.55%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £520.00 £535.00 2.88%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 10,000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £272.50 £285.00 4.59%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 10,000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £670.00 £700.00 4.48%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £545.00 £560.00 2.75%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £980.00 £1,000.00 2.04%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 
Activity<1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £28.50 £29.50 3.51%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 
Activity>1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £82.50 £85.00 3.03%

Community Event -Some Commercial Activity 
<1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £28.50 £29.50 3.51%

Community Event - Some Commercial Activity 
>1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Subsidised £82.50 £85.00 3.03%

Charitable Event - No commercial activity Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free maintains current charging position £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Community Event -No Commercial Activity Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free maintains current charging position £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Commercial Filming Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £57.50 £58.50 1.74%

Page 157



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

NEW - Commercial Filming Hour rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial

New fee created as a result of demand 
for shorter filming

£80.50 £83.00 3.11%

Commercial Filming Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £645.00 £665.00 3.10%

Commercial photo shoot Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £57.50 £58.50 1.74%

Commercial photo shoot  Half Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £325.00 £335.00 3.08%

Discretionary Commercial Event Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging £57.50 £58.50 1.74%

Discretionary Commercial Event Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Fair charging £66.00 £68.00 3.03%

Educational Establishments Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Catering concessions - leisure sites Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £57.50 £58.50 1.74%

Catering concessions - leisure sites Day Rate
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £26.00 £27.00 3.85%

New sites for concessions - amusements Admin Fee
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £57.50 £58.50 1.74%

New sites for concessions - amusements
Day Rate / Per 

Item
Exempt from VAT 

(--%)
Full commercial £36.00 £37.00 2.78%

Page 158



Car Parks - Subject to separate report Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Season tickets (long stay car parks)

Leek: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £370.00 TBC 0.00%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £190.00 TBC 0.00%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 TBC 0.00%

Cheadle: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £320.00 TBC 0.00%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £170.00 TBC 0.00%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £90.00 TBC 0.00%

Biddulph: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £250.00 TBC 0.00%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £130.00 TBC 0.00%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £70.00 TBC 0.00%

Smithfield Centre Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £350.00 TBC 0.00%

California Car Park (proven Leek workers & 
Residents)

Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £55.00 TBC 0.00%

Buxton Road Car Park (proven Leek workers 
only)

Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £220.00 TBC 0.00%

Replacement Passes
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £10.00 TBC 0.00%

Pay and Display

Leek: Brook Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Buxton Road Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 TBC 0.00%

Leek: High Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Joliffe Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Market Place Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Market Street East Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Page 159



Car Parks - Subject to separate report Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Market Street West Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Moorlands House Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Queen Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Regent Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Silk Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Smithfield South Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Stockwell Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: St Edward Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Leek: Vicarage Road/ California Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 TBC 0.00%

Leek: West Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Page 160



Car Parks - Subject to separate report Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 TBC 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.40 TBC 0.00%

Cheadle:Tape Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.90 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.40 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 TBC 0.00%

Cheadle:Well Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.90 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.40 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 TBC 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.20 TBC 0.00%

Biddulph: Wharf Road Up to 1 Hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.60 TBC 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.80 TBC 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 TBC 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 TBC 0.00%

Penalty Charge Notices Off Street: Two tier 
system depending on the seriousness of the 
offence

Tier one: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 TBC 0.00%

If paid within 14 
days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £25.00 TBC 0.00%

Tier two: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £70.00 TBC 0.00%

If paid within 14 
days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £35.00 TBC 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Vehicle per day
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £15.00 TBC 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Bay per day
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £15.00 TBC 0.00%

Page 161



Markets Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% 
increase

LEEK RETAIL MARKETS

Wednesday Outdoor (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £23.50 £23.50 0.00%

Wednesday Trestle (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £21.50 £21.50 0.00%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.75 £10.75 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £23.50 £23.50 0.00%

Friday Trestle (Franchised Archer Fairs)

- Per Stall Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £16.00 £16.00 0.00%

Saturday Trestle (General Retail)

- Regular Traders Per quarter Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £192.00 £192.00 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Saturday Outdoor Craft (Franchised Archer 
Fairs)

- Per Pitch Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £17.50 £17.50 0.00%

Festival of Fine Food

- Per Stall Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £26.00 £26.00 0.00%

- Per Stall
Per day 

(payment in 
advance)

Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

CHEADLE MARKETS

Cheadle Outdoor Market - Friday Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Page 162



Lettings Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Moorlands House Leek

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £121.00 £123.42 2.00%

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - 
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £175.00 £178.50 2.00%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 
10pm) - Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £189.00 £192.78 2.00%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 
10pm) - Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £278.00 £283.56 2.00%

Churnet Room Monday - Friday half day 
charge

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £62.00 £63.24 2.00%

Churnet Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £89.00 £90.78 2.00%

Churnet Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £109.00 £111.18 2.00%

Churnet Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 
Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £124.00 £126.48 2.00%

Churnet Room  Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £174.00 £177.48 2.00%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £97.00 £98.94 2.00%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £122.00 £124.44 2.00%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) -
Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £151.00 £154.02 2.00%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) -
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £196.00 £199.92 2.00%

Trent Room Monday - Friday half day charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £49.00 £49.98 2.00%

Trent Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £62.00 £63.24 2.00%

Trent Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £109.00 £111.18 2.00%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £99.00 £100.98 2.00%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £122.00 £124.44 2.00%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £109.00 £111.18 2.00%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £157.00 £160.14 2.00%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 
Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £170.00 £173.40 2.00%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £251.00 £256.02 2.00%

Dove Room Monday - Friday half day charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £57.00 £58.14 2.00%

Dove Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £81.00 £82.62 2.00%

Dove Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £109.00 £111.18 2.00%

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £111.00 £113.22 2.00%

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £157.00 £160.14 2.00%

Dove Room Excess Hours - 10pm - Midnight Per hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £47.00 £47.94 2.00%

Rooms in the One Stop Shop: Tean, 
Rudyard, etc 

Monday-Friday (Half day) between 9am and 
5pm

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £27.00 £27.54 2.00%

Monday-Friday (Full day) 9am-5pm
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £50.00 £51.00 2.00%

Moorlands House  Other Facilities for Hire:

Kitchen Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £23.00 £23.46 2.00%

Piano Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £18.00 £18.36 2.00%

Bar Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £35.00 £35.70 2.00%

Portable Drinks Machine: Per session
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £35.00 £35.70 2.00%

All Room Booking fees exclude optional extra Facilities  (Bar, 
Kitchen etc) - Charitable and Non Profit Making organisations 
subject to 20% discount - Bookings outside hours stated and 
commercial events by special arrangement

Page 163



Lettings Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Audio Visual Equipment: NB All prices are per 
booking/ session - am or pm. Whole day usage 
will be 2 x per item hired.

- Overhead Projector
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £23.00 £23.46 2.00%

- OHP Screen
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £16.00 £16.32 2.00%

- Nobo Flipchart Easel with Paper (provide own 
markers)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £16.00 £16.32 2.00%

Page 164



Finance Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Financial Services

Statement of Accounts
Per copy (plus 

postage)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

no subsidy as document 
available on line

£21.60 £21.60 0.00%

Committee Services

Agenda
Per copy (plus 

postage)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

no subsidy as document 
available on line

£10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Recovery Services - Summons costs 
recharged

Application for summons re Liability Order: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 
Rates

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Issue of Liability Orders: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 
Rates

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Committal summons
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Arrest warrants
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Committal to prison
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Reasonable 
charge

Reasonable 
charge

Fee charged as a preventative 
measure for non-payment of 
CTAX/NNDR.  Income should 
cover costs of Recovery team

Page 165



Elections Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Purchase of Full Register (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal  £138.50 £138.50 0.00%

Purchase of Rolling register Alterations (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £193.50 £193.50 0.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Purchase of Full Register (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £405.00 £405.00 0.00%

Purchase of Rolling Register Alterations 
(Paper)

1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £135.00 £135.00 0.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Page 166



Environmental Crime
(statutory charges correct at time of budget 
setting)

Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN)

Unlawful repairs / sale of vehicle on roads: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Abandoning a vehicle: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£120.00 £120.00 0.00%

Depositing litter: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Unauthorised distribution of free printed matter: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Criminal Damage and fly-posting: Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £120.00 £120.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Failure to produce authority (waste carrier’s 
licence) 

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Failure to furnish documentation (waste 
transfer notes)

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Failure to remove dog faeces from land 
forthwith:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Not putting, and keeping, a dog on a lead when 
directed to do so by an authorised officer:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Permitting a dog to enter land from which dogs 
are excluded:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Not keeping a dog on a lead in a designated 
area:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Smoke & Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £5,000.00 £5,000.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £2,500.00 £2,500.00 0.00%

Health Act 2006 Smoking in a smoke free 
designated vehicle or area:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

if Paid within 15 
Days 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £30.00 £30.00 0.00%

Health Act 2006 Failure to Display appropriate 
smoke free signage as dictated by law:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

if Paid within 15 
Days 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

 Fly-tipping
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £400.00 £400.00 0.00%

If Paid within 10 
Days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Household Waste Receptacles
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Amounts set by statute £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

If Paid within 10 
Days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory
Discount to encourage early 
payment

£40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Page 167



Community
(statutory charges correct at time of budget 
setting)

Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2021/22 
Current 
Charge

2022/23 
Charge

% increase

Failure to comply with a Community Protection 
Notice:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory Set by statute £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Failure to comply with a Public Spaces 
Protection Order:

Full FPN
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory Set by statute £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

If paid within 10 
working days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory Set by statute £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014

Page 168



APPENDIX D 

 

                               
 

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

PROCUREMENT FORWARD 
PLAN 2022/23 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 169



1. Introduction  

 

1.1 The Procurement Procedure Rules, which support the Joint Procurement 
Strategy (to be updated and presented for approval shortly), are essential to 

the achievement of the Alliance Procurement Objectives and set out the 
processes that must be followed. 
 

1.2 A revised version of the Procurement Procedure Rules were presented and 
 approved by full Council on 11th October 2017.  The Rules were updated to 

reflect recent changes for example:- 

 the service review process has resulted in a fully resourced central 
procurement unit incorporating the whole purchase to pay stream 

(procurement activity through to the payment of supplier invoices)   

 Processes have been reviewed and electronic systems implemented 

with the procurement process now utilising online procurement web-
forms and an e-tendering system, removing paper records and 

improving efficiency. 
 

1.3 The opportunity was also taken to review the Rules as a whole, with specific 

amendments made to:- 

 Sourcing thresholds – advertising periods updated 

 Process for applying Performance Bonds / Parent Company Guarantees 

 Applying extensions/variations to contracts 

 Updated processes to include technology now utilised (for example, e-
webform platform and e-tendering system) 

 Additional references where necessary – for example, the requirements 

of the Transparency Code 

 Expansion of Contract Management responsibilities / processes 

 
1.4 In addition, consideration was given to how the authority to procure and award 

procurement activities is undertaken - with the aim of simplifying and ensuring 
the process is as efficient as possible.   

 
2.  Authorisation to Procure and Award 
 

2.1 It was proposed within the Rules that the Procurement Forward Plan would be 

reported as part of the Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan in February 
each year.   

 
2.2 This would identify all potential procurement activity to be completed in the 

following financial year (subject to business case), with approval sought to 

commence procurement of all activity listed.  Performance and activity 
(including confirmation of award) against the forward plan would then be 

monitored and reported within the Quarterly Procurement Report to 
Committee. 
 

2.3 The approval limits to be applied to then authorise the award of contracts and 
apply exemptions are in line with Public Contract regulations supplies and 

service thresholds which are refreshed every two years.  The latest revision to 
thresholds were implemented in 01 January 2022, this will therefore instigate 

Page 170



a change to the levels of authorisation included within the Council’s 
Procurement Procedure Rules. 

 
2.4 Notification of the new threshold values to apply for the purposes of the Public 

 Contracts Regulations 2015, Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016, Concession 
 Contracts Regulations 2016 and the Defence and Security Public Contracts 
 Regulations 2011. The threshold values are refreshed every two years and it 

 is mandatory for public sector contracting authorities to adhere to these 
 regulations. 

 

2.5  The new procurement threshold values will apply to contracts advertised on 
 and after 1 January 2022 and are detailed as follows: 

 
2.6 The revised thresholds below are exclusive of VAT and relate to the full life of 

 the Contract: 
 

PUBLIC CONTRACT THRESHOLDS 
2022 & 2023 

£  

 

Works Contracts 5,336,937 

Small Lots 884,720 
Supply, Services and Design Contracts 213,477 

Small Lots 70,778 
Social and other specific Services 

Light Touch Regime  
663,540 

Subsidised services contracts 213,477 
Concession Contracts 5,336,937 

 

2.7 The Council’s Procurement Procedure Rules for Authorisation to procure and 
 award contracts are requested to be updated to reflect the changes in the new 

 thresholds.  For procurements which commence after 1st January 2022 the 
 revised thresholds as detailed in Annex C (see below table) of the 
 Procurement Procedure Rules will apply (these values are not inclusive of 

 VAT). 
 

 Award and Exemptions Authorisation Limits: 

 
Total Contract Value    (£) Authorisation Authorisation By 

<25,000 
 
 

Head of Service / 
Executive Director 

Procurement Web-
form 

>25,000 - <213,477 

 (EU Service Threshold) 
 

 

Executive Director / 

Chief Executive 

Procurement Web-

form 

>213,477  (EU Service 
Threshold) - <1,000,000 

Delegated Member 
Decision 

Delegated Member 
Report (Portfolio 

Holder for 

Procurement and the 
relevant service area) 

>1,000,000* Cabinet SMDC Committee Report 

Page 171



 
* Committee reports may be presented where the total contract value is less than £1,000,000 - where considered 
appropriate due to the nature of the procurement or where it relates to a key decision 
 

2.8  Any procurement activity undertaken during the year which was not included 

on  the forward plan will also follow the authorisation rules (to procure/award) as 
 detailed above - and detail will be included within the Quarterly Procurement 
 Report.  

 
2.9 Irrespective of the total contract value, Committee reports may be presented 

to Executive to obtain authority to procure and award where considered 
appropriate due to the nature of the procurement or where it relates to a key 
decision. 

 
3. Procurement Forward Plan 2022/23 
 

3.1 The Procurement Forward Plan, detailing all anticipated higher value 
procurement activity during 2022/23, is detailed at ANNEX A.  This includes 

activity specific to Staffordshire Moorlands D.C. and also any joint 
procurement activity with Alliance partner High Peak B.C.  Procurements 
which have already had approval in 2021/22 but not yet completed, will be 

progressed in addition to the programmed 2022/23 schedules. 
 
4. Procurement undertaken by Agent 
 

4.1 In addition to procurement activity commissioned by the Council, there may 

also be procurement activity commissioned via an agent on behalf of the 
Council where appropriate to do so.  For example, the new Leisure Centre 
contract will allow provision for capital works required on the Leisure centres 

to be commissioned by the Contractor, but funded by the Council.  In this 
case, the Council would complete due diligence to ensure compliancy and 

value for money has been achieved. 
 

4.2 Similarly, ANSA on behalf of Alliance Environmental Services will be procuring 

fleet required by specific services, but this will be funded by the Council and 
appropriate due diligence undertaken.   

 
4.3 Agents  delegated to  procure contracts on behalf of the Council, where the  
 Council  is the  Contracting Authority, will be required to procure in 

 compliance to Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCRs15) for above 
 threshold  contracts and  for contracts for lower values  demonstrate that their 

 procurement practice is as robust and transparent as that the Council would 
 apply.

Page 172



5 
 

ANNEX A 

 PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN 2022/23 – SMDC   

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue 

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract [£] 

731 SMDC Moorlands House Flat Roof / Air 
Handling 

Works contract Capital Assets 185,000 

1359 SMDC Moorlands House Insultation Works contract Capital Assets 50,000 

121 
450 

SMDC Car Parks Pay and Display 
machine upgrades 

Supply and Installation Capital Assets 200,000 

1360 SMDC EV Charging Points SMDC Car 
Parks 

Supply and Installation Capital Assets 200,000 

1361 SMDC Biddulph Grange County Park 
Drainage 

Works Contract Capital Assets 64,900 

1013 SMDC Public Conveniences 
Refurbishments 

Works Contract 
Wetton 
Milldale 

Capital Assets 99,640 

933 SMDC Fowlchurch Depot works Works Contract Capital Assets 650,000 

P
age 173



6 
 

1094 SMDC Upgrade to cttee audio / visual 
systems 

Equipment upgrade Revenue Democratic 
Services 

TBC 

1348 SMDC Fleet purchases (AES) Replacement vehicles  Capital Service 
Commissioning 

320,000 

1345 
1346 
1066 

SMDC Play Area refurbishments / Out 
Door sports developments 22/23 
 
(Subject to feasibility and approval) 

Various projects :  
Hot Lane Biddulph MUGA 
Birchall Leek Improvement project 
Glebeville Leek Play Area 
Church Road Biddulph Play Area 
 
 
 

Capital Service 
Commissioning 

310,000 
(combined) 

 

PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN 22/23 – JOINT (HPBC/SMDC)  

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue 

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract [£] 

239 JOINT Civils Groundworks Contractor 
Framework 

Works contract framework  
(2 yr – local small contractor 
opportunity) 

Revenue / 
Capital 

Assets / 
Service 
Commissioning 
/ Housing 

150,000 (est) 

704 JOINT Structural and Civil Engineer 
Framework 

Professional Services Revenue / 
Capital 

Assets 150,000 (est) 

980 JOINT Electricity Supply Council Buildings Utility Supply contract 
(Framework sourced – 4 yr term) 
(Climate Change: Review 
alternative options) 

Revenue Assets 700,000 

P
age 174



7 
 

523 JOINT Architectural Services for HPBC & 
SMDC 

Professional Services 
 
Recurring fixed term framework 4 
yrs 
 

Revenue / 
Capital 

Assets 400,000 (est) 

374 JOINT Collection and Banking of Income 
and Internal Mail Courier Services 

Service Contract 
(Fixed term 3 + 2 yrs) 
(Under Review) 

Revenue Customer 
Services 

190,000 

1258 JOINT Hybrid Mail and Annual billing (Bulk 
mailings) 

Hybrid Mail Printing and 
Distribution services 
Annual Billing Council Tax  

Revenue Customer 
Services / 
Income  

200,000 (est) 

522 JOINT Elections Printing / Stationery / 
Annual Canvass 

Supply and support service 
contract  
(5 yr fixed term) 

Revenue Legal and 
Elections 

800,000 (est) 

351 JOINT External Legal Professional 
Services 

Access to East Midlands Law 
Share – legal professional 
framework 
(4 yr term) 
 

Revenue Legal and 
Elections 

200,000 (est) 

975 JOINT Committee Management and 
Reporting System (Modern Gov) 

Licence renewal for new fixed term 
Recurring 

Revenue Democratic 
Services 

40,000 

 

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report to Cabinet 
 

8th February 2022 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendices Attached 
Appendix A – Staffordshire Leaders Board- Constitution for the Joint 

Committee 
 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is consider the establishment of, and the Council’s 

participation in, a Joint Committee of the local authorities in Staffordshire to 
explore opportunities for improved joint working and to develop and implement 

plans for devolution from Government through a County Deal 
 
 
2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:  
 

 Agree to the establishment of, and the Council’s participation in, the 

Staffordshire Leaders Board on the basis of the Terms of Reference set 
out in Appendix A to the report; 

 Appoint the Leader as the County Council’s representative on the Leaders 
Board. 

 Appoint the Deputy Leader as the substitute for the Leader on the Leaders 
Board. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Local authorities across England are awaiting the publication of the promised 

White Paper that will set out the Government’s approach to devolution. The 

national landscape has recently shifted, with a move away from Devolution 
and Local Recovery to the Levelling Up agenda. It is anticipated that this 

TITLE: Staffordshire Leaders Board / County Deal 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader 

  
CONTACT OFFICER: Andrew Stokes – Chief Executive 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 177

Agenda Item 8.4



  

potentially will bring significant benefits to areas of the country including 
Staffordshire. 

 

3.2 There is a necessity for all local authorities to put in place arrangements to 
position themselves at the forefront of these national developments. A key 

principle of the approach is to put in place a model to position Staffordshire at 
the forefront of securing a potential devolution deal which would potentially 
include new powers and funding. 

 
3.3 More recent announcements by the Prime Minister, and the appointment of a 

Secretary of State for Levelling Up, have signalled a move towards the 
creation of County Deals and this presents significant opportunities for 
Staffordshire Councils to present a credible model to Government which builds 

on the significant co-operation and enhanced two-tier working that is already in 
place across the county.  

 
3.4 Collaboration is at the heart of how the local authorities function in 

Staffordshire. There are a numerous examples of how the Councils, working 

together, across local government and with public and private partners locally, 
regionally and nationally, have contributed to making Staffordshire a great 

place to live, work and visit including the recent unified response to protect the 
most vulnerable and support those in need during the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 

3.5 It is considered that this track record, and the solid foundations in place across 
the two-tier system, mean that Staffordshire is perfectly positioned to turn 
central government’s Levelling Up agenda into reality. With or without 

devolution, the councils in Staffordshire are continuing to innovate, and work 
together, to make a positive difference for Staffordshire people.  

 
3.6 At a meeting of the Leaders and Chief Executives of the County, District and 

Borough Councils in Staffordshire on the 2nd December 2021, the Leaders 

considered how the enhanced two tier working could be further enhanced with 
the support of a devolution deal (“County Deal”) from Government providing 

additional powers and funding. A County Deal will accelerate delivery of the 
local authorities’ ambitious programmes, improve public services, deliver on 
the Levelling Up agenda, and produce excellent returns for both the people of 

Staffordshire and the UK.  
 

3.7 In order to drive this agenda forward, the Leaders recognised that the existing 
informal networking arrangements needed to be put on a more formal footing.  
The Leaders therefore decided to take back a proposal to each of their 

respective Cabinets proposing that their existing informal meetings are 
formalised as an Executive Joint Committee to be called the Staffordshire 

Leaders Board. The Leaders Board will consist of the Leader from each of the 
nine local authorities and will operate on the basis of one member, one vote.  
Scrutiny will be undertaken by each of the constituent authorities’ own scrutiny 

arrangements. 
 

3.8 The full Terms of Reference proposed for the Leaders Board are attached at 
Appendix A. 

 

Page 178



  

3.9 Once a detailed programme of work has been developed, more detailed 
reports will need to be considered by the Council to assess the implications. 

 

 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The enhanced two-tier working approach delivered by the Staffordshire 

Leaders Board will potentially have a significant impact on the achievement of 
a number of the Council’s corporate priorities 

 
 
5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 There are no options to consider at this stage 

 
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None 
 

6.2 Workforce 

None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

None 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
There are no immediate and significant financial implications 
arising from the establishment of the Leaders Board in itself.  It is 

intended that it will derive its support from its constituent members.  
As and when individual projects are commissioned the board will 

give consideration to the resource requirements necessary to 
deliver those projects and the implications of this will need to be 
considered by the Council at that time.  

 
6.5 Legal 

The Joint Committee will act as a Joint Committee under Section 
9EB of the Local Government Act 2000 and pursuant to Regulation 
11 of the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of 

Functions) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
Collaboration on climate change has been identified as one of the 
key areas for potential future focus for Staffordshire Leaders Board  

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Page 179



  

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
Not applicable at this stage 

 
 

ANDREW P STOKES 
Chief Executive 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 
 

Andrew Stokes 
Chief Executive 
andrew.stokes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 

 

  

Page 180

mailto:andrew.stokes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


  

 
7. Background and Introduction 

 

7.1 In the October 2019 Queen’s Speech, the government pledged to publish a 
white paper setting out how it would ‘unleash regional potential’ in England. In 

the 2019 Conservative election manifesto, this commitment was reiterated, 
alongside a commitment to deliver “full devolution across England…so that 
every part of our country has the power to shape its own destiny.” 

 
7.2 Local authorities across England are awaiting the publication of the promised 

White Paper that will set out the Government’s approach to devolution. It is 
anticipated that this potentially will bring significant benefits to areas of the 
country, including Staffordshire, through the Government’s commitment to the 

‘levelling up’ agenda.   
 

7.3 There has been lots of speculation about the content of the White Paper and 
how local authorities need to prepare for its implementation. There is a 
necessity for authorities to put in place arrangements to position themselves at 

the forefront of any national developments including securing a potential 
devolution deal and maximising additional resources into their area.  

 
7.4 The national landscape has recently shifted, with a move away from 

Devolution and Local Recovery to Levelling Up. More recent announcements 

by the Prime Minister including the appointment of a Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up have signalled a move towards the creation of County Deals and 
this presents significant opportunities for Staffordshire councils to prepare to 

present a credible model to Government.  
 

7.5 The purpose of this report is to consider the proposal to establish a Joint 
Committee of the local authorities in Staffordshire to explore opportunities for 
improved joint working and to develop and implement plans for devolution 

from Government through a County Deal. 
 

 
8 Levelling Up White Paper 

 

8.1 Following the October 2019 Queen’s Speech, the government subsequently 
promised that the English devolution white paper would be published in 

September 2020. Speaking at the LGA annual conference in July 2020, Simon 
Clarke MP, the then Minister for Regional Growth and Local Government, 
confirmed the Government’s intention to press ahead with the publication of 

their white paper on devolution and local recovery in the autumn. He stated 
that ‘the white paper will connect local recovery with levelling up which will 

encompass a much wider and more radical re-think of the way that 
communities are supported at a local level’. Their intention being to reduce 
regional inequalities. 

 
8.2 There followed lots of debate about contents of the white paper and the 

required structures to secure devolution deals in individual areas. In Summer 
2020, the Government were indicating that the most beneficial devolution 
deals would be given to areas that collaborated through combined authorities 

Page 181



  

with an elected mayor. They also stated their preference for structural reform 
of local authorities through the creation of smaller numbers of unitary 
authorities to create a foundation for the creation of combined authorities.  

 
8.3 In Autumn 2020, it was widely reported that the white paper on devolution and 

local recovery has been shelved until 2021 as the Government prioritised 
battling COVID-19.  

       

8.4 In October 2020 in a Written Ministerial Statement, the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government formally issued invitations to 

principal councils in Cumbria, North Yorkshire and Somerset, including 
associated existing unitary councils, to submit proposals for moving to unitary 
local government.  

 
8.5 In the statement, the Government’s policy position on the issue of local 

government reorganisation was reconfirmed. It was highlighted that the 
government accepts that locally-led changes to the structure of local 
government, whether in the form of unitarisation or district mergers, can be an 

appropriate means of improving local service delivery, saving taxpayers’ 
money and improving local accountability. However, the Secretary of State 

confirmed that restructuring is only one of the different ways that councils can 
streamline and make savings. It was accepted that joint working with other 
councils and partners can take a variety of forms ranging from adopting joint 

plans, setting up joint committees, sharing back office services or special 
purpose vehicles to promote regeneration. Such joint working may extend 
across county boundaries. Councils’ general power of competence under the 

Localism Act 2011 makes it easier for councils to get on with sharing services. 
 

8.6 The Secretary of State also confirmed that the Government will not impose 
top-down restructuring of local government and will continue to follow a locally-
led approach for unitarisation where councils can develop proposals which 

have strong local support. He reiterated that this has been the Government’s 
consistent approach since 2010, when top-down restructuring was stopped 

through the Local Government Act 2010. When considering reform, those in 
an area will know what is best – the very essence of localism to which the 
Government remains committed.  

 
8.7 The national landscape has recently shifted, with a move away from 

Devolution and Local Recovery to Levelling Up. In July 2021 the Prime 
Minister whilst setting out the proposed agenda for Levelling Up signalled a 
move towards the creation of County Deals. 

 
8.8 It was outlined that new ‘County Deals’ would take devolution beyond the 

largest cities, offering the rest of England the same powers metro mayors 
have gained over things like transport, skills and economic support.  

 

8.9 Further detail will be set out in the Levelling Up White Paper, but as the Prime 
Minister set out, county deals will not be one size fits all, and government will 

take a flexible approach to allow more places to agree devolution. 
 

Page 182



  

8.10 Reduced public sector funding and increasing demand for services driven by 
demographics and long standing social, health and economic pressures mean 
that the Council, like many other authorities across the country, continues to 

face significant challenges in providing the services that local people need and 
want with available resources. The resulting impact of the pandemic on the 

national economy is likely to be significant and the anticipated financial shock 
on public finances will place local government under increasing pressures to 
deliver services with increasing demand and reduced resources.  

 
8.11 Based on existing deals, a County Deal for Staffordshire could incorporate 

directly devolved investment in infrastructure, skills, transport and housing. 
Such investment would be of vital importance in enabling the local and 
regional economy to recover from the pandemic for the benefit of local people.  

 
8.12 Given the anticipated publication of the forthcoming Levelling-Up White Paper, 

which was initially expected in Autumn 2021, many county councils are 
actively considering their routes to securing a County Deal. Government are 
currently in discussions with a number of authorities across the country and it 

is expected that the Government will invite a small number of these to be pilot 
areas.  

 
 
9 Two-tier Working in Staffordshire 

 

9.1 Collaboration is at the heart of how the local authorities function in 
Staffordshire. There are a number of highlights of how the Councils, working 

together, across local government and with public and private partners locally, 
regionally and nationally, have contributing to making Staffordshire a great 

place to live, work and visit: 
 

 Covid-19 – the unified response protected the most vulnerable and 

supported those in need. Notable successes include supplying food to the 

most vulnerable in the Staffordshire communities, PPE support to care 

providers and targeted action in hotspot areas 

 Creating jobs and opportunities – working together and across county 

borders to deliver nationally important employment sites and supporting 

businesses and the local economy to recover from Covid, through a 

countywide package of support– Staffordshire Means Back to Business. 

 Town Centre regeneration – reimagining and reshaping our High Streets 

and Town Centres 

 Waste – the county can boast zero waste to landfill in Staffordshire thanks 

to its strong Waste Partnership. The Partnership has led local efforts to 

reduce waste, and maximise reuse, recovery and recycling. It has also, 
through joint procurement exercises, produced significant efficiencies and 
economies of scale across Staffordshire. 

 
9.2 It is considered that this track record, and the solid foundations in place across 

the two-tier system, mean that Staffordshire is perfectly positioned to turn 
central government’s Levelling Up agenda into reality. With additional 

Page 183



  

responsibility and funding, much more can be achieved, and faster, for the 
people of Staffordshire, surrounding areas, and the country.  

 

9.3 With or without devolution, the councils in Staffordshire are continuing to 
innovate, and work together, to make a positive difference for Staffordshire 

people. All of the local authorities are united in their desire to enhance and 
strengthen two-tier working. The Staffordshire Leaders and Chief Executives 
are committed to working together on key priorities in 2022, including: 

 

 Climate Change – bringing together strategies, skills and expertise for 

reaching Net Zero.  

 Waste – strengthening the waste partnership, exploring greater 
collaboration on waste collection, and improve recycling. 

 Economy – continuing to create the right conditions for economic growth, 
and the creation of more, better-paid jobs and opportunities for the people 

of Staffordshire.  

 Improving Public Services – Making it as simple and easy for the people of 

Staffordshire to interact and engage with local public services. 

 Health Inequalities –In support of the establishment of the Integrated Care 
System and the Health and Wellbeing Board, there is an opportunity for 

local government partners in Staffordshire to work better, together to tackle 
many issues that have a significant impact on health, such as housing, 

parks and open spaces, leisure centres and employment.  
 
 
10 Developing a County Deal for Staffordshire 

 

10.1 At a meeting of the Leaders and Chief Executives of the County, District and 
Borough Councils in Staffordshire on the 2nd December 2021 the Leaders 
considered how the enhanced two tier working could be further enhanced with 

the support of a devolution deal (“County Deal”) from Government providing 
additional powers and funding. 

 
10.2 The Leaders also considered how a County Deal might support joint working 

within Staffordshire.  It was felt that a County Deal should not be seen as a 

one-off bid, but the start of a new, ongoing dialogue with central government, 
that builds on Staffordshire’s strengths, and addresses national challenges at 

a local level.  A County Deal will accelerate delivery of the local authorities’ 
ambitious programmes, improve public services, deliver on the Levelling Up 
agenda, and produce excellent returns for both the people of Staffordshire and 

the UK.  
 

10.3 Initially, the Leaders agreed to focus on the following priorities: 
 

 Climate Change – To place Staffordshire as a leading location for the 

green economy. 

 Social Care – To address recruitment pressures in care, ease the pressure 

on the NHS, and develop innovative solutions that allow Staffordshire 
people to stay independent, healthy and living at home, for as long as 

possible. 

Page 184



  

 Logistics – To support the Logistics sector to be innovative, cleaner, 
greener and higher value. 

 

10.4 In order to allow Staffordshire to achieve the above, a full range of additional 
powers and funding would be required from Government. In exchange for 

these powers Staffordshire would deliver significant benefits for the people of 
Staffordshire and beyond, making a significant contribution to the Levelling Up 
agenda. This would include a significant increase in the number of local green 

economy jobs, a carbon neutral Staffordshire, and transformed logistics and 
social care sectors, 

 
10.5 In order to drive this agenda forward the Leaders recognised that the existing 

informal networking arrangements needed to be put on a more formal footing.  

They decided that a Joint Committee would provide them with a vehicle that 
has the status and authority to speak to Government on behalf of the nine 

authorities, and that has the ability to make decisions itself to drive the existing 
joint working forward. 

 

10.6 The Leaders therefore decided to take back a proposal to each of their 
respective Cabinets proposing that their existing informal meetings are 

formalised as an Executive Joint Committee to be called the Staffordshire 
Leaders Board.  The remit of the Leaders Board will be to: 
 

a. Lead and oversee the development of a county devolution deal for 
Staffordshire with the Government. 

b. Lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority action on 
Climate Change, Waste and Sustainability. 

c. Lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority plans for 

Enterprise and Government Funding and Investment streams. 
d. Lead and oversee the alignment of local authority interaction with the 

Health sector in Staffordshire.  
e. Lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority plans for future 

Infrastructure. 

f. Lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority plans in relation 
to Housing and Homelessness. 

g. Initiate, lead and oversee Staffordshire-wide joint initiatives to enhance 
local government efficiency and effectiveness. 

h. Act as a local public sector decision-making body for strategic economic 

growth. 
i. Act as a conduit to other sub-regional and regional bodies such as the 

Local Enterprise Partnerships and the Midlands Engine. 
j. Where appropriate, agree shared priorities and bids for funding to existing 

and new funding sources such as Local Growth Funds and the Shared 

Prosperity Fund. 
k. Monitor and evaluate projects and programmes of activity commissioned 

directly by the Committee.  
l. Communicate and, where unanimously agreed, to align activity across 

Staffordshire on a range of other key public priorities that affect citizens. 

m. Prioritise and make decisions on the use of the funding that the Committee 
may influence or control. 

 

Page 185



  

10.7 The Leaders Board will consist of the Leader from each of the nine local 
authorities and will operate on the basis of one member, one vote.   

 

10.8 Scrutiny will be undertaken by each of the constituent authorities’ own scrutiny 
arrangements. 

 
10.9 The arrangements make provision for the Board to admit Stoke-on-Trent City 

Council to its membership as an equal member in the future. 

 
10.10 The full Terms of Reference proposed for the Leaders Board are attached at 

Appendix A. 
 
 

11 Proposed Way Forward 

 

11.1 A key principle which has emerged through the existing strong two-tier working 
in Staffordshire is the recognition that the current two-tier structure of local 
government across the county can be strengthened to significantly improve 

outcomes for communities. Given the national focus on the ‘levelling up’ 
agenda, there is a pressing need to develop a new model of local government 

for Staffordshire that could meet all of the requirements to provide a platform 
for the planned devolution of powers from central government. 

 

11.2 More recent statements made by Government have made it clear that 
restructuring is only one of the different ways that councils can streamline and 
make savings. It is therefore expected that the approach proposed by the 

Staffordshire Leaders will be welcomed as a credible way forward.  
 

11.3 It is therefore recommended that Cabinet approve the proposed approach set 
out in this report. Once a programme of work has been developed more 
detailed reports will need to be considered by the Council to assess the 

implications. 
 

Page 186



                                                              

APPENDIX A 

The Staffordshire Leaders Board 

Constitution for the Joint Committee 

 

1. Purpose 

1.1 To establish a Joint Committee of the local authorities in 

Staffordshire to explore opportunities for improved joint working and 

to develop and implement plans for devolution from Government 

through a County Deal. 

2. Governance 

2.1 The Joint Committee will act as a Joint Committee under Section 9EB 

of the Local Government Act 2000 and pursuant to Regulation 11 of 

the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) 

(England) Regulations 2012. 

2.2 The Joint Committee will be known as the Staffordshire Leaders 

Board (“the Leaders Board”). 

2.3 The Leaders Board will comprise the local authorities within the 

Staffordshire area: Cannock Chase District Council, East 

Staffordshire Borough Council, Lichfield District Council, Newcastle-

under-Lyme Borough Council, South Staffordshire District Council, 

Stafford Borough Council, Staffordshire County Council, Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Council, and Tamworth Borough Council (“the 

constituent authorities"). 

2.4 The Leaders Board may admit Stoke-on-Trent City Council to 

membership at a later date and therefrom they will become a 

constituent authority with all the same rights and obligations as the 

other constituent authorities.  

2.5 Political Proportionality rules will not apply to the Leaders Board as 

constituted. 

2.6 The Leaders Board will be a legally constituted body with powers 

delegated to it by the constituent authorities in the following areas: 

a) to prioritise and make decisions on the use of the funding that the 

Leaders Board may influence or control. 

Page 187



                                                              

b) to review future governance requirements and delivery 

arrangements and how these can be best achieved in Staffordshire. 

c) to have direct oversight of the projects and initiatives which the 

Leaders Board has initiated or over which it has influence or control 

of the funding. 

d) to have strategic oversight of other key projects and initiatives 

within its remit as set our herein. 

2.7 The Leaders Board will not hold funds or monies on behalf of the 

constituent authorities.  

2.8 Should the Leaders Board work plan necessitate a change in the 

delegated powers and terms of reference of the Leaders Board any 

such change would require the approval of all the constituent 

authorities. 

2.9 These terms of reference will be reviewed on a biennial basis or 

sooner if necessary. 
 

3. Remit 

3.1 The remit of the Leaders Board will be: 

i. To lead and oversee the development of a county devolution 

deal for Staffordshire with HM Government. 

ii. To lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority 

action on Climate Change, Waste and Sustainability. 

iii. To lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority 

plans for Enterprise and Government Funding and Investment 

streams. 

iv. To lead and oversee the alignment of local authority 

interaction with the Health sector in Staffordshire.  

v. To lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority 

plans for future Infrastructure. 

vi. To lead and oversee the alignment of relevant local authority 

plans in relation to Housing and Homelessness. 

vii. To initiate, lead and oversee Staffordshire-wide joint 

initiatives to enhance local government efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

Page 188



                                                              

viii. To act as a local public sector decision-making body for 

strategic economic growth. 

ix. To act as a conduit to other sub-regional and regional bodies 

such as the Local Enterprise Partnerships and the Midlands 

Engine. 

x. Where appropriate, to agree shared priorities and bids for 

funding to existing and new funding sources such as Local 

Growth Funds and the Shared Prosperity Fund. 

xi. To monitor and evaluate projects and programmes of activity 

commissioned directly by the Committee.  

xii. To communicate and, where unanimously agreed, to align 

activity across Staffordshire on a range of other key public 

priorities that affect citizens. 

xiii. To prioritise and make decisions on the use of the funding 

that the Committee may influence or control. 
 

4. Membership 

4.1 One member from each constituent authority (such member to be 

the Leader from each constituent authority) and for the purposes of 

these terms of reference this member will be known as the principal 

member. 

4.2 Each constituent authority to have a named substitute member who 

must be an executive member.  

4.3 Where both the principal member and the substitute member 

attend a meeting of the Leaders Board the principal member shall 

be deemed as representing their authority by the Chair or Vice 

Chair. 

4.4 In the event of any voting member of the Leaders Board ceasing to 

be a member of the constituent authority which appointed him/her, 

the relevant constituent authority shall as soon as reasonably 

practicable appoint another voting member in their place. 

4.5 Where a member of the Leaders Board ceases to be a Leader of the 

constituent authority which appointed him/her or ceases to be a 

member of the Executive of the constituent authority which 

appointed him/her, he/she shall also cease to be a member of the 

Leaders Board and the relevant constituent authority shall as soon 

Page 189



                                                              

as reasonably practicable appoint another voting member in their 

place. 

4.6 Each constituent authority may remove its principal member or 

substitute member and appoint a different member or substitute as 

per that authority’s rules of substitution, and by providing twenty-

four hours’ notice to the Chair or the Secretary.  

4.7 The Leaders Board may from time to time, following a unanimous 

vote of those present and voting, co-opt additional non-voting 

members (“co-opted members”) at its discretion but such co-opted 

members will not be members or officers of the constituent 

authorities. 

4.8 Each constituent authority may individually terminate its 

membership of the Leaders Board by giving twelve months written 

notice of its intent to leave the Leaders Board to the Chair or the 

Secretary. At the end of these twelve months, but not before, the 

authority will be deemed to no longer be a member of the Leaders 

Board.  

4.9 Where an authority has previously terminated its membership of the 

Leaders Board it may rejoin the Leaders Board with immediate 

effect on the same terms as existed prior to its departure. 
 

5. Quorum  

5.1 The quorum shall be 5 members. No business will be transacted at 

a meeting unless a quorum exists at the beginning of a meeting. If 

at the beginning of any meeting, the Chair or Secretary after 

counting the members present declares that a quorum is not 

present, the meeting shall stand adjourned. 
 

6. Chair and Vice Chair 

6.1 The Chair of the Leaders Board will be the principal member of 

Staffordshire County Council (subject to para 6.2 below) 

6.2 The Leaders Board will vote annually at its first meeting after all the 

constituent authorities’ annual meetings as to whether the Chair 

should continue to be the principal member of the County Council or 

should be the principal member of one of the other constituent 

authorities. 

Page 190



                                                              

6.3 The position of Vice Chair shall be filled by the principal member of 

one of the other constituent authorities of the Leaders Board and 

this role will rotate annually between those other constituent 

authorities.  

6.4 The Chair or in their absence the Vice Chair or in their absence the 

member of the Leaders Board elected for this purpose, shall preside 

at any meeting of the Leaders Board. 

6.5 Appointments will be made in May of each year.  

6.6 Where, at any meeting or part of a meeting of the Leaders Board 

both the Chair and Vice Chair are either absent or unable to act as 

Chair or Vice Chair, the Leaders Board shall elect one of the 

members of the Leaders Board present at the meeting to preside for 

the balance of that meeting or part of the meeting, as appropriate. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the role of Chair and Vice Chair vests in 

the principal member concerned and in their absence the role of 

Chair or Vice Chair will not automatically fall to the relevant 

constituent authority’s substitute member. 
 

7. Voting  

7.1 One member, one vote for each constituent authority.  

7.2 All questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the 

members present, the Chair having the casting vote in addition to 

their vote as a member of the Committee. Voting at meetings shall 

be by show of hands.  

7.3 On the requisition of any two Members, made before the vote is 

taken, the voting on any matter shall be recorded by the Secretary 

so as to show how each Member voted and there shall also be 

recorded the name of any Member present who abstained from 

voting. 
 

8. Sub-Committees and Advisory Groups 

8.1 The Leaders Board may appoint sub-committees from its 

membership as required to enable it to execute its responsibilities 

effectively and may delegate tasks and powers to the sub-

committee as it sees fit. 

8.2 The Leaders Board may set up advisory groups as required to 

enable it to execute its responsibilities effectively and may delegate 

Page 191



                                                              

tasks as it sees fit to these bodies, which may be formed of officers 

or members of the constituent authorities or such third parties as 

the Leaders Board considers appropriate. 
 

9. Hosting and Administration 

9.1 The Leaders Board will at their first meeting decide which of the 

constituent authorities will be the host authority, and the Head of 

Democratic Services (or equivalent post) from that authority shall 

be Secretary to the Committee (“the Secretary”).  

9.2 The Leaders Board will at their first meeting decide which of the 

constituent authorities will provide the s151 Officer role  

9.3 The Leaders Board will at their first meeting decide which of the 

constituent authorities will provide the Monitoring Officer & Legal 

Adviser to the Leaders Board.  

9.4 The administrative costs of supporting the committee will be met 

equally by the constituent authorities, with each authority being 

responsible for receiving and paying any travel or subsistence 

claims from its own members. 

9.5 The functions of the Secretary shall be: 

a) to maintain a record of membership of the Leaders Board and 

any sub-committees or advisory groups appointed 

b) to publish and notify the proper officers of each constituent 

authority of any anticipated “key decisions” to be taken by the 

Leaders Board to enable the requirements as to formal notice of 

key decisions as given under the Local Authorities (Executive 

Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 

Regulations 2012 to be met; 

c) to carry out such notification to and consultation with members 

of any appointing constituent authority as may be necessary to 

enable the Leaders Board to take urgent “key decisions” in 

accordance with the requirements of the Local Authorities 

(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012; 

d) to summon meetings of the Leaders Board or any sub-

committees or advisory groups; 

Page 192



                                                              

e) to prepare and send out the agenda for meetings of the Leaders 

Board or any sub-committees or advisory groups; in consultation 

with the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Committee (or sub-

committee/ advisory group); 

f) to keep a record of the proceedings of the Leaders Board or any 

sub-committees or advisory groups, including those in 

attendance, declarations of interests, and to publish the minutes; 

g) to take such administrative action as may be necessary to give 

effect to decisions of the Leaders Board or any sub-committees 

or advisory groups; 

h) to perform such other functions as may be determined by the 

Leaders Board from time to time 
 

10. Meetings 

10.1 The Leaders Board will meet no less than quarterly and meetings 

will be aligned where necessary with deadlines for decisions on 

resources and investment plans. 

10.2 Meetings will be held at such times, dates and places as may be 

notified to the members of the Leaders Board by the Secretary, 

being such time, place and location as the Leaders Board shall from 

time to time resolve.  

10.3 Meeting papers will be circulated five clear working days in advance 

of any meeting. The Chair may choose to accept or reject urgent 

items that are tabled at any meeting. 

10.4 Additional ad hoc meetings may be called by the Secretary, in 

consultation, where practicable, with the Chair and Vice Chair of the 

Committee, in response to receipt of a request in writing, which 

request sets out an urgent item of business within the functions of 

the Leaders Board, addressed to the Secretary: 

(a) from and signed by two members of the Leaders Board, or 

(b) from the Chief Executive of any of the constituent authorities. 

10.5 The Secretary shall settle the agenda for any meeting of the 

Leaders Board after consulting, where practicable, the Chair or in 

their absence the Vice Chair; and shall incorporate in the agenda 

any items of business and any reports submitted by: 

Page 193



                                                              

(a) the Chief Executive of any of the constituent authorities; 

(b) the Chief Finance Officer to any of the constituent authorities; 

(c) the Monitoring Officer to any of the constituent authorities; or 

(d) any two Members of the Leaders Board. 

10.6 The Leaders Board shall, unless the person presiding at the meeting 

or the Leaders Board determines otherwise in respect of that 

meeting, conduct its business in accordance with the procedure 

rules set out in paragraph 13 below. 
 

11. Access to Information 

11.1 Meetings of the Leaders Board will be held in public except where 

confidential or exempt information, as defined in the Local 

Government Act 1972, is being discussed.  

11.2 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information 

contained elsewhere under the law.  

11.3 The Secretary will ensure that the relevant legislation relating to 

access to information is complied with. Each constituent authority is 

to co-operate with the Secretary in fulfilling any requirements.  

11.4 Any Freedom of Information or Subject Access Requests received by 

the Leaders Board should be directed to the relevant constituent 

authority(s) for that authority to deal with in the usual way, taking 

account of the relevant legislation. Where the request relates to 

information held by two or more constituent authorities, they will 

liaise with each other before replying to the request. 
 

12. Attendance at meetings 

12.1 The Chair may invite any person, whether a member or officer of 

one of the constituent authorities or a third party, to attend the 

meeting and speak on any matter before the Leaders Board. 

12.2 Third parties may be invited to attend the Leaders Board on a 

standing basis following a unanimous vote of those present and 

voting. 

12.3 Where agenda items require independent experts or speakers, the 

Officer or authority proposing the agenda item should indicate this 

to the Secretary and provide the Secretary with details of who is 

Page 194



                                                              

required to attend and in what capacity. The participation of 

independent experts or speakers in Leaders Board meetings will be 

subject to the discretion of the Chair. 
 

13. Procedure Rules 

13.1 Attendance 

13.1.1 At every meeting, it shall be the responsibility of each member 

to enter their name on an attendance record provided by the 

Secretary from which attendance at the meeting will be 

recorded.  

13.2 Order of Business 

13.2.1 Subject to paragraph 13.2.2, the order of business at each 

meeting of the Leaders Board will be: 

i. Apologies for absence 

ii. Declarations of interests 

iii. Approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the last 

meeting 

iv. Matters set out in the agenda for the meeting which will 

clearly indicate which are key decisions and which are not 

v. Matters on the agenda for the meeting which, in the opinion of 

the Secretary are likely to be considered in the absence of the 

press and public  

13.2.2 The person presiding at the meeting may vary the order of 

business at the meeting.  

13.3 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

13.3.1 If a Member is aware that he/she has a disclosable pecuniary 

interest in any matter to be considered at the meeting, the 

Member must withdraw from the room where the meeting 

considering the business is being held: 

(a) in the case where paragraph 13.3.2 below applies, 

immediately after making representations, answering questions 

or giving evidence; 

(b) in any other case, wherever it becomes apparent that the 

business is being considered at that meeting; 

Page 195



                                                              

(c) unless the Member has obtained a dispensation from their 

own authority’s Standards Committee or Monitoring Officer. Such 

dispensation to be notified to the Secretary prior to the 

commencement of the meeting.  

13.3.2 Where a member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any 

business of the Leaders Board, the Member may attend the 

meeting (or a sub–committee or advisory group of the 

committee) but only for the purpose of making representations, 

answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, 

provided that the public are also allowed to attend the meeting 

for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right or 

otherwise. 

13.4 Minutes 

13.4.1 There will be no discussion or motion made in respect of the 

minutes other than except as to their accuracy. If no such 

question is raised or if it is raised then as soon as it has been 

disposed of, the Chair shall sign the minutes.  

13.5 Rules of Debate 

13.5.1 A Member wishing to speak shall address the Chair and direct 

their comments to the question being discussed. The Chair shall 

decide the order in which to take representations from members 

wishing to speak and shall decide all questions of order. Their 

ruling upon all such questions or upon matters arising in debate 

shall be final and shall not be open to discussion.  

13.5.2 A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has 

been proposed and seconded. When a motion is under debate no 

other motion shall be moved except the following:  

i. To amend the motion 

ii. To adjourn the meeting 

iii. To adjourn the debate or consideration of the item 

iv. To proceed to the next business 

v. That the question now be put 

vi. That a member be not further heard or do leave the meeting 

vii. To exclude the press and public under Section 100A of the 

Local Government Act 1972  

Page 196



                                                              

13.6 Conduct of Members 

13.6.1 Members of the Leaders Board will be subject to their own 

authority’s Code of Conduct. 
 

14. Application to Sub-Committees 

14.1 The procedure rules and also the Access to Information provisions 

set out at paragraph 11 shall apply to meetings of any sub-

committees of the Leaders Board. 
 

15. Scrutiny of decisions 

15.1 Each constituent authority which operates executive arrangements 

will be able to scrutinise the decisions of the Leaders Board in 

accordance with that constituent authority’s overview and scrutiny 

arrangements. 
 

16. Winding up of the Leaders Board 

16.1 The Leaders Board may be wound up immediately by a unanimous 

vote of all constituent authorities.  
 

17. Amendment of this Constitution 

17.1 This Constitution can only be amended by resolution of each of the 

constituent authorities. 

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 February 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

The Queen’s Platinum Jubilee Grant Fund 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Sybil Ralphs MBE – Leader of the 
Council 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Linden Vernon – Head of Democratic 
Services 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
 

Appendices Attached – None 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 The report presents proposals for the Council to mark the Queen’s Platinum 

Jubilee. 
 
 
2. Recommendation 

 

2.1 That the Council establishes a Queen’s Platinum Jubilee grant fund of 
£20,000. Grants will be available to parish and town councils in the 
Staffordshire Moorlands based on the size of the council (as detailed in the 

report). 
 

2.2 That the Council uses a range of tools to promote the occasion including the 
use of the Council website and social media channels. 

 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 In 2022, Her Majesty The Queen will become the first British Monarch to 

celebrate a Platinum Jubilee. To mark The Queen’s historic 70-year reign, 

2022 will see Platinum Jubilee celebrations throughout the UK and the 
Commonwealth as part of a year-long programme of events. 

 
3.2 As part of the activities put forward to mark the jubilee, the Government has 

moved the late May bank Holiday and added an additional bank holiday to 

create an extended bank holiday weekend to celebrate this historic milestone 
from Thursday 2nd to Sunday 5th June 2022. 

Page 199

Agenda Item 8.5



  

3.3 It is proposed that the Council establishes a Queen’s Platinum Jubilee grant 
fund of £20,000 to assist communities to hold their own events and activities. 
Funds will be available to every parish/town council in the Staffordshire 

Moorlands.  It is also proposed that the Council uses a range of tools to 
promote the anniversary and involvement by communities. 

 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 Effective relationship with strategic partners. 

 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1  That the Council creates a £20,000 Queen’s Platinum Jubilee grant fund as 

proposed in this report. (Recommended)  
 
5.2 That the Council creates a fund of a different amount and/or creates a different 

mechanism for allocating the grant. (Not recommended) 
 

5.3 That the Council does not create a Queen’s Platinum Jubilee grant fund. (Not 
recommended) 

 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

No direct implications. 
 

6.2 Workforce 

 
No direct implications. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity 

 

Commemorative events are an opportunity to bring together all 
sections of our community. The Council’s guidelines for the 

Platinum Jubilee grant should encourage grant recipients to think 
about how they can make their activities and events as inclusive as 
possible. 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 
An earmarked reserve will be established as part of the accounts 
process to fund this project. 

 
6.5 Legal 

 
No direct implications. 
 

Page 200



  

6.6 Climate Change 
 
No direct implications. 

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

 
The grant fund will be publicised to town and parish councils. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

No significant risks have been identified. Responsibility for events 
and activities will rest with grant recipients. 

 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (Governance and Commissioning) and Monitoring Officer 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

platinumjubilee.gov.uk Linden Vernon 
Head of Democratic Services 
linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 

 
7. Detail 

 

7.1 In 2022, Her Majesty The Queen will become the first British Monarch to 

celebrate a Platinum Jubilee. To mark The Queen’s historic 70-year reign, 
2022 will see Platinum Jubilee celebrations throughout the UK and the 
Commonwealth as part of a year-long programme of events. 

 
7.2 In order to celebrate this significant anniversary the Government has: 

 

 Moved the late May Bank Holiday and an additional bank holiday to 
create an extended bank holiday weekend from Thursday 2nd to Sunday 

5th June so the public can take part in the nationwide celebrations to 
mark this historic milestone.   

 Set out arrangements for supporting street parties and ‘the big jubilee 
lunch’ and other activities. 

 There will also be more than £22 million of National Lottery Funding 
available to support activities. 

 
Funding Arrangements 

 

7.3 In Staffordshire Moorlands it is proposed to establish a Queen’s Platinum 
Jubilee grant fund of £20,000 to assist communities to hold their own events 
and activities. Funds will be available to every parish/town council in the 

district. 
 

7.4 A grant of £1,000 will be available for each of the three Town Councils with the 
balance of funds divided equally between the remaining parishes (£425 each).  

 

Page 201

https://platinumjubilee.gov.uk/


  

7.5 It is proposed that town/parish councils be advised of the funds available to 
them for which an application form will be available for completion by 
town/parish clerks.  

 
7.6 Parishes may wish to make a joint application or the fund could be available to 

community groups where the town/parish council gives its support to the 
application.  Applications would be assessed for final approval by the Portfolio 
Holder and must meet required criteria. The grant criteria will be that the grant 

must be used to hold an event or activity directly related to Queen’s Platinum 
Jubilee or for preparations leading up to an event on these days. 

 
7.7 Councillors may also wish to encourage community groups to apply for grants 

via the Councillors’ Community Initiative Fund to undertake commemorative 

projects. 
 
 Promoting Community Involvement 

 
7.8 It is proposed that the Council uses a range of tools to promote the 

anniversary and involvement by communities by: 
 

 Promoting the fund to parish/town councils. 
 

 Creating a dedicated page on the Council’s website which will help to 

publicise the events taking place and signpost to other organisations. 
 

 Issuing media releases and posts on social media channels. 
 

Page 202



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 February 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Appendices Attached: 
Appendix A – Access to Services Strategy  
Appendix B – Digital Strategy 

Appendix C – Organisational Development Strategy 
 
1. Reason for the Report  

 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to consider new Access to Services, Digital and 

Organisational Development Strategies   
 
 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
 

 Approve the Access to Services Strategy as attached at Appendix A 

 Approve the Digital Strategy as attached at Appendix B 

 Approve the Organisational Development Strategy as attached at 

Appendix C 

 Consider a combined action plan for delivery of the strategies at its April 

meeting 

 Delegate the consideration and approval of arrangements for external 

expertise to support the delivery of the strategies to the Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Customer Services following the completion of the 
procurement exercise as outlined in section 12 of the report.    

 
 

3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Local authorities are currently experiencing a time of unprecedented change. 

We now live in a fast paced, digitally reliant, 24/7 society which has changed 
the way in which our residents live and work and how and when they want 

TITLE: Access to Services, Digital and 

Organisational Development Strategies 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDERS Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader 
 Cllr Tony Hall – Portfolio Holder for Customer 

Services 
  

CONTACT OFFICERS: Andrew Stokes – Chief Executive 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 203

Agenda Item 8.6



and need to access our services and support. The experience of the current 
pandemic also has changed the way people work, accelerating moves 

towards flexibility, responsiveness and agile / remote working. 
 

3.2 In order to respond to the new challenges, the Council and its strategic 
alliance partner High Peak BC need to continue their transformation, exploring 
new ways to make services more intelligent and more relevant to the lives of 

the people who rely on them.  
 

3.3 In order to recognise this, the following new strategies have been developed 
and are presented to members for consideration and approval: 
 

 Access to Services Strategy – attached at Appendix A and summarised in 
section 8 of the report; 

 Digital Strategy – attached at Appendix B and summarised in section 9 of 
the report; and  

 Organisational Development Strategy – attached at Appendix and 
summarised in section 10 of the report. 

 

3.4 These strategies have been in development for some time. The emerging 
strategies for Access to Services and Organisational Development were 

shared with members in late 2020 via Information Digests.  
 
3.5 Each of the strategies contains an outline action plan. A number of the actions 

overlap and it is therefore proposed that, following their approval, a combined 
action plan will be developed which will establish timescales and milestones 

for the delivery of the strategy ambitions and objectives. This will be presented 
for consideration and approval in April. 

 

3.6 It is recognised that additional external expertise and support will be required 
to support the delivery of the strategies. Following the approval of the 

strategies a procurement process will be undertaken to appoint external 
Digital/ ICT and OD / HR advisors.        

 

 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The implementation of the strategies will support the development of the 
strategic alliance to ensure that the Councils are more focussed on the 

delivery of their Corporate Plan objectives and priorities  
 

 
5.       Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 There are no options to consider at this stage 
 

 
  

Page 204



6.  Implications 

 

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
None 

 
6.2 Workforce 

The Councils’ workforce have been consulted, via their staff representatives, 

throughout the development of the Organisational Development Strategy. A 
series of further consultation will be conducted following the approval of the 

strategy and detailed action plan. Many of the specific initiatives / actions will 
require more specific consultation with affected staff prior to implementation.  
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
An Equality Impact Assessment is not required at this stage. There is a 

commitment in each of strategies to ensure that there is no disproportionate 
impact on any groups with protective characteristics. 
 

Equality of access to services and digital inclusion are key principles that will 
underpin the development of services  

 
A number of the detailed actions / initiatives will require detailed equality 
impact assessments prior to implementations  

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

The implementation of the strategies will require significant financial 
investment. The implementation will be financed from existing budgetary 
provisions including the £400,000 of earmarked reserves that the two 

Councils have set aside for this purpose 
 

6.5 Legal 
None 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
A key driver for the changes contained within the strategies is to support the 

Councils delivering their Climate Change objectives  
 

6.7 

 
 

 
 

Consultation 

The Access to Services strategy has been developed in line with the large 
scale customer satisfaction survey that was conducted in late 2019. The 

implementation of the strategies will require significant ongoing consultation 
with residents, businesses and other stakeholders  
 

6.8 
 

 
 
 

Risk Analysis 
The full risk analysis will be undertaken during the development of the 

detailed action plan. Individual projects will be managed using the Councils’ 
project management framework   

 
  

Page 205



ANDREW P STOKES 
Chief Executive 

 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

Access to Services Strategy – 

Information Digest Report – October 
2020 
 

Development of an Organisational 
Development Strategy – Information 
Digest – July 2020   

Buxton Town Hall Andrew P Stokes 

Chief Executive 
 

Page 206



7 Introduction and Background 

 

7.1 Local authorities are currently experiencing a time of unprecedented change. 
The environment in which councils operate continues to evolve with: 

 

 Changing societal behaviours;  

 Resident needs;  

 Customer expectations; and  

 Technological advances.   

 
7.2 We now live in a fast paced, digitally reliant, 24/7 society which has changed 

the way in which our residents live and work and how and when they want 
and need to access our services and support. The experience of the current 
pandemic also has changed the way people work, accelerating moves 

towards flexibility, responsiveness and agile / remote working. 
 

7.3 Since the formation of the strategic alliance, the Council with its partner High 
Peak BC has undertaken a significant transformation of its services. This 
involved a structured programme of service reviews to ensure that the 

Councils are responsive to customer needs and expectations and services are 
high in quality, but at the same time are provided cross-alliance to realise a 

significant amount of financial savings.   
 

7.4 In order to respond to the new challenges, the Councils need to continue their 
transformation, exploring new ways to make services more intelligent and 

more relevant to the lives of the people who rely on them. In order to 
recognise this, the Councils have developed new Access to Services, Digital 

and Organisational Development strategies to drive the new agenda forward 
over the next three years. 

 

7.5 The purpose of this report is to present these new strategies for consideration 
and approval. 

 
 
8 Access to Services Strategy 

 
8.1 The Access to Services Strategy, which is attached at Appendix A, builds on 

the Channel Access Strategy which was implemented by the Councils in 2016 
which continued the journey of improving the customer experience and 
utilising technology to make things better and easier for all.   

 
8.2 The aim of this Strategy remains consistent to the previous approach which is 

to achieve the objectives set out in the Councils’ Corporate Plans to: 
 

‘Ensure our services are readily (HP) /easily (SM) available to residents In the 

appropriate channels and provided ‘right first time’  
 

8.3 The Strategy does however reflect the significant acceleration in customer 
demands that has been brought about by the pandemic.  

 

Page 207



8.4 The emerging Strategy was shared with councillors in an Information Digest 
report in October 2020.    

 
http://stal-

modgov/documents/s24971/SMDC%20Access%20to%20Services%20Inform
ation%20Digest.pdf 

 

8.5 In order to meet the overall aim of the Strategy, a range of actions have been 
developed by following the process of: 

 

 Understanding the requirements of the customer and service areas; 

 Developing access channels and appropriate skills and resources to meet 

customer needs; and 

 Delivering continuous improvement of the customer experience 

 
8.6 The Strategy will focus on 4 key themes: 

 

 Access 

 Customer focus  

 Innovation and technology 

 Service process reviews 

 
8.7 The Strategy contains an action plan which includes the following key actions:   

 

 A programme of service process reviews that remap the customer journey 

to ensure that services are provided ‘right first time’ and avoidable contact 
is reduced 

 Development of an approach that recognises the need for equality of 

access to services and digital inclusion 

 A refreshed process to ensure that Councils have a clear view of customer 

expectations  

 Further development of the culture of the organisation to embed high 

levels of customer service across all services provided by the Councils 

 Further development of the technology to support integrated service 
delivery 

 
 
9 Digital Strategy  

 
9.1 Digital, data and technology change has continued to accelerate which 

creates more potential to connect and collaborate with others; opportunities to 
learn and apply new skills; the potential to solve problems based on 

understanding the available data; and importantly for the Councils the 
potential to have a positive impact to people’s lives. 

 
9.2 The Digital Strategy which is attached at Appendix B, seeks to exploit the 

technology to ensure that the Councils:   

 

 Can place people at the heart of their own use of council services 

Page 208

http://stal-modgov/documents/s24971/SMDC%20Access%20to%20Services%20Information%20Digest.pdf
http://stal-modgov/documents/s24971/SMDC%20Access%20to%20Services%20Information%20Digest.pdf
http://stal-modgov/documents/s24971/SMDC%20Access%20to%20Services%20Information%20Digest.pdf


 Take the opportunity to mainstream the co-design of services 

 Use technology to embed service improvement 

 Effectively use data to analyse impact and insight 

 Exploit the opportunity to prototype, learn and scale 

 
9.3 The Councils have a complex ICT infrastructure which features some 60 

applications which support service delivery across the wide range of services 
that are provided to residents and businesses.  

 
9.4 The Councils are aware that at present applications are managed and 

procured by the Councils and then their development is often driven by 

suppliers.  At the root of this is a lack of internal strategic ICT capacity and 
active contract management, meaning that solutions are looked at on a 
piecemeal basis rather than a joined-up view to determine opportunities 

across all solutions. 
 

9.5 The convergence of contract end dates for a number of systems provides a 
unique opportunity for the Councils to create a whole-organisation approach 
to define current and future business requirements to ensure fitness for the 

future, and to exploit a smaller number of core systems overall.   
 

9.6 Many of the Councils’ systems include basic forms, workflow and case 
management type capabilities that are replicable in other ways. At present 
customer data is held in multiple systems which hampers the clear view of 

demand and is a barrier to offering a seamless online service to residents 
across service areas. A whole-organisation approach provides an opportunity 

to consider the overall architecture that would enable single view.   
 
9.7 As a starting point for the development of the Digital Strategy, it was important 

to gain insight into the extent to which the Councils and their ICT is digitally 
mature. In order to provide this insight, the Councils engaged SOCITM to 

conduct a Digital Maturity Assessment.  This has examined in detail where 
best practice measures have been adopted and what degree of commitment 
has been invested in digital services. The assessment also provided strategic 

recommendations which have been fed into the strategy development. 
 

9.8 The vision of the Digital Strategy is: 

 
‘We will authentically deliver services that improve the lives of all our residents 
and businesses; through better design, use of data and innovation, and 

community collaboration’ 
 

9.9 In order to focus strategic energy and oversight, this vision will be delivered 
via four key pillars: 

 

• Digital Services - Simple, proactive, effective and secure public services 
that are designed and delivered in partnership with our communities 

• Digital Skills and Inclusion - Giving our communities the skills, tools, 
access and confidence to engage digitally with us, whilst improving our 

non-digital experiences to match digital experiences 

Page 209



• Digital Collaboration and Connectivity - Maximising the opportunities for 

digital, data and technology to enhance collaborative working, the local 
economy, individual opportunity and our residents quality of life 

• Data and Intelligence - Optimised data and intelligence is central to the 

way we configure, reconfigure, deliver and continuously improve our 
services 

 
9.10 The Strategy contains an action plan which includes the following key actions: 

 

 Instigate a Digital Board including external partners 

 Implement a series of service reviews which focus on the design of 
services in line with future customer journeys, enabling continuous 
improvements for our customers 

 Provide employees with the tools, technology and applications to facilitate 
the use of agile and flexible working 

 Conduct a digital skills audit and identify and implement professional 
digital, data and technology skills and capabilities for staff 

 Ensure that staff have access to the data and systems that make a 
difference to customers 

 Support seamless integration and interactions between internal 

applications and systems alongside wider integrations with our partners 
and create an organisation-wide approach to ICT application infrastructure  

 Alongside county council colleagues, support and grow the application of 
wireless technologies 

 Map data, conducting a data maturity assessment 

 Create a basic data management framework, underpinning the effective 

use of data and intelligence to drive delivery across all service areas 

 Continue to work towards the creation of a single view of customers 

 Work with our partner organisations to share and combine data, where 

appropriate 
 

 
10 Organisational Development Strategy  

 

10.1 During the COVID pandemic, the Councils have not only continued to deliver 
services effectively, but also have in innovative and in ever changing ways. It 

is therefore now important to continue to create a truly agile and adaptable 
workforce that is no longer confined to a fixed location to help make the best 
use of valuable assets and resources.  

 
10.2 The changes to the way in which our residents live, and work and how and 

when they want and need to access our services and support, is a key driver 
for the Councils to further transform they way in which services are structured 
and delivered. It is essential to ensure that the workforce that is engaged, 

adaptable, flexible and has both the skills and mindset to meet these changing 
needs and demands and ensure that the Councils continue to deliver high 

quality, modern and effective services 
 

Page 210



10.3 In addition to meeting the changing demands for services there are a number 
of other key drivers for developing the strategic alliance:  

 

 The Councils’ responses to the Climate Emergency and the recently 

adopted Climate Change Action Plans highlight the need for climate 
change to be an embedded part of the ‘day job’; 

 The recently approved new management structures need to be embedded 

and developed to provide for ambitious leadership and management 
across the strategic alliance; 

 The Councils have the ambition to ensure the strategic alliance provides a 
great place to work which will facilitate the retention of talent and provide 

the means for staff to consider their own health and wellbeing; 

 In common with lots of organisations, the Councils have an older 
workforce and issues such as flexible retirement, succession planning and 

flexible working opportunities have an increasing importance in order that 
that knowledge and expertise is not lost; 

 The ambition to further develop the Councils’ approach to apprenticeships 
and graduate recruitment; 

 In the light of the expected post pandemic economic shocks it remains a 
possibility that further budget reductions may impact on employees unless 
productivity can be increased by leveraging the full potential of the 

workforce allied to the maximum potential for technological advance. 
 

10.4 The Strategy also includes the suggested development of governance and 
scrutiny that was recommended in the recent reviews conducted at both 
Councils by the Centre for Governance Scrutiny (CfGS).  

 
10.5 The emerging Strategy was shared with councillors in an Information Digest 

report in August 2020.    
 

http://stal-modgov/documents/s24965/SMDC%20-

%20Information%20Digest%20-
%20Development%20of%20OD%20Strategy%2031-07-20.pdf  

 
10.6 The Organisational Development Strategy, which is attached at Appendix C, 

sets out a clear plan of approach to organisational development, building on 

the already excellent work and good practice already in place. Alongside the 
Digital Strategy and the Access to Services Strategy, this strategy lays out 

how, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, will create the capacity to 
transform services for the benefit of residents, businesses and visitors.  

 

10.7 This vision of the Strategy is to: 
 

‘Ensure that the Councils’ aims, objectives and priorities are met through the 
recruitment, development of a well led highly skilled and motivated workforce, 
and effective service commissioning arrangements, that reflect local context 

and provide excellent services to customers in a responsive way’ 
 

10.8 There are four Aims that underpin the Vision: 
 

Page 211

http://stal-modgov/documents/s24965/SMDC%20-%20Information%20Digest%20-%20Development%20of%20OD%20Strategy%2031-07-20.pdf
http://stal-modgov/documents/s24965/SMDC%20-%20Information%20Digest%20-%20Development%20of%20OD%20Strategy%2031-07-20.pdf
http://stal-modgov/documents/s24965/SMDC%20-%20Information%20Digest%20-%20Development%20of%20OD%20Strategy%2031-07-20.pdf


 Building strong leadership and management 

 Sustaining and improving a skilled, flexible and motivated workforce  

 Improving customer focus 

 Driving transformational change, innovation and improving value for 

money 
 

10.9 The Strategy contains an action plan which includes the following key actions: 
 

 Review and further develop governance / scrutiny and councillor 
development arrangements 

 Implement new leadership and management development programmes 

 Conduct a skills gap assessment in order to strengthen the structure of 
training plans that link into corporate priorities 

 Refresh the staff appraisal scheme and develop and agree an employee 
charter  

 Develop an enhanced approach to apprenticeship and graduate 
recruitment 

 Implement an approach to talent management and development  

 Implement agile working – including remote / home working 

 Complete a review of HR policy and procedures and pay and conditions 

including resolution of the incremental progression issue     

 Embed climate change into workplace practices  

 Conduct a programme of service reviews focused on improved productivity 
through smarter working  

 Implement initiatives to further encourage innovation 

 Develop capacity to support the delivery of the Council’s wider 

transformation programme  
 
 
11 Developing the Detailed Action Plans  

 

11.1 As highlighted in the report, the three strategies are interrelated i.e. all 
focussed on responding to the common challenges faced by the Councils that 
have been identified and considered. 

 
11.2 Each of the strategies has an Action Plan which outlines the projects / 

initiatives that will be undertaken of the next three years to ensure that the 
vision and aims of each are delivered. 

 

11.3 Many of the actions overlap including: 
 

 Skills gap assessments that are comprehensive but importantly include 
digital and customer service skills  

 Service reviews that ensure that services are mapped to customer 

journeys from service request to service delivery and effectively use 
technology to enhance both productivity and customer satisfaction; 

 Developing and implementing a robust approach to digital inclusion; 

Page 212



 Effective data management that supports the single view of the customer 
and effective collaboration between the Councils’ services and those 

provided by partners; 

 The whole organisation approach to ICT application management to join 

up service response and remove avoidable contact from customers 
 

11.4 Recognising this overlap, following approval of the strategies, the first task will 
be the development of a detailed single Action Plan which will set out the 
timelines, actions and milestones for the delivery of the strategies over the 

next three years. There will be a consolidated approach to the actions outlined 
in 11.3 above. 

 
11.5 The detail Action Plan will be presented to members for consideration and 

approval in April 2022.    

 
 
12 Delivering the Strategies 

 
12.1 The Councils have used specialist external support to develop the strategies: 

 

 The Access to Services Strategy has been developed with the support of 

the Institute of Customer Services (ICS) to which the Councils have on 
ongoing subscription. The strategy development has been informed by 
comprehensive customer satisfaction surveys which form part of The 

Councils’ ICS membership; 

 External specialists have supported the development of the Digital 

Strategy – their support has been essential in providing the technical 
review of the Councils’ systems architecture. The same advisors also 
provided the independent Digital Maturity Assessment which has 

facilitated the development of the strategic objectives and outline Action 
Plan; and    

 An external specialist OD / HR consultancy was commissioned by the 
Councils to assist with the development of the Organisational 

Development Strategy – their support has included an independent review 
of our current OD / HR practices which identified areas for development; 
supporting the development of the outline Action Plan; and the 

development of the leadership and management development 
programmes.      

 
12.2 Through our subscription the ICS will continue to support the implementation 

of the Access to Services Strategy by providing a blend of insight and 

knowledge, tools, training and practical solutions that will raise customer 
service performance levels to meet customer needs. They also provide the 

opportunity for the Councils to gain a national standard accreditation, 
Servicemark, which is an independent accreditation of commitment to and 
achievement in customer service. 

  
12.3 The Councils have already recognised that the delivering the Digital and 

Organisational Development strategies will require additional resources. The 

Page 213



Councils therefore have both made a provision of £200,000 in an earmarked 
reserve to support the implementation of the action plans.  

 
12.4 The demand for specialist support to implement the actions set out in the 

Digital and Organisational Development strategies is as follows:  
 

 Specialist external support will be required to provide resources with the 

capability to deliver core foundational elements of the Digital Strategy 
action plan. This work includes the prioritisation of foundational tasks and 

the identifying the resources required. The Councils’ approach is that there 
will be knowledge transfer to the internal team and internal capacity would 
then pick up and manage the ongoing implementation. There will however 

be the need for a small amount of external strategic capacity support in the 
longer term to continue to support the internal team as it picks up 

responsibility for delivery. This support will be specialist in nature to cover 
issues such system architecture and will be procured in a resilient and 
value for money way. 

 External support will be required to support the implementation of the 
Organisational Development Strategy. The short term requirements for this 

will be to assist with the creation and initiation of the new HR and OD 
model for the Alliance and to continue to implement the leadership and 

management development programmes. In the longer term the Councils 
will require a specialist to act as a strategic adviser to enhance the 
processes for supporting actions such as talent development and the 

ongoing implementation of the service reviews.  
  

12.5 The procurement of the ongoing external support as set out in 12.4 will be 
initiated in line with the Councils’ Procurement Procedure Rules with the 
following approach: 

 

 The relationships with the external providers will be for a 3 year period in 

line with the strategy action plans;  

 The support requirements will be greater in the short term but will be 
reduced as skills transfer to the Councils; and 

 The contract relationships will be on a call off    
 

12.6 It is recommended that the arrangements are considered and approved 
through a Delegated Decision once the procurement process is completed.   

Page 214



 
 

 
 Page 1 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 

 

 

High Peak Borough Council & 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 

Access To Services Strategy 
2022 
  

Page 215



 
 

 
 Page 2 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

Introduction 
 
For a number of years High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council have been making it easier for our customers to get in touch with us . 
 
Traditionally the focus of the Councils has been to show how services will be provided to 
local residents. The stress is now placed on the importance of the Councils opening up to 
customers and allowing them to engage with services in ways that suit their needs and 
requirements  
 
Rather than ‘doing things’ for people we have invested in ways to give people the means, 
information and support to do things for themselves. 
 
We also recognise that not everyone will choose or have the facility to access digital services 
and we have a team of staff available to help people when needed. 
 
We want our customers to feel valued by their Council, trust us and have excellent customer 

experiences in their dealings with us whatever channel  they choose.  
 

 

Aim of the Strategy  
 

The aim of this Strategy, as set out in the Councils ’ current 4-year Corporate Plans is to: 
 

‘Ensure our services are readily (HP) /easily (SM) available to residents In the appropriate 

channels and provided ‘right first time’  
 

The strategy builds on the Channel Access Strategy (2016) outlining how we will provide 
access to our services to keep improving the customer experience and utilise technology to 
make things better and easier for all.  The Access to Services Strategy also has strong links to 
the Councils Digital Strategy and Organisational Development Strategy 
 
In order to meet the overall aim, a range of actions will be proposed following the process 
of: 
 

Understand the requirements of the customer and service areas  

Develop 
access channels and appropriate skills and resources to meet customer 

needs 

Deliver   continually improve the customer experience 

 

 

Customer Access Strategy – the journey so far 
 

Page 216



 
 

 
 Page 3 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

In January 2016 the Councils developed the’ Customer Access Strategy’ to reshape the way 
in which customers access services, to meet ever changing customer demand, deliver 

efficiencies and improve processes to fit the digital age. Offering digital channels where this 
is preferred by, and acceptable to, customers enabling business to be carried out at a time 
and a place of their choosing 

 
The strategy covered all core access channels such as telephone, face to face, online and 

focussed on 2 key areas: 
 

Channel improvements – Maximising the efficiency of all channels through user-centred 
design to ensure that both customer and business needs are considered 

 
Process improvements – Delivering business processes for the digital age, supported by 

appropriate, proactive marketing and engagement with staff and customers. 
 

The customer access strategy has been successful in implementing / launching the following 
campaigns and training programmes  
 

Citizens Portal A Citizens Portal was launched, allowing customers to self-serve, view their account 

balances and a history of certain transactions with the council, report problems and 
request services through one secure authenticated channel. 
 

ICan (Do it online) 
campaign 

In March 2017, the ‘ICan’ (do it online) campaign was launched, improving services and 
reducing costs. The priority being to place the customer first and provide a single view 

of customer transactions. 
 
Staff, citizens and other stakeholders were engaged to roll  out the ICan campaign and 
the Communications team arranged press releases through media and local radio,  

postcards were included with all  council tax bills, posters displayed at l ibraries, parish 
and town councils  as well as posts on the Council’s social media pages . Self -serve PCs 
and tablets were installed in all  reception areas. 
 

There are now around 400 forms available online for customers to ‘Pay, Apply and 
Report’  
 

Implementation of the customer service vision and the ICan campaign realised savings 
of £300,000 (cross Alliance) from staff reductions and savings on post and print. 
 

Staff Training: 
 

Customer Service 
Excellence Programme  
 
Handling Challenging 

Situations 

In July 2018 all  staff across the Alliance engaged in the first part of the Customer Service 
Excellence Programme ‘I Can Make a Difference’ – with the aim to ‘Establish a culture 

to deliver excellence across the Alliance ‘ 
 
The programme was focused on key behaviours, closely l inked to corporate values and 
a reminder that good customer service also helps support with working more efficiently 

and reduces unnecessary repeat calls and avoidable contact. It was launched as not just 
a training programme, but a culture change programme aimed at all  staff at all  levels.  
‘Train the trainer’ sessions were also held and now internal staff deliver this training as 

part of the corporate induction plan. 
 
It was recognised that front l ine staff have to deal  with many challenging situations via 
all  channels. To assist with handling such situations and as part of the Customer Service 

Excellence programme, the Customer Services team plus front l ine staff in Benefits, 

Page 217



 
 

 
 Page 4 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 
In 2017 we created our customer service vision and this continues to drive forward our 
customer service function 

 

 
 
 

There has been significant progress made as part of the Channel Access Strategy with a 
reduction and switch in methods of contact , improving services and reducing costs . The 
table below demonstrates the switch in contact methods 2016/17 to 2019/20. 

 
 

One Team 

Online & 
Frontline 

Right First 
Time 

Flexible & 
Multiskilled 

Alliance Wide 

Digital & 
Paperless 

Council Tax and Housing attended  ‘Handling Challenging Situations’ workshops 
focussing on effective communication. 
 

Bereavement Support Following feedback from customers and (at times) delays in processing, it was 
recognised that improvements were required to the way in which bereavement 

enquiries were handled and prioritised.  
 
The customer service team worked with frontline services and reviewed processes, 

webpages and documentation relating to bereavement. Workshops were delivered by 
Cruse (a national charity who provide bereavement support services).  The training 
supported staff in  understanding how to communicate effectively and compassionately 
with bereaved people and develop confidence when talking / making contact about 

difficult and sensitive topics. 
 

Contact stream 2016/17 2019/20 Difference Trend 2020/21 

 

 

 
190,200 

 
106,424 

 
-45% 

  
110,962 

 

 

 

96,956 
 

 

58,654 

 

-40% 

  

0  

Page 218

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRxqFQoTCJ6zytrqxsgCFYJWFAodIHsOrw&url=http://www.clipartbest.com/mobile-phone-symbol-png&bvm=bv.105039540,d.d24&psig=AFQjCNFORKH8sFWfhfyfMYDbG1zsejuoLg&ust=1445079463712013
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRxqFQoTCM-kpqjsxsgCFUWyFAod0ZgK6Q&url=https://www.etsy.com/listing/30594176/custom-wedding-silhouette&bvm=bv.105039540,d.d24&psig=AFQjCNFIi0rgNZiP8cxbrHAjk-xYks6lyQ&ust=1445079893081615


 
 

 
 Page 5 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 

 
 
 
During 2020/21 the COVID-19 pandemic impacted on the volumes of  overall contacts and 

the contact stream. 
 

Our receptions remained closed and in some service areas customer activity came to a halt 
for a period of time, for example moving house , council tax recovery. In other service areas 

additional activity took place for example business grants , these are all  reflected in the 
volumes of contact. 

 
Our call centre remained open with advisors available to assist those who cannot access 
services online.  
 
Customer satisfaction increased with a reduction in the number of complaints and an 
increase in the number of compliments  
 

Feedback  2019/20 2020/21 
Complaints 183 138 

Compliments  184 224 
 
 

  

 

 

 
30,539 

 
130,476 

 
+327% 

 

  
115,782 

Page 219



 
 

 
 Page 6 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 

Our Customers  
 
In order to ensure our services are accessible, with information readily available to those 
that require to access them, we need to understand who our ‘customers’ are: 

 
 HPBC 

 

SMDC 

 
Households 42,441 44,263 

Residents 91,662 97,106 
Businesses 4,040 4,180 

Elected Councillors 43 56 
Staff 329 Staff across both authorities 

Visitors 6.1 million visitor days 8.8 million visitor days 
Suppliers 460 350 

Partners including community and voluntary groups across both councils  

 
Different customers transact and deal with the Council in varying amounts depending on 

circumstances and need.  It is important that however often, all customers receive a good 
experience.  

 
Consultation and Engagement  

 
Central to understanding the needs of the customers are the views and experiences of the 

customer.  It is vital therefore that engagement with the customer is embedded in the 
design of access to services.  This engagement can take a variety of forms for example, 

surveys, focus groups, customer feedback formally or comments made to staff.  This 
approach ensures all customer groups are included in the process, especially hard to reach 
groups such as those considered to be digitally excluded. 
 
The Council areas are made up of a variety of different communities with differing social 
economic and geographical characters. Each Council has well developed partnerships across 
the public voluntary sector and it is vital that we engage with our partners to understand 
the varying needs and how we can effectively work together.  We are already part of project 
groups/teams working together to support the local communities and provide residents 
with the appropriate access and support to services . 
 
Customer Satisfaction Surveys form part of our Institute of Customer Services (ICS) 
membership, the surveys are benchmarked externally across Public and Private sectors and 
results scored across 5 customer priorities: 
 

 

 
 

Page 220



 
 

 
 Page 7 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 

 
Results identify areas of strength and validate actions and priorities of service strategy to 
support our customer service culture. 
 
Results from the survey carried out in January 2020, demonstrated that customers are most 
satisfied with competence of staff and helpfulness of staff, whereas an area for 
development is speed of resolving an issue. 
 
The ICS will support us and recommend a relevant blend of insight and knowledge, tools, 
training and practical solutions that will raise our customer service performance levels to 
meet customer needs. They also provide the opportunity to gain a national standard 
accreditation, Servicemark, which is an independent accreditation of commitment to and 
achievement in customer service  

 
 

Current Access Channels 
 
The table below illustrates some national and local statistics in regard to customer access  

and accessibility: 

      
  

Page 221



 
 

 
 Page 8 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

                                                                                

 

Average Number of 
calls handled each 

month 8,000 (across 
both Authorities)  

Average number of 
visitors to websites 

each month 
Average 95,000 

sessions (at each 
authority) 

 

44 % of contact 
received via 
telephone 

 

 

Devices used 
Mobile    52% 
Desktop 38% 
Tablet      8% 

 

Average number of 

online transactions 
per month 10,000 

(across both 
authorities )  

68,000 One Vue 

customer portal 
account holders 

 

56 % of contacts via 
online forms 

 

84% of UK adults own 
a smartphone 

 
 
 
The rise in digital accessibility has been significant.  Not only do people expect to be able to 
access services online, according to the Office for National Statistics , 8 out of 10 people are 
accessing the internet on mobile devices. Therefore there is a big expectation for those 
online services to be available and easy to use on mobile devices . 

 
The table below illustrates the high volume services in terms of contact and transactions: 
  

Online Forms by Service Area  

Council Tax Housing (HPBC) Health and Waste Benefits Planning Elections Other

Page 222

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRxqFQoTCJ6zytrqxsgCFYJWFAodIHsOrw&url=http://www.clipartbest.com/mobile-phone-symbol-png&bvm=bv.105039540,d.d24&psig=AFQjCNFORKH8sFWfhfyfMYDbG1zsejuoLg&ust=1445079463712013


 
 

 
 Page 9 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 
Services Monthly Average 

Number of Contact 
by phone  

Monthly Average 

Number of Contact 
online  

Council Tax and Business Rates  2,600 4,000 

Housing and Housing Repair (HPBC) 1,400 1,550 
Environmental Health and Waste  1,200 2,300 

Benefits  850 650 
Planning 750 400 

Elections  400   70 

Other general enquiries/switchboard calls  800 1,030 

 
The estimated cost of each method of contact are shown below, which demonstrates the 

efficiencies that can be made by ensuring digital services  are available and easily accessible. 
 
 

Costs per transaction (SOCITM 2012) 
 
 

 

 

Website and Customer Portal 
 
Our citizens portal has the provision of answers to frequently asked questions, functions to 
submit forms and track service requests, it provides seamless end to end transactions for 
staff and customers and requires minimal involvement from council officers for each 
request. 
 
With quick hit information points available online, and the reduction in contact, staff have 
time freed up to focus on the more vulnerable customers or to work on more complex 

enquiries 
 

 

 

Online 

0.15p 

Phone £2.83 

In Person   £8.62 

Page 223



 
 

 
 Page 10 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

It has also led to a decrease in the resource required to work on paper based forms  and the 
Councils continue to become paperless in as many service areas as possible. Not only does 
this reduce the amount of paper used, it also creates cost and time efficiencies as staff and 
customers no longer need to process and post forms. 
 
It is recognised that there are further improvements that can be made, particularly as 
technology develops and the ability to transact digitally is enhanced. The current contract 

with the customer portal provider is due for renewal February 2022, where we have an 
option to extend for further 12 months.  Therefore a review is to be undertaken to ensure  

that the current portal is fit for purpose and can assist in achieving the objectives of the 
Access to Services Strategy. 

 
We share our good practice with other Local Authorities , and have presented at 

conferences, webinars and provided articles reflecting on progress made.  In January 2021, 
we  provided a case study for the Local Government News, The MJ, Public Technology and 

Computer Weekly sharing our achievements through our channel shift / digital journey   
 
 

Digital Inclusion  
 
The inability to access online products or services or to use simple forms of digital 

technology disproportionately affects vulnerable and low income groups, the elderly and 
those more marginalised communities within our society.  

 
This leads to a strong correlation between digital exclusion, financial exclusion and social 

exclusion.  It is important to understand the challenges people face in terms of online 
accessibility:  
 

Access the ability to actually go online and connect to the internet 
Skills to be able to use the internet 

Motivation knowing the reasons why using the internet is a good thing 
Trust a fear of crime , or not knowing where to start to go online 

 

 

Data obtained from the Office for National statistics  provides some national statistics in 
regard to digital accessibility: 

 
 92% of adults in the UK were recent internet users in 2020, up from 91% in 2019. 

 Almost all adults aged 16 to 44 years in the UK were recent internet users (99%), 
compared with 54% of adults aged 75 years and over. 

 While there has been little change in internet use for adults aged 16 to 44 years in 
recent years, the proportion of those aged 75 years and over who are recent internet 
users nearly doubled since 2013, from 29%, to 54% in 2020. 

 6.3% of adults in the UK had never used the internet in 2020, down from 7.5% in 2019. 

Page 224



 
 

 
 Page 11 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 The number of disabled adults who were recent internet users in 2020 reached almost 
11 million, 81% of disabled adults; up from just over 10 million (78% of disabled adults) 
in 2019. 

 London continued to be the UK region with the highest recent internet use (95%) in 
2020, while Northern Ireland remained the lowest at 88%. 

 
High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands  

 
High Peak has an ageing population; the proportion of residents aged 65 plus was estimated 

at 21.33% in 2019 and is projected to rise to just below 30% over the next 20 years, which 
would make it the biggest age group in the borough; taking over from the 45-64 year age 

group  8.9% of the population in South and West Derbyshire (High Peak, Derbyshire Dales, 
Erewash, South Derbyshire, Amber Valley) do not use the Internet  

 
Staffordshire Moorlands has an ageing population. Over 25% of the local population are 

aged 65+, up from 20% ten years ago. The majority (29%) of Staffs Moorlands residents are 
currently aged between 45 and 64.  12.1% of the population of Staffordshire do not use the 
Internet  
 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/internet
users/2019 

 
 

Development of the Access to Services Strategy 
 
The Access to Services Strategy will focus on 4 key themes: 

 

Page 225

file://///stal-file-1/homes/astokes/COVID19/Access%20to%20Services%20Strategy/https
file://///stal-file-1/homes/astokes/COVID19/Access%20to%20Services%20Strategy/https
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/internetusers/2019


 
 

 
 Page 12 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

 

 

 

An action plan has been developed focusing on each of the 4 themes and using the 

following process: 

 

 

Understanding 
 

 Who are our customers and what are their expectations  

 Why are they (customers) accessing our services 

 What are the preferred /most frequently used channels of access 

by the various groups  
 What does customer service mean to  service areas within the 

Council  

•Quality of information 

•Standards for delivery       
timeliness and quality 

•Performance monitoring 

•Customer Feedback 
•Customer journey 

•Reduce avoidable contact 

•Customer portal 

•Integrated service 
delivery 

•Right First Time 

•Efficiencies 

•Customer Expectations  

•Customer Insight 

•Customer satisfaction 

•Culture of the Organisation 

•Digital exclusion/inclusion 

•Equality 

•Geography/access 

•Review of face to face 
provision/location 

Access 
Customer 

Focus 

Service 
process 
reviews 

Innovation 
and 

Technology 

Understanding the 
requirements from service 
areas and customers - THE 

INPUTS 

Developing-provide access 
channels, information and 

skills to meet customer 
needs - THE ACTIONS 

Delivering-evaluating and 
improving the customer 

experience - THE OUTCOMES  

Page 226



 
 

 
 Page 13 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

Developing  
 

 Use the information gathered in the understanding to provide 
access  channels to suit the expectations of customers 

 Make it easier and quicker for customers to access services  

 Reduce human intervention by automating across service areas  
 Provide assistance for those who cannot access services online  

Delivering 
 

 Work with service areas to offer most suitable channel of access 

 Improve the  customer experience 

 Improve performance  
 

 
The Action Plan sets out how we will deliver the strategy . It will be monitored by staff and 

portfolio holders.  We will also monitor customer feedback and performance data to assess 
the quality of service provided. 

 
 

Summary  
 
The strategy will develop over a 3 year period and the priority areas are : 

 

 Complete automation and integration of revenues and benefits requests  

 Digital Exclusion – identify areas demographically and geographically and work with 
service areas and partners to remove the barriers and provide support to our customers  

 Review of the Customer Portal , invest in a system that has the capacity to integrate with 
other software providers across all of our service areas  improving the customer 

experience  
 

It will also require resources across both councils to be committed and focused in support of 
the action plan . and a number of other corporate commitments touch directly on the 

improved service access , specifically :  
 

 Digital Strategy 
 Organisational Development and Transformation Strategy 

 Communication Strategy 
 

In order for the strategy to be successful,  the key principles for our organisation are: 
 

 Customer Satisfaction and Customer Service is not an add on to our business it has to be 
intrinsic and integral to everything that we are doing. 

 Customer service is no longer a department it is a philosophy that should be embraced 
by every employee at every level – it is part of everyone’s job. 

 
 

Page 227



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 14 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

ACTION PLAN  

Theme Understanding (Inputs) Developing (Actions) Delivering (Outcomes) 

CUSTOMER 
FOCUS 

Establish who our 
customers are and what 
they expect from us 
 

 Utilise data to identify the demographic and characteristics 
of the Borough 

 Work with communities service and where required make 
reasonable adjustments to enable all customers to access 
our services 

 Review the high volume transactions and methods of 
contact   

 Consult with customers and involve them in the design of 
new services.  Identify where partners / voluntary sector 
organisations could support with access to services 

 Utilise key business data (enhanced as part of the business 
grants process)  to assist with improvements in 
communications with businesses 

 

 Understanding the key characteristics of the 
population assists with understanding needs and 
service access requirements 

 Greater collaboration across organisations / 
voluntary sector provides a joined up approach to 
customer service  

 

Ensure the Council has the 
right skills to provide 
Customer Service 
Excellence 

 Create a training programme / professional qualification 
opportunities for Customer Service staff and wider Council 
staff focusing on customer service excellence in 
conjunction with Institute of Customer Services (ICS)  

 Consider potential to work towards accreditation and 
awards in conjunction with ICS  

 Engage employees views on customer service across the 
organisation via an employee engagement survey 

 Identify and celebrate success 

 Retention of a professional customer based 
workforce 

 Embed a customer first culture and establish 
clear consistent standards throughout the 
organisation to recognise customer service is a 
part of all roles 

 Obtain valuable insight about how employees 
feel about the customer service provided within 
service areas and any anomalies in different 

P
age 228



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 15 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

Theme Understanding (Inputs) Developing (Actions) Delivering (Outcomes) 

 service areas.   

 Increased employee job satisfaction 
Identify the current level of 
Customer satisfaction and 
where improvements can 
be made 

 Review ICS Survey results completed in 2019 

 Re-run ICS customer survey during 2022 
 Consider how customer feedback can be obtained regularly 

to continually identify service improvements through 
everyday contact 

 Consider how local/national data can be utilised to 
benchmark customer service  

 Develop a customer charter detailing level of service 
customers can expect from us  
 

 2019 results provides starting point and 
identifies areas of improvement 

 Updated survey provides updated picture in 
respect of customer satisfaction and establishes 
if improvements have been made  

 Customer expectations managed   

Ensure the Council 
communicates with 
customers on an open and 
transparent basis 
 

 Provide honest feedback on how / what we can assist with 
and in what timeframe 

 Be clear on the areas we cannot assist with, but improve 
signposting to those organisations that could assist 

 Community learning and localised engagement and 
openness from the Council making information available  

 Ensure customers are kept updated on progress 
 

 Builds a greater sense of trust and more engaged 
working relationship between council and 
customers  

 Enhanced reputation 

SERVICE 
PROCESS 
REVIEWS  

Ensure information and 
data is up to date and 
relevant 
 

 

 Regularly review website pages to ensure information is up 
to date and user friendly 

 Use analytics and statistics to improve the information 
available  

 Service areas take responsibility for maintaining content on 

 Reduction in avoidable contact 

 Increased capacity of staff to focus on higher 
value tasks / assist vulnerable customers 

 Customers have anytime access to required 
information   

P
age 229



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 16 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

Theme Understanding (Inputs) Developing (Actions) Delivering (Outcomes) 

webpages  

 Prioritise website information in respect of the most 
popular transactions / queries  

 
 

Map the customer journey 
across service areas  
 

 Use customer journey mapping to aid redesign of service 
provided to the customer  

 Draft customer journey mapping schedule in order to 
review all service areas over a realistic period of time 

 Utilise results to ensure customer service standards 
consistent across the organisation, delivery times clear and 
realistic and customers are updated on progress.   

 Consider the use of digital solutions where there is a 
business case to do so (linked to the Digital Strategy) 

 Introduce a user-centered design process framework that 
incorporates validation from the user every step of the way  

 

 Become proactive rather than reactive  
 Improved customer satisfaction and user 

experience 

 Reduction in avoidable contact 

 Reputation for acting on customer feedback  
 Understanding of expectations shared and clear 

to all staff across service areas  
 

Ensure the Customer 
Service Team can deliver 
objectives of Access to 
Services Strategy   
 

 Review current Customer Services structure to ensure the 
roles and responsibilities are fit for purpose 

 Consider how Customer Services can be operated 
effectively on an ‘agile’ basis    

 Ensure the workforce has the appropriate skills, tools and 
authority to effectively deliver  

 

 Delivery of effective and innovative customer 
services 

INNOVATION & Enable a Single View of the  Customer Portal to meet needs of service areas and  Right first time – improved customer experience  

P
age 230



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 17 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

Theme Understanding (Inputs) Developing (Actions) Delivering (Outcomes) 

TECHNOLOGY customer customer 

 Good quality data on customer contact can help track 
progress and better understand the interactions and 
drivers 

 Sharing of information across service areas 

 Frontline have access to information in order to process 
the enquiry 

 Reduction in avoidable contact  
 Simplify and reduce interactions between 

customers and different council departments 

 Improved customer experience 

Consider integration / 
automation across services 

 Digital Strategy will be the driver for technology and 
software implemented  

 Increase and enhance automated workflows across service 
areas  

 

 Increase online availability which includes access 
to accounts balances and payments 24/7 

 Create a truly Digital service , when a form is 
submitted it automatically triggers the 
appropriate action required to fulfil the 
customer’s request – right first time 

Realise efficiencies- invest 
to save and also invest to 
improve 

 Reduce post and print cost as a result of increasing 
electronic solutions  

 Release capacity within the workforce to direct to digital 
enquiries, high value tasks and support customers who 
need it 

 Driving towards being carbon neutral by 2030 – 
in line with Climate Change action plan 

 Provide resource to drive forward with digital 
channels  

ACCESS 
 
Digital  
 
 
 

Analyse the digital access 

data across the alliance and 

identify those accessing 
council services 

 

 Compare the digital access and council access data and 
identify the differences – for example access / facilities 
available  

 Consult and involve hard to reach groups 

 Set up focus groups to assist those who cannot access 
services online  

 Work with community organisations to deliver services to 

 All service areas identify barriers and provide 
support to customers 

 
 
 
 

 Reduced ‘digital divide’ 

P
age 231



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 18 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

Theme Understanding (Inputs) Developing (Actions) Delivering (Outcomes) 

 

 

Identify the groups 
vulnerable to digital 
exclusion 
 
 
 
 
 
Identify the barriers by 
which people are excluded 

meet the needs of the community  

 Liaise with SCC and DCC Digital Assistance and identify and 
promote the Community Help points available across the 
District/Borough 

 Explore options of a device loaning scheme  

 Staff provide customer support and provide bookable 
dedicated training sessions for customers to access  
mobile phones tablets laptops 

 Encourage members to promote digital access and 
signposting of residents to digital resources and support 
where possible (particularly in areas with higher risk of 
digital exclusion) 

 
 

 
 

 

Digital by design  React to new demands /national gov changes - have the 
ability to build forms and make changes in house  

 Increase availability of online forms across service areas  

 Enhance facility for customers to upload evidence and 
documents online 

 Paperless environment  

 Respond to changes in timely manner 
 
 

The Future Of Digital & Self-
Service- Digital never stands 
still 

 Resource  required for continuous improvement and 

innovation 

 Innovative council leading the way in digital 
access  

Channels available to suit 
needs of customer and 
business 

 Managing expectations when customer transact digitally  

 Service requests accessible 24/7 via multiple devices 

 Explore alternative channels- webchat , Whatsapp, 
Instagram  

 Possibility to introduce alternative access 
channels to meet the needs of the customer  and  
the business 

P
age 232



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 19 Access to Services Strategy 2022 | Draft 

Theme Understanding (Inputs) Developing (Actions) Delivering (Outcomes) 

 
 
 
Alternative 
Channels 
 
 
 

Telephony  Review opening times of the call centre to meet demands 
and allow focus on digital methods of contact 

 Utilise time for staff training providing staff with 
skills and knowledge to respond to the more 
complex enquiries 

Face to Face  Review opening times and assistance at receptions, build 
on the  positive legacy from COVID 19 lockdown to identify 
the services that need a face to face service  

 Floor walkers to greet customers and after establishing 
enquiry  signpost customers to self-serve device, free 
telephone or support from staff as required  

 Appointments available for those who require assistance 

 Maintain and enhance the face to face service for 
the vulnerable and more complex cases 

 

P
age 233



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
High Peak Borough Council & 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
 

Digital Strategy 2022 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 235



 

 
Page 2 Digital Strategy 2022| DRAFT 

Introduction 
 
Since coming together as an alliance of two district councils in 2008, High Peak Borough 
Council and Staffordshire Moorlands Council have delivered savings of over £12 million for 
local taxpayers alongside improvements to public services . 
 
In that time, Digital, Data and Technology change has significantly accelerated; offering 
opportunities to connect and collaborate with others, to learn new skills, to solve problems 
based on understanding the copious amounts of available data and to have a positive 
impact to people’s lives. 
 
In the last 10 years, we have consolidated a large proportion of our front facing services 
across both authorities, removing significant duplication. We have also consolidated some 
of our technology estate to drive more efficient and effective service delivery. 
 
Alongside the Organisational Development Strategy and the Access to Services Strategy, this 
Digital Strategy lays out how High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council, will work to: 
 

 Maximise the opportunities we take to leverage Digital, Data and Technology in order to 
transform service delivery for our residents, businesses, visitors and partners  

 Pursue consistency of experience, across all mediums, for our customers  
 Ensure our services are Proactive, seamlessly linking our customers to the right 

employees with expertise to make a difference, both now and into the future 

 Digitally curate our place, designing and developing our boroughs with residents, 
businesses and partners 

 
 

Strategic Context 
 
The development of the Digital Strategy has been informed by the following strategic 
context: 
 

 The High Peak Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 

 The Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 

 ICT Strategy 2014 

 Customer Access Strategy 2016 
 Service Plans 2020 – 2024 

 Medium Term Financial Plan February 2021 
 
This strategy sits alongside the Organisational Development Strategy and the Access to 
Services Strategy to ensure that the Councils have the appropriate approach to ensure that 

services continue to be provided effectively.  
 
Reference has also been made to wider context from partners and other organisations 
within the region including: 

Page 236



 

 
Page 3 Digital Strategy 2022| DRAFT 

 
 

 North East Derbyshire’s Digital Transformation Strategy 
 Derbyshire County Council’s “Modernising council services through digital 

transformation and channel shift” 2020  

 Staffordshire County Council’s “All together for carers” joint council/CCG 

 Staffordshire Chamber of Commerce mission, vision and values  
 
 

Challenges and Opportunities 
 

Digital data and technology underpin the delivery of the Councils’ objectives and priorities. 
Effective use of technology and data will ensure our residents and businesses receive a 

unified customer experience with a clear understanding of their needs:  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
There are a number of significant challenges that an effective Digital Strategy can help 
resolve: 
 

 Demand pressures as we come out of the pandemic 
 Changing expectations for services to be more coherent, customer friendly and 

accessible, ‘always on’ and responsive to individual needs and preferences  
 Differing and changing user requirements including an aging population and the 

increasing responsibilities around public health 

 Ongoing financial pressures  

 Devolution and new responsibilities from central Government which are creating 
demands to integrate services  

Corporate 
objectives & 

priorities 

Resident and 
business needs 

Digital, data  
and technology 

Unified 
customer 

experience 

Page 237



 

 
Page 4 Digital Strategy 2022| DRAFT 

 
 
There are a series of opportunities that the Digital Strategy presents to us: 
 

 Putting people at the heart of their own use of council services  

 The opportunity to mainstream the co-design of services 
 Technology enabled change 

 Prevention and proactive intervention, using data to analyse impact and insight 

 The option to prototype, learn and scale 

 Sharing across the sector 
 A ‘localisation’ of our procurement 

 Community focused delivery, partnering with subject matter experts  
 

In developing the strategy it has also been important to consider the following: 
 

 The leadership to manage the scale of change required 
 Integration of people/process/technology 

 Market dominance of software suppliers - limited incentive to change and consolidate 
 Service level cultural and behavioural change 

 Developing the digital skills of the workforce 
 
 

Current ICT System Architecture 
 

In order to assess the requirements for the development of the Digital Strategy we have 
undertaken a full analysis of our current ICT system architecture. This assessment has been 
focused on four key areas: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The current position with the Councils’ systems can be summarised as follows:  

 

 A significant number of the contracts for systems are coming to an end in the next 12-24 
months 

 Approximately a third of the Councils systems are out of data and have the potential for 

replacement 

Active  
contract and 

supplier 
management 

Duplicate 
functionality  

and data  
silos 

Business  

and ICT  
change 

management 

Capacity,  
skills and 
expertise 

Page 238



 

 
Page 5 Digital Strategy 2022| DRAFT 

 Whilst the majority of systems present no issues for service delivery, a significant 
number to present service delivery issues, primarily technical although some present 

through customer service   
 There are a number of services that consider their current system is capable of a lot 

more than what it is used for. This can be due to lack technical skills and knowledge to 
support and explore the system, or in a number of cases the lack of resources. 

 
The Councils are aware that at present applications are managed and procured and then 
often driven by suppliers.  At the root of this is a lack of internal strategic ICT capacity and 
active contract management, meaning that solutions are looked at on a piecemeal basis  
rather than a joined-up view to determine opportunities across all solutions. 

 
The convergence of contract end dates for a number of systems provides a unique 

opportunity to create a Component Architecture Project to define our current and future 
business requirements to ensure fitness for the future, and to exploit a smaller number of 

core systems overall.  Over time this will reduce licensing, support and maintenance costs, 
as well as the contract management support required. It will however require up-front 

investment in requirement capture, market testing, procurement and implementation. 
 

Many of the Councils systems include basic forms, workflow and case management type 
capabilities that are replicable in other ways. At present customer data is held in multiple 

systems which hampers the clear view of demand and is a barrier to offering a seamless 
online service to residents across service areas.  The Component Architecture Project 

provides an opportunity to consider the overall architecture that would enable single view.   
 

 

Digital Maturity 
 
Fundamental to an effective transformative digital programme is that services are designed 
around user needs first. This design led approach is essential and is coupled with 
accessibility of services, an open innovative approach to technology, and finally an agile 
approach to delivery that recognises digital services as constantly evolving in maturity. 
 
As a starting point for the development of the Digital Strategy it was important to gain 
insight into the extent to which the Councils  and their ICT is digitally mature. In order to 
provide this insight, the Councils engaged SOCITM to conduct a Digital Maturity Assessment.  
This has examined in detail where best practice measures have been adopted and what 
degree of commitment has been invested in digital services. 
 
A summary of the Digital Maturity Assessment for the Councils is summarised below: 

Page 239



 

 
Page 6 Digital Strategy 2022| DRAFT 

 
 
The key issue for the Councils that is confirmed by the maturity assessment is the need for 
the active management of business requirements and the alignment with ICT infrastructure. 
Currently, to a certain extent, each service manages their own needs in relative isolation, 
leading to missed opportunities to create a more consistent customer experience and to 
operate more efficiently. 
 
There are a number of strategic recommendations that emerge from this assessment: 
 
For effective digital services there is a need for the Councils to: 
 

 Define and implement a Service Design approach and ongoing journey 

 Build digital inclusion efforts across the community 

 Measure all investment and delivery initiatives against KPIs  
 Create a data management framework to drive the data agenda 
 
In order to provide the foundations for the effective delivery of digital services the Councils 
should: 
 

 Instigate a Digital Board 
 Mobilise a Component Architecture Project (CAP), informing an overall architectural 

roadmap informed by the market 

 Review the ICT contract arrangements with a view to consolidating and unifying 
contracts and services 

 
In order to provide the organisational structure and processes to make the necessary 
changes the Councils should:  
 

 Create and mobilise change, prioritisation and portfolio management capability across 
the Alliance 

 Introduce Digital Business Partners 

 Adopt a joined-up capability and capacity approach across both authorities  

 Create a digital skills framework for employees and partners 
 
 

Page 240



 

 
Page 7 Digital Strategy 2022| DRAFT 

 
 
 

Digital Strategy  
 
Foundations: 
 

 
A culture of empathy across both authorities, understanding user need when 
designing services 

 
 
A holistic prioritisation across the organisation, targeting big wins first 

 
 
Effective procurement and contract management practices 

 

 
A local focus, developing real community-based partnerships 

 
 

A data management framework, enabling better more open use of data 
 

 
A centrally responsible PMO and Benefit Realisation approach, with a culture 

of accountability 
 

 
Continuously improving our services based on evidence and collaboration 

 
 

A modern infrastructure with cross cutting component capabilities 

 
 

 
Vision: 

 
‘We will authentically deliver services that improve the lives of all our residents and 

businesses; through better design, use of data and innovation, and community 
collaboration’ 

 
  

Page 241



 

 
Page 8 Digital Strategy 2022| DRAFT 

In order to focus strategic energy and oversight, this vision will be delivered via four key 
pillars: 
 
Digital Services - Simple, proactive, effective and secure public services that are designed 
and delivered in partnership with our communities 
 
Digital Skills and Inclusion - Giving our communities the skills, tools, access and confidence 

to engage digitally with us, whilst improving our non-digital experiences to match digital 
experiences 

 
Digital Collaboration and Connectivity - Maximising the opportunities for digital, data and 

technology to enhance collaborative working, the local economy, individual opportunity and 
our residents quality of life 

 
Data and Intelligence - Optimised data and intelligence is central to the way we configure, 

reconfigure, deliver and continuously improve our services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 242



 

   
Page 8 Digital Strategy 2021 | DRAFT 

What Will We Deliver and Why? 
 
Digital Services 
 

We will… So that… 

Instigate a Digital Board, inviting key partners from the region to be 
a part of the board 

As a region we continue to drive a joined up Digital agenda, making 
long lasting decisions that will benefit our residents, businesses and 
visitors 

Design our services and products with our communities and 
customers 

Future customers journeys reflect the needs of all users, including 
those who are hard to reach or who are digitally excluded 

Adopt a ‘Digital by preference’ approach to designing our services, 
whilst ensuring non-digital experiences match digital experiences 

We truly become a digital organisation, serving our customer 
consistently across all channels 

Ensure that all digital services are accessible and easy to use, 
regardless of the customer’s platform of choice 

Our customers can engage with our service wherever, whenever 
and however they like 

Review, adapt or redesign our processes in line with future 
customer journeys, enabling continuous improvements for our 
customers 

Our staff and partners are empowered to deliver services via our 
process, not blocked 

Create and use a set of common design standards and service 
patterns 

Our staff and partners are able to design consistent service delivery 
processes 

Create an environment which allows public service leaders to 
flourish, understanding how digital, data and technology can be 
used 

Succession planning in the organisation creates digital leaders for 
the future in our region, in turn making High Peak and Staffordshire 
Moorlands more attractive places to work 

Provide our employees with the tools, technology and applications Our staff deliver effective and efficient services, capable of adapting 
to changing user needs 

Increase the use of flexible working, following the success of service We deliver great, cost-effective services whilst ensuring the mental 

P
age 243



 

 
Page 9 Digital Strategy 2021 | DRAFT 

delivery through the Covid-19 pandemic, in line with the OD 
strategy 

and physical wellbeing of our staff is maintained 

Become proactive in our engagement with customer cases and case 
management 

You tell us once, we then manage your need appropriately from 
first contact to delivery 

Introduce a more complete customer feedback, satisfaction and 
complaints methodology 

Customer’s know their voice will be heard and insights are used to 
improve services 

Introduce an organisation wide Change and Portfolio Management 
approach, including a prioritisation approach that maximises our 
delivery efficiency 

Resources are focused on delivering work that makes the biggest 
difference to our customers, whilst embedding changes in a 
sustainable way 

Build a programme of work that targets three outcomes: removing 
the highest organisational risk, as a high a return on investment as 
possible, and improving our Customers’ experience 

We move from an organisation that generally focuses on tactical 
fixes to one focused on delivering the short and long term needs of 
our users 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Digital Skills and Inclusion 

P
age 244



 

 
Page 10 Digital Strategy 2021 | DRAFT 

 

We will… So that… 

Conduct a Digital Skills audit We can baseline our Professional Digital, Data and Technology Skills 
programme for our staff 

Review the Digital, Data and Technology skills across both 
authorities, comparing to those needed to drive the digital maturity 
agenda across both authorities 

We can determine how to best structure our capacity and capability 
in order to maximise efficient and effective delivery 

Work with those community members who are digitally excluded to 
understand their needs 

We become more customer focused, data driven, transparent and 
efficient in the way we operate 

Prioritise our engagement with communities, assisting them with 
their access to digital services alongside our local partners 

We build early momentum as we transform our service, enabling 
real community engagement across the end-to-end process 

Give our staff and our partners support in order to transact as 
digital advocates on behalf of our communities. This includes 
upskilling and knowledge transfer between organisations 

Across organisational boundaries, digital advocates are created in 
the region 

Introduce professional digital, data and technology skills and 
capabilities for our staff 

We better support the professional development of our staff, 
maintaining and growing skills in the region aiding our local 
economy 

Work alongside local enterprise partnerships and the CBI in the 
region to promote initiatives that invest in local skills and talent 
retention 

A long term, flourishing and viable digital economy exists in our 
region 

Ensure that our staff have access to the data and systems that 
make a difference to our customers whilst out and about 

Vulnerable citizens who cannot travel are not left behind - they 
access personal assistance 

 
 
 
Digital Collaboration and Connectivity 

P
age 245



 

 
Page 11 Digital Strategy 2021 | DRAFT 

 

We will… So that… 

Increase the focus on Digital, Data and Technology demands across 
both authorities, prioritising cross cutting capabilities and the 
integration of those capabilities 

We take a ‘whole organisation’ enterprise architecture view, 
delivering capabilities that enhance service delivery and increases 
efficiency 

Foster existing and new relationships across our partner and 
voluntary organisations in our region 

We strengthen our Digital Service offering in order to meet long 
term user need 

Orchestrate an environment and a local ecosystem which invests in 
Digital, Data and Technology; paying particular attention to 
innovative local companies 

We build a strong, resilient and importantly a local supply chain to 
meet our long term needs 

Support seamless integration and interactions between internal 
applications and systems alongside wider integrations with our 
partners 

Customer journeys become frictionless and easy to navigate 

Target areas of high return on investment to invest in innovative 
and new technologies 

We bring to bear the power of innovative local companies, whilst 
looking for opportunities to improve customer experience. For 
example, with chatbots and automation 

Alongside county council colleagues, support and grow the 
application of wireless technologies 

We support our ambitious climate crisis targets and look to improve 
outcomes for our vulnerable residents 

Remove barriers that slow or stop service delivery, particularly in 
areas like data sharing and eligibility assessment for the vulnerable 

We shorten the time between a request for help and fulfilment of 
that request 

Work to strengthen the two-tier council system with our county 
council colleagues 

Customers with needs from both organisations experience similar 
effective fulfilment of need 

 
 
 
Data and Intelligence 

P
age 246



 

 
Page 12 Digital Strategy 2021 | DRAFT 

 

We will… So that… 

Create a basic data management framework, underpinning our 
future data journey 

All future data and intelligence builds on our foundational 
capabilities, growing our effectiveness 

Champion the use of data and intelligence driven delivery across all 
service areas 

We become more customer focused, data driven, transparent and 
efficient in the way we operate 

Create and use a set of common data standards and patterns Intra-council and inter-organisational working leverages data to 
promote positive outcomes for our users 

Adapt our data governance regime, opening up opportunities to 
innovate whilst also keeping our customer and community data 
safe 

We capture and retain only data that improves and aids service 
delivery, feeding into our continuous improvement mindset, 
allowing the organisation to make time critical decisions at point of 
need 

Work towards the creation of a single view of our customers We dramatically improve the effectiveness and efficiency of our 
service delivery and decision-making process 

Determine the requirements for business intelligence and 
performance reporting, standardising and automating 

We ascertain the effectiveness of our service delivery, our capacity 
and where we can most positively influence changes in our 
organisation 

Work alongside local businesses to design our policies, based on 
the data we hold 

We assist in creating an environment within which local businesses 
can thrive 

Map our data, conducting a data maturity assessment We understand where we can enhance our data capabilities and 
the capabilities of our partners data in influencing service delivery 

Work with our partner organisations to share and combine data, 
where appropriate 

Customers who require services delivered by multiple agencies do 
not experience unnecessary delays 

Better utilise geographic, regional and location data when designing 
and redesigning our services 

Our services continue to be as relevant as possible, meeting user 
needs 

P
age 247



 

 
Digital Strategy 2021 | DRAFT 

Action Plan 
 
Year 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Foundations 

Digital 

Services 

Digital 
Skills & 

Inclusion 

Digital 
Collaboration 

& Connectivity 

Data & 
Intelligence 

Create a Digital Board 

Initiate CAP Define business requirements Outline case for change created 

Contract review and following consolidation activities  

Design and define design principles and methodology – Architecture and Service Design 

Align Digital Services and Customer Experience KPIs alongside the Access to Services Strategy 

Create digi ta l  advocate 
group of res idents  and 

bus inesses  in order to co-

des ign services  

Customer Access  Porta l  
consol idation, including 

technology review of 
underpinning customer 

services  

Digital Skills Audit 

Digital Exclusion access review 

Al ign Digital skills and competencies  

framework to the Organisational  
Development Strategy 

Implement recommendations 
of digital skills audit and 

access review 

Further cement relationships across regional government, 
regional businesses, and service providers 

Create community digital advocate 
members of Digital Board 

5G investigations 
across the region 

Digital Maturity Assessment 
Data Management Framework 

creation 
Data review and 
Data discovery 

Early i teration of data  des ign 
patterns created and shared 

across  the region 

Continued adoption of M365 capabilities across both authorities  

P
age 248



 

 
Digital Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Year 2 
 
 
 
  Foundations 

Digital 

Services 

Digital 
Skills & 

Inclusion 

Digital 
Collaboration 

& Connectivity 

Data & 
Intelligence 

Digital business partners embedded 

RFI from Market, informing future CAP direction Ful l CAP business case CAP Procurement and Implementation 

Discovery/ies into in application automation capabilities  Chatbot and RPA discovery and alpha and early adoption 

Co-design and embed assisted sel f service and support a  Customer Porta l  Co-des ign services  across  both authori ties , across  a l l  chan nels  

Implement recommendations  of digi ta l  ski l l s  audit and access  review  

Build relationships with local educational institutes and providers of digital inclusion services 

Staff information and communication more available 
and inclusive - possible intranet re-design alongside 

continued adoption of M365 

Reduction of Not Spots across the region, driving out further mobility technology alongside county council colleagues 

Collaborate with local innovation hubs and industry, driving local investment hubs  

Initiate and grow the community based, regional data sharing methodology, both sharing out and sharing inwardly 

Determine the requirements for business intelligence and performance reporting, standardising and automating  

P
age 249



 

 
Digital Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Year 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Foundations 

Digital 

Services 

Digital 
Skills & 

Inclusion 

Digital 
Collaboration 

& Connectivity 

Data & 

Intelligence 

CAP Procurement and Implementation 

Chatbot and RPA roll out as part of wider service re-design 

Co-design services across both authorities, across all channels  

Iterate and evolve the digital skills competencies and capabilities across the region 

Alongside local education providers and businesses located in our innovation hubs, launch a Peaks and Moorlands 
digital apprenticeship and learning pathway 

 

Internet of Things (IoT) and Smart City Technology discoveries across the region 

Grow the data and intelligence-based decision-making capability in both authorities 

Self-service standardised reports, established data warehouse and single view of a customer firmly business as usual 

P
age 250



 
 

 
 Page 1 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

 

 

 

High Peak Borough Council & 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

 

Organisational Development 

Strategy 2022

Page 251



 
 

 
 Page 2 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

 

Introduction 
 

Since coming together as an alliance of two district councils in 2008, High Peak Borough 
Council and Staffordshire Moorlands Council have delivered savings of over £12 million for 

local taxpayers alongside improvements to public services.  
 

This success has been underpinned by a single workforce working across the two council 
areas. During this time, the Councils have consolidated a large proportion of front facing 

services across both authorities, removing significant duplication.  
 

During the COVID pandemic, our dedicated and hardworking workforce has not only 
continued to deliver services effectively but also has in innovative and in ever changing 
ways. It is therefore now important to continue to create a truly agile and adaptable 
workforce that is no longer confined to a fixed location and helps us to make the best use of 
our most valuable assets and resources.  
 
This Organisational Development Strategy sets out a clear plan of approach to workforce 

development, building on the already excellent work and good practice already in place. 
Alongside the Digital Strategy and the Access to Services Strategy, this strategy lays out how, 

High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, will work to: 
 

 Ensure that our workforce that is engaged, adaptable, flexible and has both the skills and 
mindset to meet these changing needs and demands and ensure we continue to deliver 

high quality, modern and effective services 
 

 Provide a great place to work, enabling us to retain our talent and provide the means for 
staff to consider their own health and wellbeing. 

 
 Maximise the opportunities we take to transform service delivery for our residents, 

businesses, visitors and partners 
 

 Ensure our services are proactive, seamlessly linking our customers to the right 
employees with expertise to make a difference, both now and into the future 

 
 

High Peak Borough Council / Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council Strategic Alliance 
 

High Peak Borough Council and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council formed a strategic 
alliance in December 2007. The alliance was formed around the recognition that, despite 

being in different counties, the two council areas have similar characteristics.  
 

The strategic alliance has been developed around the principle of the Councils retaining 
their own individual identities but seeks to take advantage of the significant benefits of 

working together to deliver services to residents, businesses and other stakeholders.   

Page 252



 
 

 
 Page 3 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

 
The Councils agreed a Concordat which sets out the general aims of the strategic alliance as: 

 

 Increase the levels of customer satisfaction through the improvement of services; 

 Produce realistic cash savings in order to deliver improved service and limit council tax 
increases; 

 Strengthen and share skills, expertise and learning, in order to delivery better services; 

 Preserve and enhance the special and distinctive characteristics within each local 
authority area; and 

 Increase our influence locally, regionally, and nationally in order to secure a “better 
deal” for all our communities. 

 
For more than ten years the Councils have had a shared Chief Executive and management 

team with a single workforce delivering services across the two areas. The workforce 
comprises some 400 employees with extensive and varied skills. In addition the Councils 

have developed robust commissioning and procurement arrangements for delivery of a 
number of their key services. 

 
 

Vision and Aims of the Councils 
 

The vision, aims and priorities for High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands are set out in the 
two Councils’ Corporate Plans. These strategic plans have been shaped by the political 

ambition of the Councils  
 
The vision and aims for each Council are as follows: 
 

 High Peak Staffordshire Moorlands 

Vision Working together to protect and invest in 
the High Peak with the Council on your 
side 

Achieving Excellence in the delivery of 
high quality services that meet the needs 
and aspirations of our communities 

Aim 1 Supporting our communities to create a 
healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak 

Help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities to live 
and work 

Aim 2 A responsive, smart, financially resilient 
and forward thinking council 

Use resources effectively and provide 
value for money 

Aim 3 Protect and create jobs by supporting 
economic growth, development and 
regeneration 

Help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of towns 
and villages 

Aim 4 Protect and improve the environment 
including responding to the climate 
emergency 

Protect and improve the environment 
and respond to the climate emergency 

 

The priorities in each of the Corporate Plans are integrated into our Performance 
Framework which ensures implementation of our priorities through operational service 

plans and individual objectives for each member of our workforce.  
 

Page 253



 
 

 
 Page 4 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

The ambitions set out in the Corporate Plans provide the framework for the delivery of 
services across the alliance. They are therefore embedded in each and every strategy 
including the Organisational Development Strategy which is set out within this document.  
 

 

Our Organisations 
 

There are a number of elements to the Councils’ service delivery arrangements.  
 

Councillors provide the democratic leadership of the councils. They:  
 

 Represent members of the public 
 Provide leadership and direction to the Council 

 Scrutinise service delivery. 
 
No. of councillors: 
High Peak   Staffordshire Moorlands 
Executive  5  Executive 6 
Non-executive 38  No-executive 50 
 

A shared workforce which operates across the two Councils. They: 
 

 Implement the policies agreed by councillors; 

 Organise and deliver services 

 Provide unbiased, professional advice and support to councillors. 
 
The Councils’ workforce is managed by: 
 
Alliance Leadership Team (ALT) – Chief Executive and 3 Executive Directors; and 
Alliance Management Team – ALT and 14 Heads of Service  
 
The Councils’ workforce comprises 329 staff made up as follows:  
 

  
 
 
 
 

223 

106 

Full time Part time

116 

213 

Male Female

Page 254



 
 

 
 Page 5 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

The age profile of the Councils’ workforce is as follows: 
 

 

 
 

The Councils’ have developed flexible working policies and procedures to enable the 
workforce to be as efficient as possible, and ensure that services are tailored to customer 
and service needs.  
 
In 2016 the Councils launched 'CHOICE' its organisational values:  
 

VALUE ATTRIBUTES 

 

Customer Focused 

 

 Making a difference 

 Being easy to contact and accessible 
 Representing the Councils in the best light by being polite and professional  

 Making customers' experience a good one 
 Taking pride in serving communities 

 Showing empathy 
  

 

Honest and Open 
Communicators 

 

 Learning to listen 

 Giving and accepting constructive feedback 
 Respecting others' viewpoints  

 Sharing information with the right people at the right time and in the right way 
 Avoiding jargon 
 

 

One Team 

 

 Making time for colleagues 
 Influencing others by being positive, enthusiastic, helpful and engaged  

 Collaborating to gets results  

 Staying safe  and keeping your colleagues safe at work 
 Supporting the business need for change 

 Helping colleagues through periods of uncertainty 
 Being flexible 
 

 

Innovative 

 

 Sharing ideas 
 Challenging the status quo 

 Being brave and not fearing failure 
 Embracing change 

 Seeking out and championing new ways to improve service delivery 
 

 

Can do Attitude 

 

 Taking ownership for finding solutions  

 Staying focused on performance 
 Taking every opportunity to learn, develop and share good practice  

 Pitching in and going the extra mile 
 

 

Every Penny Counts 

 

 Identifying and helping to maximise income generation opportunities  

 Getting it right first time 
 Thinking like a business and adopting a commercial focus  

 Comparing performance to the best and learn how to improve  

 Making the best use of time 
 

Age Range Male Female Total 

      No. % 
<20 1 1 2 0.6 

20-29 11 12 23 7 
30-39 18 28 46 13.9 
40-49 30 59 89 27 
50-59 39 88 127 38.7 
60+ 17 25 42 12.8 

          
Total 116 213 329   

          

Page 255



 
 

 
 Page 6 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

 
These values are embedded in the way in which staff fulfil their duties across the alliance 

 
In addition to direct delivery of services by our workforce the Councils have a number of 

their key services delivered through commissioned third-party arrangements. The key 
services that are delivered though commissioned arrangements are:    
 
 Waste collection, street cleaning, grounds maintenance and fleet management services -  

delivered through Alliance Environmental Services (AES) - a joint venture partnership 

with Ansa - a subsidiary of Cheshire East Council  

 Leisure management – delivered through a partnership contact with external provider 

Parkwood Leisure 

 Operational ICT – delivered through a partnership contact with external provider NEC  

 Property facilities management and housing repairs – the Councils are in the process of 

establishing a joint venture partnership with Norse Group – a subsidiary of Norfolk 

County Council  

 

Challenges 
 
The Councils are currently experiencing a time of unprecedented change. The environment 
in which the Councils operate continues to evolve with changing societal behaviours, 

resident needs, customer expectations and technological advances.  We now live in a fast 
paced, digitally reliant, 24/7 society which has changed the way in which our residents live 

and work and how and when they want and need to access our services and support.  
 

The experience of the current pandemic also has changed the way people work, 
accelerating moves towards flexibility, responsiveness and agile / remote working. 

 
In order to respond to these challenges, the Councils need to continue their transformation, 

exploring new ways to make services more intelligent and more relevant to the lives of the 
people who rely on them. In order to recognise this, the Councils have also developed new 

Digital and Access to Services strategies which will be implemented alongside this plan.  
 

In common with lots of organisations, the Councils’ have an older workforce and that action 
needs to be taken to ensure that every opportunity for sharing knowledge and expertise is 

undertaken through learning and skills transfer, ensuring all staff are developing and 
growing in their technological competence. Flexible retirement, succession planning and 

flexible working opportunities have an increasing importance in order that that knowledge 
and expertise is not lost to the organisations. 
 
Employee costs make up a significant proportion of the Councils’ spending. This becomes 
even more important in the light of the expected post pandemic economic shocks. It 

therefore remains a possibility that further budget reductions may impact on employees 
unless productivity can be increased by leveraging the full potential of the workforce allied 
to the maximum potential for technological advance. 

Page 256



 
 

 
 Page 7 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

 
Both Councils have declared a climate emergency and are in the process of developing their 
Climate Change Action Plans. Climate change action needs to be embedded into the day-to-
day operations of the Councils to provide for the necessary reductions in carbon footprints.   
 
 

Opportunities 
 
The Councils have a relatively new leadership and management team which provides for 

additional capacity and a more inclusive approach to decision making. Since implementation 
of the new structure there has been greater collaboration between services . The new 

leadership and management team has committed to refreshing the communications and 
feedback processes to encourage better dialogue between management and staff and 

understanding of the Councils’ narrative and provide a focus for delivery of priorities. 
 

The workforce has adapted successfully to working differently during the pandemic. At its 
peak some 86% of staff were working from home with the vast majority satisfied with this 

arrangement. Consequently there is overwhelming support for working from home in some 
form in the future. A recent staff survey showed that some 96% of staff would like to work 

from home in the future which will result in less travel, greater flexibility, better work life 
balance and less distractions. 
 
The experience during the pandemic has highlighted the important role that the voluntary 
and community sector play in the delivery of services to our communities. The Councils have 
been developing the relationship with these sectors to improve the way in which services 
are shaped and delivered. 
 
The response to the pandemic has also strengthened the relationships with the Councils’ 
key  strategic partners. Building on this success, both Councils are working with the County, 
District and Borough Councils in Staffordshire and Derbyshire on enhanced two-tier working 
arrangements that will align service delivery and potentially will respond to the 
Government’s levelling up agenda resulting in the potential devolution of powers and 
funding through county deals.    
 

The formation of the Councils’ teckal company involved the transfer of the delivery of waste 
collection, street cleansing, grounds maintenance and fleet management services. The 

Councils manage the commissioning of services from AES through a Commissioning Board. 
AES has been successful since its implementation and has realised significant financial 
savings, performance improvements, high levels of customer satisfaction, and development 
of the company’s workforce. There is the opportunity to use the successful development 
and implementation of AES to provide a ‘blueprint’ for the development of similar 
arrangements for the provision of other Council services. 
 

The Councils face significant challenges in realising the potential of this new agenda. 
However, through the strategic alliance, the Councils have a strong track record of 
partnership working and Trade Union representation and is well-placed to take advantage of 
these effective external partner and internal employee relationships. Partners and 

Page 257



 
 

 
 Page 8 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

employees are committed to putting actions in place that will improve outcomes for the 
people of High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 
 

Purpose of the Organisational Development Strategy  
 
Organisational Development (OD) can be defined as as ‘a planned and systematic approach 
to enabling sustained organisational performance through the involvement of its people’. 
The underlying purpose of this development is so that the Councils can improve their 
performance and achieve their objectives. At its core is the drive to improve the functioning 
of individuals, teams and the entire organisation. It is a long term, on-going process which 
the Councils must continually address if they are to be effective. 
 
Development will take many forms and focus on different aspects of although some 
fundamental principles will always be present: 
 

 Maximising the value gained from resources; 

 Focusing on strategy, objectives and core purpose; 

 Applying behavioural science knowledge and practice, such as leadership, group 
dynamics and work design; and 

 Planned, ongoing, systematic change that aims to embed continual improvement. 
 
This Strategy therefore sets out a framework to ensure that the Councils’ workforce and 
relationship with partners is aligned to the delivery of the outcomes set out within the 

Corporate Plans. It is also focussed on ensuring that the Councils  are equipped to meet the 
challenges of service delivery in the future.  

 
It provides the strategic context to ensure that the Councils have people with the right skills 

in the right place at the right time to deliver quality services to the people of High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands within the challenging financial context. It sets out the framework 

for the Councils to meet the challenges and on-going change that faces the public sector 
generally. 

 
The Councils aspire to become employers of choice. This will require a creative and 

innovative approach, building on the already excellent work and good practice that is 
already embedded.  
 
The Strategy has been developed in consultation with services across the Council and with 
our Trade Union colleagues and takes account of the feedback provided. 
 
 

Page 258



 
 

 
 Page 9 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

OD Strategy 
 
Foundations: 
 

 A culture of empathy across both authorities, understanding user need when 
designing services 

 A holistic prioritisation across the organisation 

 Effective procurement and contract management practices 
 Inclusivity, equality and diversity 

 A local focus, developing real community-based partnerships 
 Continuously improving our services based on evidence and collaboration  

 
 

Vision: 
 

Ensure that the Councils’ aims, objectives and priorities are met through the recruitment, 
development of a well led highly skilled and motivated workforce, and effective service 

commissioning arrangements, that reflect local context and provide excellent services to 
customers in a responsive way 

 
 

Four Aims: 
 
Building strong leadership and management 
 
Sustaining and improving a skilled, flexible and motivated workforce  
 
Improving customer focus 
 
Driving transformational change, innovation and improving value for money 

 
 

 

Page 259



 
 

 
 Page 10 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Building strong leadership and management 
 
Our managers and leaders across the Councils provide a critical role in the Councils 
achieving their strategic priorities and supporting the effective changes in the provision of 
the services that are delivered.  
 
Effective leadership and management development is key to creating a flexible and agile 
culture where employees feel empowered and trusted to do their jobs. Collaboration and 
networking enables leaders and managers to work more closely together, understanding 
the wider environment and the impact our services have on local people. 
 
Our managers will have the skills, abilities and confidence to commission, manage and 
promote the expected standard of performance. 
 
Our commitments to achieve this are: 
 

 Reviewing governance / scrutiny and councillor development 

 Establishing and developing a new leadership team 

 Improving the interface with elected members 

 Management development  

 Strengthening commissioning and procurement skills 
 
 

Page 260



 
 

 
 Page 11 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Sustaining and improving a skilled, flexible and motivated 
workforce  
 

The Councils are extremely proud of the employees we have working across our 
communities and recognise the skills and knowledge that these employees have built up 

over the years. It is essential continue to enhance those valuable skills and experiences 
regularly with a view to retaining the talent already within the organisation.  

 
Investment in the continual support, coaching, training and development of the existing 

workforce is fundamental to service delivery that continues to strive for excellence. Critical 
to this are detailed training plans for each role, recognising and developing our talent and 

offering progression, all of which are underpinned by the Councils’ policies and procedures 
supported by effective management.  

 
Our workforce will be trained, qualified and experienced, to deliver quality services which 

meet current and anticipated service needs. 
 
Our commitments to achieve this are: 

 
 Refreshed appraisal scheme and an employee charter  

 Review of equalities and diversity 

 Skills gap assessment 

 Structured training plans that link into corporate priorities 

 Apprenticeships and graduate recruitment 

 Talent management and development 
 Cultural change – commercial focus / wider competencies review 

 Agile working – including remote / home working 
 Review of policy and procedures 

 Pay and conditions review – incremental progression issue     
 
 

Page 261



 
 

 
 Page 12 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Improving customer focus 
 
In our Access to Services Strategy the Councils have committed to ‘Ensure our services are 
readily and easily available to residents In the appropriate channels and provided ‘right first 
time’. Traditionally the focus of the Councils has been to show how s ervices will be provided 
to local residents, there has now been a shift towards the Councils opening up to customers 
and allowing them to engage with services in ways that suit their needs and requirements .  
 
We want our customers to feel valued by their Council, trust us and have excellent customer 
experiences in their dealings with us whatever channel  they choose. In order to do this it is 
essential that our workforce continues to adapt to developing the delivery of services in 
order to maintain the highest levels of customer satisfaction.    
 
We will create a culture where we become even more responsive to our residents and 
customers 
 
Our commitments to achieve this are: 

 
 Refreshing the interface with customers to respond to the channel shift that has 

been experienced – including identifying and responding to digital exclusion  

 Communications skills – effective development of social media channels 

 Implementing the community leadership schemes 
 
 

Page 262



 
 

 
 Page 13 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Driving transformational change, innovation and improving value 
for money 
 

In order to deliver the overall aims of the strategic alliance, the Councils have implemented 
a  process of transformation, constantly exploring new ways to deliver services that offer 

value for money to the people who rely on them. Our Digital Strategy commits us to 
improving the way we use data to see where our services are working, and where we need 

to do things differently to deliver better outcomes for our residents, communities and 
businesses.  

 
This transformation will include investment in a ‘digital first’ approach across the Councils in 

recognition that our customers want a more immediate, personalised service and expect to 
be able to contact us 24 hours a day, seven days a week. This will help us to streamline and 

simplify our services, enabling us to manage demand effectively and releasing capacity for 
those with more complex needs.  

 
We are also continuing to develop our approach to locality working which will see us 
working collaboratively with partners to combine resources in the local areas based around 

shared priorities, delivering the right services at the right time in order to achieve positive 
outcomes and improved levels of service for the community.  

 
In order to ensure that we can continue to support our communities and residents in this 

changing environment it is imperative that we have a workforce that is engaged, adaptable, 
flexible and has both the skills and mindset to meet these changing needs and demands and 

ensure we continue to deliver high quality, modern and effective services. 
 

We will create more capacity through improving our productivity  
 

Our commitments to achieve this are: 
 

 Recovery from the COVID-19 Pandemic  
 Responding to the climate change and digital agendas 

 Getting more output from our workforce through smarter working  
 Encouraging innovation 

 Supporting the wider transformation programme  
 
 

Page 263



 
 

 
 Page 14 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Strategy Implementation 
 
We will communicate this Strategy and how it can support service areas through Alliance 
Management Team (AMT) meetings. This will give the opportunity to discuss how it will 
apply to the service area and what interventions we will look to use to develop our people. 
The approach will be flexible and bespoke to each service area as we know that a one size 
fits all approach is not appropriate. 
 
The OD Strategy will be embedded in the service planning process. Heads of Service will be 
required to consider the contents of the strategy in the development of their operational 
service plans and staff appraisals. 
 
The Head of  OD and Transformation will be responsible for delivering specific priorities 
identified in this Strategy and will do so through updating the relevant policies and 
procedures. 
 
There  will be an annual review process which will assess the implementation of the 

strategy. This will be supported by Heads of Service as part of their service plan reviews.  
 

The performance indicators contained within the Councils’ Performance Framework will 
provide data on the health of the organisation will inform discussions and whether action 

plans need to be amended during the year. The key indicators are:  
 

 Staff turnover 
 Staff sickness 

 Success of Recruitment campaigns 

 Staff with Performance Development Reviews and Plans in place 
 Outcomes from Staff Surveys 

11 
The primary purpose of the Organisational Development Strategy is to ensure that the 

Council’s priorities are achieved. It should be seen as a live document which constantly 
evolves as the Council’s priorities change and the workforce develops over time. 

 

Page 264



 
 

 
 Page 15 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Action Plan  
 
Year 1 
 

Building strong 
leadership and 
management 

Review of 
governance and 

scrutiny 
arrangements 

Leadership 
development 
programme 

Improved staff / 
member 
interface 

Management 
development 
programme 

Review 
commissioning / 

procurement 
skills 

requirements 

  

Sustaining and 
improving a 

skilled, flexible 
and motivated 

workforce 

Skills audit and  
gap assessment 

Review of 
equalities and 

diversity 
arrangements 

Agreement of an 
employee 

charter 

Review of staff 
appraisal 
scheme 

Review and 
refresh 

apprenticeship 
and graduate 
recruitment 

arrangements 

Implementation 
of agile working 

arrangements 

Pay and 
conditions 

review including 
new staff pay 

grade 

Improving 
customer focus 

Review of 
customer access 

and digital 
inclusion 

requirements 

Communications  
skills review 

Review of 
community 
leadership 
schemes 

    

Driving 
transformational 

change, 
innovation and 

improving value 
for money 

Development of 
COVID-19 

recovery plans 

Assessment of 
climate change 

and digital 
implications for 

workforce 

Refreshed staff 
ideas scheme 

Refreshed  
service design 
methodology 

 

   

 

 

  

P
age 265



 
 

 
 Page 16 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Year 2 
 

Building strong 
leadership and 
management 

Refreshed 
councillor 

development 
approach and 

plans 

Implement 
commissioning / 

procurement 
development 
programme 

   

  

Sustaining and 
improving a 

skilled, flexible 
and motivated 

workforce 

Refreshed 
Training and 

Development 
Approach and 

Plans 

Revised staff 
appraisal 
scheme 

Implementation 
of talent 

management 
and 

development 
approach 

Revised 
workforce 

competencies 
framework 

Review and 
revision of policy 
and procedures 

  

Improving 
customer focus 

Implement 
refreshed 

community 
leadership 
schemes 

    

  

Driving 
transformational 

change, 
innovation and 

improving value 
for money 

Agree 
programme of 

service reviews 

Implement 
phase 1 of 

service reviews 
   

  

 
 
  

P
age 266



 
 

 
 Page 17 Organisational Development Strategy 2022 | DRAFT 

Year 3 
 

Building strong 
leadership and 
management 

Review 
leadership and 
management 
development 
programmes 

      

Sustaining and 
improving a 

skilled, flexible 
and motivated 

workforce 

Skills audit and  
gap assessment 

      

Improving 
customer focus 

 
      

Driving 
transformational 

change, 
innovation and 

improving value 
for money 

Implement 
phase 2 of 

service reviews 

      

 

P
age 267



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 Cabinet 
 

8 February 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document Issues and Options 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Michael Bowen - Portfolio Holder 
for Communities 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Mark James - Principal Planning Officer 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All Wards outside of the Peak District 
National Park; 

 
 

Appendices Attached –  
 
Appendix A – Issues and Options Paper 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To notify Councillors of the preparation of a Developer Contributions 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and approve consultation on the 
Issues and Options identified. Feedback on Issues and Options and plans for 
consultation is also sought. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Cabinet notes the purpose of the SPD and approves consultation on the 
Issues and Options identified.   
 

3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 Policy SS12 in the adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan identifies the 
need for a Developer Contributions SPD to provide guidance for affordable 
housing, open space, education, health and other forms of infrastructure 

required to address the impact of development and how contributions will be 
calculated. The SPD will provide the Council with a stronger basis to seek 

developer contributions and will provide officers, councillors and developers 
with clear guidance.  
 

3.2 The Council has appointed Capita to assist with the preparation of a draft  
SPD.  As part of the initial work undertaken, stakeholder engagement was 

carried out with key service areas across the Council including Development 
Management, Legal, Regeneration, Service Commissioning and Staffordshire 

Page 269

Agenda Item 9.1



  

County Council.  A number of issues and options have been identified on 
which feedback is sought. It is proposed that a stage 1 preparation 
consultation in line with the Council’s Statement of Community Interest (SCI) is 

undertaken to give those with an interest in this specialist area an opportunity 
to respond to the issues and options identified. 

 
3.3 Following the consideration of responses a draft SPD will be prepared. The 

draft SPD will be subject to a full publication stage consultation. Following a 

review of responses to the consultation, the Council will then be able to 
consider the adoption of the SPD. The document will become a material 

consideration to relevant planning applications.   
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The Developer Contributions SPD links to the following corporate key 

priorities: 

 Aim 1: To help create a safer and heathier environment for our 
communities to live and work. Key objectives include an increased supply 

of good quality affordable homes and provision of sports facilities and 
leisure opportunities focused upon improving health. 

 Aim 2: To use resources effectively and provide value for money. A key 
objective is effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value 
for money. 

 Aim 3: To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration 
of towns and villages.  

 Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 
emergency. Key objectives include meeting the challenges of climate 

change and the provision of quality parks and open spaces. 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Recommend Cabinet approve consultation on Issues and Options.  

(recommended). 
 

5.2 Recommend Cabinet do not approve consultation on Issues and Options. This 

would mean that the requirement in the Council’s SCI will not have been met 
and feedback on Issues and Options will not be considered in the preparation 
of the SPD. (not recommended) 

 
 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
None direct. 

 
6.2 Workforce 

 
Officer time allocated towards the preparation and publication of 
the SPD. 

 

Page 270



  

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed for this 

project. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
The SPD will provide the Council with a stronger basis to seek 

developer contributions. The Council is required to annually publish 
an Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) which sets out annual 

income and expenditure relating to developer contributions in 
Staffordshire Moorlands secured through S106 agreements. The 
2020/21 statement can be found as follows:  

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-
Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-

21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-
21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 makes provision 
for the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents. 

 
Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the procedural 

requirements for their preparation and adoption.  

 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
Policy SD2 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan provides 

support for renewable and low-carbon energy and Policy SD3 
supports further carbon-saving or water-saving measures in both 

new and existing developments. 
 

6.7 

 

Consultation 

 
A period of public consultation is proposed in accordance with the 

Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 
 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
S106 contributions are likely to withdrawn by Government as the 

Planning White Paper proposed to abolish the current method of 
securing contributions and replacing it with an “Infrastructure Levy”. 
However, planning reforms at a national level are likely to take 

several years and in the meantime, Government has made it clear 
that LPAs should not pause plan making. The SPD will reflect the 

adopted Local Plan.  
 
The SPD will provide the Council with a stronger basis to seek 

developer contributions and will provide officers, councillors and 

Page 271

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767


  

developers with clear guidance. 
 

 
Neil W. Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

As attached to the report.  Mark James 

Principal Planning Officer 
mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
 
7. Detail 

 

7.1 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) can be prepared by local 

planning authorities to provide guidance to developers, land owners, planning 
agents and the Council on specific planning policies. SPDs are capable of 
being material considerations in the determination of planning applications but 

they do not form part of the statutory development plan. As such, they cannot 
be used to introduce new policies. Outside of the Peak District National Park, 

the statutory development plan in Staffordshire Moorlands consists of the 
adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2020), the Leekfrith 
Neighbourhood Plan and the minerals and waste plans prepared by 

Staffordshire County Council. 
 

7.2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
set out the requirements for the preparation of SPDs. The National Planning 
Policy Framework and associated guidance acknowledge the role of SPDs in 

providing further guidance for local policies. Regulation 8 (3) states that; “Any 
policies contained in a supplementary planning document must not conflict 

with the adopted development plan”. It is also made clear in the national 
planning practice guidance that SPDs should not add unnecessarily to the 
financial burdens on development. 

 
Purpose and scope of the Supplementary Planning Document 

 
7.3 SMDC adopted the Local Plan in September 2020. The Local Plan sets out 

the Spatial Strategy, development requirements, site allocations and 

development management policies for the period 2014 to 2033. The plan 
proposes 6080 new homes and 27ha of employment land over the plan period 

and sets out how it will be distributed between the towns and rural areas.   
 
7.4 Policy SS12 in the adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan identifies the 

need for a Developer Contributions SPD to provide guidance for affordable 
housing, open space, education, health and other forms of infrastructure 

required to address the impact of development and how contributions will be 
calculated. The SPD will provide the Council with a stronger basis to seek 
developer contributions and will provide officers, councillors and developers 

with clear guidance. 

Page 272



  

 
7.5 The SPD will set out what will be required to mitigate or manage the impact of 

new developments and the financial contributions provided by developers to 

pay for infrastructure to meets the needs of their development. It will consider 
the following: 

 

 Affordable housing 

 Open space, sport and recreation facilities 

 Ecological mitigation and biodiversity off-setting  

 Green Infrastructure 

 Education 

 Transport and Accessibility 

 Employment 

 Health  

 Retailing outside of town centres 

 Climate Change 

 
Issues and Options 
 

7.6 The Council has appointed Capita to assist with the preparation of a draft  
SPD.  As part of the initial work undertaken, a series of stakeholder 

engagement was carried out with key service areas across the Council 
including Development Management, Legal, Regeneration, Service 
Commissioning and Staffordshire County Council.  

 
7.7 An Issues and Options document has been prepared and is attached as 

Appendix 1. The document identifies key planning obligations that that could 
be sought to mitigate against the impacts of development and sets out a 
number of options for consideration and inclusion within the SPD, including the 

recommended approach taken where relevant. Where appropriate, a preferred 
option has also been given based on stakeholder engagement and desktop 

research. The next steps in this process will be refining these options and 
developing a draft SPD document. 

 

 
Consultation on Issues and Options 

 
7.8 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

requires the Council to consult the public and stakeholders before adopting a 

SPD. Regulation 12(a) requires a statement to be prepared setting out who 
has been consulted while preparing the SPD; a summary of the main issues 

raised; and how these issues have been addressed in the final SPD. 
Regulation 12(b) requires that statement to also be published as part of the 
formal consultation on the SPD. 

 
7.9 The Regulations do not require that public consultation is undertaken on the 

SPD at this stage, however the Council’s Statement of Community 
involvement (SCI) which was adopted in April 2016 sets out the preparation 
activities to be undertaken at each stage. The consultation methods for Stage 

1 preparation stage includes details to be published on the Council’s website,  

Page 273



  

meetings “if appropriate for statutory bodies” and direct notification of contacts 
on the planning policy consultation database. 

 

7.10 The consultation database includes contact details for those individuals / 
organisations who have made comments on planning policy documents, 

registered their own details on the consultation portal, or who have otherwise 
requested to be kept updated with progress on planning policy. The database 
also includes contact details for those organisations listed in the Regulations 

that the Council is required to consult. As the SPD is very technical in nature it 
is proposed to undertake a targeted consultation on the Issues and Options 

document, providing details on the Council’s website and notifying those 
contacts on the database. Responses will be considered and used to 
formulate a draft SPD which will be considered at future meeting.    

 

Page 274



 

1 
 

1. Introduction  
 
1.1 Following adoption of the Local Plan in September 2020, Capita have been 

appointed to review the Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD) for Staffordshire Moorlands.  The current SPD dates back to 2004 and is 

therefore in need of updating to take account of changes within the legislative and 

policy framework.  

 

1.2 As part of the initial work undertaken, a series of stakeholder engagement was 

carried out with key service areas across the Council and the County Council to gain 

a more detailed understanding of current processes, key issues and potential 

opportunities that could be addressed through the SPD. 

 

1.3 This Issues and Options document is the next stage in the review process leading to 

production of an updated Developer Contributions SPD. It identifies key planning 

obligations that that could be sought to mitigate against the impacts of development 

and sets out a number of options for consideration and inclusion within the SPD, 

including the recommended approach taken where relevant. Where appropriate, a 

preferred option has also been given based on stakeholder engagement and desktop 

research. The next steps in this process will be refining these options and developing 

a first draft SPD document.  

 
1.4 Once adopted, the SPD will help ensure that that development proposals make a 

positive contribution to sustainable development by providing social, economic and 

environmental benefits to the community as a whole that is in line with current local 

plan policies. In addition, it will also help to increase understanding of Planning 

Obligations and provide greater transparency in how they are applied, thereby 

enabling developers to take potential costs of proposed development into account at 

the earliest opportunity.   

 

Purpose of Supplementary Planning Document 

 
1.5 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs), whilst not part of the development plan 

itself, are documents which add further detail to the policies in a Local Plan. They are 

capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions and can be used to 

provide further guidance for development on specific sites or on particular issues, 

such as developer contributions. Once finalised this document will therefore sit 

alongside the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan which was adopted in September 

2020.  

 
1.6 The main purpose of this SPD will be to set out the Council’s approach to the use of 

Section 106 (s106) agreements used to secure developer contributions from new 

developments. This will assist stakeholders in the development process, including 

planning officers, developers, service providers, Councillors and members of the 

public. More specifically, it will:  

 

 Outline the mechanisms for securing developer contributions and explain the 

relevant legislative and planning policy context within which contributions are 

sought. 

Page 275



 

2 
 

 Explain what is expected of applicants and what the applicant can expect from 

the Council in relation to securing S106 planning agreements. 

 Ensure the developer contributions process is fair, transparent, and applied 

consistently. 

S106 Planning obligations 

 

1.7 Developer contributions can be secured via Section 106 (S106), which are legal 

agreements between the developer and/or landowner, the local planning authority, 

and other service or infrastructure providers linked to a proposal or mitigation 

scheme. They are legally binding and enforceable. 

 

1.8 Developer contributions via S106 can be provided on or off-site via financial 

contributions; affordable housing provision; or the direct delivery of facilities.  

 
1.9 As set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 20101 and 

paragraph 57 of the NPPF, S106 obligations should only be used to secure 

infrastructure where all of the following tests are met: 

 

 necessary to make a development acceptable in planning terms;  

 directly related to a development; and  

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

 

2 General approach to developer contributions  

2.1  The following section provides a summary of the approach to developer 
contributions, that will be outlined as an introductory section of the SPD. 

Trigger points  

 
2.2 Trigger points are the stages within a development at which payment of a 

contribution or provision of infrastructure becomes necessary; examples include: 

‘prior to commencement’ and ‘prior to occupation’. During the negotiation stage of the 

S106 agreement, the triggers points for each obligation will be discussed between 

the developer, the Council and the County Council and any other infrastructure 

providers involved in the S106 agreement.  

 

2.3 Infrastructure providers should suggest trigger points when submitting their requests 

for contributions which will aid the Council when drafting the S106 agreement. 

Trigger points should be both clear and reasonable, with the aim of securing the full 

delivery of both development and the necessary infrastructure when and where it is 

needed to mitigate the impacts of development. The Council will aim to ensure that 

trigger points are viable to the specific stage of the delivery of the development. By 

outlining specific guidance on trigger points, developer contributions can be 

monitored more consistently as expectations set are clear and consistent. 

 

 

                                                                 
1
 Regulation 122(2) of the CIL Regulations 2010 

Page 276



 

3 
 

Indexation 

 
2.4 At present the approach to indexation applies two different methods across various 

agreements. Both the Retail Price Index (RPI), published by the Office of National 

Statistics (ONS) and the Construction Materials Price Index (CMPI), published by the 

Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) are currently used in 

S106 agreements.  

 

2.5 To ensure the real value of developer contributions is maintained up to the date of 

payment, given there can be delays in the planning process or for development to 

commence/complete, the principal sum should be index linked to ensure that inflation 

and fluctuations in market prices are reflected. The SPD should also state that 

contributions will be index linked from committee resolution to the trigger point and 

contributions should not be less than the amount originally agreed if the indexation 

decreases.  

 

Option to apply consistent methodology (as updated from current approach) 

 

2.6 As noted above, both the RPI and CMP index are applied at present; it is 
recommended that a consistent approach is endorsed, unless exceptional 

circumstances apply. As the CMPI reflects the cost of construction materials and 

therefore directly relates to development costs, this is considered to be more 

accurate than the general RPI if the contribution is to be used to fund infrastructure.  

 

Prioritisation of contributions  

 

2.7 The NPPF states that planning obligations should only be used where it is not 

possible to address unacceptable impacts arising from a development through a 

planning condition. Planning obligations may only constitute a reason for granting 

planning permission if they meet all of the tests that they are necessary to make the 

development acceptable in planning terms. 

 

2.8 There may be instances where contributions are not viable. Where sufficient 

developer contributions cannot be made to mitigate the impact of a development, and 

the contributions are considered necessary in order to make the development 

acceptable in planning terms, the Council may decide to refuse the application. In 

these cases, viability considerations will be irrelevant.  

 
2.9 However, some developments may not be able to make contributions towards all of 

the infrastructure that is required but remain desirable for other reasons. Where such 

viability constraints exist, the Council could consider including a contributions priority 

table within the SPD. However, the relative importance of an obligation will depend 

on the development being considered and will require a judgement to be made by the 

Council when considering that planning application (e.g., a large-scale residential 

development will have different infrastructure priorities as opposed to a large-scale 

commercial development proposal).   

 

 

Page 277



 

4 
 

Proposed option 1  

2.10 A statement of recognition to make it clear that it is the Council’s discretion to decide 

what the priority is for contributions, should there be a viability issue preventing all 

requests from being fulfilled. The Council will base this decision on priorities in the 

Local Plan, Corporate Plan and other supporting Council strategies. There may also 

be requirements for sub-areas in the District, which will set specific priorities, and 

these will also be reflected through regular updating of the Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan (IDP) , which sets out current provision of infrastructure across the district and 

infrastructure requirements over the plan period to deliver growth.  

 

2.11 Additionally, the type of development will influence which contributions are most 

important, for example a large residential development could identify education and 

affordable housing as priorities, whereas a retail development might prioritise 

highways/junctions, public realm and biodiversity etc. 

 

Proposed option 2 

2.12 Table one below sets out ‘essential infrastructure’ and ‘desirable infrastructure’ as 

outlined within the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). These have been categorised 

into sub priority groups to demonstrate how contributions could be prioritised; 

however, it may be necessary to re-examine these categories following discussions 

with stakeholders and when considering any additional evidence in specific or 

exceptional circumstances.  

Table 1: Example of priority contributions based on the IDP (2018) 

Category  Priority subcategory  Contribution type  
Essential infrastructure as 
identified in the IDP 
(necessary to make 
development acceptable in 
planning terms) 

Priority 1a Highway infrastructure  

Education  
Flood risk and drainage 

Waste management  
Priority 1b Health / expansion of GP 

surgeries  

Affordable Housing 
Desirable (policy priority – 
improves the existing levels 
of capacity and generally 
which delivers place making 
benefits) 

Priority 2a Open space, sports and 
recreation 
Measures in Green 
Infrastructure Strategy  
 

 Sustainable travel – i.e 
public transport, bus stops 
etc.  

Priority 2b  Public realm 
Playing pitches  
Community and cultural  
Emergency services 

 

Proposed option 3 

2.13 The SPD could outline a ranking scale for infrastructure projects and types, defining 

categories that are i) critical, ii) essential, iii) a policy priority or iv) desirable; these 

categories could link in with the IDP and be updated regularly.  Runnymede Council 

Page 278

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2856/The-Infrastructure-Development-Plan-Feb-2018/pdf/Staffordshire_Moorlands_IDP_Final_Report_Issue_05_02_18.pdf?m=1517825194117
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2856/The-Infrastructure-Development-Plan-Feb-2018/pdf/Staffordshire_Moorlands_IDP_Final_Report_Issue_05_02_18.pdf?m=1517825194117
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2856/The-Infrastructure-Development-Plan-Feb-2018/pdf/Staffordshire_Moorlands_IDP_Final_Report_Issue_05_02_18.pdf?m=1517825194117
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2856/The-Infrastructure-Development-Plan-Feb-2018/pdf/Staffordshire_Moorlands_IDP_Final_Report_Issue_05_02_18.pdf?m=1517825194117
https://www.runnymede.gov.uk/downloads/file/786/adopted-infrastructure-spd


 

5 
 

have implemented a similar process and an example of this infrastructure priority 

matrix is outlined in table two below. The types of infrastructure to be included within 

each priority category below are only intended to be indicative at this stage and 

would therefore likely to require further discussion and agreement from key 

stakeholders.  

Table 2: Example ranking scale for infrastructure and types  

Prioritisation level  Description  

Critical  Infrastructure which must happen to enable growth. Without 
critical infrastructure development cannot proceed and the 
Local Plan cannot be delivered. 

Essential  Infrastructure required to mitigate impacts arising from the 
operation of development. Lack of delivery is unlikely to 
prevent development in the short-term but failure to invest 
could result in delays to development in medium-long term as 
infrastructure capacity becomes constrained. 

Policy priority  Infrastructure supporting wider strategic or site-specific 
objectives as set out in Local Plan policies but lack of delivery 
would not necessarily prevent development. 

Desirable  Infrastructure required for sustainable growth but unlikely to 
prevent development in short to medium term. 

 

Sub-option (as a proposed add-on to the options above) 

2.14 Depending on the proposed prioritisation option that is taken forward, the SPD could 

also consider a further step of evaluation within the process that will assess planning 

obligations and/or contributions according to their value. This would add a further level of 

consideration within the contributions prioritisation system to enable the Council to 

consider the most effective way to spend contributions based on their value, particularly 

where viability is an issue (e.g. for some development proposals, the council may 

consider that contributions below £10,000 may have a more meaningful impact when 

spent on green infrastructure or open space and recreation or towards a specific scheme 

or project identified in the IDP). This assessment would therefore be supported by the 

infrastructure requirements needed to make a development proposal acceptable in 

planning terms and should relate back to the wider policy and priorities for required 

infrastructure, supported by the IDP.  

 

Viability  

2.15 At present, the Council does not have a formal protocol in place to deal with viability 

issues that arise. Therefore, a consistent approach to this is recommended and one 

that ensures the Council does not bear the costs of having viability independently 

assessed. 

Requirement for viability measures within the SPD  

 

2.16 It is acknowledged that there may be occasions where, as a result of economic 

viability, the development is unable to meet the full developer contribution 

requirements, and applicants must demonstrate whether particular circumstances 

justify the need for a viability assessment. In addition, the time lag between 

Page 279



 

6 
 

calculating contributions and real costs of delivering a project can have implications 

on viability.  

 

2.17 As outlined in national guidance, where a viability assessment is submitted to 

accompany a planning application, this should be based upon and refer back to the 

viability assessment that informed the local plan, and the applicant should provide 

evidence of what has changed since then. Any viability assessment should reflect the 

government’s recommended approach to defining key inputs as set out in NPPG, 

which also states that the price paid for land is no longer an input into viability 

assessments nor a relevant justification for failing to accord with relevant policies in 

the Local Plan. The SPD will clearly state the steps that developers/applicants must 

take when submitting a viability assessment, including:  

 

 The requirement to engage with the Council as early as possible in relation to 

viability issues.  

 The Council could also seek to test the development viability by seeking other 

viability enhancements such as deferring or phasing contribution payments to 

assist developers when necessary if it is agreed that viability is considered to be 

marginal. 

 To substantiate a claim the Council will require a full financial appraisal through 

an informed and independent assessment of viability signed by an appropriately 

qualified and independent valuer or financial professional and that all costs 

incurred in undertaking such an assessment being paid for by the developer. The 

Council also reserves the right to appoint a suitably qualified person to undertake 
the review if required. 

Monitoring  

2.18 The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) Regulations 2019 

allow fees for monitoring obligations to be sought from developers where:  

 the sum to be paid fairly and reasonably relates in scale and kind to the 

development; and 

  the sum to be paid to the authority does not exceed the authority’s estimate of its 

cost of monitoring the development over the lifetime of the planning obligations 

which relate to that development. 
 

2.19 National guidance also states that fees could be a fixed percentage of the total value 

of the section 106 agreement or individual obligation, or could be a fixed monetary 

amount per obligation in the agreement (for example, for in-kind contributions). 

Authorities may decide to set fees using other methods. However, in all cases, 

monitoring fees must be proportionate and reasonable and reflect the actual cost of 

monitoring. Authorities could consider setting a cap to ensure that any fees are not 

excessive. 

 

2.20 Therefore, the Council could request a fee to cover the cost of monitoring and 

administration of developer contributions to cover: 

 The maintenance and development of the planning obligations monitoring 

database system to assist in the co-ordination of obligation preparation, 

completion, monitoring and review. 

 The monitoring of trigger points and development progress.  

Page 280

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability#standard-inputs


 

7 
 

 Recovery of planning obligations that have not been fulfilled, including any 

necessary enforcement or legal action. 

 Liaison between council service departments and with Derbyshire/Staffordshire 

County Council. 

 Preparing the annual Infrastructure Funding Statement, which is a statutory 
requirement under the CIL regulations.  

2.21 The most common approaches applied are:   

 Option 1 - Apply a standard charge for monitoring, based on net additional 

dwellings. 

 Option 2 - Apply a standard charge based on a cost per S106 head of term and 

or trigger point. This could also be applied to non-financial contributions.  

 Option 3 - Apply a charge based on a percentage of the total value of financial 

contributions secured in the Section 106 agreement, although this approach 

seems to be applied to older SPDs with many updating their approach to 
monitoring fees based on option 1 or 2.  

2.22 Appendix two includes examples of different approaches to monitoring fees 

implemented by other Councils to demonstrate the various methods that can be 

used. 

Preferred option 

2.23 Where the Council uses S106 legal agreements to mitigate development proposals, it 

is important that they are monitored to ensure trigger points are adhered to. The 

Council currently absorb the cost of monitoring S106 agreements. However, like 

other Councils, it is reasonable to expect the developers who benefit from the 

planning permission to meet these costs. 

 

2.24 Based on the background research carried out, it is recommended that the Council 

apply a standard monitoring fee per obligation trigger (Option 2).  The fee would be 

based upon the occurrence of triggers for compliance of a planning obligation rather 

than each obligation individually. The exact amount to charge per obligation trigger is 

an area of work that is still undergoing further research and engagement with 

stakeholders. Appendix two highlights that the monitoring fees charged by other 

councils varies widely. The rationale for applying this approach is based on officer 

time taken to effectively monitor these trigger points and carry out the tasks outlined 

in paragraph 3.7, which need to be done regardless of the scale and size of the 

development. Similarly, applying a percentage fee could result in a disproportionate 

monitoring fee that is not reflective of officer monitoring time. As there is currently to 

dedicated monitoring officer/resource within the Council there will be a need to 

provide an estimate on associated costs to robustly justify the level of monitoring fees 

requested. 

 
2.25 In addition is it recommended that the SPD states that monitoring fees are payable 

upon the completion of a S106 agreement, to enable the council to cover the costs of 

monitoring the commencement of development. The fee should be periodically 

reviewed to ensure the administrative costs associated with monitoring and 

managing developer contributions are covered.  

 

 

Page 281



 

8 
 

3 Potential contributions that could be sought within the 

SPD  

Affordable Housing  

Local Plan Policies  Other relevant Strategies and guidance  

Staffordshire Moorlands  
 H1 – New housing development 
 H2 – Housing Allocations 
 H3 – Affordable housing  
 H4 – Gypsy and Traveller sites and 

sites for Travelling show people  

 Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment 

 Proposed Biddulph Neighbourhood 
Plan (and any future Neighbourhood 
Plans produced) 

 

 

Key policies and strategies  

3.1 To support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of housing, 

the NPPF emphasises the importance of meeting the needs of groups with specific 

housing requirements.  Paragraph 63 notes that where there is a need for affordable 

housing, planning policies should specify the type of affordable housing required and 

expect it to be met on site unless: 

 off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly 

justified; and 

 the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and balanced 

communities 
 

3.2 The Council’s overall approach to affordable housing is set out in Policy H3 and the 

supporting text. This policy states that residential developments of 10 dwellings or 

more (or 0.5ha) should provide 33% affordable housing but will consider a lower level 

subject to viability evidence. Affordable housing should be provided on site and/or 

through a commuted sum. Policy H1 makes reference to housing for people with 

specific needs such as older people and those identified within the SHMA as having 

specific needs.  

Interpretation of policy to inform guidance 

3.3 The affordable housing requirement within the District is clear and provides for a 33% 

target for developments over 10 dwellings.  The Council’s preference is for affordable 

housing to be provided on site, but where this is not possible, the Council currently 

relies on the 2005 Affordable Housing SPD to calculate commuted sums, which is 

now outdated, but is based on an ‘equivalent value’ approach and therefore will be 

superseded once the SPD is adopted. 

Proposed options  

3.4 As there is no prescribed method for calculating commuted sums for affordable 

housing, a review of approaches has been taken, which includes assessment of 

example uses in other local authorities to help inform the preferred method. There 

are commonly four main approaches used, which are summarised below, and a more 

detailed review is provided in appendix one.  

 

 

Page 282



 

9 
 

Table 4: Methods for calculating affordable housing contributions  

Type   
Cost based  
 

Applied either as a straightforward correlation between the 
cost of developing the affordable units and the commuted 
sum payable.  
 
 

Residual value based  
 

 

This is the residual value of a scheme with 100% market 
housing minus the residual value of scheme including 

affordable housing = commuted sum.  

 

Gross development 

Value (GDV) based -  

 

This is applied by establishing the Open Market Value of the 
equivalent affordable scheme minus value of affordable 
scheme as paid by the Registered Provider (RP) = 
commuted sum, 
 
or  
 
Calculating the GDV of whole scheme and multiplying by 
the percentage of affordable dwellings minus RP price paid 
= commuted sum 

Development area 

based – 

Expressed as the affordable percentage of each market unit 

multiplied by the build cost.  

 

 

Preferred options  

3.5 There is a need to look at the potential options outlined above in more detail and 

receive further input from the Council’s housing department before determining a 

preferred option. If possible, it would also be useful to mock test some of the 

approaches above to provide an indication of the likely levels of payments in lieu that 

would be generated.  

 

Vacant building credit  

3.6 To support the use of brownfield land, the NPPF makes provision for vacant buildings 

being reused or redeveloped to reduce affordable housing contributions.  To ensure 

that this financial credit is applied appropriately, it is recommended that the SPD sets 

out the relevant criteria that development proposals must meet. Table 5 provides a 

summary of this criteria in line with the NPPF and the government’s National 

Planning Practice Guidance.   

Table 5: Vacant Building Credit (VBC) Criteria 

Criteria  Basis  Evidence required  
Is the site 
brownfield?  

Paragraph 64 of the NPPF  
 
(to support the re-use of 
brownfield land, where 
vacant buildings are being 
reused or redeveloped, 

Satisfactory evidence that the definition of 
‘previously developed land’ as set out in 
the NPPF glossary applies to the site.  

Page 283



 

10 
 

affordable housing 
contribution due should be 
reduced by a proportionate 
amount." 

The building(s) 
has not been 
abandoned  

NPPG Paragraph: 029 
Reference ID: 23b-029-
20190901 

The VBC applies where the building has 
not been abandoned. When deciding 
whether a use has been abandoned, the 
Council will consider:  

 The condition of the property 
 The period of non-use 
 Whether there is an intervening 

use 
 Any evidence regarding the 

owner’s intention. 
The building 
has not been 
made vacant 
for the 
purposes of 
redevelopment  

NPPG Paragraph: 029 
Reference ID: 23b-029-
20190901 

Applicants will need to demonstrate 
through formal records (e.g., Rates and/or 
council tax) that the building has been in 
continuous lawful use.  

 

Open space, sport and recreation 

Local Plan Policies  Other relevant Strategies and guidance  

C1 – Creating Sustainable Communities  
 
C2 – Sport Recreation and Open Space  
 
 

 The Council's strategy for Physical 
Activity and Sport. 

 Open Space Study, Playing Pitch 
Strategy and Indoor Sports Facilities 
Assessment. 

 Sport England Toolkit.  
 Open Space Studies Standards 

Paper 2017.  
 

 

Key policy and strategies 

3.7 Paragraph 98 of the NPPF highlights the importance of having access to a network of 

high-quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and activity in supporting healthy 

lifestyles and communities.  

 

3.8 Policy C2 of the Local Plan requires development of 10 dwellings (or 0.5ha) to make 

provision or a contribution towards the provision of open space, indoor and outdoor 

sports and children’s play. It also states that future contributions should be based on 

the Sport England Toolkit and the recommended quantity standards set out in the 

Open Space Study, which are not currently used by the Council 

 
3.9 Policy C1 states that the Council will support schemes that “protect, retain or 

enhance community facilities”, which include sports and physical activity facilities 

under the Local Plan definition.  

 
3.10 The 2017 Open Space Study identified a total of 236 open space sites across 

Staffordshire Moorlands, equating to over 665 hectares.  However, the study also 

Page 284

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2849/Open-Space-Standards-Paper-2017/pdf/SMDC_Open_Space_Standards_Paper_2017_-_Final.pdf?m=1517821096483


 

11 
 

identified a number of shortfalls in quality and accessibility standards across the 

District for different types of open space. A summary of the current provision against 

recommended open space quantity standards is outlined below in table six. This 

table highlights that there is currently a shortfall in parks and gardens in all 

geographical areas with the exception of Leek, and a shortfall in allotments in 

Biddulph, Cheadle and rural areas.  

 

Table 6: current provision and recommended open space quantity standards  

Analysis 
area  

Parks and gardens 0.14 
(ha per 1000 
population) 

Amenity greenspace 
0.60 (ha per 1000 
population)  

Allotments 0.10 (ha per 
1000 population) 

Current 
provision  

+/- Current 
provision 

+/- Current 
provision  

+/- 

Biddulph  - -0.14 1.44 +0.84 0.06 -0.04 

Cheadle - -0.4 0.91 +0.31 0.06 -0.04 
Leek  0.66 +0.52 1.00 +0.40 0.37 +0.27 

Rural  - -0.14 0.89 +0.29 0.04 -0.06 
National 
Park  

-  -0.14 0.51 -0.09 0.14 +0.04 

 

3.11 The 2017 Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan provides an overview of current 

levels of provision within Staffordshire Moorlands across the public, education, 

voluntary and commercial sectors. This strategy recommends that where developer 

contributions are applicable, a Section 106 Agreement or equivalent must be 

completed that should specify, when applied, the amount that will be linked to Sport 

England’s Building Cost Information Service from the date of the permission and 

timing of the contribution/s to be made. Contributions should also be sought towards 

the first ten years of maintenance on new pitches. It also identifies a number of 

shortfalls in playing pitches across the council area and gives an indication of future 

need.  

 

3.12 Indoor sports facilities strategy identified a significant under supply of water space. 

Current swimming pool provision within the district is operating below the Sport 

England benchmark figure and there is a need for more swimming pools in the area, 

particularly in the west of the district.  

 

Summary of existing method used  

3.13 Currently the existing method of requesting developer contributions only stipulates 

the requirements for two types of open space resulting from demands of new housing 

developments (playing fields and play areas). The approach used to calculate these 

contributions is based on the 2004 SPD which uses a monetary figure multiplied by 

the total number of bedrooms, with an annual increase of 3% to account for the 

average cost of living increases.  

Table 7: summary of existing method used to calculate Play and pitch provision 

Costs to provide or upgrade a play or sports pitch 2021/22 

Play area £549.25 per bedroom  
Playing pitch  £685.36 per bedroom  

Page 285

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/2847/Staffordshire-Moorlands-Playing-Pitch-Strategy-and-Action-Plan-2017/pdf/Playing_Pitch_Strategy_and_Action_Plan_2017_-_Final.pdf?m=1519657525890


 

12 
 

1 bedroom =  
Play Area 6m² 
Playing Field 16m² 
 

 

Interpretation of policy to inform guidance 

3.14 Based on the local plan policy, it may be possible to expand the scope of developer 

contributions asked for under this topic to reflect future needs as evidenced in the 

Open Space Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy and Indoor Sports Facility Strategy.  
The SPD should also refer to any forthcoming updates to evidence and the IDP, 

which will be updated regularly. The method in which contributions are calculated 

could also be reviewed to ensure that commuted sums reflect the costs of delivering 

infrastructure.  

Proposed options 

 Review of commuted sums – In line with policy C2, a review should be carried out 

regarding the method used to calculate commuted sums for open space, sports and 

recreation. This should consider the Sports England Toolkit and other relevant 

evidence as outlined in paragraph 3.10 – 3.12 above. 

 Requirement for a wider range of contributions to help deliver open spaces, sports 

and recreation facilities. These could include contributions towards allotments, indoor 

facilities and open spaces.  

 Maintenance of open spaces, sports and recreation facilities – it is understood that 

the Council currently does not take responsibility for maintenance or management of 

new on-site facilities. Therefore, the SPD could stipulate the maintenance 

responsibilities required of the developer. In instances where the Council receives a 

contribution towards existing off-site facilities and are responsible for maintenance, 

the SPD could make a requirement for maintenance costs to be included; however, 

further clarification of how this can best be incorporated is still being explored. 

Preferred option  

3.15 There is a need to look at the potential options outlined above in more detail and get 

input from officers within the leisure and recreation department to ensure alignment 

with the Leisure Strategy; however, a preferred approach would be a combination of 

all three options.  

 

Biodiversity  

Local Plan Policies  Other relevant local Strategies and 
guidance  

 EQ 8 Green Infrastructure  
 NE 1: Biodiversity and Biological 

Resources  

 Green Infrastructure Strategy (2018) 
 Climate Strategy (2021) Part two  
 The Environment Act 2021 

 

Key policy and strategies 

3.16 The NPPF specifies the need to protect biodiversity, including designated sites, 

priority habitats and wider ecological networks. It promotes the conservation, 

restoration and enhancement of priority habitats and ecological networks and priority 

Page 286



 

13 
 

species.  In accordance with paragraph 174 of the NPPF, planning polices, and 

development decisions should minimise the impacts on and provide net gains for 

biodiversity. 

 

3.17 The Environment Act 2021 supplements existing legislation and policy and introduces 

new incentives, actions and planning tools to drive further improvements for nature.  

A key component of the Act is the requirement for development proposals to deliver 

at least 10% improvement to biodiversity; grants of planning permission are to be 

accompanied by a condition stipulating biodiversity gain which is to be managed for 

at least 30 years. 

 
3.18 Policy NE 1 already sets out the need for biodiversity to be protected and enhanced 

to achieve an overall net gain. In addition, development proposals that are deemed to 

have unavoidable adverse impacts on biodiversity will be required to ensure impacts 

are appropriately mitigated, with suitable compensation measures.  

 
3.19 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Green Infrastructure Strategy (2018) 

identifies the level of green infrastructure (GI) provision across the district and area 

and where the protection, enhancement and delivery of green infrastructure should 

be brought forward.  

 

Interpretation of the policy to inform guidance  

3.20 There are no explicit polices which link biodiversity or green infrastructure with 

developer contributions. However, biodiversity net gain is set to become a national 

requirement by 2023 and the Council should apply this in accordance with the 

relevant guidance.   

 

3.21 It is expected that biodiversity and green infrastructure enhancements will generally 

be secured through planning conditions, however, there may be some circumstances 

where it is suitable to ask for specific mitigation or compensation to make a 

development proposal acceptable given that this is set out in national legislation and 

policy and policy NE 1 seeks to also deliver net gains in biodiversity proportionate to 

the size and scale of the development. In accordance with the Environment Act, the 

developer is required to maintain the enhancement for at least 30 years after the 

completion of works. The habitat should be delivered on-site, however, where this is 

not possible offsite contributions or statutory biodiversity credits may be applied. 

 

Current approach  

3.22 The Council does not currently include any planning obligations under biodiversity 

and climate change.  

Proposed options  

 Include a requirement within the SPD for at least 10% net gain in biodiversity where 

these cannot be secured via planning conditions. This could include off-site mitigation 

and enhancement measures for both the direct and indirect impacts of a 

development scheme. Given the national requirement by autumn 2023 to provide a 

biodiversity minimum net gain of 10% and the Council’s green agenda as set out in 

local policy, the inclusion of this within the SPD will ensure that there is provision 

made to secure developer contributions for biodiversity net gain where it is not 

Page 287



 

14 
 

possible to deliver these through development design or planning conditions. The 

SPD could encourage these measures in advance of them becoming a statutory 
requirement in 2023.  

 

Climate change  

Key policies and strategies  

3.23 Policy SS1 states that developments will be supported where they secure high 

quality, sustainable environments that contribute effectively to tackling climate 

change and reduced carbon emissions. Policy SD1 seeks to ensure that 

developments proposals adapt to climate change through the use of development 

design and a support for proposals that demonstrate energy efficiency, water 

conservation and a sustainable use of resources.  

 

3.24 Policy SD5 also considers flood risk management and appropriate measures that 

should be taken to ensure that potential development does not increase the risk of 

flooding and natural features of the environment can be used to alleviate flooding and 

the impacts of climate change as far as possible. 

 
3.25 Policy SD4 states that for development proposals that result in pollution, mitigation 

will be sought through the use of planning obligations. In addition, the Council’s 

Climate Strategy (2021) has declared a climate emergency and aims to be carbon 

neutral by 2030.  

 
3.26 The NPPF outlines the importance of the planning system in shaping places to 

reduce emissions, support renewable and low carbon energy, improve resilience, 

support resource efficiency and endorse sustainable design and construction 

methods. 

Interpretation of Policy to Inform Guidance 

3.27 Although there is no direct link to developer contributions within the Local Plan policy, 

there is opportunity to underpin the policy requirements with additional detail and 

specific elements that can be provided within a S106 agreement. The SPD should 

also refer to the Council’s Climate Strategy and thereby ensuring that any potential 

obligations will be closely aligned to this strategy.  

Proposed options  

 Sustainable design and construction – in order to ensure that new development 

proposals make the fullest contribution to minimising greenhouse gas emissions, new 

developments will be encouraged to achieve the highest standards of sustainable 

design and construction.  This could encourage measures such as energy 

assessments, CO2 reduction, environmental rating etc. 

 Electric Vehicle Charging - in order to facilitate new technologies and future proof 

developments the provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Points should be 

incorporated into the design of major developments.  

 Air quality – where a site has a particular impact on or exposure to potential air 

quality issues, measures to ensure appropriate monitoring and/or delivery of specific 

mitigation may be required via S106. Larger developments may be required to submit 

an Air Quality Neutral (AQN) assessment. Developers must fully mitigate the air 

Page 288



 

15 
 

quality impacts of the new development by providing mitigation measures or offset 

the additional emissions by making a financial contribution. If a financial or in-kind 

contribution is deemed necessary, on a case-by case basis a project or sum will be 

identified and agreed to mitigate the effect on air quality from development. 

 Flood risk – a Section106 Agreement may be identified as the most effective 

mechanism to ensure mitigation of flood risk and drainage issues and may include 

measures such as the provision of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS). S106 may 

be sought on all proposals where the development requires off-site management of 

water to ensure no increase in flood risk elsewhere or off-site works to reduce the 

overall flood risk to an acceptable level, to the satisfaction of the Environment 

Agency (or other relevant authority). 

 Carbon off-setting – mitigation measures that could be included to development 

proposals include tree planting schemes, community energy projects, retrofitting 

initiatives.  

 Provision of cycling and waling links and cycle parking – in order to promote 

more sustainable transport modes, such as walking and cycling, developments that 

generate significant demand for travel could provide features such as cycle path links 
and cycle storage facilities.  

Preferred option 

3.28 The requirement to move towards a low carbon future and the need to mitigate and 

adopt to climate change is a key theme within national and local policy. The preferred 

approach would be to adapt a range of options outlined above to ensure a greater 

level of climate resilience. 

 

Health  

3.29 The NPPF has a chapter dedicated to promoting healthy and safe communities and 

paragraph 96 states that planning authorities should work with delivery partners to 

plan for required public service infrastructure facilities.  

 

3.30 Facilitating health and well-being is a key theme incorporated throughout the Local 

Plan. Policy SS 1 expects developments to contribute positively to quality local 

services, including health care facilities.  The spatial strategy also notes that the 

settlements of Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle, which are expected to accommodate 

significant levels of growth over the plan period, should seek to increase health care 

provision. In addition, a key priority within the corporate plan 2019 -2023 is to ensure 

effective health provision.  

Interpretation of the policy to inform guidance  

3.31 The area strategies for Leek, Cheadle and Biddulph specifically require improved 

provision of health facilities. In addition, the long-term growth of the District set out 

within the Local Plan, will inevitably lead to increased pressure on primary healthcare 

infrastructure and will require specific interventions that can be provided within a 

S106 agreement.  

Current approach  

3.32 Currently the Council have no set policy or formula for negotiating developer 

contributions towards health but is understood that the NHS/ Clinical Commissioning 

Page 289



 

16 
 

Group (CCG) are consulted during the planning application state, although responses 

received tend to be ad hoc.  

 

Proposed option  

3.33 The SPD should include a section on the provision of health to refine this process 
and ensure formal protocols are in place.  Anticipating future need and increasing 

patient numbers is challenging, therefore, the Council should continue to work 

collaboratively with the CCG/ NHS to support the use of developer contributions to 

implement primary healthcare infrastructure, particularly for large strategic sites. It is 

also important that the IDP is up to date to provide clarity on future funding 

requirements. 

 

Training and Employment 

3.34 The Local Plan encourages sustainable economic growth and maximising 

employment opportunities amongst Staffordshire Moorlands population.  Policy E1 

seeks to ensure that the District’s workforce is suitably skilled and will, where 

appropriate, seek to enter into agreements with employers to contribute towards 

training programmes and employment support and employment access schemes.   

Interpretation of policy to inform guidance  
 
3.35 Based on policy E1, it is possible to include requirements within the SPD to help 

increase opportunities for local employment and training.  

 
Proposed options  
 

 Training and employment opportunities - Major developments over a certain 

threshold may be required to provide direct provision of employment and training 
initiatives. This provision would be for local people living within the administrative 
boundary of Staffordshire Moorlands and directly relate to the employment needs of 
the development with the aim to maximise opportunities to develop local skills, 
business performance and expand employment provision. This could be managed 
through a Training and Employment Management Plan that would promote training 
and employment opportunities at all stages of the development to meet specific 
needs identified locally.  

 Local procurement opportunities – The SPD could seek opportunities to ensure 
that local businesses benefit from the construction and end use of developments. 
Through this, developers will be expected to work with the Council to promote and 
advertise tender opportunities and would be encouraged to achieve procurement of 
construction contracts and goods and services from companies and organisations 
within the district.  

 Financial contribution - Where appropriate, seek a financial contribution for training 

co-ordination. 
 
Preferred option 
 

3.36 Depending on the size and nature of development proposals, the Council should 

seek a combination of the options outlined above. The threshold for requiring such 

Page 290



 

17 
 

obligations will require further consideration and engagement with Council 

stakeholders. 

 
 

Transport and accessibility  

 

Local Plan Policies  Other relevant Strategies and guidance  
  T1 – Development and sustainable 

Transport 
 T2 – Other Sustainable Transport 

Measures  

 The Integrated Transport Strategy 

 

3.37 Chapter nine of the NPPF requires the planning system to promote sustainable 

travel. It also states that transport issues should be considered from the earliest 

stages of plan making and development proposals. When assessing development 

proposals, it should be ensured that any significant impacts from the development on 

the transport network, or on highway safety can be cost effectively mitigated to an 

acceptable degree. Developments that generate a significant amount of movement 

should be required to provide a travel plan. 

 

3.38 The Integrated Transport Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands prioritises transport 

measures that are required to deliver the Local Plan. Policy T1 promotes sustainable 

transport and notes that development that generates significant demand for travel or 

is likely to have significant transport implications will be required to contribute towards 

transport infrastructure and travel plans.  

 
3.39 Staffordshire County Council is responsible for collecting contributions in relation to 

highways. The County Council may seek planning obligations when there is a need 

for highway infrastructure improvements and/or to promote sustainable travel. 

 

Education  

Local Plan Policies  Other relevant Strategies and guidance  
  SS1: Development Principals   Staffordshire Education 

Infrastructure Contributions Policy 

 

3.40 The NPPF notes the importance of having a sufficient choice of school places 

available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. Paragraph 95 states 

that local planning authorities should:  

a.) Give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through the 

preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and 

b.) work with school promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to identify 
and resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted. 

 

3.41 Policy SS1 requires development to contribute positively to the social, economic and 

environmental improvement of Staffordshire Moorlands and will work in partnership 

with other agencies and services to delivers services such as education. 

Page 291



 

18 
 

3.42 Staffordshire County Council is responsible for collecting contributions in relation to 

education. The Staffordshire Education Infrastructure Contributions Policy 2021 

provides a broad approach to identifying the impact of new residential development 

on education infrastructure and the necessary mitigation to  make developments 

acceptable in planning terms. It provides the basis for calculating likely education 

infrastructure contributions. 

 
3.43 The SPD will not set out the County Council’s Education Infrastructure contributions 

policy. However, applicants will be advised and sign-posted where to refer to this 

separately.  

  

Page 292

https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Education/Schoolsandcolleges/PlanningSchoolPlaces/Information-for-developers/SEICP-March-2021-version-1.pdf


 

19 
 

Appendix 1  

Summary of calculation of commuted sums used by other councils.  

Approach  Local Authority  Summary of how this is applied   

Cost based 
approach  

Staffordshire 
Moorlands  

The contribution towards development of 
affordable housing elsewhere will be expected to 
reflect the provision that would have been required 
in the facilitating development.  
 
The Council will base the calculation of the 
commuted sum on the amount of the Social 
Housing Grant necessary to secure an affordable 
home of an equivalent size and type on another 
site.  
 
The calculation of the level of grant will be at 
normal grant levels as calculated from the regional 
Total Cost Indicator (TCI) calculation based on 
TCI 2002/3 levels, updated by Builders Cost 
Information Service indices. This provides a 
transparent way of calculating commuted sums 
that will realistically lead to the provision of 
affordable housing off site. Money collected will be 
kept in a specific housing fund managed by the 
Council and will only be used to fund affordable 
housing within the District. If not used within 10 
years the contribution will be returned to the 
developer with accumulated interest. 

Gross 
Development 
Value (GDV)  

Sefton Council  Step A: The applicant must provide details of the 
different types and sizes of homes within the 
proposed scheme. The Council, in liaison with the 
developer, will determine what proportion of each 
of these house types would be required to be 
affordable if the Council’s affordable housing 
policy were to be met. The key consideration 
should be meeting the overall provision of 
affordable bedspaces [30% outside Bootle] and 
the ratio between social and intermediate 
bedspaces of 80:20. 
 
Step B: The applicant must provide details of the 
open market value [OMV] of these identified 
affordable homes. This should be based on local 
evidence of similar schemes and supported by a 
valuation prepared by an RICS Registered Valuer. 
 
Step C: The applicant must submit evidence to 
demonstrate how much an appropriate Registered 
Provider [RP] would purchase the affordable 
housing units for on the basis that the dwellings 
remain affordable units. This can be provided as 
either a) as a cash price for each affordable unit or 
b) as a % of the OMV for affordable home types 
[i.e. social and intermediate] the RP would 

Page 293



 

20 
 

normally pay [i.e. the RP transfer rate]. 
 
The applicant should calculate the ‘cost to 
developer’ if the affordable units were to be 
provided on site. The cost will be equivalent to the 
difference between the open market value and the 
price that the Registered Provider would be 
prepared to pay. 
 
e.g. e.g. If a house is worth £200,000 on the open 
market and a registered provider would purchase 
the property for £120,000 then the ‘cost to 
developer’ would be £80,000 4 Similarly if the RP 
would pay 60% of the OMV for a house the 
developer would bear the remaining 40% of the 
value, i.e. the ‘cost to developer’ would be 
£80,000. 
 
Step D: Once the total ‘cost to developer’ is 
calculated for the scheme the Council will include 
an uplift to the financial contribution to reflect the 
fact if the affordable homes are provided off-site 
the number of homes in the total scheme actually 
increases. 
 
Total Scheme [TS] = Market Homes [MH] + 
Affordable Homes [AH] Market Homes [MH] = 0.7 
x Total Scheme [TS] Affordable Homes [AH] = 0.3 
x Total Scheme [TS] 

Gross 
Development 
Value (GDV) 

Allerdale Borough 
Council – 
Developer 
Contributions SPD 
(2017) 

For the purposes of calculating commuted sums 
payable in lieu of affordable housing on-site, for 
affordable/social rented units the sum shall be 
equal to the difference between the open market 
valuation of the units for which a need has been 
identified and the purchase price that a Registered 
Provider would be willing to pay for those units. 
For intermediate (Low Cost Home Ownership) 
units the sum shall be equal to the difference 
between the open market valuation of the units for 
which a need has been identified and the 
discounted purchase price at which those units 
would be offered.  
 
 
With regards to affordable/social rented units, 
Registered Providers’ purchase values typically 
based on a calculation from rental income, 
typically over a 30 year period. On average, 
across the Allerdale Plan Area, these purchase 
values equate to 50% of the open market value. 
 
However, the commuted sum sought by the 
Council will be calculated based on past evidence 
taking into account recorded purchase values and 
the level of discount achieved within the locality in 

Page 294



 

21 
 

which the development site is located (governed 
by the localities identified in Policy S6 of the Local 
Plan Part 1). In relation to intermediate units the 
commuted sum sought will be calculated based on 
the Council’s most current discount schedule for 
Low Cost Home Ownership units. A worked 
example is provided in Figure 1.  
 
 
e.g Development of 40 dwellings  
 
Affordable/social rented units:  

= 55% of OMV  
 
Intermediate rented units:  
= 70% OMV  

 
Affordable requirement of 20%  
= 8 units (5 affordable rent; 3 intermediate)  
Open market value = £175,000 per unit  
 
Affordable value (affordable rent) = £96,260 per 
unit (£175,000 x 55%)  
 
Affordable value (intermediate) = £122,500 per 
unit (£175,000 x 70%)  
Commuted Sum = (£175,000 x 8) – (£96,260 x 5) 
– (£122,500 x 3)  
= £1,400,000 - £481,250 - £367,500  
= £551,250 

  
 

Gross 
Development 
Value (GDV) 

Stroud Developer 
contribution SPD 
(2017) 

For simplicity, the Council suggests that financial 
contributions are calculated on the basis of the 
values that registered providers of affordable 
housing normally pay to acquire affordable 
housing. 
  
During the 2009 Lydney appeal in the Forest of 
Dean, the Inspector accepted that RPs would 
normally pay around 55% OMV for affordable 
units. On this basis, commuted sums will be 
calculated at a rate of 45% OMV of a notional 
affordable unit in order to reflect the ‘developer 
subsidy’ element of affordable housing provision.  
 
Worked example: A site for 12 units gives rise to 
an affordable housing component of 3.6 units. 
Three units are to be provided on site; the 
remaining 0.6 will be paid as a financial 
contribution.  
 
  
Open Market Value (OMV) of a two-bedroom open 
market property = £170,000 55% OMV = £93,500  

Page 295



 

22 
 

£170,000 – £93,500 = £76,500  
£76,500 x 0.6 = £45,900 

Residual value 
based  

Castle Point (2014)  Assumptions:  
The Development Viability Assessment identifies 
that Affordable Homes sell to registered providers 
at approximately 70% of the market sale value. 
Therefore, the cost to the developer of on-site 
provision is approximately 30% of the market sale 
value. The level of contribution, consistent with the 
New Local Plan policy, is considered to be 25% in 
Benfleet, Hadleigh and Thundersley and 15% on 
Canvey Island. Should a different level of 
contribution be agreed, having regard to the 
section that follows, then the calculation should be 
adjusted accordingly. 
 
Calculation 
15% or 25% x (30% market share value of total 
residential development) = financial contribution in 
lieu of on-site provision  
 

Rushcliffe 
Commuted Sum 
Guidance Note – 
2016 – Residual 
value based 

The calculation of the commuted sum should be 
based upon the gross development value of the 
proposal (based on local housing market 
evidence) compared against the combined cost of 
purchasing the land, construction, planning 
obligations and a competitive return for the 
developer.  
 
The required sum will be determined according to 
the difference between the financial return (profit) 
for the developer of the proposal with the 
affordable units on-site and the proposal without 
them. 19. When calculating the commuted sum 
the gross development value should include any 
rental incomes, the sale of properties, and any 
subsidies and grants.  
 
The cost of development should include 
construction costs, site costs (landscaping, roads 
and infrastructure), planning obligations (including 
affordable housing), professional fees, finance, 
sales and profit. Abnormal cost which are unique 
to the development should not be included within 
the cost of development as these costs should be 
reflected in the land value and absorbed by the 
landowner.  
 
The calculation of the commuted sum will be 
informed by:  
a) the particular circumstances of the site;  
b) the residential scheme proposed;  
c) current construction and finance costs; 
d) current house prices and land values; and 
 e) current national and local policy requirements, 

Page 296



 

23 
 

including Community Infrastructure Levy (when 
adopted) and affordable housing requirements 
 

Development 
area based  

Rutland District 
Council 

Equivalent value principle is used.  
 
Calculation is based on 35% (the affordable 
housing requirement) of the average cost per sqm 
of a market home up a maximum of 85sqm. 
“Developers will be charged per square metre 
based on the average size of market homes on 
the site, up to a maximum of 85m2. The use of a 
square metre rate up to 85m2 means that 
developments of modest market homes will not be 
penalised. The same size was used in the 
modelling for developers‟ contributions for other 
services and is also within the Homes and 
Communities Agency’s range for a 5 person 
home. 

 

 

  

Page 297



 

24 
 

Appendix 2 

Approach to monitoring fees used by other councils 

 

Local Authority  Fee / justification  

South 
Oxfordshire  

South Oxfordshire council recovers the cost of the administration and 
monitoring of each agreement through Section 106 monitoring fees, 
which should be paid upon completion of the S106 agreement, as 
costs are incurred immediately.  Costs are set out below and can also 
be viewed here.  

 Site size  

Admin / 
monitoring 
fee required  

Under 40 
dwellings 

4 0 – 399 
dwellings  

400+ 
dwellings  

Recording 
(per 
agreement) 

£78 £1571 £392 

Reporting 
(per 
agreement)  

£392 £1,177 £3,140 

Financial 
Monitoring 
(per 
financial 
obligation)  

£157 £257 £628  

Affordable 
housing 
monitoring 
fee 

£61 £90  £2 per unit  

On-site 
provision of 
open space 

£400  £800 ` £800+  

 

Havant Borough 
Council  

Havant borough council charges a fee to monitor all planning 
obligations as set out in the CIL Regulations and this is decided at a 
cost per head of term contained within the obligation and is in addition 
ot the legal charge for drafting and checking the obligation. 

 £753.80 per non-financial head of term (outside the scope of 
VAT) 

 5% of cost per financial head of term (outside the scope of 
VAT) 

Monitoring fee is capped at a maximum of £10,833 per application. 
This cap only applies to major applications without long term 
ecological management which may be subject to separate negotiation. 
 
Further information on Havant’s monitoring fees can be found in the 
Developer Contributions Guide.  

East Suffolk 
Council  

From 1 April 2021 East Suffolk Council will charge a monitoring fee of 
£408 per obligation trigger towards administration costs. The fee is 
based upon the occurrence of triggers for compliance of a planning 
obligation rather than each obligation individually. The monitoring fee 

Page 298

https://www.southoxon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/09/South-and-Vale-S106-Monitoring-and-Inspection-Fees.pdf
https://cdn.havant.gov.uk/public/documents/Developer%20contributions%20guide%20-%20April%202021.pdf


 

25 
 

is to be paid at completion of the s106 legal deed, to enable the 
council to cover the costs of monitoring the commencement of 
development. The fee will be periodically reviewed to ensure the 
administrative costs associated with monitoring and managing 
developer contributions are covered by the fee. 

Where RAMS Habitats Mitigation payments are paid in advance of the 
planning permission and are not included within a s106 agreement, 
these obligations will not be subject to the monitoring fee. 

 
Bedford Borough 
Council  

Bedford Council charge £102.50 inc VAT to discharge each S106 
contribution.  

Maidstone 
Borough Council  

Maidstone apply the following S106 monitoring fees:  

 For all non- residential development and for residential 
developments of under 40 units, the monitoring fee for s106 
legal agreements with one planning obligation (for example, 
the provision of affordable housing) is £1000 and then £500 for 
each additional planning obligation. 
 

 For residential development of 40 or more units, there will be a 
fee of £1500 for a s106 agreement incorporating one obligation 
and £750 for each additional planning obligation. 

 

Mid Sussex 
District Council  

The 2021/2022 fees for monitoring planning obligations are as follows: 

 For developments up to 15 dwellings - £150 per obligation 
 For larger developments between 16 and 100 dwellings, and 

including commercial developments - £450 per obligation 
 For very large developments over 100 dwellings - £500 per 

obligation. Where an obligation is based on triggers, the fee 
will be £500 per trigger. 

On all developments there will be a £300 fee levied for each approval 
required either by Mid Sussex District Council or West Sussex County 
Council as set out in the planning obligation. For example, a 
management plan. 

There may be an additional fee for site inspections where land is 
being transferred to the District Council. 

 
Braintree District 
Council  

Braintree District Council set monitoring fees at £400 per trigger for 
S106 agreements as of 1st April 2020. Monitoring fees are reviewed 
annually.  

South Holland 
District Council  

South Holland operate a three-tier cascade system for monitoring 
fees. 
1.) Minor developments monitoring fee: A minor development 

is classified as 'less than 10 residential units and where the 
gross floor space to be built is up to 1,000 square metres, or 
where the site area is less than 1 hectare'. Where the number 
of dwellings to be constructed or floor area proposed is not 
given in the application, a site area of less than 0.5 hectares is 
classed as a minor development. 

Page 299



 

26 
 

 
The fee for monitoring minor developments under Section 106 
is £1,500 

 
2.) Small scale major developments monitoring fee - Small 

scale major developments are classified as '10 to 199 
residential units (inclusive) and where the gross floor space to 
be built is 1,000 to 9,999 square metres, or where the site area 
is 1 hectare and less than 2 hectares'. Where the number of 
dwellings to be constructed or floor area proposed is not given 
in the application, a site area of between 0.5 hectares and less 
than 4 hectares is classed as a small-scale major 
development. 
 
The fee for monitoring small scale major developments under 
Section 106 is £2,500 

 
3.) Large scale major developments monitoring fee - Large 

scale major developments are classified as '200 or more 
residential units and where the gross floor space to be built is 
10,000 square metres or more, or where the site area is 2 
hectares or more. Where the number of dwellings to be 
constructed or floor area proposed is not given in the 
application, a site area of 4 hectares or more is classed as a 
large-scale major development. 
 
The fee for monitoring large scale major developments under 
Section 106 is £3,500 

Gedling Borough 
Council  

Trigger Monitoring Charge (£315) 

X 

No. of Obligation Triggers requiring monitoring 
 

 

Page 300



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 February 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Sports Grants Scheme 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Mark Deaville - Deputy Leader & 
Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Sports 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Cathy Hinde - Service Development Officer 
(Leisure and Recreation) 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All 

 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To confirm the changes made to the Sports Grants criteria. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Cabinet approves the changes made by the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Sports Council to the sports grant criteria. 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 The Staffordshire Moorlands Sports Grants programme supports delivery of 
‘Towards an Active Staffordshire Moorlands’ which is the physical activity and 
sport strategy for the District. The strategy aims to build active communities, 

including helping to develop a strong club network through one of its main 
aims: ‘Supporting our existing sports club and voluntary sector base to build 

local capacity and strengthen their community offer and encourage diversity’ 

3.2 Key priority groups are also highlighted in the strategy and include people in 
lower socio-economic groups and those with disabilities. We know these 

groups participate in sports and physical activity significantly less than those 
from higher and middle socioeconomic groups and people living without a 

disability. 
 

3.3 The sports grants scheme has been operating in the Moorlands since 2016, 

with the same categories as today.  The Council currently has an annual grant 
funding pot of £16,000 to be allocated across all the categories.  

 
3.4 To help align the sports grants criteria more closely to strategy priorities, the 

Staffordshire Moorlands Sports Council approved a change to the criteria at a 

Page 301

Agenda Item 10.1



  

meeting on 22 October 2019 which required individual athletes applying for a 
sport grant to provide proof they are either registered as disabled or in receipt 
of means tested benefits. The updated criteria has been in operation since 

May 2020.   
 

3.5 Prior to these changes, grants were available to individual athletes, coaches 
and clubs but for individual athletes there was no eligibility criteria based on 
financial or disability status. This resulted in a disproportionate amount of 

funds being allocated to individual athletes, 33 out of a total of 49, further 
detail on these grants is provided at 6.3. 

 
 
3.5  Since the changes set out in 3.4 have been made, there has been a significant 

shift in grant allocation as detailed below which demonstrates the allocation of 
sports grants monies are now more evenly aligned to our strategic priorities 

than before. The detail of funding provided in 2020-21 is detailed at 6.5. 
 
 

3.6 Covid19 put a swift halt to the vast majority of sports participation and the 
gradual easing of restrictions enabled sports clubs to return to activity. New 

operating measures were required and it was important that the Council 
responded and offered practical and financial support to help activity return in 
the Moorlands where possible.  

 
3.7 In response, a new grant entitled ‘Return to Activity’ was created and 

approved by the Sports Council on 16 July 2020. The return to activity grant is 

available to clubs, coaches and athletes to help sports in our District recover 
and reinvent from the Covid-19 pandemic, helping to purchase PPE or 

additional equipment to be able to offer covid secure environments. 
 

3.7 Through the grant window of 2020/21, Return to Activity grants were awarded 

to a range of 17 different sports clubs with nearly £6,000 funds allocated to 
help them to assist restart activities in their communities. 

 
4. Alternative Options 

 

4.1 There are two options available to the council: 
1. To return to the previous criteria.  Prior to this criteria change, a large 

percentage of the grants available were allocated to individual athletes, rather 
than being allocated more equally between clubs or coaches who arguably 
have a greater reach and impact on the community. Not permitting the return 

to activity criteria would have a negative impact on those clubs, coaches and 
athletes (Not recommended). 

2. To accept the changed funding criteria enabling the Return to Activity 
criteria to continue to be acceptable in the awards of sports grants until the 
end of the covid pandemic or a time when it is deemed to no longer be 

required. This will ensure that our sporting communities are able to address 
additional pressures and costs in re-establishing activity ( Recommended). 

 
 

 

Page 302



  

 
5. Implications 

 

5.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
None 

 
5.2 Workforce 

None 

 
5.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

The changes have a positive impact on diversity and equality in our 
district in specifically advocating funding individuals who are 
registered disabled or are in receipt of means tested benefits. 

 
5.4 Financial Considerations 

None. The budget available for allocation for grants has not 
changed.  
 

5.5 Legal 
None 

 
5.6 Climate Change 

None 

 
5.7 
 

Consultation 
None 

5.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
None 

 
 

 
 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

None Cathy Hinde 
Service Development Officer (Leisure and 

Recreation) 
cathy.hinde@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
6. Detail 

 

6.1  The Staffordshire Moorlands sports grants programme has been operating for 
a number of years supporting the contribution that sports coaches, clubs and 

athletes make in the development of sporting opportunities within the 
Staffordshire Moorlands. Grants are available to help with the financial 

Page 303



  

demands of training, learning, developing skills and competing in sports which 
are recognised by Sport England.  

 

6.2  The sports grants programme supports delivery of ‘Towards an Active 
Staffordshire Moorlands’ – the physical activity and sport strategy for the 

District. The strategy aims to build active communities, including helping to 
develop a strong club network through one of its main aims: ‘Supporting our 
existing sports club and voluntary sector base to build local capacity and 

strengthen their community offer and encourage diversity’ 
 

6.3  Prior to the changes made in 2019, grants were available to individual 
athletes, coaches and clubs. For individual athletes there was no eligibility 
criteria based on financial or disability status, this resulted in a 

disproportionate amount of funds being allocated to individual athletes, as 
illustrated below: 

 
Sport grant allocation 2019/20 

 

Clubs: 4 grants = £1,395 
Coaches: 12 grants = £3,215 

Athletes: 33 grants = £9,780 
Total = £14,390 

 

6.4 At a meeting of the Staffordshire Moorlands Sports Council on 22 October 
2019, the decision was made to amend the criteria and level up the amount of 
funding awarded to the different priority groups, to come into effect when the 

grants application window opened again in May 2020. 
 

6.5 Since the changes have been made there has been a significant shift in grant 
allocations, with a more even proportion being allocated to coaches and clubs 
where arguably a greater impact on participations levels can be made.  

 
Sport grant allocation 2020/2021  

 
Clubs: 10 grants = £3,029 
Coaches: 12 grants = £3,030 

Athletes: 6 grants = £2,714 
Total = £8,774 

 
6.6 From March 2020 onwards, the operation of sports clubs/activities were 

seriously affected due to the Covid19 outbreak. Initially many clubs closed 

their doors and, even when restrictions allowed, clubs faced many operational 
challenges and significant additional costs to ensure they were providing a 

covid secure environment for participants. 

6.7 Upon the easing of restrictions and reopening of opportunities for sports clubs 
it was important that the Council offered practical and financial support to help 

sporting activity return as best as possible across in the Moorlands.  

6.8 The proposal for a new ‘Return to Activity’ grant was discussed and approved 

by the Staffordshire Moorlands Sports Council in July 2020. Initially this grant 

Page 304



  

was advertised until the 31 December 2020, but following ongoing restrictions 
being put in place by government, this was further extended to a point 
whereby the Return to Activity grant is still available to access. 

6.9 Through the grant window of 2020/21 the Council supported 17 clubs with 
nearly £6,000 allocated. The grants have been invaluable to many clubs, for 

example it allowed Rudyard Sailing Club to buy additional safety equipment to 
enable boats to be used as single cox and thus continuing sailing.  

6.10 The 2021-22 grant fund is still open to applications and given the continued 

uncertainty as a result of the covid pandemic it is recommended that this 
remains until at least the close of the current grant window at the end of 

February 2022, with the ability to extend this for a longer period depending on 
whether further support is required. 

 
 

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 February 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Rural Sports Villages 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Mark Deaville - Deputy Leader & 
Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Sports 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Angela Dale - Service Development Officer 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

Brown Edge & Endon, Leek North  

 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To update the Cabinet on the progress of the work undertaken to identify and 
support projects with a view to allocating outdoor sports capital funding 

towards these. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Cabinet: 
  

o Notes the progress made in supporting projects that were previously 
allocated capital funding and the work undertaken to develop new 

projects. 
 

o Approves the allocation of £10,700 towards two projects in Endon and 

Leek from the outdoor sports capital budget as detailed within the 
report. 

 
o Approves that future reports requesting funding can progress via 

delegated decision reports to be approved by the Portfolio Holder for 

Leisure and Sports.  
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Towards an Active Staffordshire Moorlands is the Council’s Physical Activity 

and Sport Strategy which identifies key priorities and actions that the Council 
will take, supported by its partners, to enable residents to become more active. 

 
3.2 The Council has assigned £100,000 of capital funds in the current MTFP to be 

used towards supporting the delivery of local projects, with a focus on a ‘sports 

village’ concept and particularly projects that are located in more rural areas of 

Page 307

Agenda Item 10.2



  

the District. 
 
3.3 At the Cabinet meeting on Tuesday 3rd August 2021, approval was given to 

allocate £11,500 funding from the outdoor sports capital budget towards 
projects being delivered by Waterhouses Parish Council and Kingsley Parish 

Council. Both projects are progressing well, new maintenance equipment has 
been purchased by Waterhouses Parish Council, whilst the funds given to 
Kingsley Parish Council has enabled them to access additional funding from a 

local business to complete the installation of a new play area during spring 
2022. 

 
3.4 It is now requested that  allocation of further funds totalling £10,700 to Endon 

& Stanley Parish Council and Leek Cricket Club. Should approval be given, 

£77,800 would remain available to allocate towards projects identified in the 
future. 

 
3.5 Endon and Stanley Parish Council wish to improve the walking/running track 

which boarders the playing fields at Hillswood Playing Fields. The total cost to 

upgrade the track is £6,700 and it is proposed to allocate the full amount 
towards this due to match funding being unavailable. As an ‘in kind’ 

contribution towards the project, the Parish Council will be planting a variety of 
trees in the vicinity, installing picnic tables, bird/bat boxes and improving the 
outdoor gym area that is on the edge of the track. 

 
3.5 Leek Cricket Club has aspirations to improve their  grounds maintenance 

programme and develop their intergenerational work within the club, through 

the refurbishment of existing grounds maintenance equipment. The cost  to 
refurbish their equipment is £6,650 and the club have raised £2,650 towards 

this project. It is therefore proposed that £4,000 funding is allocated to this 
project from the outdoor sports capital budget.  

 

3.6 Officers are also working on a project to develop a Multi Use Games Area 
(MUGA) at Hot Lane playing fields in Biddulph Moor. In order to assess the 

viability of developing this project further, a feasibility study is required which 
would include various site surveys that would enable an accurate cost to 
complete the project to be identified. A recent enquiry to a reputable company 

has provide a cost of this study at around £6,500. It is recommended that 
revenue funds will be allocated to commission this study. Once this has been 

completed an updated report will be brought forward with a request to allocate 
capital funds from the Rural Sports Villages Fund. 

   

3.7 In order to maintain momentum when developing projects, working with 
partners and planning, it is proposed that future reports which request funds to 

be allocated from the outdoor sports capital budget be made via a delegated 
decision report, to be approved by the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Sports. 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 This report links to Aim 1 of the Council’s Corporate Plan “To help create a 
safter and healthier environment for our communities to live and work”. 
 

Page 308



  

To deliver Aim 1 of the objective “Provision of sports facilities and leisure 
opportunities focused upon improving health”. 

 

 
 
5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 There are two options available: 

1. Recommend that Cabinet approve the allocation £10,700 towards the two 
projects in Endon and Leek from the outdoor sports capital budget as detailed 
in the report (Recommended). 

 

           2. Funding to the proposed projects is not allocated, meaning that funding 

would need to be secured via alternative other sources which may prevent the 
projects from progressing (Not recommended). 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
Creating improved sports facilities in local communities, particularly 

rural communities where opportunities and travel are generally 
more limited, helps engage people, especially young people, in 
positive activities. 

 
6.2 Workforce 

Supporting the development of community projects is delivered by 

Council officers as part of their role. The delivery of capital projects 
will primarily be the responsibility of the partner organisation 

receiving funds and would not require any direct involvement from 
the Council. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed for this 

project. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

Should Cabinet approve the request to allocate funding as detailed 
in the report, £10,700 from a total budget of £100,000 will be 

allocated from provisions within the latest Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP). The sum of £11,500 has previously been allocated 
from this budget and which would mean that £77,800 would remain 

available to allocate towards other projects in the future.  
 

6.5 Legal 
Nothing specifically arising from this report. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
All projects consider, as part of their design and planning, the 

mitigation of any impact on the environment from their 
development and look to secure sustainable enhancements in 
future use where appropriate. 

Page 309



  

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
Nothing specifically arising from this report. 

 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
Risk assessments to develop projects will be carried out as 
appropriate. 

 
 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Physical Activity and Sport Strategy, Towards an Active 
Staffordshire Moorlands 

Angela Dale 
Service Development Officer 
angela.dale@highpeak.gov.uk 

 

 
 

7. Detail 
 

7.1 Towards an Active Staffordshire Moorlands is the Council’s Physical Activity 

and Sport Strategy which identifies key priorities and actions that the Council 
will take, supported by its partners, to enable residents to become more active. 

The strategy highlights 5 strategic objectives set out below: 
 

1) Supporting the inactive to become active through a universal physical activity 

offer. 
2) Addressing inequalities in physical activity and sport engagement (with a focus 

on): 
a: Women and Girls 
b: People with limiting illness or disability 

c: People aged 55 years and over 
d: People in lower socioeconomic groups 

e: Children and young people (aged 5-18). 
3) Establish a place based approach with strategic partners 

a: Leek North 

b: Biddulph East 
c: Cheadle 

d: Forsbrook 
e: Cellarhead 
d: Endon. 

4) Maximise physical activity and sport opportunities using the natural 
environment. 

5) Supporting our existing club and volunteer base to build capacity. 
 

7.2  Developing or improving community sports facilities is an important aspect of 

delivering the aspirations of the strategy, particularly objectives 1,4 and 5. As a 
result the Council has assigned £100,000 of capital funds in the current MTFP 

to be used towards supporting the delivery of local projects, with a focus on a 
‘sports village’ concept. 

Page 310



  

 
7.4 ‘Sports villages’ are often groups of facilities that provide a range of 

opportunities for local people to play sport or be physically active. In rural 

areas these often include facilities such as pavilion buildings, sports pitches, 
bowling greens, play areas and tennis courts. In many cases these are owned 

and maintained by community organisations or parish councils.  
 
7.5 It is important to recognise that delivering any capital project takes time to 

develop and that appropriate levels of due diligence should be undertaken by 
officers in order to protect the Council’s investment and assess whether a 

project is deliverable, meets strategic objectives, there is a robust business 
case and that the ongoing operation and maintenance of the asset is 
sustainable. 

 
7.6 During the last 24 months officers have been supporting the development of a 

wide range of projects which has involved building relationships with parish 
councils, community organisations, sports clubs, schools and national 
governing bodies of sport, in order to help them develop ideas and proposals. 

A list of these projects is included below: 
  

Projects progressed; 

 Cellarhead – Conversion of AstroTurf pitch at Moorside High School  

 Werrington – Development of a pump track facility at Meigh Road 

 Whiston – Enhancement to recreational and play facilities  

 Waterhouses – Improvements to playing pitches at Waterhouses Sports 

Field  
  

Projects in development; 

 Draycott in the Moors – Possible development of new junior tennis and 
padel tennis facility 

 Forsbrook – Possible improvements to play and recreational facilities at 
Jubilee Gardens   

 Upper Tean – Possible improvements to playing pitches at the Wentlows 
 

 
Projects proposed for support 

 

8.1 Endon & Stanley Parish Council, together with the support from officers, has 
worked alongside their local community to explore how to get the best from 

their Hillswood Playing Fields to encourage greater use by the whole 
community.  

 

8.2 The Playing Fields are located together with a cordoned off area for dog 
walking, small football pitch, a large green space and play facilities which are 

owned and maintained by the Parish Council. The facilities are used by the 
local community of all age ranges. The main play area does require 
improvement and the addition of more accessible equipment and it is 

recommended that officers continue to work with the Parish Council to actively 
look for any future funding opportunities that may arise  to help with this.  

 
8.3 There are currently items of fitness equipment located adjacent to the existing 

Page 311



  

track. Part of the project will be to ensure that this equipment can become 
more accessible and, to assist with this, the Parish Council will replace matting 
positioned underneath the equipment. 

 
8.4     It is requested that a £6,700 funding contribution from the outdoor sports 

capital budget be allocated towards this project and, should this be approved, 
Endon & Stanley Parish Council will be in a position to tender and appoint 
contractors who will complete the proposed works.  

 
Leek Cricket Club 

 
8.5 Leek Cricket Club has aspirations to improve their  grounds maintenance 

programme and develop their intergenerational work within the club, through 

the refurbishment of an existing roller adding a push button start. The roller  
refurbishment will ensure better grounds maintenance and allow older 

members to share their knowledge  and train  the junior members  to ensure 
future sustainability and develop a cross generational community.  A  push 
button start on the roller will make it much lighter and easier to work with than  

the existing and more suitable for the role.  
 

8.6 The cost to refurbish the roller is £6,650 and the club have raised £2,650 
towards this project. It is requested that a £4,000 funding contribution from the 
outdoor sports capital budget be made towards this project. 

 
Hot Lane playing fields, Biddulph Moor 

 

8.7 Hot Lane playing fields is located in Biddulph Moor and contains a fully 
refurbished play area, a senior football pitch (grass) and a small area of hard-

standing with one basketball hoop. Recently a breeze block wall which was 
located at the far end of the site and used to play football against was deemed 
unsafe following an inspection and removed.  

 
8.8 There is an opportunity to reuse the multi-use games area fencing recently 

removed from Brough Park in Leek. The fencing was removed due to a new 
system being installed earlier this year, as part of a wider improvement project, 
and therefore the opportunity to reuse this at Hot Lane would not only reduce 

costs, but it would repurpose a fencing system which is in very good condition 
and avoid it being disposed of. 

 
8.9 This project proposes to develop a multi-use games area in this part of the site 

which would consist of a tarmac base to be installed on the existing grassed 

area with sports rebound fencing installed to make up an enclosed court that 
could be used for a range of sports. It is also proposed to construct a new 

pathway linking the entrance of the site to the MUGA. As there is considerable 
earthworks involved, it is recommended that a feasibility study is 
commissioned to provide a more clear understanding of the ground conditions 

and an estimated cost to complete the works.  
 

8.10 Hot Lane is identified in the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Football Facilities 
Plan and, as such, is likely to receive funding support from Football 
Foundation should a project be feasible. Initial conversations with the Football 

Page 312



  

Foundation have been positive and they have recommended that a full 
feasibility study is undertaken at the expected cost of circa £6,500. It is 
proposed that the Council funds this feasibility study and that a further report 

will update on the outcome of the study and outline the key actions and costs 
associated to completing this project as outlined in section 8.9 above. 

Page 313



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

8 February 2022 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Car Parking Strategy 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Hart - Portfolio Holder for 
Property and Tourism 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Katy Webster - Head of Assets 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

(All Wards); 

 

 
Appendices Attached:  
 

Appendix 1: SMDC Summary Parking Strategy 
Appendix 2: SMDC Parking Strategy full report – July 2021 
Appendix 3: Base Case Findings Presentation Slides 

Appendix 4: Pay by Phone Information 
Appendix 5: Summarised Action Plan and Costs Spreadsheet  

Appendix 6: Cheadle specific feedback 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To present the newly drafted Staffordshire Moorlands Car Parking Strategy to 
members of the Cabinet following consideration by the Service Delivery 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 26 January 2022. 

 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Cabinet approves the adoption of the Car Parking Strategy, subject 
to: 
 

 The Strategy being reviewed 12 months after implementation to evaluate 
its impact. 

 That the proposed charge period (8:00 am to 6:00 pm) and the associated 
free half an hour / one hour concessions be deferred in Cheadle.  The 

present charge period to be retained (9:30 am to 3:30 pm) subject to a 
further review later in the year when the outcomes from the High Streets 
Task Force / Masterplan Development are known. 

 
 

 

Page 315

Agenda Item 11.1



 

  

 
2.2 To note the key findings, recommendations and action plan within the Strategy 

and that Cabinet approve the following actions: 

 
2.2.1 Implementation of the tariffs set out in section 8.13 of this report 

for the new financial year. 
2.2.2 Creation of a tourist parking pass and a review of permits to 

ensure more flexibility for customers.  

2.2.3 Implementation of Pay by Phone across SMDC car parks to 
facilitate cashless and contactless payments as soon as 

possible. 
2.2.4 Replace on a phased bases, reducing where possible, the 

current ticket machines to include contactless and card payment 

options.  
2.2.5 Progress with developing a bespoke SMDC EV strategy working 

collaboratively with Staffordshire County Council and their 
consultants.  

2.2.6 Create short stay and long stay areas on Cheadle Tape Street 

car park and tariff changes, updating the SMDC parking order 
accordingly. 

2.2.7 Note the creation of a new officer position within the Assets 
Service to strategically manage car parking across the Alliance 
and implement the action plan and strategy over the course of 

the next 5 years.  
2.2.8 Note the recommendation to Cabinet that appropriate funds be 

allocated to improve signage and wayfinding on the car parks.  

 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 A review of car parking was contained within Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan 

2019-23. As part of the recovery from the first wave of Covid-19 in Autumn 
2020 this work was escalated within the service plan, such is the important of 

parking within the recovery of town centres and to ensure a thriving local 
economy. Parking Matters were retained towards the end of 2020 to review 
the existing parking provision with SMDC and to develop a new strategy for 

the car parks for a 5 year period. The aim was to tackle a number of salient 
issues, including, condition, payment options and tariffs.  

 
3.2 Critical to the success of the strategy has been to carry out a wide consultation 

with the residents, local businesses and visitors who use the car parks. 

Members Groups, Town and County Council, Peak Park and local business 
groups have all been included to ensure the widest spectrum of views has 

been heard. Balancing conflicting opinions and ideas  and setting these 
against factual evidence is often challenging, and it is inevitable that the 
strategy will not fulfil the wishes of all, however its focus has been to deliver 

the vision and ensure that positive changes are made and the service invests 
for the future and meets the needs of residents businesses and visitors.   

 
3.3 Following the consultation and review of the Council’s service, Parking Matters 

produced their base case findings, which were presented to the Car Parking 

Page 316



 

  

Working Group for feedback. This was then developed into the main report 
setting out all the findings (Appendix 2). This was discussed by the Car 
Parking Working Group and Cheadle stakeholder group and further feedback 

was taken on board.   Since then, work has centred around the financial 
modelling to determine the affordability of free periods and tariff changes in 

light of impact that Covid-19 is having on parking revenues along with the 
underlying trend of reduction in demand.  
 

3.4 The Summary Strategy Report is attached as Appendix 1 and is a 19 page 
visual document that sets out the base case findings, reports the outcome of 

the consultations, makes recommendations and finishes with an action plan to 
ensure that the Council’s plans are open and transparent for all to see. The 
intension is if the strategy is adopted this document will be published on the 

Council’s website.  
 

3.5 Section 8 of this report systematically goes through the strategy, developing 
the themes and actions of each element. Much of the detail of the rationale is 
contained within the main summary report within Appendix 2.  

 
3.6 The actions have been consolidated into a workable spreadsheet contained in 

appendix 5 and costed where reasonable estimates can be made. Depending 
on the nature of each action, they will be delivered as business as usual or as 
a project under the oversight of the Council’s Transformation Board depending 

on the size and value of the project. Key actions projects are: 
 

3.6.1 Implementation of contactless digital payment provider, such as 

Pay by Phone to offer an alternative to coin only payments. This 
can be delivered in the short term, ideally before the end of the 

financial year.  
3.6.2 Changes in charging hours and tariffs to be implemented for the 

new financial year, to include short free parking periods on 

certain car parks to support quick trips into town centres.  
3.6.3 Review of parking permits being offered including provision of a 

tourist pass. 
3.6.4 Development of a separate EV strategy which determines 

suitable locations, types of chargers and options for delivery 

partnerships funding and rollout, supporting in the objectives of a 
County lead strategy to ensure a consistent approach across 

highways and off-street parking.  
3.6.5 Implement new zones across Tape Street Car park to facilitate 

short stays, including free half hour options and also long stay 

parking section.  
3.6.6 Commence with the recruitment, (subject to final approvals of the 

Norse project and the restructure of the Assets team) of a new 
car parking post to implement the actions set out the in the 
strategy and strategically manage the service.  

3.6.7 Deliver improvements to wayfinding and signage on car parks.  
 

3.7 The strategy notes the importance of the car parks to regeneration initiatives, 
and the potential for new car parking and consolidation, but that each of these 
major decisions need to be reviewed and a business case determined before 

Page 317



 

  

any decisions can be made.  
 
3.8  The Car Parking Strategy was considered in detail by the Service Delivery 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 26 January 2022.  The Strategy and 
associated investment plans were generally supported by the Panel.  

Members did however recommend that the Cabinet should review the Strategy 
12 months after implementation to evaluate its impact and that consideration 
be given to defer the changes relating to the revised charging period in 

Cheadle.   
 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 Aim four of the Corporate Plan 2019-2023 includes the objective of 
undertaking a review of SMDC car parks with regards to implementing a 

revised strategy.   
 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 Option 1: To approve the strategy and publish the summary strategy as set out 
in appendix 1. Recommended. Adoption of the strategy will allow for the 

implementation of the recommendations set out in section 2 above.   

 
5.2 Option 2: Not to approve the strategy will prevent the investment required to 

improve the car parking service. Tariffs are set to rise as part of the medium 

term financial plan (MTFP) for the new financial year. If the tariffs are not 
implemented, other measures will be required to ensure the budget pressures 

of the MTFP are achieved, such as inflationary rises. Not Recommended.  
 
 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
Car parks are a resource for the benefit of the whole community. 

Improving the look and feel of the car parks is important in ensuring 
the community feel safe. The car parks are “Park Mark” accredited 

by the BPA (British Parking Association) to ensure safety. The 
approval of the strategy will see investment into cashless payment 
options, reducing the potential for vandalism and theft against the 

council through the ticket machines.   
 

 
6.2 Workforce 

 

The strategy recommends the creation of an additional resource to 
ensure effective strategic management of car parking as well as 

the resource to implement the action plan.  
 
Currently the operational resource in car parking across the 

Page 318



 

  

Alliance  amounts to 1.4 FTE posts, excluding the time requirement 
from the Head of Service. This resource covers the operational 
side of parking. There is no trained resource to cover annual/sick 

leave and resilience within the service has been an issue raised by 
Internal Audit.  

 
As part of the Norse proposals, the Assets service is to be 
restructured. The new structure contains the new post – Senior 

Parking Officer to be shared across the Alliance.  
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
An equalities and diversity impact assessment has been 

undertaken.   
 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 

Revenue: 
 

Car parking revenues play a vital part in delivering revenue income 
into the Council. The MTFP assumes a base income level of 
£770,000 in 2022/23.  

 
Pressure to provide periods of free parking must be met with tariff 
increases in order to deliver the budget target of £770,000 for 

2022/23. The approach to this work is set out in section 8.13 
below.  The budget has been increased to compensate for no 

increases to tariffs since 2018. Additionally the longer term trend 
indicating reduction in car parking revenues has been exacerbated 
by Covid, and the Council must prepare for income revenues not to 

return to pre-covid levels on a like for like basis. 
 

There are both revenue and capital investment implications from 
the action plan. The estimated costs for each action are set out in 
appendix 5 where they can be estimated. These currently total a 

one off budget of approximately £73,000 with an annual impact on 
revenue of circa £34,000. These costs exclude any provisions 

made for capital investment already included within the capital 
programme.  Many of the costs are unknown at this stage and will 
need to be factored into the future budget setting across the next 5 

years, which is the time frame of the strategy. Other costs will 
inform decision making on a case by case basis.  

 
 
Capital 

 
Currently within the capital programme, there is allocated funds 

against car parks to cover costs of resurfacing, although most of 
this work has been completed over the course of the last 2 years, 
and the surface condition of many of the car parks has been much 

Page 319



 

  

improved.  
Additional funds of £200,000 have been allocated against the 
replacement of pay and display ticket machines. This budget was 

identified previous to the strategy and was based on replacement 
of all 31 machines, however with the implementation of Pay by 

Phone, it is unlikely that all the machines will be required to be 
replaced. Reducing the number of replacements would free up 
funds to improve signage and wayfinding on car parks, however no 

firm costs have yet to be ascertained to complete this work.  
 

 
 

6.5 Legal 

 
There are no direct legal implications of authorizing the Strategy, 

however, some of the changes set out in the strategy may require 
the SMDC Parking Order to be amended or updated.  
The procedures under the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders 

(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 should be 
followed in a case where an off-street parking places order is 

proposed or amended.   
 
Civil enforcement and notice processing contracts need to be 

reviewed and updated. These are procurement through the 
Council’s membership of the Staffordshire Parking Group.  
 

The projects and actions generated by the Strategy are likely to 
have an impact on procurement and the need for further 

contractual positions to be entered into by the Council. These will 
be included in the Council’s Procurement Forward Plan which is 
presented to members in February as part of the budget cycle.  

 Pay by Phone contract has already been undertaken by 
High Peak Borough Council on the basis that Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Council can be party to the contract by 
way of the Alliance. This will result in savings across the 

Alliance.   

 Additional contracts with Amey may be procured by way of 
Staffordshire County Council through their partnership 

arrangement in order to develop the EV Strategy.  

 A provider of new pay and display machines will. need to be 

sought. This can be awarded by way of framework through a 
direct award or a further mini-competition.  

 Any major works to the surface of the car parks, line 
marketing or signage can potentially be manged by way of 
the Council’s existing arrangements.  

 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
The base case findings identify the Council’s aspirations regarding 

climate change and the importance of the move to net zero. 

Page 320



 

  

Supporting the transition to electronic vehicles (EVs) is an 
important part of this work. The strategy cites the importance of 
ensuing that the right type of chargers are rolled out in the right 

locations and that SMDC use their carparking assets to support the 
County Council to ensure a consistent approach across car parks 

and highways.  EV Charging on car parks is discussed in section 
8.10 below.  
 

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

 
Extensive consultation has been undertaken as part of the process, 
including the creation of the Car Parking Working Group to input 

and feedback on the findings. Workshops with stakeholders have 
been held and the public were invited to give their views by way of 

a survey that was hosted through the Counci l’s website. Parking is 
an emotive subject and stimulates a diverse range of opinions. It is 
not possible to satisfy all stakeholders, but the strategy seeks to 

strike a balance between thoughts and feelings and the facts as 
evidenced through research by the expert consultants.  Further 

detail on the consultation undertaken is given in section 7 below.  
 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
The strategy covers a wide range of actions with potential projects 
being delivered of a course of the next 5 years. Each project will be 

managed within the Council’s risk management framework. 
 

Holistically, the major risk to implementing the strategy is resource, 
both financial and human to undertake the work. This has been 
addressed but the request to implement a new post in the parking 

service, to support the existing operational staff, improve resilience 
in the service and carry out the strategy.  

 
 

Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 

SMDC car parking – base case findings report 

Katy Webster 

Head of Assets 
katy.webster@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
 

  

Page 321



 

  

7. Introduction & Background 

 

7.1 A commitment was given as part of the 2019 -2023 Corporate Plan, to review 

the Council’s car parks and ensuring they remain current and relevant and to 

implement a new strategy document that sets out the future of the Council run 

off-street car parks. The Corporate Plan notes the importance of the car parks 

across the district contributing to maintaining attractive towns with a wide 

range of amenities. 

 

7.2  More recently, the relevance of a refreshed car parking strategy has 

developed urgency due to the significance of the recovery of the local 

economy from the Covid-19.  Parking is seen as an integral and important part 

of the resident and visitor experience in both town centres and rural locations. 

Parking is also a critical area for the future survival of businesses and 

continued town centre growth as part of the access and travel strategy. 

Therefore a specification for assistance of car parking consultants was 

developed in the autumn of 2020, requiring experts in parking to develop a 

new 5 year parking strategy. Parking Matters were appointed late in 2020 to 

undertake this work.     

 

7.3 The interplay between car parks and town centres is complex. The needs of 

the many stakeholders, with sometimes differing objectives that can come into 

conflict needs to be finely balanced. Understanding the needs of the 

customers, but basing a strategy in facts and evidence is a critical success 

factor.   

 

7.4 Other important factors for consideration within the parking strategy are; 

 

 Modernisation of the car parking “experience”. Potential investment into 

the infrastructure of the car parks, including signage, ticket machines 

and digital options. 

 Impact of the Council’s climate change objectives relevant to parking, 

including the facilitation of electric vehicles and the ambition to increase 

their usage and provide charging provision.  

 Financial impact of changes in tariffs. Parking charges have not been 

reviewed since 2018.  Income from parking revenues plays a critical 

part in balancing the Council’s revenue budgets. Parking revenues have 

been hit by the acceleration in peoples habits brought about by Covid, 

and income levels are currently approximately 15% less than 2019/20 

levels.   

 Review of the Council’s provision for enforcement on the car parks.  

 Condition of the car parks. 

 Comments on the overall effectiveness of the service. 

 

Page 322



 

  

 

Methodology 

 

7.5 The consultants (Parking Matters) were requested to utilise their expertise and 

knowledge of current best practice guidance, emerging trends to future proof 

the Council’s investment strategy for the long term. They were given access to 

any and all relevant information regarding the service, including; 

  

 Parking transaction reports 

 Current running costs of the parking service 

 Condition and inspection reports 

 Any relevant information used for the Local Plan.  

 Wider influencing documents such as the Council’s Growth Strategy.  

 SMDC officers and Stoke on Trent enforcement and notice processing 

teams.  

7.6  The consultants were requested to ensure a wide consultation was undertaken 

to seek input from a range of stakeholders including but not limited to; 

 SMDC Councillors 

 Council Officers  

 Town, Parish and County Councils, including Peak Park 

 Customers 

 Local business and business groups 

 Residents  

 As this work was undertaken during the Covid pandemic and therefore much 

of the consultation work was undertaken remotely, although the car parks 

were physically inspected by the Consultants.  

The Car Park Working Group 

7.7 The non-executive member working group was set up at the end of January 

2021 to act as the forum for SMDC member consultation and to review the 

findings of Parking Matters. The Working Group met again in July where it was 

presented with the consultants base case findings and feedback on these 

findings was given.  The main report was then presented to the working group 

in August and Members gave  their feedback before the finalised version of 

the strategy is presented to the Members of this committee. The feedback 

received at this meeting, particularly the feedback around Cheadle was further 

discussed at a meeting with the Leader of the Council with a number of 

Councillors and local stakeholders to determine whether there were further 

options for free periods in a number of car parks across the District. Notes 

from this session were taken and written representations were made by 

Cheadle Town Council and Team Cheadle. Appendix 6 summarises this 

Page 323



 

  

feedback into broad themes, details the actions that have been considered 

against each theme and states the outcome contained with the Strategy.  

Public Consultation 

7.8 A questionnaire was published on the Council’s website in February 2021 and 

publicised by way of social media and other communications channels. The 

Council received a very strong response, numbering 770, which was in the 

experience of the consultants, was unusually high for District Council.  

Town Workshops 

7.9 It was acknowledge early in the process that each of the three main towns 

have their own idiosyncrasies and receiving input from the key stakeholders 

for each town was vital. Town specific workshops were undertaken with town 

councillors, key business owners and residents to ascertain their views.  

7.10 Additional workshops were undertaken with Staffordshire County Council, the 

Peak District National Park and the Tourist Board. The additional work 

undertaken with Cheadle stakeholders is set out in 7.7 above.  

 

Deliverables 

7.11 Following the consultation between December and March last year, Parking 

Matters presented their base case findings to the Car Parking Working Group 

in July 2021. The summary presentation given to the group is attached as 

appendix 3.   

7.12  The main strategy report was then presented to the Working Group in August 

2021. Since then, the report has been refined and further work has been 

undertaken to model the tariff changes to balance the needs of the Council’s 

approved Medium Term Financial Plan with the recommendations set out in 

the main report to provide local solutions to support the town centres. The 

main report is attached as appendix 2.  

7.13  As the main report is lengthy, a summary strategy document has been 

developed setting out the vision, strategy and main actions to be taken over 

the next 5 years. This is attached as appendix 1. The Summary Strategy will 

be published on the Council website once approved.  

 

8.  Staffordshire Moorlands District Council – Parking Strategy 2021-2026 

(Summary Strategy) 

 

 Vision  

Page 324



 

  

 

8.1 The Strategy starts by setting out the strategic vision for the strategy. This has 

been taken directly from Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan – “Parking that meets the 

needs of residents, business and visitors”. This recognises the importance of 

these stakeholders.  

 

8.2 The overview then sets out the parking offering in SMDC whist recognising the 

geography of the district and the heavy reliance on the car as a mode of 

transport within the rural economy. The section also notes the risks associated 

with Covid in undertaking this work and the ongoing impact on of the virus.  

 

8.3  The Strategy then summarises the base case findings as follows: 

 

• Poor payment options and the need for capital renewal for some car 

parks 

• Poor and confusing way-finding signage, specifically in Leek  

• The importance of short stays of 1-hour or less to the revenue budget.  

43% of overall parking transactions are in 1-hour band and produce 

39% of revenue. In Cheadle, 1-hour stays account for 53% of revenue. 

This revenue needs to be protected to ensure the service operates 

efficiently and can invest in estate improvements 

• Only 7% of revenue is for longer stays, perhaps as a mix of few 

commuters and season ticket use 

• Transaction numbers were reducing year-on-year even prior to Covid. 

This is in line with national trends for declining high street footfall.  

 

8.4  The findings for revenue and occupancy show the effect of the Covid-19 

pandemic, but also the longer term trends of reducing occupancy year on 

year. At the time of writing, income levels are anticipated to be between 10 

and 15% lower in 2021/22 than of those in 2019/2020 before the pandemic. 

However much depends on any further restrictions that may be introduced due 

to the Omicron variant.  Anecdotal evidence from the partners of the 

Staffordshire Parking Board suggest that revenues elsewhere in Staffordshire 

have fallen by as much as 30-40% for some councils which are therefore 

putting significant strain on budgets. Most partners report they are considering 

increases in tariffs, increasing charging hours and including Sunday charging 

to mitigate these shortfalls. Parking tariffs in Staffordshire Moorland have 

remained unchanged since 2018. 

 

8.5  A summary of the consultation that was carried out is set out on page 6 of the 

Strategy, illustrating the strong response received, and with analysis of the 

types of people who responded. The key themes from the consultation are as 

follows: 

 

Page 325



 

  

• The Strategy must treat the three towns differently, with different 

recommendations for tariffs and policies  

• Regeneration, growth and Covid-19 recovery must be a key priority  

• Customers want better and more convenient payment options  

• Customers and some other stakeholders feel that there should be a 

free period to support quick trips and convenience shopping 

• There is general support for a parking pass for tourists 

• 40% of respondents who did not have an electric vehicle stated that 

they would use EVCPs in car parks. Although 50% were not 

considering an EV at all at present 

• Support to improve the look and feel of car parks. 

 

 

8.6 Figure 1 below illustrates the approach Parking Matters and the Council have 

taken in developing the strategy based on the base case finding, consultations 

undertaken as well as national evidence to ensure a balanced approach can 

be taken. The focus of the strategy will be the action plan to ensure that the 

vision is achieved. A review should be undertaken at the end of the strategy 

period in 5 years. 

 

 
Figure 1: Excerpt SMDC Parking Strategy p7 

 

 Parking Operation 

 

“Parking that meets the needs of 
residents, businesses and visitors” 

Where are we 

starting from? 

Vision for the 

Strategy 

The Base 

Case 

Measure 

Success 

Recommendations / Action 
Plan 

Funding to 

implement 

Monitor and 

Review 

How do we achieve 

the vision?  

Consultation and 

Engagement 

Mandate 

National  
Evidence 

Page 326



 

  

8.7 The consultants benchmarked the service against national levels. Generally 

they found that the operational side was working as well as can be expected, 

but does suffer from a lack of strategic resource. The following 

recommendations have been made;  

 Investment is a strategic management resource dedicated to parking, 

for closer more proactive management and for the resource to 

implement the action plan set out within the recommendations. A new 

parking officer post has been included in the restructure of the Assets 

Team following the delivery of the Norse joint venture project later this 

year.  

 That the arrangements with Stoke-on-Trent City Council to deliver 

enforcement and notice processing remain in place by way of the 

Staffordshire Parking Board, albeit a refocus on compliance levels is 

required to improve the statistics against national benchmarking levels.  

 Review of the Service Level agreement and KPIs with Stock-on-Trent is 

needed to refocus the service based on quality and efficiency. Likewise 

a bespoke policy should be developed for appeals to ensure clarity.  

 

Payment Systems 

8.8 The existing pay and display ticket machines are over 15 years old and only 

accept coins and do not provide change. Covid-19 has exacerbated existing 

underlying trends to move away from cash with more adoption of digital 

contactless technology. A phased approach is recommended, starting with 

implementation of Pay by Phone allowing customers to pay for parking by way 

of the digital platform hosted on their mobile phone. This will be followed by a 

review of which parking machines are the most heavily used and should be 

targeting for upgrading to provide both card and cash payment options. The 

cost of upgrading all 31 payment machines would be considerable and also 

may not be necessary should the take up of Pay by Phone be successful as 

customers transition to cashless technologies. 

8.9  Pay by Phone is a digital payment solution that has been rolled out by other 

districts and boroughs across Staffordshire, including Stock on Trent City 

Council as a payment option for customers. In December the service went live 

in High Peak and has also been adopted elsewhere in neighbouring 

Derbyshire and Cheshire East. High Peak have entered to a contract that can 

be simply widened to Staffordshire Moorlands for a roll out within 8-12 weeks 

following formal approvals. Further details of the Pay by Phone service and 

potential project implementation can be found in appendix 4.     

 

Electronic Vehicle (EV) Charging 

Page 327



 

  

8.10 The strategy notes the importance of EV and the governments phasing out of 

petrol and diesel powered vehicles and the relevance to the climate change 

agenda. However, a careful approach to introducing new EV charging points is 

suggested in order to ensure the most appropriate type of chargers are 

installed in the right location, being mindful to the limitation in capacity of the 

national grid, the currently small but growing demand for electric cars, and the 

objectives of SCC as they are responsible for Highways and Transport. The 

recommendation is a separate SMDC EV strategy should be produced.  

8.11 Consultation has already been undertaken with SCC regarding their strategy 

and action plan for EV charging roll out. Amey are undertaken the work to 

determine the demand analysis across Staffordshire to include details on 

national and regional policy and funding options, developing a vision for the 

whole county along with a review of the technology and options for delivery. 

They have invited all boroughs and districts to engage with this work. There 

are options for SMDC to undergo a bespoke piece of work with Amey to 

develop a strategy for delivery of EV charging points focused on the specific 

needs of Staffordshire Moorlands as a rural district.  

 

Tariffs and Charging Periods 

8.12 The strategy highlights the difficult job of balancing differing policy objectives 

when determining tariffs and charging hours. Tariffs haven’t been reviewed 

since 2018 and are the lowest compared to others in the local area. The 

objectives of the strategy have been carefully considered when setting the 

tariffs as well as the feedback from the consultation but also the requirements 

of the medium term financial plan (MTFP).  

8.13 Parking Matters reviewed a number of different approaches before making 

their recommendations.  

 Approach 1: An inflationary based rise across the board. This was 

discounted as it did not pay specific attention to the needs of each town 

nor did it reflect the feedback from the consultation,  

 Approach 2: Comparable rises in line with other tariffs in the local area to 

reflect the “market price”. This option would have led to the most 

significant revenue increase. Again this thought not to reflect the specific 

needs and requirements of each town.  

 Approach 3: A bespoke set of tariffs that reflects the consultation feedback 

to support quick trips for convenience shopping in town centres and also 

to facilitate school drop offs and pickups, to ease congestion. This option 

was the preferred approach, and the final detail is set out in Figure 2 

below.  

 

Page 328



 

  

 

 

Figure 2: Proposed Tarif Changes - SMDC Parking Strategy p12 

 

A number of iterations of the third approach were modelled following the 

feedback from the car parking work group and the Cheadle specific workshop. 

These models looked at the affordability of the various suggestions put 

forward around changes in parking hours, free periods across different car 

parks and Sunday charging. Based on 19/20 levels the costs of some of these 

suggestions are as follows: 

It should be noted that these figures have been modelled using the data 

available from the tickets issued by way of the pay and display machines and 

not by surveys. They are indicative figures and do not account for potential 

changes in human behaviour. The tariffs in figure 2 below are modelled to 

achieve the council’s target budget of £770,000 and balance the competing 

demands, having considered the feedback and consultation responses.  

 

8.14 To be able to offer free stays, charging hours will be required to return to 8am 

to 6pm Monday – Saturday. The introduction of Sunday charges is not 

Recommended Tariffs (0800 to 1800 Monday to Saturday, excluding Bank Holidays)

Leek 1/2 Hour 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 10 hours

Prime Short Stay Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A

Market Place, Brook St, Queen 

St, Regent St, Silk St, Market St 

W and Market St East

Proposed £1.20 £1.90 £2.80 N/A

Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A

Proposed Free £1.20 £1.90 £2.80 N/A

Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 £2.40

Proposed Free £1.20 £1.90 £2.80 £3.50

Cheadle

Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A

Proposed £1.00 £1.70 £2.50 N/A

Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A

Proposed Free £1.00 £1.70 £2.50 N/A

Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A

Proposed £0.90 £1.50 £2.20 £3.50

Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 £2.20

Proposed Free Free £1.50 £2.30 £3.00

Biddulph

Existing £0.60 £0.80 £1.00 £1.80

Proposed Free Free £1.20 £1.80 £2.50

Short Stay

Long Stay Variable

Tape St (Standard area)

Well St

Wharf Rd

Tape St (New Short Stay Area)

Tape St (New Long Stay Area)

Page 329



 

  

proposed at the current time given the uncertainty surrounding economic 

recovery from the impact of Covid 19 and in response to stakeholder 

feedback, although it should be recognised that Sunday is becoming a 

stronger day for retail and leisure uses and this will be a matter that should be 

kept under review in updating the Car Parking Strategy in the future. Charges 

for longer stays have been increased across the board, but do reflect the local 

distinctiveness of the towns.  

 In Biddulph the location of Wharf Street car park is significantly impacted 

by short stay free parking of the adjacent Sainsburys supermarket.  

Therefore the impact on revenues of either a half or hour stay is negligible 

as the location is used more for longer stays. Therefore an hour free 

period is suggested.  

 In Cheadle, Well Street is underused and therefore the impact of giving 

free parking for an hour in this location will be negligible. Short stays are 

important at Tape Street due to the convenience for the town centre. Tape 

Street is a large car park with the ability to be sectioned into short stay and 

long stay areas and was an improvement the Cheadle Stakeholders would 

like to see. The financial modelling suggests it is unaffordable to allow half 

an hour free across the whole of Tape Street car park as over 50% of the 

revenue is generated from short stays – (The cost is estimated at 

£105,000) Therefore a new short stay section is proposed with the 

capacity for 54 cars will facilitate half hour free stays (at a cost of £20,000).  

 A half hour free period is to be introduced at car parks in Leek, except for 

those that are already operating close to capacity at peak times (which are 

identified as Prime Short Stay). This whilst supporting convenience trips 

and school pick-ups, will also help encourage peak demand to re-balance 

towards the other car parks in the town, thereby helping reduce 

congestions and ensuring that there is also more space availability at the 

most popular car parks. Prime short stay car parks in Leek are, Brook 

Street, Market Place, Market Street East, Market Street West, Queen 

Street and Regent Street.    

 

8.15 Free stays will need to be managed through the display of a valid ticket, 

although customers will not be required to insert payment to generate a free 

ticket. The existing Metric ticket machines will be able to generate these 

tickets and Pay by Phone will be able to offer these virtual tickets once 

implemented. Pay by Phone will not allow a customer to continue to receive 

half hour free sessions, as these will be limited to one continuous parking 

session only. Should a customer wish to extend their parking session beyond 

the free half an hour, they will need to extend their parking session by 

purchasing a new ticket of a minimum of 1hour, either through Pay by Phone 

or returning to their vehicle and displaying a ticket.   

 

Page 330



 

  

Town Specific Actions 

8.16 As already stated within the report, it is evidence that the three towns are 

different and although a single strategy across Staffordshire Moorlands is 

required, a localised approach to the individual areas was required. The 

strategy reflects this by including recommendations and actions for each town.  

 Biddulph: As there is only one car park in Biddulph opportunities 

should be sought to increase the provision of relevant car parking, 

depending on business case. On-street enforcement is an issue in 

Biddulph, which SMDC could seek to utilise its influencing powers with 

SCC Highways to tackle.   

 Cheadle: Cheadle was overrepresented in the consultation exercise, 

reflecting the strength of feeling in the town. The wider regeneration 

initiatives and master planning playing their part. However there was a 

lack of a broad consensus about how this should be tackled with 

regard to tariffs, however there was agreement around the need for 

short free periods to support quick shopping trips and walking to 

school, tacking congestion, as the need to improve payment systems 

and offer EV charging, which has been covered in pervious sections of 

this report. Importantly consideration must be given to parking as part 

of any regeneration proposals that come forward.  

 Leek: Car parking in Leek is dominated by more, but smaller car parks 

which adds to the congestion in the town as drivers may visit multiple 

sites in search of adequate parking. Convenience and ease of paying 

and finding a space dominate feedback in Leek rather than request for 

free parking. Consideration should be given to consolidating car parks 

into larger more efficient car parks and disposing of smaller ones on a  

case by case basis. Wayfinding and confusing signage issues should 

be addressed.  

 Rural / Village Locations: The Council also operates 6 “free” car parks. 

As no ticket data is collected in these locations, surveys would need to 

be carried out to determine the users and whether charging would be a 

sensible approach in these locations.  

 

Tourism 

8.17 The strategy acknowledges the importance of tourism in the district and the 

impact parking plays. The Strategy will, ideally looking to support tourism, 

improving the visitor experience but at the same time reducing the negative 

impact of tourism. The actions set out in the action plan will not only improve 

the car parking for residents but also tourist alike. Tourist passes can be 

considered once digital payment options have been introduced to reduce the 

administrative burden. Camping/ car sites would have to be considered on 

Page 331



 

  

their merits to determine the revenue implications of management 

requirements. Coach parking can be encouraged however the Council have 

limited means within its existing estate and will need to seek additional land 

assets or partnerships to facilitate this.  

 

Action Plans 

8.18  The strategy concludes be setting out an action plan with timescales, for the 

council to manage its performance against. The action plans are focused into 

3 main areas; 

 Strategic and Service Management 

 The Parking Estate 

 Town & Village Parks 

For ease of reference, these have been remodelled into a spreadsheet format 

to be prioritised with indicative costs. This is set out in Appendix 5 with an 

indicative costs against each action.  

 

 

Page 332



Use Calibri 18

DRAFT VERSION 23/11/21

Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Parking Strategy 

2021 - 2026P
age 333



Contents
1. Strategic Vision 
2. Overview
3. Base Case
4. Consultation
5. The Strategy
6. Strategic Actions
7. The Parking Operation
8. Tariffs and Charging Periods
9. Electric Vehicles
10. Town Specific Actions
11. Rural Car park
12. Tourism
13. Action Plan

Introduction

Introduction from councillor or council comms team. 

Picture of councillor?

Strategy Vision: 
“Parking that meets the needs of residents, 

businesses and visitors”

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 2

Strategic Vision
The commitment  for a new Parking Strategy were set out 
in the Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019 -2023 
and the vision is taken from Aim 4 and the related Action: 
“Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of 
residents, businesses and visitors”. 
We have adopted this as the vision for the Strategy to 
provide direction and set the framework for individual 
actions. 

P
age 334



Overview
Parking management is important to local communities; 
helping residents and visitors to access businesses and 
services and to support local economies. For local 
authorities, off-street parking is an important asset 
providing a tool for town centre management and a 
source of revenue to deliver important services (within 
the limits set out by national legislation).
Poorly managed parking assets can have a detrimental 
impact on towns; encouraging traffic, contributing to a 
poor townscape, and exacerbating air pollution linked 
with poor health and inequality.  
Staffordshire Moorlands controls around 1,750 spaces 
across 27 public car parks in towns and villages in the 
district (see map). 
The Local Transport Plan recognises the limited travel 
choices within the District. Whilst there is a network of 
bus services these can be limited, particularly in rural 
areas. There is a higher that average travel to work by 
private motor vehicles (52% compared to 40% nationally). 

Car Park locations 

Basemap: © OpenStreetMap contributors. National Park Layer: Natural England

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 3

COVID-19 Pandemic 
The project commenced after the spread of the virus in 
the UK and consequently surveys could not be carried out. 
The Strategy uses available parking data prior to the 
outbreak. The recommendations in the strategy have 
regard to risks associated with the economic and societal 
impact of the virus. 

The Strategy recognises that for many, driving is the 
only practical way of accessing employment, retail 
and other services and important to the District’s 
economy. Parking has a key role to play in managing 
traffic and supporting the economy, but needs to be 
effectively managed. 

P
age 335



Base Case - The Estate
Poor legibility, condition and information can lead to a 
poor first impression for visitors to towns. Cars circulating 
to find spaces in the town centre. This can exacerbate 
congestion and air quality issues. 
Onward destination information is also important to help 
customers quickly find their way once they have arrived 
through the provision of legible wayfinding information.
Improvements will frame the town in a positive manner 
providing a good first impression. For example, key routes 
between car parks and town centre can be improved both 
with physical improvements and digital information to 
improve the customer experience. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 4

Examples of opportunities to improve car parks

An Audit of the SMDC off-street car parks identified a 
number of issues including:
• Limited Payment Options
• Poor line marking and surfacing of some car parks
• Wayfinding and signage could be improved
• Car park names lack meaning to visitors
• No Electric Vehicle Charging Points are available 
• Not all car parks have accessible parking bays. 

Digital apps will also help with wayfinding, and it is 
therefore essential that open source data is available to at 
least confirm the location of car parks and the number of 
spaces.

Base Case Summary
• Poor payment options and the need for capital renewal for some car 

parks
• Poor and confusing way-finding, specifically in Leek 
• 43% of overall parking transactions are in 1-hour band and produce 

39% of revenue. In Cheadle 1 hour stays account for 53% of revenue. 
This revenue needs to be protected to ensure the service operates 
efficiently and can invest in estate improvements

• Only 7% of revenue is for longer stays, perhaps as a mix of few 
commuters and season ticket use

• Transaction numbers were reducing year-on-year even prior to COVID. 
This is in line with national trends for declining high street footfall. 

P
age 336



Base Case – revenue and occupancy
Of the Council operated public parking spaces in the District:
• 137 are in Biddulph
• 577 are in Cheadle
• 843 are in Leek
• 144 are in village and uncharged car parks.

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 5

Even before COVID-19 pay and display 
transactions were reducing.

Revenue is variable with some car parks in Leek achieving 
over £800 per space per year, but others, including those 
in Biddulph and Cheadle earning £400 or less per year. 

Car Park revenue 2019/20 (net VAT)

The lack of survey data has made it more difficult to 
understand the type of user visiting each car park and 
‘normal’ occupancy levels prior to the C19 outbreak. 
However, even prior to C19, overall paid parking volumes 
in the district were declining. This appears to be in line 
with wider UK reduced high street footfall across the UK, 
although the fall in 2018/19 is particularly sharp (c10% 
drop). 

Pay and Display total transactions (all car parks)

The spike in August 2020 follows national trends and 
therefore is unlikely to be predominantly due to the 
impact of free 3-hour parking offer that was offered 
during this time.

P
age 337



Consultation
Public Consultation was carried out to engage with 
stakeholders and the public including: 
• Staff Moorlands Councillors
• Other Authorities (e.g. National Park)
• Separate town workshops for each town
• Online survey which received 770 responses.
Of the online survey respondents:
• The majority said they were residents, shoppers or 

service users
• The age profile was slightly skewed towards older age 

groups (41% under 50 compared to 57% of population)
• 55% of respondents would prefer to pay by card.
Difficulty finding a space provides and insight into parking 
occupancy at different periods during the day and helps to 
add context to free text and other answers, for example 
there were less calls for ‘free’ parking in Leek. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 6

Key messages from the consultation are outlined below: 

How often do you have difficulty parking? 

Consultation – Key Messages
• The Strategy must treat the three towns differently, with different 

recommendations for tariffs and policies 
• Regeneration, growth and C-19 recovery must be a key priority 
• Customers want better and more convenient payment options 
• Customers and some other stakeholders feel that there should be a 

free period to support quick trips and convenience shopping
• There is general support for a parking pass for tourists
• 40% of respondents who did not have an electric vehicle stated that 

they would use EVCPs in car parks. Although 50% were not considering 
an EV at all at present

• Support to improve the look and feel of car parks.

Consultation – Town Specific
• Biddulph - Issues with on street parking
• Biddulph – potential change of management in town car park
• Cheadle – No consensus on if there is too much or too little parking
• Cheadle – Tape Street car park should be improved with better 

pedestrian links and more community uses
• Cheadle – Strong views that a free period should be retained
• Cheadle – potential for coach parking should be identified 
• Leek – Recognition that demand for parking is high and corresponding 

acceptance for tariffs and restrictions to improve turn-over 
• Leek - As a tourist destination, wayfinding signage needs improvement
• Leek – The ‘many and small’ nature of the parking estate could be an 

advantage, but drivers need to be able to find them
• Rural – New sites for car parks at key tourists spots could be considered 

along with places for camping cars to park overnight.

P
age 338



The Strategy  
The overall strategy ties together the various work streams 
and topics into a coherent plan which relates back the 
Base Case and consultation and applies national evidence.

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 7

The Strategy has regard to funding to implement the 
action plan, which should come from the parking estate. 
The success of the Action Plan should be measured and 
fed into a review of the Strategy in 5yrs.

“Parking that meets the needs of 
residents, businesses and visitors”

Where are we 
starting from?

Vision for the 
Strategy

The Base 
Case

Measure 
Success

Recommendations / 
Action Plan

Funding to 
implement

Monitor and 
Review

How do we 
achieve the 

vision? 

Consultation and 
Engagement

Mandate

National 
Evidence

Specific Recommendations are made under topic 
areas in the following sections

P
age 339



The Parking Operation 
The parking operation is the day-to-day management of the 
car parking estate. Currently SMDC have a service level 
agreement (SLA) with Stoke on Trent City Council (STCC) to 
carry out enforcement on the off-street car parks.
Benchmarking of the service has been carried out to 
compare it with average statistics derived from information 
provided by other councils in England and Wales. The data 
suggests that the number of Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) 
challenged and subsequently cancelled is higher than the 
average, as is the number cancelled by the Civil 
Enforcement Officers (CEOs) patrolling the car park. This 
issue will be investigated and appropriate action taken, 
however the provision of additional officer resource is 
recommended in the service to ensure that service delivery 
standards are improved and maintained in accordance with 
the strategy recommendations.

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 8

The Parking Operation preforms as well as can be 
expected but suffers from a lack of resource to 

provide strategic direction.

Recommendations for the parking service:

PCN Statistical 
Benchmarks

Staff. 
Moorlands

Average

Discount recovery rates 52% 62%
Overall recovery rates 70% 73%
Compliance Levels Not monitored 85% - 90%
Cancelled CEO error 2.5% 0.5%
CEO productivity 0.55 0.8
Cancellation (not including 
write off) %

19% 16%

% of PCNs challenged 36% 24%
% Appeal to adjudicator 0.28% 0.24%
% Appeal cases lost 100% 56%

Item Recommendations

Strategic 
Management 
Resource

Although the slim management regime is cost efficient, the 
absence of a dedicated resource prevents strategic 
intervention and proactive management of parking.  This 
resource will be key in delivery change and improvements 
in the future, and it absence represents a risk in delivering 
the strategy and Action Plan.

Compliance 
Management 

The existing operation, in partnership with the county, 
remains the best option for delivery, with changes to the 
service level agreement.

Service Level 
Agreement

The SLA should be reviewed in order to; reduce the number 
of KPIs in order to concentrate on quality and efficiency and; 
review the number of deployed hours, using Compliance 
Surveys, to ensure an appropriate level in different areas of 
the district.

Appeal Cases The high number of appeals should be investigated and 
SMDC should adopt their own appeals policy to provide the 
notice processor with a clear steer on the process which 
should be followed. 

P
age 340



Payment Systems
The Council’s fee paying surface car parks are operated 
using pay and display (P&D) machines which only accept 
coins and with no change given. 
Given changes in technology, including making data 
available to third party providers, a variety of payment 
options will be necessary to secure customers. Survey 
respondents and other stakeholders were clear that 
alternative payment methods are desired and COVID-19 
has only accelerated industry moves away from cash. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 9

4. Engage with national efforts to 
provide a publicly owned ‘National 
Parking Platform’, which will handle 
payments and back office for SMDC

1. Target commuter and long stay 
car parks to encourage cashless 

parking immediately

2. Review permit types and consider 
removing cash payments on 

smallest car parks
3. Use a ticketless system to remove 

the need to return to vehicles

4. Create a clear specification 
detailing the functionality you 

require for new equipment

Equipment Engagement

Monitor use of cash and remove facility when other changes are accepted 

1. Consider groups with particular 
needs – provision of PAYG RIFD 

cards on machine top-up at 
locations in each town

1. Brief the press on the initial 
intentions

2. Tell the public the benefits of 
the new payment methods

3. Engage with users when 
changes are made to help 
them with new systems

5. Only install full card/ contactless / 
cash machines in the largest car 
parks at key pedestrian points. 

Yr. 
1

Yr. 
2

Yr. 
>5

Consultation responses – Preferred Method of Payment

It will not be affordable or practical to replace every single 
P&D machine across the district with machines capable 
with contactless/ chip and PIN and so a phased approach 
is recommended.. 

Offering card/cash in larger sites car parks and only 
accepting pay-by-phone / app payments in smaller car 
parks is an option that has been implemented by other 
authorities. SMDC will need to gauge the local appetite 
for this approach. 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Don't
pay

Card

Cash

Phone

In-Car

Phased Approach to payment systems

Item Recommendations

Payment 
Systems

A phased approach is recommend which starts with 
providing pay-by-phone.

P
age 341



Electric Vehicle Charging 
Although increasing in absolute numbers, as of Q1 2021, 
there were only 340 EVs in Staffordshire Moorlands. 
Which represents 0.48% of the total vehicles registered in 
the District.  
With technological improvements emerging and little data 
on charging habits, it would be premature to set a fixed 
number of % of EV chargers in car parks. Whilst there was 
some appetite for EVs and charging in car parks through 
the consultation cost remains a barrier to many across the 
country. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 10

The continuing development of charging technology 
suggests that modest investment in car park charging 
stations is the best course of action but that the 
underlying capacity of the electricity supply should be 
established.  
Further investigation is required into the best types to 
install. When specifying a charging unit, it will be 
important to identify how it will be used; in a car park 
used for short term parking it may be important to install 
higher power fast chargers in order to enable a customer 
to obtain a useful charge, whereas in commuter car parks, 
a larger number of slow chargers may be more useful as 
they are cheaper and will be connected to one vehicle all 
day or for residents use overnight. 
SMDC should consider a separate EV charging strategy and 
work with other authorities to produce this. The number 
of charging points should be under review and increase 
the number available when required up to the limit of the 
available supply. 

Item Recommendations

Strategy Work with the county and neighbouring districts to develop 
a EVCP strategy and system which minimises ongoing 
revenue commitment

Roll-out Employ a measured roll-out, that keeps pace with demand 

Residents 
Charging

Overnight charging for those without off-street parking 
could be provided in certain circumstances. This should be 
managed through paperless ticketing systems.

P
age 342



Tariffs and Charging Periods 
Tariffs are the main way that demand for parking is 
managed and a key means of influencing driver behaviour. 
How tariffs are set depends very much on the objectives 
of the operator. A retail park or shopping centre is likely to 
set tariffs to encourage medium dwell times and 
discourage commuters for example. 
Local Authorities have a much more difficult job and have 
to balance a whole range of policy objectives. 
In looking at the appropriate tariffs, the objectives of the 
strategy are paramount, and this is informed by 
comparisons with other towns and car parking sites in 
other places in the surrounding region. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 11

A range of revised tariff options have been considered 
and the financial impact of their implementation 
modelled. These included: 
• An inflationary rise, bringing tariffs up to where they 

would have risen with annual inflationary increases.
• A ‘market’ level bringing tariffs up to levels more 

comparable with other towns and sites 
• Options which reflected the market rate but also 

included a range of  free  parking periods in response 
to the consultation feedback.

• Extended operating hours and Sunday charges.

Tariffs in the district have not been reviewed since April 
2018 and a result they are now amongst the lowest in the 
local area for both long and short stay. 

Hourly charge rates and 1/2  hr average charge rates at 
car parks in nearby towns. 

P
age 343



Tariff Recommendations
The recommended option is summarised below. It 
responds directly to the specific needs of each town and 
considers the value of individual car parks based on 
transaction data and their location. 
Crucially, it acknowledges consultation feedback by 
introducing a free parking period to support both quick 
trips for convenience goods or goods collections and to 
support off-street drop-off and pick-up from local schools. 
to help protect existing parking revenue budgets, 
extending the operating charging period to between 08:00 
– 18:00 is recommended to bring the district in line with 
the majority of councils 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 12

A half hour free period is to be introduced at car parks in 
Leek, except for those that are already operating close to 
capacity at peak times (which are identified as Prime 
Short Stay). This whilst supporting convenience trips and 
school pick-ups, will also help encourage peak demand 
to re-balance towards the other car parks in the town, 
thereby helping reduce congestions and ensuring that 
there is also more space availability at the most popular 
car parks.
Tape street in Cheadle will be re-sectioned to include an 
area of 54 spaces to benefit from 30 mins free allowing 
school park and walk scheme. The area around the B&M 
Bargains store will become long stay. One hour’s free 
parking will be offered at Well Street in Cheadle and 
Wharf Road in Biddulph.
The introduction of Sunday charges is not proposed at 
the current time given the uncertainty surrounding 
economic recovery from the impact of Covid 19.
The strategic tariff recommendations are summarised 
below.

Item Tariff Recommendations

New Tariff 
Structure

Adopt a new tariff structure based on the recommendation above as an 
appropriate response to the specific environment in each of the three towns 

Free parking 
periods

Half or one hour free parking on selected sites, initially through £nil pay and 
display tickets, but as payment options improve, though paperless tickets via 
app and pay-by-phone

Annual 
Review

Review tariffs and charges on an annual basis to ensure they are still the best fit 
for towns and individual car parks. 

Recommended Tariffs (0800 to 1800 Monday to Saturday, excluding Bank Holidays)

Leek 1/2 Hour 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 10 hours
Prime Short Stay Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A
Market Place, Brook St, Queen 
St, Regent St, Silk St, Market St 
W and Market St East

Proposed £1.20 £1.90 £2.80 N/A

Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A
Proposed Free £1.20 £1.90 £2.80 N/A
Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 £2.40
Proposed Free £1.20 £1.90 £2.80 £3.50

Cheadle
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A
Proposed £1.00 £1.70 £2.50 N/A
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A
Proposed Free £1.00 £1.70 £2.50 N/A
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A
Proposed £0.90 £1.50 £2.20 £3.50
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 £2.20
Proposed Free Free £1.50 £2.30 £3.00

Biddulph
Existing £0.60 £0.80 £1.00 £1.80
Proposed Free Free £1.20 £1.80 £2.50

Short Stay

Long Stay Variable

Tape St (Standard area)

Well St

Wharf Rd

Tape St (New Short Stay Area)

Tape St (New Long Stay Area)

P
age 344



Town Specific  - Biddulph
The Council operates one car park in Biddulph which 
serves the town and the local health centre. Sainsbury’s 
have a large car park adjacent to its supermarket allowing 
free parking subject to a 3 hour maximum stay and a 
number of online survey respondents stated that they 
used this car park to visit the town. Limited stay free on 
street parking is also available on-street. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 13

With regards to the consultation the importance the 
SMDC car park was limited, respondents stated that used 
the supermarket car park and on-street parking rather 
than the Wharf Rd. 

Item Biddulph

Strategic Make best use of existing asset through charging and tariff 
regime including a new, 1hr free period with extension of 
charging periods to 08:00 to 18:00

Estate Wharf Rd is in good condition. Seek opportunities to 
increase SMDC parking assets in the town. The business case 
for any proposals will need to be considered their own 
merits.

Other Work with the county to reduce on-street problem parking 
and monitor the on-street parking around the High Street, 
considering residents if this can be justified 

P
age 345



Town Specific  - Cheadle
The Council operates 2 car parks in Cheadle; Tape Street 
which is well located and designated as short stay and 
Well Street which is less busy and intended for 
commuters. 
There are also a number of small privately operated car 
parks operated to the rear of businesses, such as pubs, in 
the town. 
Large car parks serving supermarkets provide no-charge 
parking which is subject to a 2 hour maximum stay. Finally, 
no-charge on-street parking is also available subject to 
limited stays. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 14

The emerging Masterplan Options recognises the “healthy 
provision of reasonably priced car parking”. In light of the 
masterplan proposals, the supply and demand for parking 
should be assessed through the planning and 
development process. 
Cheadle was over represented in the consultation survey 
and meetings were well attended demonstrating the 
strength of feeling in the Town. There was no broad 
consensus on a number of issues, including on the overall 
level of parking, and charging periods. 
There was broad agreement on the need for improved 
payment systems, sites, and the requirement for a free 
period for quick visits to shops. 

Item Cheadle

Strategic Adopt tariff recommendation changes including providing 
free parking for 1hr in Well Street and changes the charging 
period for 08:00 to 18:00 in both car parks. The free period 
will allow school drop-off and pick up and access to the 
town centre for quick trips. 

Estate Improve the general condition and look and feel of Well 
Street Car Park. Provision of card/cash payments alongside 
pay-by-phone.

Regeneration Consider carefully the appropriate level of parking required 
as and when regeneration proposals come forward, 
including carrying out usage surveys when traffic levels 
stabilise. 

High Street 
Support

Improve amenity e.g. easier pedestrian access to High 
Street.

Community 
Value

Adopt a policy for other uses on both sites such as markets, 
community fairs and car boot sales.

P
age 346



Town Specific  - Leek
SMDC’s car parks in Leek are comprised of generally 
smaller surface car parks across the town centre. There is 
a mix of short stay (with a 3hour maximum stay) and long 
stay. 
In addition to the SMDC sites, there are privately operated 
car parks including a rooftop car park at Brook Street 
operated by RCP, and car parks serving supermarket 
customers which are free but subject to limited stay or 
purchase restrictions. Free on street parking is also 
available within the town centre subject to short limited 
stays.

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 15

The Leek Town Centre Masterplan (TCMP) highlights the 
role of the Town as the administrative centre for the 
district, its rich townscape and thriving town centre. The 
small and dispersed nature of car parks is considered to be 
adding to congestion and so the plan states that an 
improved car parking strategy is needed. 
The consultation revealed parking pressure with more 
people finding it difficult to find a space when they need 
one and so less call for free parking and free periods. The 
small and dispersed nature of parking was seen as a 
‘blessing and a curse’ as it allows customers to get close to 
their destinations, but results in traffic. Wayfinding and 
better payments methods were highlighted during the 
consultation.

Item Leek

Consolidation 
and removal 
of car parks

Seek options for a development site linked with 
regeneration to consolidate parking in fewer sites and allow 
for the disposal of smaller sites to improve townscape and 
support the masterplan, although this needs to be subject 
to feasibility on a case-by-case basis

Way-finding 
and signage

Work with the County to remove signage and directional 
clutter on-street as sat-navs and information become the 
norm, signposting to fewer, larger car parks of Vicarage Rd 
(from the E via Buxton Rd), High Street, (from the NW via 
Mill St), Smithfield North and South (from the SE via 
Ashbourne Rd) and Brook Street (from the S via Cheddleton
Rd).

Capacity 
Information

Sensors / cameras are unlikely to be costs effective for 
smaller sites in the medium term, although opportunities 
may arise in the longer term. In the meantime, direct traffic 
to the larger and quieter car parks. 

Payment 
Options

.In line with the payments strategy, once phone payments 
are adopted, remove cash machines from smaller car parks, 
with card payments available in larger car parks. 

P
age 347



Rural Car Parks
SMDC also manages a number of rural and village car 
parks. Although these is no charge to use them, these car 
parks cost SMDC money to maintain and are chargeable 
for business rates. 
The table below lists their location, size and potential user 
base. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 16

There are some examples of charging for tourist visitors in 
car parks in the nearby area for example in the village of 
Edale, the parish council charges visitors a flat rate of £5 
per day to park in a temporary. Whether charges can be 
justified at Oakamoor or Wetton is unclear, the size of the 
sites suggests installing machines may not be economic, 
cash could be at risk and mobile coverage may limit 
paperless tickets. Surveys would need to be carried out to 
investigate this further. 

Item Rural and Village Car Parks

Strategic Carry out site surveys to gain a better understanding of 
usage and role that the rural car parks play

Estate Consider the rationale for each site and; whether charges to 
fund operational costs could be introduced; another 
operator may be better placed to run it; and/or if there are 
better uses for the site to support regeneration/ housing. 

Site Spaces Pot. Users
Blythe Bridge Library 7 Library / School 
Blythe Bridge - Uttoxeter Rd 22 Residents
Tean - Old Rd 55 Residents / Pub
Forsbrook - Chapel Lane 13 Residents / Shoppers
Wetton - Car Lane 25 Leisure Users
Oakamoor - Hunt View Rd 18 Leisure Users

Because surveys were not possible during the preparation 
of the strategy it is not possible to make concrete 
recommendations. We recommend the following 
approach on a case-by-case basis: 
1. Get a better understanding of usage and role; 
2. Consider the rationale for their provision – what 

strategic function does it have, who is using it?
3. Is there potential to introduce charges to help fund 

operational costs.
4. Is there another operator better placed to run it? 
5. Are there better uses for the site? 

P
age 348



Tourism
The public consultation, meetings with economic and 
tourism staff, and councillors displayed a keenness to 
attract more tourists to the area and a sense of pride that 
the District was a tourist destination. The Local Plan 
presents evidence about the importance of tourism to the 
local economy. 
Where the Council can impact tourism through parking, 
three questions outline the approach:
1. How can parking reduce the impact of tourism?
2. How can parking support tourism?
3. Can any new sites improve the visitor experience (for 

example by reducing problem on-street parking)?

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 17

The ability of SMDC to reduce the impact of tourism 
outside of the three main towns is limited simply because 
it does not control many sites. New sites will be subject to 
policy constraints (National Park / Green Belt) as well as 
require a robust business case .
In the case of the three main towns, the visitor experience 
will be improved by general improvements to the car 
parks and their management regimes.
The concept of a tourist permit for certain periods was 
mooted throughout consultation and this would be 
relatively easy to administer through pay-by-phone / 
paperless ticket technology. This is a well establish product 
offered in many places across the country. 

Item Tourism

Tourist Pass Introduce a Tourist permit, managed using pay-by-phone 
and other ticketless means, giving ~30% discount on the all 
day rate. 

Way-finding 
and signage

Replace welcome boards where they are worn and renew 
onward pedestrian signage at key sites

New Sites / 
Camping Car 
Sites

Seek opportunities for new sites to improve the visitor 
experience, but consider on a case-by-case basis. 

Cheadle Coach 
parking

Seek and appropriate site for drop-off/pick up and parking 
with the county and town council. 

Camping Car site were mentioned during the consultation. 
Whilst there exist low cost options which include unstaffed 
sites with chemical toilet disposal, as used across Europe 
even with this low-cost option, there will be an ongoing 
revenue cost and each site would need to be subject to 
feasibility on its own merits.

Coach Parking is an issue across the country for towns with 
tourist attractions and is very difficult to tackle. Again, 
what SMDC can do is limited by their estate, although 
coach parks do not have to owned or controlled by the 
Council. For example, in Cheltenham, coaches drop off in 
the town centre before moving to the racecourse to park 
longer term. P

age 349



Action Plan
The action plan takes the recommendations of the report 
and puts them into a strategic framework with 
approximate timescales against clear measurable actions 
under several themes. 
There will be a variety of funding sources that the council 
will need to secure to implement the strategy. One of the 
very first and most important actions, pay-by-phone, may 
require no upfront cost at all. For some, such as EVCPs and 
physical improvements, central government or county 
highways money may need to be sought. For ongoing 
revenue funding, the tariff changes could be sufficient on 
their own to fund improvements. 
Absolutely key to the strategy will be adequate staff 
resource.

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 18

Yr Theme Action

0 - 1 Strategic Consider the business case for a strategic full time 
management resource to oversee and implement the 
Strategy and Action Plan 

0 - 1 Payments Procure a pay-by-phone provider (and associated web 
portal), working in partnership with STCC and 
neighbouring authorities to save resources and improve 
customer service. This action is key in enabling many of 
the other actions and recommendations in the strategy 

1 – 5 Payments Adopt a payments strategy, as shown below, ensuring 
to communicate changes to customers and the public

1 – 2 Compliance 
management

Carry out Compliance Surveys and review the Service 
Level Agreement with STCC to reduce the number of 
KPIs in order to better focus on compliance 
management and appropriate resource allocation

1 - 2 Compliance 
Management

Investigate the high rate of cancellations and appeals 
and adopt a policy for these to better guide STCC.

Strategic and Service Management

Payment Strategy

P
age 350



Action Plan
The action plan takes the recommendations of the report 
and puts them into a strategic framework with 
approximate timescales against clear measurable actions 
under several themes. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2022 19

Town and Village Car Parks
Yr Theme Action
2 – 3 Strategic Develop a Capital Investment Programme for costed 

renewal of surfacing, signage and curtilage barriers 
2 + Electric 

Vehicle 
Charging

Adopt a measured approach to deployment and 
work with partners (such as the County and NPA) to 
develop a wider EVCP Strategy which considers the 
needs of residents without off-street parking 

2 – 5 Tourism Mandate a project to consider new sites at key 
points if deemed necessary once travel and holiday 
patterns have stabilised following the pandemic

2 – 5 Estate Following development of an Investment 
Programme and EVCP strategy, carry out a rolling 
programme of capital improvements to sites 

1 - 2 Wayfinding 
and signage

Following the development of an Investment 
Programme, and working with the county and town 
councils, look to improve vehicle wayfinding (fewer 
sites signed) and pedestrian information from Car 
Parks including renewal of maps and interpretation 
signage.

The Parking Estate
Yr Theme Action
1 + Biddulph Highlight problem on-street parking to the county 

council and implement tariff review
0 – 1 Villages Carry out site surveys to gain a better 

understanding of usage and role that the village car 
parks play 

1 – 3 Cheadle, Leek 
& Biddulph

Develop a policy for community uses on parking 
estate (e.g. fairs, pop-up cinemas, car-boot sales, 
markets etc.)

2 – 3 Cheadle Improve general look and feel of Well St car park

2 – 5 Cheadle Work with local community and county to develop 
options for coach parking

1+ Cheadle Ensure parking is fully considered in regeneration 
and development proposals 

1+ Leek Seek opportunities for new or consolidated car 
parks as part of wider regeneration initiatives and 
central govt. funding opportunities 

2 – 5 Leek Specific focus on Leek with regards wayfinding and 
signage improvements and removal. Harness 
technology in the longer term to show occupancy as 
and if this becomes economic 

2 + Villages Review rationale for each site and further actions 
on a case-by-case basis.

P
age 351



All photographs from Wikimedia
Mapping from Open Street Map 
or Google Maps. 

Staffordshire Moorlands Parking Strategy - 2021 20

P
age 352



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 1 © Parking Matters Limited 2021 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by 

 

 

 

 

July 2021 

 
 

 

Pa r k i n g  S t ra te g y  
M a i n  R e p o r t  

J u l y  2 0 2 1  

Page 353



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 2 © Parking Matters Limited 2021 
 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction ..........................................................................................................................................4 

 COVID-19 Pandemic ....................................................................................................................4 

 Staffordshire Moorlands District ..................................................................................................4 

 Overall Vision ..............................................................................................................................5 

2. Wider Parking Context ..........................................................................................................................6 

 How Parking can impact and support districts and towns ............................................................6 

 Relationship between charges and footfall ..................................................................................7 

 Climate Change and Air Quality ...................................................................................................8 

 Local Policy ..................................................................................................................................9 

3. Baseline - Parking Estate ..................................................................................................................... 11 

 The Estate Condition ................................................................................................................. 12 

 Parking Demand and Financial Performance .............................................................................. 13 

4. Consultation ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

5. The Parking Operation......................................................................................................................... 17 

 Compliance Management .......................................................................................................... 17 

 Data Analysis and Delivery of Service ......................................................................................... 17 

 Payment Facilities...................................................................................................................... 19 

6. Electric Vehicle Charging ..................................................................................................................... 21 

 Charging types ........................................................................................................................... 21 

 Power requirements .................................................................................................................. 21 

 Electric Vehicle Charging Recommendations ............................................................................. 22 

7. Tariffs and charging periods ................................................................................................................ 23 

 Tariff Comparisons .................................................................................................................... 23 

 Tariff Options ............................................................................................................................ 24 

 Season Tickets ........................................................................................................................... 26 

8. Town Specific Recommendations ........................................................................................................ 27 

 Biddulph .................................................................................................................................... 27 

 Cheadle ..................................................................................................................................... 29 

 Leek .......................................................................................................................................... 30 

 Financial Implications of Providing New Decked Car Parks ......................................................... 32 

 SMDC Rural and Village Car Parks .............................................................................................. 33 

9. Tourism ............................................................................................................................................... 34 

 Reducing the impact of tourism ................................................................................................. 34 

 Supporting Tourism ................................................................................................................... 34 

 Potential new or expanded sites ................................................................................................ 34 

Page 354



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 3 © Parking Matters Limited 2021 
 

 Camping Car Sites ...................................................................................................................... 35 

 Coach Parking ............................................................................................................................ 36 

10. 5 Year Action Plan ............................................................................................................................... 37 

 Strategic / Service Management ................................................................................................ 37 

 Payments Strategy..................................................................................................................... 37 

 The Parking Estate ..................................................................................................................... 38 

 Towns and Village Car Parks ...................................................................................................... 38 

Appendix 1 – Technology Suppliers ............................................................................................................. 39 

Glossary ...................................................................................................................................................... 40 

Page 355



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

4 
 

1. Introduction 
Parking Matters Ltd (PML) were commissioned by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (‘the Council’ 
or SMDC) to assist in the production of a refreshed Parking Strategy and associated Action Plan for the 
District.  This report summarises this process and draws on the technical work undertaken as part of 
establishing a ‘base case’, an extensive consultation exercise, and then outlines the recommendations 
and an action plan as part of a wider strategy.  

As well as utilising data provided by SMDC we have drawn on research relating to the predicted changes 
in parking behaviour, demographics and technology and how these are likely to impact the delivery of 
transport and parking services to ensure that the new strategy will allow the Council to plan for the 
challenges and benefits that these will bring to the service.   

We have reviewed SMDC’s policy documents, contracts, KPI information, financial budgets and 
statistical data.  Data has been collated for benchmarking and was gathered from comparable 
authorities through desktop research, including parking annual reports, web sites, policies and 
discussions. We have also drawn on our experience as parking practitioners and our work with a 
number of different authorities and car park operators to inform some of our findings.  

 COVID-19 Pandemic 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on society in the UK and is likely to 
do so for some time. The project commenced after the spread of the virus in the UK and Government 
measures to restrict transmission rates and consequently surveys could not be carried out to evidence 
‘normal’ levels of parking demand in the district. Therefore, this report uses available parking data prior 
to the outbreak. The recommendations in the strategy have regard to risks associated with the 
economic and societal impact of the virus.   

 Staffordshire Moorlands District 
The district had a population of just 97,000 at the time of the 2011 Census. The three towns of Leek, 
Biddulph and Cheadle are the base for around 54% of residents, with c22% of the population living in 
the larger settlements of Cheddleton, Endon, Werrington & Cellarhead and Blyth Bridge, located in the 
west of the district. 

A third of the district lies in the Peak District National Park, and of the remainder c30% is designated as 
green belt (see Figure 1). Since 2001 there has been a steady increase in population mainly due to net 
migration into the district, although the average age of the population is increasing.  

A major issue for the District has been the inadequacy of the public transport system, as recognised in 
the Local Transport Plan and elsewhere1. Whilst there is a network of bus routes, many settlements 
having only daily bus links and a call-on-demand Moorlands Connect services, the Local Plan 
Development Capacity Study found that the frequency and accessibility to these services can be limited, 
particularly in the rural areas. 

In summary; the district in constrained in development terms and rural in nature, with a growing, 
although ageing population. Staffordshire Moorlands is within the 40% least deprived districts in 
England. There is higher than average travel to work by private motor vehicles (~52% compared to 
~40% nationally).  

  

 

1 Staffordshire Moorlands District Integrated Transport Strategy, 2018 - 2031 
Page 356



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

5 
 

Figure 1: Overview Map: chargeable car parks shown in blue and non-chargeable in green2 

 

 Overall Vision 
A vision is a useful place to start for any strategy as it provides a direction of travel. The commitment 
and mandate for a renewed Parking Strategy were set out in Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 
2019-2023 and the vision is taken from Aim 4 and the related Action:  

• Aim 4: “Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors”   
• Action: “Develop a New Parking Strategy to ensure that our car parks meet the needs of residents and 

visitors” 
 

 

 

2 Map data from openstreetmap and UK Government open data.  

Vision for the Strategy:  
 “Parking that meets the needs of residents, businesses and visitors” 

Page 357



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

6 
 

 

2. Wider Parking Context 
Societal and demographic changes, together with technological innovations, are transforming the way 
people work, spend their leisure time, travel and shop. Cars will increasingly be ‘connected’ and drivers 
will expect their car or app to find and pay for their parking automatically.  

The expansion in the number of electric vehicles, connected cars and, longer-term, the introduction of 
autonomous vehicles will create both challenges and opportunities for parking services and transport 
managers. At the same time, the impact on the demand for both parking and parking services needs to 
be planned for in the context of a climate emergency and an urgent need to reduce the impact of cars 
and congestion on unacceptably high levels of air pollution. 

The way that the public expects to pay for parking is also changing. In most instances parking is a 
relatively small spend and, prior to the Covid-19 outbreak, cash remained the most common method of 
payment. However, the use of contactless payment in society has been growing quickly, spurred on by 
banks looking to optimise operational efficiencies and growing customer confidence in and familiarity 
with this technology. This, and the increasing popularity of apps such as Apple Pay, Android Pay, PayPal, 
etc. mean that drivers increasingly expect cashless solutions to pay for their parking. Covid-19 social 
distancing rules will almost certainly speed up this trend due to the risk of spreading the virus through 
the use of cash.  For the operator cashless payment enhances operational efficiency, provides valuable 
data opportunities, and removes the potential for theft. 

 How Parking can impact and support districts and towns 
Parking management is important to local communities, helping residents and visitors to access 
businesses and services and to support local economies. For local authorities, off-street parking is an 
important asset providing a tool for town centre management and a source of revenue to deliver 
important services within the limits set out by national legislation3. 

Poorly managed parking assets can have a detrimental impact on how towns and cities look and 
function; encouraging traffic, contributing to a poor townscape, exacerbating air pollution and poor 
health, linked to inequality. ‘Cruising’ for parking can generate vehicle mileage as users search for 
spaces, generating congestion and contributing to emissions4. Figure 2 below illustrates how a parking 
strategy should work to achieve a balance between economy, townscape, income and sustainability. 

 

3 British Parking Association. August 2011. Parking Practice Notes, p10. 
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/Documents/Library/ppns/PPN1%20-%20Charging%20for%20Parking%20-
%20Aug%202011.pdf 

4 Shoup, Donald. 2007. Cruising for Parking. http://shoup.bol.ucla.edu/CruisingForParkingAccess.pdf 
Page 358

http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/Documents/Library/ppns/PPN1%20-%20Charging%20for%20Parking%20-%20Aug%202011.pdf
http://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/Documents/Library/ppns/PPN1%20-%20Charging%20for%20Parking%20-%20Aug%202011.pdf
http://shoup.bol.ucla.edu/CruisingForParkingAccess.pdf


Parking Strategy – Main Report   

7 
 

Figure 2: A parking Strategy must seek to balance the sometimes competing objectives of districts and towns  

 

 Relationship between charges and footfall 
Town centres are changing, changes in retail make the economic environment more challenging for 
retail based town centres5.  

Whilst parking charges are often raised by traders and businesses as a barrier to footfall and dwell time, 
the available evidence, such as that carried out by Mingardo et al. Erasmus University of Rotterdam6 
suggests much less simple picture. Briefly, to summarise:   

• BPA National Survey findings found that location and personal safety come before tariffs in what 
people value in parking; 

• The UK based association of Town and City Management concluded that “the general availability of 
spaces is felt to be more important than cost in their overall decision about visiting. Traffic flow and 
parking signage have as much, if not greater, effect on their decision to visit the town centre, how long 
they spend there, and how much money they spend.”  

• Where this is a link between footfall and parking, it tends to be that higher value destinations with 
higher footfall charge more, not less and that the general availability of spaces is felt by visitors to be 
more important than cost in their overall decision about visiting7; 

• Parking is only one a whole number of factors that influence people’s decision to visit a town centre as 
shown in Figure 3, from the Re-Think! Report published by Springboard. 

 

5 Springboard. 2013. Re-Think! Parking on the High Street Report 
6 https://www.eur.nl/en/upt/our-experts/giuliano-mingardo  
7 Atkins. The effect of Parking Policy in England: Stage 1 Final Report 

Page 359

https://www.eur.nl/en/upt/our-experts/giuliano-mingardo


Parking Strategy – Main Report   

8 
 

Figure 3: Factors influencing the success of a town centre (Re-Think! Parking on the High Street Report) 

 

In summary, reducing car parking charges is unlikely to have the desired effect, bringing with it the 
negative aspects of a poorly managed parking estate without the desired uplift in visitors. Town and city 
centres require the sort of re-invention that has happened in many of the UK’s largest successful cities 
and is underway in many towns across the country.  

For a successful future, the district needs to attract visitors, shoppers and employers to its towns. 
Changing customer expectations and the changing role of technology provide both opportunities and 
threats, as connected vehicles help users to make more informed choices about their destinations, a 
well-managed, maintained and safe parking estate will help to do this.  

 Climate Change and Air Quality  
Carbon reduction targets will require parking policy and management to play a key role in delivering 
solutions to reduce emissions and to encourage the use of low emission vehicles. The change from a 
carbon and car-based economy to a low carbon one is likely to see a change from a car ownership to a 
car sharing model with mobility rather than ownership as the key. Changes are likely to occur gradually, 
and the Council must manage and facilitate the transition while maintaining and improving the 
economic vitality of the district.  

Forecasting future demand for electric vehicle charging stations in car parks is complex and difficult. EV 
technology is changing rapidly as car manufacturers try to improve the usability of their products.  New 
designs have a greater range and use faster charging technology. There are other potentially disruptive 
technologies (in-road induction, hydrogen powered vehicles, etc) that will emerge over the next 10 
years.  

The advantage of EVs is in better local air quality and reduced road noise. However, they do nothing to 
tackle congestion, traffic severance, or reduce reliance on cars, and their global environmental 

Page 360



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

9 
 

performance depends on their manufacture and how the energy to power them is generated. Like 
conventional cars EVs also emit particulates, this comes from brake, tyre, and road surface wear and 
with advances in cleaner engines, they now exceed tailpipe emissions8. EVs are discussed in more detail 
in section 6. 

Parking Context - Summary 

• High streets and town centres are changing nationally and need to change from retail centres to 
places where people want to live, work and enjoy. Parking has a role to play in this but is just one 
of a number of factors determining high street vitality.  

• Changes in technology will play a significant role in how people decide on their destination, where 
they will choose to park and how they will pay for parking. Local Authorities of all sizes will need 
to respond to this change and to do so they will need to work together and to raise revenue to 
invest in new delivery models. 

• Offering a variety of easy payment methods is essential for both the visitor experience and for an 
efficiently managed car park service. 

• There is no strong or proven link between parking charges and footfall or retail vitality, the value 
of the space and strength of the destination are bigger factors in customer choice of destination. 
Whilst unreasonably high charges would obviously put visitors off, there is little evidence of this 
happening in the real world as parking operators of all types generally seek to find the optimum 
price.  

• Evidence, although limited, suggests that if anything town centres benefit from reductions in 
traffic and that local customers walking or using public transport often spend more than car 
drivers in any case. 

• Local Authority car parks are not necessarily the optimum places for EV charging infrastructure 
and councils should consider their placement and how ongoing revenue costs are to be met 
carefully. Council car parks may have a role in helping charge vehicles in town centre locations 
where overnight off street residential charging facilities are not readily available. 

  

 Local Policy  
Given the wider importance of parking in respect of local economies and the environment, parking 
policy is not just the domain of parking operators. The Parking Strategy must take into account the 
wider policies and objectives of the council and make reference to national policy. Indeed, parking is 
not an end in of itself, but a tool to achieve these wider objectives.  

We have considered the following policy documents with relevance to parking:  

• National Policy Framework 
• Staffordshire Local Transport Plan  
• Corporate Plan  
• Climate Change Emergency Declaration 
• Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan  
• Peak District National Park planning policy 
• Biddulph Area Action Plan  
• Cheadle Spatial Masterplan  
• Leek Town Centre Masterplan. 

 

 

8 Prof. Roy Harrison OBE, FRS, https://www.theengineer.co.uk/electric-vehicles-and-particulates/ 
Page 361

https://www.theengineer.co.uk/electric-vehicles-and-particulates/


Parking Strategy – Main Report   

10 
 

There is little value in replicating large parts of policy documents here, and we have summarised the 
key points in the table below:  

Policy Review - Summary 

• The strategy must support and help deliver the higher level policies plans and strategies for the 
district. In summary these are:  

• The find the right balance of appropriate parking levels in the towns; 
• To support regeneration and economic growth; 
• To support specific regeneration masterplans for Cheadle and Leek; 
• To support air quality efforts through Electric Vehicle Charging Points.  

 

  

Page 362



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

11 
 

3. Baseline - Parking Estate 
The Council provides around 1,750 spaces in 27 public car parks across towns and villages in the district, 
the distribution of which is shown in Figure 4. 20 are pay and display car parks in the larger towns and a 
further 7 have no charges. The strategy will focus on these car parks and will not consider on-street 
parking which is operated and controlled by Staffordshire County Council. In addition to Council car 
parks there are several private car parks in the District including supermarket car parks, some of which 
are restricted to the customers only, where these are relevant they are discussed under the specific 
town.  

Figure 4 - SMDC Parking Stock Distribution 

 

  

Staffordshire 

Moorlands 

Car Parks 

 

Page 363



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

12 
 

 The Estate Condition 
An audit of the SMDC off-street car parks was undertaken in October 2020. The purpose of the audit 
was to establish the baseline of existing facilities and identify any notable issues and instances of good 
practice.  

Key issues identified include: 

• Payment options are limited to coins only on pay and display car parks; 
• Some of the surface level car parks are of poor quality with worn line marking; 
• Signage and wayfinding could be significantly improved upon. This is particularly an issue in Leek where 

car parks are generally small and scattered around the town. There is also no method of easily locating 
available spaces; 

• Car park signage is old and untidy in many locations providing a poor first impression to visitors; 
• Car park names lack meaning for casual visitors; 
• None of the car parks provide electric charging facilities for motorists which is in contrast to many 

other UK towns and cities; 
• No sense of destination when walking out of most car parks. There are maps on some car parks, but 

most are weathered and illegible; and, 
• Not all car parks have accessible parking bays. 

Poor legibility and information can lead to cars circulating to find spaces in the town centre 
exacerbating congestion and air quality issues and generally providing a poor initial impression of the 
town. Onward destination information is also important to help customers quickly find their way once 
they have arrived through the provision of legible wayfinding information. This will frame the town in a 
positive manner providing a good first impression. For example, key routes between car parks and town 
centre can be improved both with physical improvements and digital information to improve the 
customer experience. Digital apps will also help with wayfinding, and it is therefore essential that open 
source data is available to at least confirm the location of car parks and the number of spaces. 

Figure 5: Poor line markings and confusing wayfinding examples 

 

Page 364



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

13 
 

 Parking Demand and Financial Performance 
This pattern of availability does not tell the whole story however. Revenue per space is a useful 
indicator of turnover and demand. This varies significantly between the towns and individual car parks 
as shown in Figure 6 below. 

Figure 6: Revenue per space per year 

 

As season tickets are not allocated at site level some of the revenues per space shown are lower than 
might be expected although this unlikely to change the overall pattern.  

The short stay car parks in Leek generated the highest yields per space, up to £1,000 p.a. and c65% of 
the total off-street parking revenue for the district in 2019/20 (c£434k). Although Tape Street, Cheadle, 
provides the single largest income overall, the car park only achieves ~£400 per space p.a. This is 
reasonably low for a town centre car park in our experience and suggests that there is space availability 
most of the time. Overall, Cheadle provides 27% of income (c£183k) and Biddulph 8% (c£53k) p.a. in 
2019/20.  

The estate relies on short stays for much of its income, with 43% of overall transactions in the 1hr band 
which produce 36% of the revenue. This would suggest that the introduction of a free period would 
heavily impact on the overall revenue level. Conversely, longer stays only account for 7% of transactions 
and 11% of revenue, with the highest proportion in Biddulph where longer stays generate 25% of 
parking revenue. Contributing factors to this pattern could be: 

• A shorter charging period than other districts with parking free before 09:30 – 15:30 across the three 
towns, this would allow long stayers to buy multiple short stay tickets if working or visiting locally; 

• Few commuters using car parks or using Season Tickets instead of paying a daily rate. This may be 
especially the case in Cheadle, where 1hr stays account for 53% of revenue; 

• Longer stays in Biddulph may be as a result of a good supply of supermarket parking and on-street near 
to the towns and nearby employment (health centre for example). 

Page 365



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

14 
 

As a result of Covid-19 it has been impossible to carry out occupancy surveys to assess ‘normal’ demand 
for parking in the district, however a public consultation was carried out to assist with our 
understanding of any specific parking demand issues. From this we understand that visitors to Leek 
have historically had more trouble finding parking spaces than other locations where generally finding a 
parking space was less of an issue. 

The lack of survey data has in some instances (particularly the rural car parks) made it more difficult to 
understand the type of user visiting each car park and ‘normal’ occupancy levels prior to the COVID 
outbreak however even prior to COVID, overall paid parking volumes in the district were declining, as 
shown in Figure 6. This is in common with reduced high street footfall and seems to follow similar 
patterns to many UK towns, although the fall in 2018/19 is particularly sharp (c10% drop).  

Figure 7: P&D total transactions 2017-21 

 

The spike in August 2020 follows national trends9 and therefore is unlikely to be predominantly due to 
the impact of free 3-hour parking offer that was offered during this time. 

Parking Estate - Summary 

• Poor payment options and the need for capital renewal for some car parks 
• Poor and confusing way-finding, specifically in Leek  
• Income per space is uneven, with smaller Leek car parks generating the most per space 
• 43% of overall parking transactions are in 1-hour band and produce 39% of revenue. In Cheadle 1 

hour stays account for 53% of revenue. This revenue needs to be protected to ensure the service 
operates efficiently and can invest in estate improvements 

• Only 7% of revenue is for longer stays, perhaps as a mix of few commuters and season ticket use 
• Transaction numbers were reducing year-on-year even prior to COVID. This is in line with national 

trends for declining high street footfall.  

  

 

 

9 Springboard Data 
Page 366



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

15 
 

4. Consultation 
A public consultation exercise was carried out to engage with stakeholders and inform the parking 
strategy. Because of the global pandemic no face-to-face meetings were possible (in line with central 
government guidance) and so web conferencing and video calls were used instead. This included:  

• Cllrs and SMDC officer meetings; 
• County, National Park and Tourist board workshops; 
• Three town workshops with town councillors, business owners and residents; 
• Online survey which received 770 responses. 

Of the online survey respondents: 

• Majority identified as residents, shoppers and service users 
• Age profile slightly skewed towards older age groups (41% respondents under 50 compared to 57% of 

population); 
• 40% of respondents stated that whilst they did not have an Electric Vehicle, they would use chargers in 

SMDC car parks if they purchased one. 50% were not considering an EV at the moment; 
• In terms of preferred method of payment, 55% would prefer a non-cash option.  

Difficulty finding a space provides and insight into parking occupancy at different periods during the day 
and helps to add context to free text and other answers, for example, fewer people in Leek called for 
free parking, possibly recognising that availability is more important and that as a finite resource 
parking needs to be managed.  

 

The tables below highlight the key messages that emerged from the consultation process. 

Table 1 – Key messages from the consultation 

Overall Vision and Strategy – Key Messages 
 
The Strategy must treat the three town differently and respect their differences; recommending 
measures, tariffs and approaches appropriate to each one individually.  
Regeneration, growth, C19 recovery and the vitality of high streets must be a key priority for the 
strategy.  
A business case for payment options including contactless and cashless parking should be considered 
in detail.  
There is general support for a free period (30mins / 1hr) to support quick trips and shopping. At the 
same time there is a willingness to look again at the free periods (before 09:00 and after 15:30) 
A parking pass for tourists. 

Page 367



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

16 
 

40% of respondents stated that whilst they did not have an Electric Vehicle, they would use chargers 
in SMDC car parks if they purchased one. 50% were not considering an EV at the moment. 
A package of improvements to improve the look and feel of car parks, with a medium term asset 
management plan and investment strategy considered.  
Blue badge bays were only highlighted 5 times. Additional parking in Leek (1) and additional parking 
Cheadle, although these comments seem relate the high street (3) and Morrisons (1).  

 

Table 2 – Town Specific Messages 

Town Specific 
 
Biddulph – There are issues with on-street parking that’s the county should be made aware of 
(blocking of high street, parking on residential roads and South Street residents). 
Biddulph – Both the town council and the district are willing to consider transfer of operations to the 
town council subject to further consideration. 
Cheadle – there is no clear consensus on the overall level of parking at Tape Street (i.e. if part of the 
site should be redeveloped), and there is genuine concern about loss of car parking.  
Cheadle - there is a consensus that Tape Street car park site should be improved, work better for the 
town, and function more as a public space. Of particular comment were the pedestrian links between 
the car park and the high street 
Cheadle – there is broad consensus from the public and town council that a free period is required 
and that they are willing to re-consider the current free period before 09:30 and after 15:30.  
Leek – The issue is one of parking pressure and demand. Tariffs are considered fairer and there is less 
demand for a reduction or free period. A new or developed site should be at least considered at the 
highest level in the strategy.  
Leek – As a tourist destination, wayfinding and signage needs improvement. The ‘many and small’ 
nature of the car parks could be an advantage, but drivers need to be able to find them.  
Rural – New sites, and aires for motorhomes, will be difficult to deliver in planning terms and would 
need to be subjected to feasibility, but as a concept should be investigated.  

 
 
 
  

Page 368



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

17 
 

5. The Parking Operation 
In 2019/20 and prior to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic total income derived from parking services 
was c£692k, with this income used to fund the costs of operating the service. The surplus of c£223k is 
used towards funding for parking and environment improvement objectives, as allowed under 
legislation.  

Revenue reduced significantly in 2021/21 due to the impact of the pandemic lockdowns to the extent 
that revenue was forecast to be insufficient to fund operating costs, resulting in a forecast deficit. 

There is no full-time resource allocated to the SMDC parking service and it is either shared with High 
Peak District Council and/or forms part of a wider council remit. Whilst this is an efficient model for 
overseeing the management of the service from a cost perspective, it does limit the amount of 
commercial and strategic focus that can be assigned to ensure that that the service can properly plan 
for and respond to the societal, demographic and technological changes outlined previously. 

 Compliance Management 
We have drawn on our experience and knowledge as parking practitioners and having worked with a 
large of different authorities to inform our findings with regards service delivery and benchmarking.    

SMDCs is responsible for the efficient management of the car park compliance management through-
out the Borough. There are 27 car parks with a total of 1640 spaces which are subject to parking 
charges or length of stay restrictions as set out in the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (Off-
Street Parking Places) Order 2018 and are managed by the Council exercising its powers under the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and under the Traffic Management Act 2004 as amended. 

As a result of managing compliance of these powers, in the financial year 2019 - 2020 1,060 Penalty 
Charge Notices (PCMs) were issued with an income of £27,100.   

SMDC is responsible for providing the associated equipment and processes necessary to operate the 
service, including: compliance management, pay and display machines and maintenance, provision of 
season tickets, parking place orders, consultations, business processing operation and issuing and 
processing parking software.  

The SLA that is in place between SMDC and Stoke on Trent City Council (STCC) is standard and contains 
the service requirements expected.  KPIs have been specified along with the number of deployed hours 
required in the year (broken down into three main areas). The SLA expired in March 2020 and is now 
renewed on an annual basis.   

In our opinion, due to the size and nature of the operation, continuing with the agreement with STCC is 
the best way forward for SMDC. If SMDC were to bring the operation in-house there would be little 
resilience within the service and the initial costs would be high.  The alternative option would be to 
outsource the service to a private contractor however due to the size it is felt there would be limited 
interest and would be difficult for the contractor to provide a similar level of resilience or cost. 

We would recommend that the SLA is reviewed, and a new SLA is agreed taking in some of the issues 
raised in this report: 

• Reducing the number of KPIs to concentrate on quality and efficiency; and  
• Review the number of deployed hours to ensure appropriate level. 

 Data Analysis and Delivery of Service 
The below statistics are key indicators on how the service is performing.  The SMDC data has been 
collated from information provided by various sources.  

Page 369



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

18 
 

PCN Statistical Benchmarks Staff. Moorlands Average 

Discount recovery rates 52% 62% 

Overall recovery rates 70% 73% 

Compliance Levels Not monitored 85% - 90% 

Cancelled CEO error  2.5% 0.5% 

CEO productivity 0.55 0.8 

Cancellation (not including write off) % 19% 16% 

% of PCNs challenged 36% 24% 

% Appeal to adjudicator 0.28% 0.24% 

% Appeal cases lost 100% 56% 

EA Recovery Rates * 55% Over 30% 

* An average recovery rate for EAs is difficult to ascertain as the scale of operations, geographic and demographics 
has a larger impact on these figures than the other statistics tabled.  However, a recovery rate of over 30% is 
generally considered to be reasonable.  

The CEO error rate is very high and over the KPI requirement of no more than 2% to be cancelled due to 
this reason.  It would be recommended that SMDC investigate and identify the reasons for these errors 
to assist in reducing this number.     

The number of PCNs challenged and subsequently cancelled is also higher than the average.  It is 
suggested that SMDC investigate the reasons for this to ensure that correct processes are being 
followed throughout the PCN recovery path.  

The discount recovery rate is low as is the overall recovery rate when compared to the average 
expected. The average PCN recovery rate for SMDC is £25.57.  However, the majority of PCNs issued in 
SMDC will be at the lower charge and this will impact the overall recovery rate.   

SMDC have confirmed that they have no specific compliance or cancellation policies in place.  Although 
STCC carry out these service elements on behalf of SMDC, SMDC should still have their own compliance 
management and cancellation policies and published on their web site (as recommended by the Traffic 
Management Act).  

Item Service Delivery Recommendations 

Strategic 
Management 
Resource 

Although the slim management regime is cost efficient, the absence of a dedicated 
resource prevents strategic intervention and proactive management of parking.  This 
resource will be key in delivery change and improvements in the future and 
represents a risk in delivering the strategy and Action Plan. 

Compliance 
Management  

The existing operation, in partnership with the county, remains the best option for 
delivery, with changes to the service level agreement 

Service Level 
Agreement 

The SLA should be reviewed in order to; reduce the number of KPIs in order to 
concentrate on quality and efficiency and; review the number of deployed hours, using 
Compliance Surveys, to ensure an appropriate level in different areas of the district 

Appeal Cases The high number of successful appeals should be investigated and SMDC should adopt 
their own appeals policy to provide the County with a clear steer on the process which 
should be followed to reduce the high number of PCNs challenges/cancelled and improve 
the recovery rate at the appeal stage.  

Page 370



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

19 
 

 Payment Facilities 
The Council’s fee paying surface car parks are operated using pay and display (P&D). All pay and display 
machines accept cash payments but only 5p, 10p, 20p, 50p, £1 and £2 coins can be used, and no change 
is given.  

A variety of payment options will be required going forwards given changes in technology, including 
making data available to third party providers. Online survey responders, and those who attended the 
online meetings were also clear that alternative payment methods are desired.  

Figure 8: Online consultation survey results 

 

It will not be affordable or practical to replace every single payment across the district with machines 
capable with contactless/ chip and PIN. Based on our knowledge of the market we would estimate the 
cost of replacement at c. £150,000. Whilst there will be some savings through less cash collection, this 
sum would not be recoverable. We would recommend a phased strategy which starts with providing 
pay-by-phone as an alternative payment option.  

Offering card/cash in larger car parks and only accepting pay-by-phone / app payments in smaller town 
car parks is an option that has been implemented by other authorities, with no cash or card alternative 
in smaller town car parks. It will be up to SMDC to gauge the local appetite for this approach.  

  

Page 371



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

20 
 

The strategy works towards a cashless system which will provide more ticket options (tourism passes 
etc.) encourage dwell time in town centres (allowing people to ‘top up’ without going back to their 
vehicles), reduce costs (cash collection), and avoid a large capital investment up-front.  

 

Figure 9: Payments Strategy 

 

Figure 10: Example pay-by-phone sticker for machines in smaller car parks 

 

Item Payment System Recommendations 

Payment by Mobile Procure payment by mobile, potentially working with a neighbour or partner and 
offering more than one option 

Payment Strategy    Enact a payment strategy such as shown in Figure 9 to provide more flexible and 
customer friendly system, whilst avoiding a significant up-front capital cost and ensuring 
that customers are engaged positively and groups with particular needs are considered.  

Page 372



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

21 
 

6. Electric Vehicle Charging  
As there are so few electric cars on the road, and with the technological improvements to come, it is 
impossible at this stage to predict the likely demand for charging in specific parking situations. In 
addition, there is very little data on how and where EV users will want to charge their vehicles, for 
example local shoppers may only want to charge their EVs at home and would not use a town centre 
car park as a charging point.  Whilst the London Mayor’s office demands that 20% of all new spaces in a 
development should have charging points, there is unlikely to be a demand for this level of charging in 
SMDC car parks for many years. 

Although numbers of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles10 are rising rapidly in the district (see Figure 11), the 
total number was only 340 in 2021 Q1. This represents about 0.48% of the around 71,000 vehicles 
registered in the district as whole according to DVLA data. The consultation suggested there was some 
appetite for more ULEVs and charging in car parks, including from those outside the district, although, 
nationally, pricing remains a barrier to most.   

Figure 11: ULEVS in Staffordshire Moorlands (DVLA data) 

 

 Charging types 
There are currently 3 broad types of charging station currently in use: 

• Rapid are the fastest type, able to charge an EV to 80% in 20-40 minutes depending on battery capacity 
and starting state of charge. These are mostly installed in motorway service areas or similar facilities.  

• Fast chargers are the most common in car parks and are available in two power capabilities (7kW and 
22kW).  These are able to charge a compatible EV in 3-5 hours, or in 1-2 hours if both vehicle and 
charger are compatible with the higher power.  

• Slow charging units are rated at 3kW. Charging times vary on unit speed and vehicle. 
• As the technology develops other charger types will appear. 

 Power requirements 
Whilst a small number of slow chargers will not affect most car park power supplies, larger numbers of 
slow chargers or fast/rapid chargers may require the car park supply to be upgraded, often at a 

 

10 Defined as vehicles emitting less than 75g of CO2 p/km and in practice as present these are nearly all plug-in 
vehicles (https://www.nextgreencar.com/emissions/low-emission-cars/).  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Page 373



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

22 
 

significant cost.  Limitations in the power distribution network may preclude large number of higher 
power chargers. 

 Electric Vehicle Charging Recommendations 
The lack of usage data, together with the continuing development of charging technology, suggests that 
modest investment in car park charging stations is the best course of action but that the underlying 
capacity of the electricity supply should be established.   

Further investigation is required into the best types to install. When specifying a charging unit, it will be 
important to identify how it will be used; in a car park used for short term parking it may be important 
to install higher power fast chargers in order to enable a customer to obtain a useful charge, whereas in 
commuter car parks, a larger number of slow chargers may be more useful as they are cheaper and will 
be connected to one vehicle all day or for residents use overnight.  

SMDC should consider a separate EV charging strategy and work with other authorities to produce this. 
The number of charging points should be under review and increase the number available when 
required up to the limit of the available supply. 

  
Item Payment System Recommendations 

Strategy  Work with the county and neighbouring districts to develop a EVCP strategy and 
system which minimises ongoing revenue commitment 

Roll-out   Employ a measured roll-out, that keeps pace with demand  

Residents Charging Overnight charging for those without off-street parking could be provided in certain 
circumstances. This should be managed through paperless ticketing systems. 

Page 374



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

23 
 

7. Tariffs and charging periods  
Tariffs are the main way that demand for parking is managed and a key means of influencing driver 
behaviour, for example, to protect short-stay parking and to encourage churn and better management. 

How tariffs are set depends very much on the objectives of the operator. A retail park or shopping 
centre is likely to set tariffs to encourage medium dwell times, but discourage the ‘wrong’ sort of 
parking (e.g. commuters), either through maximum stay limits or through pricing. A private operator is 
likely to simply set tariffs to maximise income. Local Authorities have a much more difficult job and 
have to balance a whole range of policy objectives, as well as political influences.  

 Tariff Comparisons 
Although direct comparisons are always difficult to make, we have considered the tariffs for some 
neighbouring areas and towns, which are shown in Figure 12 and Figure 13. Tariffs in the district have 
not been reviewed since April 2018 and a result they are now amongst the lowest in the local area for 
both long and short stay.  

Figure 12: Short Stay Tariff Comparison 

 

Page 375



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

24 
 

Figure 13: Comparison long stay day rates 

 

 Tariff Options 
 

A range of revised tariff options have been considered and the financial impact of their implementation 
modelled. These included:  

• An inflationary rise, bringing tariffs up to where they would have risen with annual inflationary 
increases. 

• A ‘market’ level bringing tariffs up to levels more comparable with other towns and sites  
• Options which reflected the market rate but also included a range of  free  parking periods in 

response to the consultation feedback. 
• Extended operating hours and Sunday charges. 

 
At a time when local authority budgets are under immense pressure, it is increasingly important that 
parking services are self-sufficient, whilst ensuring that parking continues to support local businesses and 
communities and therefore the options were also measured on their ability to meet future budgetary 
requirements. 
 
The recommended option is summarised below. It responds directly to the specific needs of each town and 
considers the value of individual car parks based on transaction data and their location.  
Crucially, it acknowledges consultation feedback by introducing a free parking period to support both quick 
trips for convenience goods or goods collections and to support off-street drop-off and pick-up from local 
schools. to help protect existing parking revenue budgets, extending the operating charging period to 
between 08:00 – 18:00 is recommended to bring the district in line with the majority of councils 

Page 376



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

25 
 

Recommended Option 

 
A half hour free period is to be introduced at car parks in Leek, except for those that are already operating 
close to capacity at peak times (which are identified as Prime Short Stay). This whilst supporting 
convenience trips and school pick-ups, will also help encourage peak demand to re-balance towards the 
other car parks in the town, thereby helping reduce congestions and ensuring that there is also more space 
availability at the most popular car parks. 
Tape street in Cheadle will be re-sectioned to include an area of 54 spaces to benefit from 30 mins free 
allowing school park and walk scheme.  The area around the B&M Bargains store will become long stay. 
One hour’s free parking will be offered at Well Street in Cheadle and Wharf Road in Biddulph. 
The introduction of Sunday charges is not proposed at the current time given the uncertainty surrounding 
economic recovery from the impact of Covid 19. 
The strategic tariff recommendations are summarised below. 

  

Item Tariff Recommendations 

New Tariff Structure Adopt a new tariff structure based on the recommendation above as an appropriate 
response to the specific environment in each of the three towns  

1 hr free parking Half or one hour free parking on selected sites, initially through £nil pay and display 
tickets, but as payment options improve, though paperless tickets via app and pay-by-
phone 

Annual Review Review tariffs and charges on an annual basis to ensure they are still the best fit for 
towns and individual car parks.  

Page 377



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

26 
 

 Season Tickets 
Season tickets are available for each town (Leek, Cheadle and Biddulph) only on the long stay car parks 
and are not transferable between Towns. All season tickets can be used from Monday to Saturday 8am 
to 6pm which are the operating hours of the car parks. 

Season Tickets - Summary 

Biddulph • Wharf Road car park – available to everyone  

Cheadle • Well Street car park – available to everyone. 

Leek • Joliffe Street, High Street and West street car parks – available to everyone 
• Buxton Road car park– available to commuters working in Leek, with evidence  
• Vicarage Road car park – available to residents and workers in Leek and also around 

90 for NHS staff, agreed with their accommodation licence at Moorlands House. 

Additionally:  

• Smithfield N car park is available to local businesses for £350 (inc VAT) on agreement. Occupiers are 
allocated a specified numbered bay (29 in 2019/20); 

• At Moorlands House rear car park 125 permits are allocated to staff (45 permits have been issued to 
the County Council and NHS staff and 80 to SMDC staff); 

• There are also 88 staff permits issued for the NHS staff on the Vicarage Road car park. 

Season ticket rates have also been compared to other areas together with the level of discount offered 
by annual season tickets in Figure 14.  The lower discount rate in Staffordshire Moorlands reflects the 
lower tariffs for long stay visits than in other locations. Given that long stay rates are low, a lower 
discount would be reasonable. 

Figure 14: Season Ticket Comparison 

 

COVID-19 is likely to have an impact on demand for season tickets - workers are likely to continue to 
work from home, at least for a couple of days per week. Cost effectiveness of businesses and 
employees purchasing season tickets that are priced for Monday to Friday use will be impacted. 

Item Season Ticket Recommendations 

COVID-19 response As a ‘new normal’ emerges, more flexible products may be required to customers to 
retain their business, see example below.  
This could be administered through a pay-by-phone system. 

Charges  Existing season ticket level should increase annually above inflation to reflect the 
recommended increases in the daily long stay rates. 

Page 378



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

27 
 

 

Suggested new products could include:  

 

8. Town Specific Recommendations 
The base case, consultation and officer discussions make it clear that the three towns are very different 
from each other in terms of their existing provision and needs and so therefore each require specific 
tailored approaches. 

 Biddulph 
The Council operates one car park in Biddulph known as Wharf Road which serves the town centre and 
the local health centre. Sainsbury’s have a large car park adjacent to its supermarket allowing free 
parking subject to a 3 hour maximum stay and a number of online survey respondents stated that they 
used this car park to visit the town. Limited stay free on street parking is also available on-street.  

Figure 15 - Biddulph SMDC car park map 

 

Product Pricing 
3 day season ticket– to be paid in advance for a 
minimum of 4 weeks. This would allow a maximum of 
12 day visits to a car park per 28 day period to be 
utilised flexibly. 

25% discount on usual daily rate and administered by 
pay by phone service. 

3 day part time season ticket – to be paid in advance for 
a minimum of 4 weeks. This would allow up to 5 hours 
use for a maximum of 12 days in a 28 day period.  This 
would be suitable for part time employees 

25% discount on 4 hour car park rate. 

 

Page 379



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

28 
 

Table 3 – Biddulph car park details 

 
 

The Town Centre Area Plan Action (TCAAP)recommends the: “formulation of a coherent parking 
strategy, including control over numbers of public and private spaces, particularly long stay / commuter 
parking and charging policies”. Realistically there is little the District can do to deliver the objectives of 
the TCAAP given the limited assets it controls in the town although SMDC could seek opportunities as 
they arise.  

  

Biddulph
Disabled Total 1 hr 2hrs 3hrs 10hrs Qtr Annual

Council
Wharf Road Long 10 137 0.60£ 0.80£      1.00£  1.80£    0930-1530 Mon-Sat

Spaces Contracts Charging period

Page 380



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

29 
 

With regards to the consultation the importance the SMDC car park was limited, respondents stated 
that used the supermarket car park and on-street parking rather than the Wharf Rd. There may be a 
case for SMDC to pass control of the car park to the local town council as it serves local services.  

 

 Cheadle  
The Council operated 2 car parks in Cheadle. Tape Street is well located and designated as a short stay 
car park whereas Well Street is less busy and used predominantly by commuters.  

There are also a number of small privately operated car parks operated to the rear of businesses in the 
town (Wheatsheaf, Royal Oak and Cheadle Food and Wine). These are operated pay and display or via 
payment within the business itself in the case of Cheadle Food and Wine. There are also large car parks 
serving Morrisons and Asda supermarkets where parking is free subject to a 2 hour maximum stay. 
Finally, free on street parking is also available subject to limited stays.  

Figure 16 - SMDC Cheadle Car Park Map 

 

 Biddulph Recommendations 

Strategic  Make best use of existing asset through charging and tariff regime including a new, 
1hr free period with extension of charging periods to 08:00 to 18:00 

Estate  Wharf Rd is in good condition. Seek opportunities to increase SMDC parking assets in the 
town. The business case for any proposals will need to be considered their own merits. 

Other Work with the county to reduce on-street problem parking and monitor the on-street 
parking around the High Street, considering residents if this can be justified  

Page 381



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

30 
 

Table 4 - SMDC Cheadle Car Park Details 

 

The emerging Masterplan Options Appraisal is housing led and recognises the “healthy provision of 
reasonably priced car parking”. The opportunity that these sites provide in facilitating regeneration 
through development is also recognised. It would not be appropriate for the Parking Strategy to judge 
these proposals however it is strongly recommended that the supply and demand for parking is 
assessed properly with surveys when usage levels have stabilised and that the planning and 
development process has regard to parking requirements and supply throughout.  

Cheadle was disproportionately over represented in the consultation survey and meetings were well 
attended demonstrating the strength of feeling in the Town. Although there was no broad consensus on 
a number of issues, with mixed opinions on the overall level of parking, with some considering there 
was a surplus, and others that the level was about right. Where there was consensus was on payment 
systems, improvements to the sites and the requirement for a free period, both for quick visits to shops 
and services and at school times. In general, there was acceptance that the current free period did not 
work as it discouraged day-time trips and effected dwell time.  

 

 Leek 
SMDC’s car parks in Leek are all surface car parks, most of which are relatively small.  They are scattered 
around the town centre and designated as either short stay (with a 3hour maximum stay) or long stay 
where longer stays are allowed and season tickets can be purchased. There is also a permit only car 
park (Smithfield North). Angel Street is a small free car park to the west of the town centre providing 
free parking for adjacent residential properties.  

Cheadle
Disabled Total 1 hr 2hrs 3hrs 10hrs Qtr Annual

Council
Tape Street Short 11 385 0.90£ 1.40£      1.80£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Well Street Long 11 192 0.90£ 1.40£      1.80£  2.20£    90.00£   170.00£ 320.00£ 0930-1530 Mon-Sat

Spaces Contracts Charging period

 Cheadle Recommendations 

Strategic  Adopt tariff recommendation changes including providing free parking for 1hr in Well 
Street and changes the charging period for 08:00 to 18:00 in both car parks. The free 
period will allow school drop-off and pick up and access to the town centre for quick 
trips.  

Estate  Improve the general condition and look and feel of Well Street Car Park. Provision of 
card/cash payments alongside pay-by-phone.  

Regeneration Consider carefully the appropriate level of parking required as and when regeneration 
proposals come forward, including carrying out usage surveys when traffic levels 
stabilise.  

High Street Support Work with the county to reduce on-street parking around the High Street to improve 
amenity e.g. easier pedestrian use and use of pavement areas. 

Community value  Adopt a policy for other uses on both sites such as markets, community fairs and car boot 
sales.  

Page 382



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

31 
 

Figure 17 - Location map SMDC car parks in Leek 

 

Table 5 - Leek Car Park Information 

 

In addition to the SMDC car parks, there are a number of privately operated car parks including a 
rooftop car park at Brook Street operated by RCP, and car parks serving customers of Aldi and Lidl 
which are free but subject to limited stay or purchase restrictions. Free on street parking is also 
available within the town centre subject to short limited stays.  

The Leek Town Centre Masterplan (TCMP) highlights the role of the Town as the administrative centre 
for the district, its rich townscape and thriving town centre. The small and dispersed nature of car parks 
is considered to be adding to congestion and so the plan states that an improved car parking strategy is 
needed. As part of this, the TCMP includes a Transport Framework which seeks the “Consolidation of 
the current number of dispersed, relatively small car parking facilities within the Town Centre by 
creating strategically placed car parks at four gateways to the Town Centre”. 

Four sites are proposed: 

• The site along Ashbourne Rd is no longer available as it is now a hotel;  
• A decked car park on High Street, but this looks to be difficult to implement given levels, impact on 

adjacent properties (right to light etc.) and circulation; 

Leek Town Centre
Type Disabled Paid 1 hr 2hrs 3hrs 10hrs Qtr 6 mths Annual

Brook Street 4 84 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Market Place 0 36 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Market Street East 1 14 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Market St West 2 29 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Moorlands House 3 94 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Queen St 1 16 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Regent Street 0 16 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Silk Street 4 68 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Smithfield South 2 49 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Stockwell Street 2 27 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
St Edward Street 3 43 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Buxton Road/Earl St 4 41 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  2.40£    0930-1530 Mon-Sat
High Street 2 102 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  2.40£    100.00£ 190.00£ 370.00£ 0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Joliffe Street 1 26 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  2.40£    100.00£ 190.00£ 370.00£ 0930-1530 Mon-Sat
Vicarage Road 0 159 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  2.40£    0930-1530 Mon-Sat
West Street 0 9 1.00£ 1.50£      1.90£  2.40£    100.00£ 190.00£ 370.00£ 0830-1530 Mon-Sat
Smithfield North 0 30 350.00£ 0930-1530 Mon-SatPermit Only 

Short 
Stay

Long 
Stay/ 

Variable

Spaces Contracts Charging period

Page 383



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

32 
 

• Vicarage Rd, although site is constrained by a listed landscape and elevation difference from the town 
centre; and,  

• Brook St, which is currently in private control, but could potentially offer improved facilities as part of a 
wider regeneration project in the future.  

The consultation revealed parking pressure and demand with more people finding it difficult to find a 
space when they need one and less call for free parking and free periods. The small and dispersed 
nature of parking was seen as a ‘blessing and a curse’ as it allows customers to get close to their 
destinations, but results in traffic. Wayfinding and better payments methods were highlighted during 
the consultation. 

 

 Financial Implications of Providing New Decked Car Parks  
We estimate that additional revenues per space of c£1,200 per annum would be required to viably 
construct a deck over an existing car. As revenues per space are currently below this level on all car 
parks, it is unlikely (unless tariffs are increased or subsidies are available) that there would be a 
standalone economic case for building more parking spaces, even if an appropriate site could be 
identified. Opportunities for consolidated, larger car parks should be sought in conjunction with 
regeneration schemes and projects.  

Figure 18: Modern decked car park example 

 

  

Item Service Delivery Recommendations 

Consolidation and 
removal of car parks 

Seek options for a development site linked with regeneration to consolidate parking 
in fewer sites and allow for the disposal of smaller sites to improve townscape and 
support the masterplan, although this needs to be subject to feasibility on a case-by-
case basis 

Way-finding and 
signage 

Work with the County to remove signage and directional clutter on-street as sat-navs and 
information become the norm, signposting to fewer, larger car parks of Vicarage Rd 
(from the E via Buxton Rd), High Street, (from the NW via Mill St), Smithfield North and 
South (from the SE via Ashbourne Rd) and Brook Street (from the S via Cheadleton Rd). 

Capacity information Sensors / cameras are unlikely to be costs effective for smaller sites in the medium term, 
although opportunities may arise in the longer term. In the meantime, direct traffic to 
the larger and quieter car parks.  

Payment options In line with the payments strategy, once phone payments are adopted, remove cash 
machines from smaller car parks, with card payments available in larger car parks.  

Page 384



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

33 
 

 SMDC Rural and Village Car Parks 
SMDC also manages a number of rural and village car parks, without parking charges as detailed in 
Table 6. These car parks cost SMDC money to maintain and are chargeable for business rates.  

Table 6 - SMDC Rural Car Parks 

 

Because surveys were not possible during the preparation of the strategy (as usage patterns were 
impacted by COVID-19) it is not possible to make concrete recommendations about each at this stage. 
We recommend the following approach on a case-by-case basis:  

1. Get a better understanding of usage and role;  
2. Consider the rationale for their provision – what strategic function does it have, who is using it? 
3. Is there potential to introduce charges to help fund operational costs. 
4. Is there another operator better placed to run it?  
5. Are there better uses for the site?  

There are some examples of charging for tourist visitors in car parks in the nearby area for example in 
the village of Edale, the parish council charges visitors a flat rate of £5 per day to park in a temporary 
overspill car park on busy weekend and peak days. Whether charges can be justified at Oakamoor or 
Wetton is unclear, the size of the sites suggests installing machines may not be economic, cash could be 
at risk and mobile coverage may limit paperless tickets. Surveys would need to be carried out to 
investigate this further.  

  

Site
Disabled Total Rationale Users

Blythe Bridge Library (Uttoxeter Rd E) 1 7 Library Library/ School Visitors
Blythe Bridge - Uttoxeter Rd W 0 22 Unclear Residents:
Tean Old Road 3 55 Unclear Residents/Pub Visitors
Forsbrook Chapel Street 0 13 Village Centre Residents and Shoppers
Wetton - Car Lane 0 25 Leisure/Thor's Cave Leisure Visitors
Oakamoor - Hunt View Road 1 18 Leisure Leisure Visitors

Spaces

Item Service Delivery Recommendations 

Surveys Carry out site surveys to gain a better understanding of usage and role that the rural 
car parks play 

Case-by-case 
approach 

Consider the rationale for each site and; whether charges to fund operational costs could 
be introduced; another operator may be better placed to run it; and/or if there are 
better uses for the site to support regeneration/ housing.  

Page 385



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

34 
 

9. Tourism  
The public consultation, meetings with economic and tourism staff, and councillors displayed a 
keenness to attract more tourists to the area and a sense of pride that the District was a tourist 
destination. The Local Plan presents evidence about the importance of tourism to the local economy.  

Where the Council can impact tourism through parking, three questions outline the approach: 

1. How can parking reduce the impact of tourism? 
2. How can parking support tourism? 
3. Can any new sites improve the visitor experience (for example by reducing problem on-street 

parking)? 

 Reducing the impact of tourism 
A plethora of attractions such as steam railways, historic properties and natural attractions such as 
lakes and the Roaches are present in the rural areas of the district and Cheadle and Leek are tourist 
destinations in their own right, with markets and historic high streets as well as well-known sites such 
as St Giles Parish Church in Cheadle. Utilising Alton Towers as a key attraction and then retaining visitors 
with overnight trips was an ambition expressed during consultation.  

Whilst, parking has a key role in supporting tourism, especially in rural areas where public transport is 
lacking, SMDC do not in general have sites that serve rural attractions. As examples; The National Trust 
control parking at their sites at Hawksmoor (free) and Dovedale (£5 per day), and Severn Trent at 
Tittesworth Lake (£5 per day) and the National Park at Alstonfield (free).  

Of the SMDC estate, Wetton Car Park provides access to Thor’s Cave and the surrounding countryside, 
and Oakamoor to nearby countryside and walks, although both are small. The ability of SMDC to reduce 
the impact of tourism outside of the three main towns is limited simply because it does not control 
many sites.  

 Supporting Tourism 
In the case of the three main towns, the visitor experience will be improved by general improvements 
to the car parks and their management regimes as recommended in section 8. The concept of a tourist 
permit for certain periods was mooted throughout consultation and this would be relatively easy to 
administer through pay-by-phone / paperless ticket technology. This is a well establish product offered 
in many places across the country. More locally, the PDNP offer an annual tourist permit for £40 and a 
weekly at £15 and the Derbyshire Dales scheme offers permits for £24.80 p/w or £10.60 for 3 days. 
These can be purchased via pay-by-phone or at connected P&D terminals. In Staffordshire Moorlands, 
Hotels, B&Bs and TICs could all manage this for guests through pay-by-phone portals with paperless 
ticketing. 

Joining up with existing systems such as the PDNP permit could prove problematic from a revenue 
sharing point of view and given the rural and leisure nature of the PDNP car parks, but as technology 
improves this could be an avenue worth exploring.  

 Potential new or expanded sites 
The Roaches was specifically highlighted as a problem, with parking only available in the lay-by along 
Roach Rd although the same principle would apply to other locations where new car parks were 
proposed. Each site would need to be considered on its own merits and be subject to feasibility against 
engineering feasibility (can it be built easily?), business case (do the benefits outweigh the costs?), and 
policy (can the proposal gain consent?). 

For a simple surface car park in a popular area, policy may potentially be the biggest hurdle for example 
in the national park where an expansion of Car Lane, Wetton would depend on the case that could be 

Page 386



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

35 
 

made for the scheme against policy. That said, where a clear case can be made, new sites may be 
permitted where they can demonstrate a clear need against the relevant policies below: 

Additionally, changes to the General Permitted Development Order mean that an area could be used as 
a car park for up to 56 days, potentially enough to cater for peak days if suitable sites can be found.  

 Camping Car Sites 
There exist low cost options used across Europe and in the Scottish Highlands to encourage camping car 
tourism which include unstaffed sites and / or chemical toilet disposal using septic tanks.  

However even with this low-cost option, there will be an ongoing revenue cost and each site would 
need to be subject to feasibility on its own merits (financial, engineering, policy). 

Figure 19: Low cost option for toilet disposal 

 

 

Aim / Policy / Objective Key point 

Core Strategy T7 - strategic principles for 
minimising the impact of motor vehicles and 
managing the demand for parking 

“other parking will be restricted and located according to environmental 
capacity.” - This could have implications for any additional car park 
proposals within the NPA boundary 

Parking 9.53 onwards and 9.66-7 – Visitor 
Parking 

Whilst the NPA has tended to limit the overall level of visitor parking, it can 
be supported where is replaces or discourages on-street parking 

Policy DMT7B – New Car Parks Where additional off-street parking is permitted, it will normally be as a 
replacement for existing on-street parking; diverting on street parking to a 
more suitable location. 

Page 387



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

36 
 

 Coach Parking 
Whilst their value to towns and cities is well documented 11, Coach Parking is an issue across the 
country for towns and areas with tourist attractions and is very difficult to tackle. The issue is twofold; 
1: locating safe and convenient drop-off and pick-up areas for passengers, and 2: finding a site capable 
of handling coaches as very large vehicles and of a low enough value to justify their use as such. 
Additionally, coach operators and drivers have an influence over destination and so systems need to be 
set up to make booking and parking easy and attractive for coach drivers and operators. 

Leek, already has coach drop off and parking along Cromwell Terrace. There is demand for a similar 
facility in Cheadle. Again, what SMDC can do is limited by their estate, although coach parks do not have 
to owned or controlled by the Council. For example, in Cheltenham, coaches drop off in the town centre 
before moving to the racecourse to park longer term.  Local P&R buses can then be used by drivers to 
go to the town centre. The District could invite ideas for a solution in Cheadle from the local community 
and town council.  

 
  

 

11 https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/Documents-Library/documents/England-
documents/guidance_coach_prospectus.pdf 

Item Tourism Recommendations 

Tourist Pass Introduce a Tourist permit, managed using pay-by-phone and other ticketless means, 
giving ~30% discount on the all day rate.  

Way-finding and 
signage 

Replace welcome boards where they are worn and renew onward pedestrian signage at 
key sites 

New Sites / Camping 
Car Sites 

Seek opportunities for new sites to improve the visitor experience, but consider on a 
case-by-case basis.  

Cheadle Coach 
parking 

Seek and appropriate site for drop-off/pick up and parking with the county and town 
council.  

Page 388



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

37 
 

10. 5 Year Action Plan  
The action plan takes the recommendations of the report and puts them into a strategic framework with 
approximate timescales against clear measurable actions under several themes.  
There will be a variety of funding sources that the council will need to secure to implement the strategy. 
One of the very first and most important actions, pay-by-phone, may require no upfront cost at all. For 
some, such as EVCPs and physical improvements, central government or county highways money may need 
to be sought. For ongoing revenue funding, the tariff changes could be sufficient on their own to fund 
improvements. Absolutely key to the strategy will be adequate staff resource, even if just for the fixed term 
of the 5yr Action Plan.   
 

 Strategic / Service Management  
Yr Theme Action 

0 - 1 Strategic Carefully consider the business case for a strategic full time management resource 
to oversee and implement the Strategy and Action Plan  

0 - 1 Payments Procure a pay-by-phone provider (and associated web portal), working in 
partnership with STCC and neighbouring authorities to save resources and improve 
customer service. This action is key in enabling many of the other actions and 
recommendations in the strategy  

1 - 5 Payments Adopt a payments strategy, as shown below, ensuring to communicate changes to 
customers and the public 

1 – 2 Compliance 
management 

Carry out Compliance Surveys and review the Service Level Agreement with STCC to 
reduce the number of KPIs in order to better focus on compliance management and 
appropriate resource allocation 

1 – 2 Compliance 
Management 

Investigate the high rate of cancellations and appeals and adopt a policy for these to 
better guide STCC. 

 

 Payments Strategy  

 

  

Page 389



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

38 
 

 The Parking Estate 
Yr Theme Action 
0 – 1 Strategic Develop a Capital Investment Programme for costed renewal of surfacing, signage 

and curtilage barriers  
2 – 3 Electric Vehicle 

Charging 
Adopt a measured approach to deployment and work with partners (such as the 
County and NPA) to develop a wider EVCP Strategy which considers the needs of 
residents without off-street parking  

2 +  Tourism  Mandate a project to consider new sites at key points if deemed necessary once 
travel and holiday patterns have stabilised following the pandemic 

2 – 5 Estate Following development of an Investment Programme and EVCP strategy, carry out 
a rolling programme of capital improvements to sites  

2 – 5 Wayfinding and 
signage 

Following the development of an Investment Programme, and working with the 
county and town councils, look to improve vehicle wayfinding (fewer sites signed) 
and pedestrian information from Car Parks including renewal of maps and 
interpretation signage. 

 

 Towns and Village Car Parks 
Yr Theme Action 
Ongoing Biddulph Highlight problem on-street parking to the county council and implement tariff 

review 
0 – 1 Villages Carry out site surveys to gain a better understanding of usage and role that the 

village car parks play  
1 – 3 Cheadle, Leek 

and Biddulph 
Develop a policy for community uses on parking estate (e.g. fairs, pop-up cinemas, 
car-boot sales, markets etc.) 

2 – 3 Cheadle Improve general look and feel of Well St car park 

2 – 5 Cheadle Work with local community and county to develop options for coach parking 

Ongoing Cheadle Ensure parking is fully considered in regeneration and development proposals  

Ongoing Leek Seek opportunities for new or consolidated car parks as part of wider regeneration 
initiatives and central govt. funding opportunities  

2 – 5 Leek Specific focus on Leek with regards wayfinding and signage improvements and 
removal. Harness technology in the longer term to show occupancy as and if this 
becomes economic  

2 + Villages Review rationale for each site and further actions on a case-by-case basis. 

 

 

  

Page 390



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

39 
 

Appendix 1 – Technology Suppliers 
In each sector of the market there are a number of manufacturers that can supply suitable products and 
can integrate into a Common System. However, the system and each component must be properly 
specified in order to ensure that they meet SMDC requirements and are committed to the interfaces etc 
that are required to interoperate successfully. 

Information has only been given on those items identified as phase 1.  Technology in phase 2 is 
changing all the time and prices are likely to reduce as competition increases. 

Parking Terminals 
A number of the usual terminal manufacturers can offer the features described above.  These include 

• Cale (https://www.caleaccess.com/en-gb/)  
• Metric (http://www.metricgroup.co.uk/)  
• Parkare (http://www.cameparkare.com/uk/) 
• Parkeon (now Flowbird) (http://www.parkeon.co.uk/) 
(note that Cale and Parkeon announced their merger in November 2017 but continue to offer two 
separate product ranges) 

A number of other providers will offer similar features but are less well established in the UK.  These 
include IPS (http://ipsgroupinc.co.uk) and American manufacturer and WSA (http://www.wsa-
electronic.de/en/) from Germany. 

Pay on Foot 
A number of pay on foot manufacturers offer variations on the traditional ticket based model and will 
be able to integrate their system to enable centrally issued permits to be used in the car park or allow 
access by ANPR only. Suitable manufacturers include: 

• Scheidt & Bachmann (https://www.scheidt-bachmann.co.uk/en/)  
• APT Skidata (https://www.swarco.com/apt/Products-Services/Parking-Solutions/APT-Skidata-Pay-on-

foot)  
• WPS (https://wpsparking.com/en/)  
• Hub (https://www.hubparking.co.uk/)  
• Designa (https://uk.designa.com/)  
• Conduent (https://www.conduent.com/solution/transportation-solutions/parking-management-

systems/)  
• Newpark Solutions (http://www.newparksolutions.com/)  
 

Common System & Business Intelligence 
A number of technology suppliers offer products that will form a common system, including many that 
offer other parking products (including Imperial and Conduent) however it is very early in the 
development of these systems and only Parkmobile offers a system that is currently in use (in the City 
of Paris). The joint Authority initiative is working with the Dutch National Parking Register to use its 
experience in creating a system that can be used by multiple authorities. 
The new technology procured in Phase 2 will enable SMDC to be ready for connected and autonomous 
vehicles, but will also support the introduction of targeted tariffs and innovations to improve the 
Council’s services to the community.  Note however that technology for sensing occupancy and for 
ANPR is improving rapidly, so specific recommendations on the best products today would be out of 
date by the time that phase 2 is procured. 

  

Table 7: Phase 2 improvements 

Page 391

http://www.parkeon.co.uk/
http://ipsgroupinc.co.uk/
http://www.wsa-electronic.de/en/
http://www.wsa-electronic.de/en/
https://www.scheidt-bachmann.co.uk/en/
https://www.swarco.com/apt/Products-Services/Parking-Solutions/APT-Skidata-Pay-on-foot
https://www.swarco.com/apt/Products-Services/Parking-Solutions/APT-Skidata-Pay-on-foot
https://wpsparking.com/en/
https://www.hubparking.co.uk/
https://uk.designa.com/
https://www.conduent.com/solution/transportation-solutions/parking-management-systems/
https://www.conduent.com/solution/transportation-solutions/parking-management-systems/
http://www.newparksolutions.com/


Parking Strategy – Main Report   

40 
 

Glossary 
 

ANPR Automatic Number 
Plate Recognition 

a technology that uses optical character recognition on images (usually a CCTV 
camera) to read vehicle registration plates 

APDS The Alliance for 
Parking Data Standards 

A not for profit body that Develops, promotes, manages and maintains a 
uniform global standard to allow organisations to share parking data across 
platforms worldwide. 

AVP Automated or 
Autonomous Valet 
Parking 

A system able to take control of a vehicle and to drive it from the drop-off zone 
to the parking space and from the parking space to the pick-up zone 

BI Business Intelligence A set of technologies, methods and processes that transform raw data into 
meaningful and useful information used to enable more effective strategic, 
tactical, and operational insights and decision-making 

BPA British Parking 
Association 

A not for profit organisation, representing, promoting and influencing the 
parking and traffic management profession throughout the UK and Europe 

CEO Civil Enforcement 
Officer 

A person employed to enforce parking, traffic and other restrictions and laws in 
England & Wales. 

CIHT Chartered Institution 
of Highways & 
Transportation 

A not for profit body that represents and qualifies professionals who plan, 
design, build, manage and operate transport and infrastructure. 

CPE Civil Parking 
Enforcement 

‘Decriminalised’ parking enforcement carried out by councils rather than the 
Police under The Road Traffic Act 1991 

DfT Department for 
Transport 

 

ELT Extract, Load, 
Transform 

A data integration process for transferring raw data from a source server to a 
data warehouse on a target server and then preparing the information for 
downstream uses 

EV Electric Vehicles  Wholly electric or hybrid vehicles which are capable of being plugged in order 
to recharge batteries for electrically powered movement  

GDPR The General Data 
Protection Regulation 

Regulation (EU) 2016/679 - a regulation in EU law on data protection and 
privacy for all individuals within the European Union (EU) and the European 
Economic Area (EEA). 

 
Intelligent deployment The use of Business Intelligence methods to maximise CEO effectiveness. CEOs 

are deployed to locations based on the likelihood that vehicles are parked in 
contravention, based on previously gathered data 

LTP Local Transport Plan Document produced by Transport Authorities which sets out policy and 
investment priorities. A material consideration when deciding Planning 
Applications 

 
Mobile Monitoring  The use of ANPR mounted on vehicles to monitor large numbers of vehicles in a 

short period of time. 

MSCP Multi-Storey Car Park 
 

P&D Pay and display A parking system in which a motorist buys a temporary permit from a machine 
and displays it in the window of the vehicle 

PCN Penalty Charge Notice A fixed penalty notice issued by a CEO, backed with powers to obtain payment 
by civil action 

Page 392



Parking Strategy – Main Report   

41 
 

PDNP Peak District National 
Park 

The National Park Authority for the Peak District 

PML Parking Matters Ltd 
 

RFID Radio-frequency 
identification 

A system using electromagnetic fields to automatically identify and track tags 
attached to objects. The tags contain electronically-stored information. Oyster 
cards and contactless credit/debit cards are examples of this type of system 

SAE Society of Automotive 
Engineers 

A U.S.-based, globally active professional association and standards developing 
organization for engineering professionals in various industries. Principal 
emphasis is placed on transport industries such as automotive, aerospace, and 
commercial vehicles 

SMDC Staffordshire 
Moorlands District 
Council 

 

SMMT The Society of Motor 
Manufacturers & 
Traders 

A trade association that supports and promotes the interests of the UK 
automotive industry at home and abroad. Working closely with member 
companies, SMMT acts as the voice of the motor industry, promoting its 
position to government, stakeholders and the media. 

VRM Vehicle Registration 
Mark 

The mandatory alphanumeric registration mark of a vehicle, displayed on a 
vehicle registration plate 

 

Page 393



This page is intentionally left blank



Parking Strategy
D raft  Recommendat ions
2 5 t h M a y  2 0 2 1

P
age 395



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Todays session 

2

Agenda:

1. Proposed overall vision for the Strategy

2. Wider Context 

3. Base Case Review Findings

4. Strategic – District wide recommendations

5. Local – Location specific findings and recommendations

6. Draft Strategy Recommendations

7. Next Steps

P
age 396



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Overall Vision

3

Commitment set out in Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023 . 

Aim 4: “Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors” 
Action: “Develop a New Parking Strategy to ensure that our car parks meet the needs of residents and visitors”

Proposed Vision: 

“Parking that meets the needs of residents, businesses and visitors”

• Achieving balance between often conflicting priorities;
• Need to protect revenue to deliver important services, but deliver policy;
• How to respond to future trends;
• Authorities are often revenue poor;
• Parking is highly political.

Challenges for Local Authorities

P
age 397



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Wider Context: Technology

4

• Not only must technology underpin 
the strategy…

• It is now a part of everyday life and 
will increasingly become important in 
how people:

• Make decisions

• Want to interact.

Announced Feb 27th 2021:

P
age 398



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Wider Context: impact of C-19

5

• High Streets were moving away from 
retail before COVID; Online shopping 
had risen from 5% in 2008 to 18% in 
2018 (ONS)

• Convenience Shopping, clothing, and 
sports equipment faired well both 
before and during COVID

• Trade press widely predicting boom in 
tourism and travel, but business travel 
may never recover

• Big questions:

• Will bricks and mortar retail ever 
recover?

• Will commuting patterns ever 
return to pre-C-19 levels?

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

110.0

120.0

20
00

 JA
N

20
00

 JU
L

20
01

 JA
N

20
01

 JU
L

20
02

 JA
N

20
02

 JU
L

20
03

 JA
N

20
03

 JU
L

20
04

 JA
N

20
04

 JU
L

20
05

 JA
N

20
05

 JU
L

20
06

 JA
N

20
06

 JU
L

20
07

 JA
N

20
07

 JU
L

20
08

 JA
N

20
08

 JU
L

20
09

 JA
N

20
09

 JU
L

20
10

 JA
N

20
10

 JU
L

20
11

 JA
N

20
11

 JU
L

20
12

 JA
N

20
12

 JU
L

20
13

 JA
N

20
13

 JU
L

20
14

 JA
N

20
14

 JU
L

20
15

 JA
N

20
15

 JU
L

20
16

 JA
N

20
16

 JU
L

20
17

 JA
N

20
17

 JU
L

20
18

 JA
N

20
18

 JU
L

20
19

 JA
N

20
19

 JU
L

20
20

 JA
N

20
20

 JU
L

20
21

 JA
N

Retail Activity Index (ex. Fuel) ONS (Apr-2021).

P
age 399



Strategic
B as e  Cas e  Review F indings

P
age 400



Car Park Service Financial Summary

Car Park Revenue Contributions

• Parking Service Surplus of c£223k in 
2019/20 badly hit by Covid in 2019/21

• Surplus represents c32% of revenue in 
2019/20 which represents a comparably 
low yield compared with private sector 
operations.

• This is generally the case from LA 
accounts due to indirect cost allocations. 

Income 2019/20 2020/21 Q3 F/Cast

Income 643,351 0
Fines 49,078 0

Total Income 692,429 326,555

Direct Costs
NNDR 135,483
Rent 4,000

Water 26,812
Electric & Lighting maintenance 25,176
Repairs 23,882
Signage & Machines 5,213
IT- Metric machines 9,451

Total Direct Costs 230,017

Indirect Costs
Staff 16,410
Telephone 4,042
Cash Collection 10,924
Fines 52,675
Subscription & Other costs 13,939
Grounds Maintenance 25,884
Recharges 30,654
Street Scene 84,000

Total Indirect Costs 238,528

Total Costs 468,544 383,226

Surplus/Deficit 223,885 -56,671

P
age 401



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Car Park Estate – Performance

8

2019/20 Revenue Contributions

• Leek facilities contributed c65% (c£434k) 
of total off-street parking revenue in 
2019/20.

• Cheadle 27% (c£183k) and Biddulph 8% 
(c£53k).

• Adjacent chart illustrates proportionate 
revenue contribution from each car park 
and town.

P
age 402



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Car Park Estate – Performance

9

2019/20 Revenues/Space

• The short stay car parks in Leek generated the 
highest yields per space

• As season tickets are not allocated at site level 
some of the revenues per space shown are 
lower.

• 43% of overall parking transactions are in 1 
hour band and produce 39% of revenue. In 
Cheadle 1 hour stays account for 53% of 
revenue.

• Long Stays account for only 7% of transactions 
and 11% of revenue with the highest 
proportion in Biddulph where longer stays 
generate 25% of parking revenue.

Biddulph
Cheadle

Leek

P
age 403



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Car Park Estate – Performance

1 0

Car Park Utilisation

• Due to Covid, it has not been possible to assess ‘normal’ peak 
occupancy levels.

• Prior to Covid, overall paid parking volumes in the district 
were declining in common with reduced high street footfall 
following similar patterns to many UK towns, although the fall 
in 2018/19 is particularly sharp (c10% drop).

• The spike in August 2020 follows national trends and 
therefore is unlikely to be predominantly due to the impact of 
free 3 hour parking offer.

P
age 404



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Tariffs Comparison

1 1

• Tariffs in the district have not been reviewed 
since April 2018.

• The upper adjacent chart show that existing 
charges are of the lowest of the locations shown.

• Tariffs for long stays are also significantly lower 
than in other locations.

• The level of the season ticket discount compared 
with the daily parking rate in the district is also 
lower than most, however this reflects the lower 
daily rate already offered.

P
age 405



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Compliance Management Service Benchmarking

1 2

Performance Analysis:

• Cost per PCN is ~£50 this includes compliance management, 
processing and back office and is higher than other places we have 
data for. However, given the size of the operation it would be 
difficult to improve on this.

• High CEO error cancellation rates against our benchmarking data;
• Productivity rates may be effected by the morning sweep to check 

P&D machines are working. Whether this is still required should be 
investigated. 

PCN Benchmark SMDC / STCC Average

Recovery rates 70% 73%

Cancelled CEO error 2.5% 0.5%

CEO productivity 0.55 0.8

% PCN Challenged 36% 24%

% Appeal cases lost 100% 56%

Service Delivery recommendations:

1. Renew the SLA with STCC but reduce the number of KPIs to better focus on quality and efficiency
2. Introduce compliance surveys to understand compliance levels in the car parks and so refine deployed hours
3. Develop and implement district specific operational and cancellation policies 
4. Investigate the current high cancellation and challenge rates. 

P
age 406



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Consultation   

1 3

• Extensive consultation carried out between December 2020 and February 
2021

• Cllrs and SMDC officer meetings;
• County, National Park and Tourist board workshops;
• Three town workshops with town councillors, business owners and 

residents;
• Online survey which received 770 responses.

• Majority identified as residents, shoppers and service users

• Age profile slightly skewed towards older age groups (41% respondents 
under 50 compared to 57% of population)

• Biggest interest from Cheadle

• Respondents in Leek have more trouble finding parking spaces in Leek at 
more times of the day

• Half of respondents would prefer to pay by card

• 40% of respondents stated that whilst they did not have a PiV, they would 
use EVCPs in SMDC car parks if they purchased an PiV although over 50% 
were not considering a PiV at the moment. 

3% 4%

32%
35%

13%

45%

59%

78%

19%

3% 5% 4%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Biddulph Cheadle Leek

Frequently At peak times Rarely / Never I don't use them

How often do have difficulty parking?

In-car system
1%

Card
49%

Phone
5%

Cash
29%

I do not pay
16%

In-car system

Card

Phone

Cash

I do not pay

Preferred Method of Payment

P
age 407



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

SWOT Analysis of Base Case Findings

1 4

Strengths Weakness
Net financial surplus prior to Covid Falling parking transactions which could be due to declining high streets
Compliance management is carried out economically subject to focus on key KPIs Equipment is outdated and only cash payment available
Benchmarking of service indicators predominantly positive. No customer information on parking availabiity
Cheadle's parking represents an asset to support regeneration Parking data collection and analysis

 'Tired' quality of car parks
Leek's car parks are generally small and inefficient to manage

Opportunity Threat
New normal of Covid-19 New normal of Covid-19
EV charging Carbon reduction targets
Tariffs are low compared with other regional towns High street decline
Investment in technology for effectiveness/efficiency Viability of building replacement car parks
New payment options
Regeneration opportunities driving demand and parking consolidation

P
age 408



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

District
St rategic  Recommendat ions

P
age 409



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Payment Options – Replace Machines and/or Cashless Payment?

1 6

Range of payment systems is needed but is wholesale machine replacement necessary?

1. Re-equip car parks with contactless – LFL replacement c£150k
Alternatively -
 Target commuter/long term car parks for contactless only immediately
 Significantly reduce the number of machines with cash facility
 Use a ticketless system to remove the need to return to vehicle
 Create a clear specification detailing the functionality you require
2. Improve other systems
• Procure payment by mobile 
• Review permit types to ensure customer ‘fit’ – tourist tickets, flexible permits.
3.  Identify groups with particular needs and create scheme to address them 
• People without bank accounts (RFID with on-machine top up at specified location 

in each town?)
4. Use a positive engagement method
• Brief the press on the initial intentions
• Tell the public the benefits of the new payment methods
• Engage with users when changes are made to help them with new systems
5. Monitor the use of cash and remove facility when other changes are accepted

P
age 410



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Tariffs – Wider Research

1 7

Its all about the destination…

• It’s the ‘value’ of a space as opposed to the cost that is important 
• In turn, this is set by the value of the destination;

• Where this is a link between footfall and parking, it tends to be that higher 
value destinations with higher footfall charge more, not less.

• All the research suggests no correlation; lower prices to do not lead to higher 
footfall.

- e.g. Dr Giuliano Mingardo et. al. Erasmus University of Rotterdam.

British Parking Association National 
survey findings:

1. Location

2. Personal Safety

3. Tariffs

4. Ease of Access

5. No / little queuing

6. Number of spaces

7. Effective surveillance

8. Size of spaces

“Visitors to town centres suggested that car park charges do impact behaviour but the general availability of 
spaces is felt to be more important than cost in their overall decision about visiting. Traffic flow and parking 
signage have as much, if not greater, effect on their decision to visit the town centre, how long they spend there, 
and how much money they spend.” – Association of Town & City Management  

P
age 411



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Initial Tariff Recommendations

1 8

Car Park Charges:
• 3 Options have been modelled with option 1 

showing impact of inflationary rises.

• Option 2 reflects market rates and could reasonably 
be recommended. Proposed higher 1 hour charge 
for busier car park in Leek and lower charge for Well 
St in Cheadle to reflect its poorer location.

• Option 3 is a response to the consultation and offers 
free 1 hour parking at quieter Leek car parks and 
Well Road in Biddulph. 2 hours free parking is 
proposed at Well St in Cheadle with perhaps a 
section of Tape St close to the High Street also 
offering 1 hour free, although the latter has not 
been modelled

• If free parking is offered then a shorter charging day 
would not be necessary and Sunday charging could 
be considered at the same rates to help support 
improvements and a sustainable service.

Option 1
Option 2
Option 3
Additional Options
Charging Hours (0800-1800)
Sunday Charging

c£53k (net of VAT)
c£75k (net of VAT)

Nil

At 18/19 revenue levelsPotential Impact (p.a.)

c£65k (net of VAT)
c£50k (net of VAT)

c10%
c7.5%

c8%
c11.5%

Nil

Option 1 (inflationary rise rounded up)

Leek 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 10 hours
Existing £1.00 £1.00 £1.90 N/A
Proposed £1.10 £1.60 £2.10 N/A
Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 £2.40
Proposed £1.10 £1.60 £2.10 £2.60

Cheadle
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A
Proposed £1.00 £1.50 £2.00 N/A
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 £2.20
Proposed £1.00 £1.50 £2.00 £2.40

Biddulph
Existing £0.60 £0.80 £1.00 £1.80
Proposed £0.70 £0.90 £1.10 £2.00

Option 2 (Market Rates)

Leek 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 10 hours
Prime Short Stay Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A
Market Place, Brook St, 
Queen St, Market St W and 
Market S East

Proposed £1.10 £1.70 £2.50 N/A

Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A
Proposed £1.00 £1.70 £2.50 N/A
Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 £2.40
Proposed £1.00 £1.50 £2.50 £3.00

Cheadle
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A
Proposed £0.90 £1.50 £2.20 N/A
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 £2.20
Proposed £0.60 £1.20 £2.00 £2.50

Biddulph
Existing £0.60 £0.80 £1.00 £1.80
Proposed £0.60 £1.00 £1.50 £2.30

Wharf Rd

Long Stay Variable

Tape St

Well St

Short Stay

Long Stay Variable

Tape St

Well St

Wharf Rd

Short Stay

Option 3 (Market Rates) With selected free 1 or 2 hour stays 

Leek 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 10 hours
Prime Short Stay Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A
Market Place, Brook St, 
Queen St, Market St W and 
Market S East

Proposed £1.10 £1.70 £2.50 N/A

Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 N/A
Proposed £0.00 £1.70 £2.50 N/A
Existing £1.00 £1.50 £1.90 £2.40
Proposed £0.00 £1.50 £2.50 £3.00

Cheadle
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 N/A
Proposed £0.90 £1.50 £2.20 N/A
Existing £0.90 £1.40 £1.80 £2.20
Proposed £0.00 £0.00 £2.00 £2.50

Biddulph
Existing £0.60 £0.80 £1.00 £1.80
Proposed £0.00 £1.00 £1.50 £2.30

Well St

Wharf Rd

Short Stay

Long Stay Variable

Tape St

P
age 412



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Initial Tariff Recommendations

1 9

Season Tickets:

• Covid 19 is however likely to have a major impact on demand for season tickets -workers are likely to continue to 
work from home, at least for a couple of days per week. Cost effectiveness of businesses and employees purchasing 
season tickets that are priced for Monday to Friday use will be impacted.

• Reaction to these changes - offer new more flexible parking products to employers in order to retain their business 
and meet the needs of their employees.

• Suggested new products could include 

• These could be administered via the new mobile payment service once implemented.
• Existing season ticket level should increase annually above inflation to reflect the recommended increases in the 

daily long stay rates.

Product Pricing 
3 day season ticket– to be paid in advance for a 
minimum of 4 weeks. This would allow a maximum of 
12 day visits to a car park per 28 day period to be 
utilised flexibly. 

25% discount on usual daily rate and administered by 
pay by phone service. 

3 day part time season ticket – to be paid in advance for 
a minimum of 4 weeks. This would allow up to 5 hours 
use for a maximum of 12 days in a 28 day period.  This 
would be suitable for part time employees 

25% discount on 4 hour car park rate. 

 

P
age 413



Local
Locat ion s pec i f ic  f ind ings  and  recommendat i ons

P
age 414



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Biddulph

2 1

Town Centre Area Action Plan:
• Policy TC2: “formulation of a coherent parking strategy, including control over 

numbers of public and private spaces, particularly long stay / commuter parking 
and charging policies”.

• Realistically there is little the District can do to deliver the objectives of the 
TCAAP given the limited assets it controls in the town. 

Consultation:
• There are issues with on-street parking;
• Importance of the SMDC Car Park is limited, respondents stated that used the 

super market and on-street parking;
• Town council are willing to consider transfer of operations to the town council.

Recommendations:
• Make best use of existing asset through charging and tariff regime;
• SDMC should be on the look out for opportunities to increase their parking 

assets in the town, but these will need to consider the business case on its own 
merits.

P
age 415



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Cheadle

2 2

Masterplan Options Appraisal:
• Recognises the value of “healthy provision of reasonably priced car parking”, 

although any redevelopment of the two parking sites reduce provision;
• This will need to be considered against requirements as proposals emerge and 

move through the development process. 

Consultation:
• Concern about proposals for a loss of parking but mixed opinions on whether 

there is too much or not enough;
• Consensus that carparks should be improved and offer potential for use as 

public space or other opportunities;
• Broad consensus that a free period is required but that the current free period 

(>09:00 and 15:00>) does not work.

Recommendations:
• Tape Street is a significant asset to SMDC and provides a strategic facility for 

Cheadle and a potential vehicle for regeneration;
• Well Street car park operates at a net loss;
• ‘Look and feel’ and general condition of the car parks should be improved;
• Move remaining High Street parking into the car park;
• Adopt a policy for others uses on the car park, markets, community fairs or 

other opportunities for regeneration.

P
age 416



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Leek

2 3

Leek Town Centre Masterplan: 
• Small, many and dispersed nature of car parks will be generating 

traffic; 
• Proposed fewer car parks on consolidated sites, including 4 key 

gateway sites, no longer practical;
• Decked parking on High Street, removal parking market place 

parking; 
• Undercroft or deck in a regenerated Brook Street area.

Consultation:
• Parking pressure and demand with more people finding it difficult 

to find a space when they need one; 
• Less call for free parking by respondents than the other towns; 
• Small, many, dispersed nature of car parks felt a “blessing and a 

curse”;
• Suggestions for improved parking wayfinding and signage 

generally felt to need improvement.

P
age 417



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Leek – Recommendations

2 4

• Recommendations: 

• Options for consolidation of parking and removal of smaller car 
parks is limited and even the more obvious opportunities have 
problems. Vicarage Road is close to a listed landscape, and 
Brook Street is privately owned (Factcroft Ltd) as is the 
Smithfield Centre (Dean Property Group);

• Given use of phones and in-car infotainment to navigate, car 
park directional signage could be rationalised to concentrate on 
the larger sites (Vicarage Rd, Smithfield and High Street). As the 
price of occupancy sensors reduces this information could be 
supplied in an open format to inform users as to overall 
occupancy levels;

• SMDC has an option to actively seek a site for development 
(linked to regeneration) but this would need to be subject to 
business case and feasibility work.  

P
age 418



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Service Review – Financial Implications of Providing New Decked Car Parks

2 5

High Level Review:
• Viability modelled on the basis that the Council funds new car 

park provision from the revenue surplus. 

• We estimate that additional revenues per space of c£1,200 per 
annum would be required to viably construct a deck over an 
existing car. As revenues per space are currently below this 
level on all car parks, it is unlikely (unless tariffs are increased 
or subsidies are available) that there would be a standalone 
economic case for building more parking spaces, even if an 
appropriate site could be identified.

P
age 419



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Rural Car Parks

2 6

• These car parks cost SMDC to maintain and are chargeable for business rates. 

• Principles:
• Get a better understanding of usage and role; 
• Consider the rationale for their provision – what strategic function does it have, who is using it?
• Is there potential to introduce charges to help fund operational costs.
• Are there better uses?

• Next steps:
• Commission simple count surveys to identify usage/turnover patterns.

Site Rationale Potential Users Potential future use

Blythe B. Library Library Library Pass control to the Library 

Blythe B. Uttoxeter Rd Unclear Residents Small development (2 houses seems reasonable)

Tean. Old Road Unclear Residents / Pub 
customers?

Potential for development (although partially in flood 
risk area).

Forsbrook – Chapel Street Village Centre Residents / shoppers None. 

Wetton – Car Lane Leisure & Thor’s Cave. Leisure users None. Pot. For limited charging on peak days.

P
age 420



S T A F F O R D S H I R E  M O O R L A N D S  C O U N C I L P A R K I N G  M A T T E R S

Tourism

2 7

• Tourist Pass
• PDNP = £40 p.a. but their car parks are rural and serve attractions rather than town centres
• Derbyshire Dales scheme = £24.80 p/w or £10.60 3days;
• Purchase via phone or at P&D terminals;

• Camping Car Aires
• Low cost option similar to Scottish Highlands and Europe include unmarked pitched and chemical toilet 

disposal using septic tank;
• However even with this low-cost option, there will be an ongoing revenue cost;
• Each site would need to be subject to feasibility on its own merits (financial, engineering, policy).

• New Car Parks in tourist areas
• New sites within the PDNP would be limited by their planning policy, but a traffic management case could be 

made if replacing on-street spaces
• Each site would need to be subject to feasibility on its own merits (financial, engineering, policy).

P
age 421



Next Steps  

P
age 422



Next Steps

29

• Incorporate feedback from today

• A recommendations report

• Summary strategy

P
age 423



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 – Car Parking Strategy Report 

Digital Payments Solution for Parking Payments  / Pay by Phone 

 

1. Introduction  

1.1 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council own and operate 28 enforced car parks 
across the District. Car parks are located in the main market towns of Leek, Biddulph 
and Cheadle as well as a 8 are free and 20 are chargeable.  

1.2 Current payment options are limited to pay and display ticket machines, which only 
accept coin payments at present.  The strategic review undertaken by Parking 
Matters includes an immediate action around the implementation of a cashless 
payment solution on the Council car parks.  

1.3 At the start of the pandemic in 2020, there was understandable initial concern about 
the need to touch pay and display parking machines across the district. Although 
fears have now eased, over the summer of 2021 number of residents and visitors to 
the car parks has significantly increased and levels over the summer period have 
exceeded levels from before the pandemic in 2019, probably due to increased levels 
of visitors who are “stay-cationing”. Feedback to the Council has been very strong 
around the requirement for a cashless parking solution. Levels of cash in general, 
have seen a very significant decrease over the course of the pandemic as contactless 
technology has been widely embraced and utilised. This has resulted in fewer people 
carrying the coins which is currently the only way to pay on the car parks.  

 

2. Cashless Parking Solutions  

2.1 The main providers in this area of technology are “Pay by Phone and Ringo”. The 
customer downloads the app to their smartphone and registers their details, 
payment information and their car registration with the app. This data is secured 
within the system and all GDPR Regulations apply.  Once on a car park,  the app 
recognises their location, or alternatively the customer confirms with a unique car 
parking code, which would be displayed by way of signage on the car park. The 
Council’s tariffs for that parking location are stored within the app and the customer 
selects the tariff / ticket type they wish to purchase (length of stay). The customer 
does not need to display a ticket. Pay by Phone also offer the customer the ability to 
use pay on their hosted website and by phone through to a call centre should the 
customer not be able/want to use the app.  

 

2.2 The enforcement officers have access to real time data by way of the provider 
hosted software and they can check the car registrations against the software to 
ensure that payment has been provided. If not, they are able to issue a PCN.  

Page 425



 

2.3 The digital solution has the following benefits for the council: 

• Reduced cash collection costs including milage and therefore carbon emissions.  
• Reduced risk of theft of cash collection / vandalism to pay and display machines.  
• Reduced level of pay and display ticket machines, reducing capital expenditure on 

new machines and ongoing repair and maintenance costs. 
• Reduced costs of tickets supply to machines. 
• Reduction in electric usage by ticket machines.  
• Potential to issue rover passes, and some permit types reducing heavy 

administration requirements to manage permits and passes 
• Diversification of service. Less reliance on outdated machines. 
• Reduction in complaints and negative feedback about lack of payment options  
• Better access to transaction data by way of back office software at no additional cost 

to council. 
• Free tariff updates by way of back office software. Dedicated account manager 

Allowing flexibility to change tariffs quickly, easily facilitating one off promotions.  
• Potential to send message to customers by way of customising app through graphic 

interface. (not direct advertising).   

2.4 The benefits for the customer are as follows: 

• No need to have the correct amount of available coins 
• Once the app is downloaded - its quick and easy and can be used across multiple 

locations 
• Potential to extend stay via the app without needing to return to the car 
• SMS reminder when the allotted parking time is due to expire 
• If no smartphone available, some providers offer an alternative solution to pay by 

way of website OR even all a dedicated payment telephone line.  

2.5 Its not anticipated that a cashless solution would be a complete alternative to P&D 
machines, however there are significant benefits in reducing the number of machines 
(See 2.3 above). Pay and Display machines generally are in the region of £5,000  per 
machine to provide and install. Required connectivity (SIM costs) software and 
maintenance costs are on top. Currently lead in times are running at 16-20 weeks for 
some cashless models. There is no capital outlay in adopting a “virtual” solution.  

 

4. Permit Types 

4.1 There are also a number of permits accepted on car parks across the district which 
are managed manually by way of printed paper tickets. These include: 

• SMDC Staff permits 
• Long stay permits 

Page 426



• Business permits 
• NHS / Key worker permits (covid permit now withdrawn) 

4.2 Permits that are sold that link directly to a vehicle registration could also be 
managed by way of the app.  

 

5 Enforcement 

5.1 Enforcement on the car parks is currently undertaken by Stoke-on-Trent City Council, 
contracted to enforce car parking across Staffordshire (Highways and 
district/borough off-street car parks). Stoke are implementing their own project to 
offer “Pay by Phone“ services and are implementing the back office requirements as 
part of this.   

5.2 Any new system must link through to the enforcement officers to access real time 
data on the car parks to allow them to enforce under the Traffic Management 
Regulations either by sending information to the handheld devices or by way of 
additional device to access the software.  

5.3 The current SM parking order allows the council to issue “virtual” permits and 
facilitates alternative payment methods other than the use of P&D machines.  

 

6. Procurement 

6.1 The Council would look to seek a supplier quickly and simply by way of the ESPO 
framework. The framework includes many of the main providers of the technology. 
There is the option to run a mini-tender exercise through the framework or 
undertake a direct award to a specific supplier on the framework.  

 

7. Pay by Phone 

7.1 A number of our key  partners across the Staffordshire  Parking Board have secured 
“Pay by Phone” as their partner and Stoke City Council are also about to start a 
contract with them. In December 2021 Pay by Phone was rolled out in High Peak and 
a contract is in place that would allow SMDC to enagage quickly with this provider.  
Cheshire East have also started a project with them as well as most of districts on the 
Derbyshire parking board including neighbouring Derbyshire Dales and Derbyshire 
County Council. Initial research would suggest they have the cheapest rates on the 
ESPO framework. They do not charge for access to software, but there is a small 
charge per transaction (See 8.1) 

7.2 Discussions with Pay by Phone, following the work undertaken in High Peak suggests 
a project can be rolled out in as little as 4-6 weeks. The provider has a dedicated 
marketing team to organise the signage, website and can liaise with the Council 

Page 427



Comms team to undertake launch campaign to suit Council’s requirements. The 
Council provide data on the location and tariffs for each car park, and the provider 
will project manage the roll out with the Council’s input as required.  

 

8. Financial Considerations 

8.1 The provider of the service takes a fee per transaction that can either be paid for by 
the council or by the customer. The fee is 5p per transaction up to 250,000 tickets, 
but this is reduced if the number of transactions increases. From 250,000 – 
1,000,000 tickets is 4p per transaction and above one million the costs is 3p. There 
are obvious benefits in procuring one contract across the Alliance.   

8.2 Pay by phone report a better take up of the service if the Council pays the 
transaction fees which has been agreed at 3p based on the transaction levels across 
the Alliance (Almost double the take-up). Pre-pandemic figures from 19/20 indicate 
that SMDC sold 591,000 tickets with the Alliance as a whole selling 1.25 million 
tickets  

8.3 Pay by Phone charge the customer for SMS alerts to warn the customer that their 
period of car parking is due to expire. The customer can then login to the app and 
extend their stay as required assuming this is in line with the tariff and maximum 
stays allowed on the car park. The provider charges 10p per message and this 
income would be split with the council on a 50/50 basis, thus either providing 
additional revue to the council OR covering some of the transaction fee costs, should 
the Council wish to cover these fees.  

8.5 There are also options for the Council to act as the merchant bank to collect the 
payments, or the provider will do this on the council’s behalf and transfer the 
income month.  

8.6  Pay by Phone also have a green agenda that fits well with the Council’s climate 
change ambitions. “Meter for Trees” and “Green Christmas” is an initiate where they 
will plant trees on behalf of their clients and customers if the Council directly reduce 
the numbers of ticket machines we use and if we can promote more customers to 
use the app at Christmas time. They also have dedicated account manager and 
marketing team to work with us to successfully launch the product. 

 

Page 428



Appendix 5 SMDC Car parking Action Plan

Action Theme Year Area
One off 
Costs

Revenue Implication 
(pa) Comments

1

Consider the business case for a strategic full time 
management resource to oversee and implement the 
Strategy and Action Plan Strategic 0-1

Strategic & Service 
Management £25,000

Resource would be shared with High 
Peak. 50/50 split.

2

Procure a pay-by-phone provider (and associated web 
portal), working in partnership with STCC and 
neighbouring authorities to save resources and improve 
customer service. This action is key in enabling many of 
the other actions and recommendations in the strategy Payments 0-1

Strategic & Service 
Management £4,000

Potential to be cost neutral in the 
longer term as cash collection costs 
will reduce as machine usage 
reduces.

3

Implement change in tariff and payment strategy 
ensuring to communicate changes to customers and the 
public, to include tourist pass and review the current 
business permits. Payments 0

Strategic & Service 
Management £500

Potential for lost income depending 
on the policy and strategy agreed. 

4

Carry out Compliance Surveys and review the Service 
Level Agreement with SoTCC to reduce the number of 
KPIs in order to better focus on compliance management 
and appropriate resource allocation

Compliance 
Management 1-2

Strategic & Service 
Management n/a n/a

No costs assuming management 
resource is in place.

5
Investigate the high rate of cancellations and appeals and 
adopt a policy for these to better guide SoTCC.

Compliance 
Management 1-2

Strategic & Service 
Management n/a n/a

No costs assuming management 
resource is in place.

6
Develop a Capital Investment Programme for costed 
renewal of surfacing, signage and curtilage barriers Strategic 2-3 Parking Estate £20,000

Resurfacing included in existing 
capital programme. Indicative budget 
to improve signage. Ongoing 
maintenance should be met through 
existing budgets

7

Adopt a measured approach to deployment and work 
with partners (such as the SCC and NPA) to develop a 
wider EVCP Strategy which considers the needs of 
residents without off-street parking EV Charging 0-2 Parking Estate £25,000

One off revenue cost for consultants 
to undertake EV strategy report. 

Page 1

P
age 429



Appendix 5 SMDC Car parking Action Plan

Action Theme Year Area
One off 
Costs

Revenue Implication 
(pa) Comments

8

Following development of an Investment Programme and 
EVCP strategy, carry out a rolling programme of capital 
improvements to sites EV / Estate 2-5 Parking Estate

Between 
£10k-£30k 
per charger

Unknown ongoing 
costs until delivery 
option has been 
agreed. 

Currently unknown. Capital costs 
depend on sourcing funding from 
OZEV and cost of DNO (bringing the  
required electricity supply into the 
location. 

9

Mandate a project to consider new parking sites at key 
points if deemed necessary once travel and holiday 
patterns have stabilised following the pandemic Tourism 2-5 Parking Estate Unknown

Costs will vary and individual business 
case will be required. 

10

Following the development of an investment programme, 
and working with the County and Town Councils, look to 
improve vehicle wayfinding (fewer sites signed) and 
pedestrian information from Car Parks including renewal 
of maps and interpretation signage.

Wayfinding and 
Signage 1-2 Parking Estate £5,000

Unknown at the moment. Estimate of 
£5k pa

11
Highlight problem on-street parking to the County council 
and implement tariff review All towns 1+

Town & Village Car 
Parks n/a n/a

No cost anticipated from SMDC 
budgets. 

12
Carry out site surveys to gain a better understanding of 
usage and role that the village car parks play Villages 0-1

Town & Village Car 
Parks £2,500 One off cost of surveys

13

Develop a policy for community uses across parking 
estate (e.g. fairs, pop-up cinemas, car-boot sales, markets 
etc.) Towns 1-3

Town & Village Car 
Parks

Potential for lost income depending 
on the policy and strategy agreed. 

14 Improve general look and feel of Well St car park Cheadle 2-3
Town & Village Car 
Parks

15
Tape Street re-sectioned into long stay areas and short 
stay areas Cheadle / tariffs 1-2 £25,000

Cover costs of new signage,, line 
painting / barriers etc… Potential 
costs of moving . Replacing ticket 
machines estimated at £15,000.

16
Work with local community and  SCC to develop options 
for coach parking Cheadle 2-5

Town & Village Car 
Parks .

No cost indications - these will be 
determined on a case by case basis. 

Page 2

P
age 430



Appendix 5 SMDC Car parking Action Plan

Action Theme Year Area
One off 
Costs

Revenue Implication 
(pa) Comments

17
Ensure parking is fully considered in regeneration and 
development proposals Cheadle 0+

Town & Village Car 
Parks

Costs of any regeneration project 
would be determined on a case by 
case basis. 

18

Seek opportunities for new or consolidated car parks as 
part of wider regeneration initiatives and central govt. 
funding opportunities Leek 1+

Town & Village Car 
Parks

Cost of any new car parks would be 
considered on a case by case basis. 

19

Specific focus on Leek with regards wayfinding and 
signage improvements and removal. Harness technology 
in the longer term to show occupancy as and if this 
becomes economic Leek 2-5

Town & Village Car 
Parks

Unknown costs to implement this 
technology at the moment. Unlikely 
to be available at this stage.

20
Review rationale for each site and further actions on a 
case-by-case basis. Villages / Leek 2+

Town & Village Car 
Parks

Costs of any changes would be 
considered on a case by case basis. 

Page 3

P
age 431



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6: Feedback given relating to Cheadle car parks

Cheadle Town Council Comments Team Cheadle Comments
Meeting Summary / Notes taken 

by Member Services
Action Taken Outcome in Strategy

1
Period of free parking on Tape 
Street

30 mins free of charge - 
designated spaces. Residents 
only by way of a permit OR free 
parking after 3pm

Period of free parking 30 mins - 1 
hr

Review impact of 30 min free stay 
and 1 hr free stay.

Accepted 30 minutes free parking 
within new zoned area is 
affordable. Consistent with public 
consultation responses. 

2
No extension to 3:30 pm cut off for 
charging. See above

8-6 was debated. No clear 
consensus on this. 

Review impact of 9-3.30 and 8-6 
charging day. Review impact of 
over night charging. 

8am-6pm charging is required to 
ensure free stays at any time are 
affordable. Overnight charging 
modelled to have very little impact.  

3
1 hr free or school drop off zone 
on Tape St.

Zone Tape St to include drop off 
area behind NFU. Include area for 
long stay (near Iceland) Review options for zoning.

30 mins in new area can be 
manged by displaying ticket, issued 
free for half an hour. Customers 
can choose when to use it, so can 
facilitate school drop offs.  Areas of 
long stay to be included at Tape 
Street as part of proposals. 

4 Increase first hour to £1 from 90p
Reduce hourly charge from 90 - 
60p hr

Increase the charges to 1 hour for 
the second hour. Also - make 
parking cheaper and people will 
stay in town

Conflicting ideas received on this. 
Run scenario of costs

Cost scenarios run across tariffs 
across the district to ensure 
consistency in rationale. Impossible 
to deliver conflicting viewpoints. 

5 Max stay increase to 4 hours
Increase max stay from 3 to 4 
hours

Investigate options for increasing 
stays.

Area around Iceland to be zoned 
for long stays - up to 10 hours. 

6 Retain free Sunday retain Sundays all day free Run cost scenario
Accepted following financial 
modelling of the whole. 

7 Drop off one on NFU Car Park Drop off behind NFU Investigate options.

Accepted new zone to be 
developed facilitating half hour 
stays to "drop off". 

P
age 433



Cheadle Town Council Comments Team Cheadle Comments
Meeting Summary / Notes taken 

by Member Services
Action Taken Outcome in Strategy

8
Area behind B&M should be long 
stay Long stay zones around B&M. 

Accepted new zone to be 
developed. 

9 Introduce parent and child spaces
Parent and Child spaces behind 
B&M Investigate. 

Parent & Child are not possible for 
council to enforce and can 
therefore cause conflict and 
complaints. 

10
Environmental improvements / 
resurface Clearer spaces 

Resurfacing currently being 
undertaken. 

Work already being undertaken as 
part of capital programme. 

11 EVCP EVCP To be included EV strategy  to be developed. 

12
Overnight parking made legal to 
stimulate night time economy Investigate. 

10 hour tariffs available. Overnight 
parking would not generate the 
revenue it would cost to enforce. 
Car parks are NOT closed at night. 

13 Free event car parking all day
Need to determine "free days" for 
events across the whole strategy

Free days to be agreed on a case 
by case basis. Consideration to be 
given to the commercial terms and 
wider impact of the event. 

14 Retain free parking on High Street SCC - Influence
No direct actions as SCC Highways 
in control. Influencing actions only. 

15
Ensure provision for deliveries on 
High St

Ensure deliveries and drop off on 
high street SCC - Influence

No direct actions as SCC Highways 
in control. Influencing actions only. 

P
age 434



Cheadle Town Council Comments Team Cheadle Comments
Meeting Summary / Notes taken 

by Member Services
Action Taken Outcome in Strategy

16

Move High Street bus stops to 
Tape Street - Bus stops and tourist 
coach parking area next to B&M. 

Remove bus stops from High 
Street and relocate Investigate. 

Engage with SCC to see if this is 
possible. Significant costs and 
business case will need to be 
investigated. Implications for 
Masterplanning / Regeneration. 

17
Concessionary parking linked to 
town centre purchases

Concessionary 1 hr refunds 
linked to town centre 
purchases Investigate. 

Discounted on the basis that it is 
difficult and costly to manage a 
scheme like this.   

18
Introduce cashless payment 
system Contactless and cashless system

Noted and agreed as part of the 
wider strategy

Pay by Phone recommendations 
contained within the report.

19
Number plate recognition 
system to be introduced. Investigate

Not allowable under the statute on 
council car parks as well as 
significant cost implications of 
equipment installs. 

20

Chargeable motor home bays - 
boost evening economy and 
increase tourism Investigate

Review with Regeneration as part 
of the Tourism strategy. Business 
case will be required for the 
investment. 

21 More enforcement on High Street Investigate
Within the control of SCC. 
Influencing action.

22 Improve car park signage Investigate

Signage will be updated as part of 
the zoning work. Improvement in 
signage accepted within the 
strategy.

P
age 435



Cheadle Town Council Comments Team Cheadle Comments
Meeting Summary / Notes taken 

by Member Services
Action Taken Outcome in Strategy

23 Lack of investment in Cheadle Wider issue

No specific actions for the Strategy 
although the wider regeneration 
and master-planning issues are 
noted. 

24
More market days and events to 
encourage visitors Wider issue As above

P
age 436



Document is Restricted

Page 437

Agenda Item 13.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 455

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 461

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated)
	5 Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any
	8.1 Forward Plan
	2022/23 Budget & Medium-Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26
	The Queen's Platinum Jubilee Grant Fund
	Rural Sports Villages
	Property and Tourism
	Property and Tourism

	8.2 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2021/22
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	8.3 2022/23 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2025/26
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	8.4 Staffordshire Leaders Board / County Deal
	Appendix A

	8.5 The Queen's Platinum Jubilee Grant Fund
	8.6 Access to Services, Digital and Organisational Development Strategies
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	9.1 Developer Contributions SPD issues and options
	Appendix A

	10.1 Sports Grants Scheme
	10.2 Rural Sports Villages
	11.1 Car Parking Strategy
	Appendix 1
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20

	Appendix 2
	Contents
	1. Introduction
	1.1 COVID-19 Pandemic
	1.2 Staffordshire Moorlands District
	1.3 Overall Vision

	2. Wider Parking Context
	2.1 How Parking can impact and support districts and towns
	2.2 Relationship between charges and footfall
	2.3 Climate Change and Air Quality
	2.4 Local Policy

	3. Baseline - Parking Estate
	3.1 The Estate Condition
	3.2 Parking Demand and Financial Performance

	4. Consultation
	5. The Parking Operation
	5.1 Compliance Management
	5.2 Data Analysis and Delivery of Service
	5.3 Payment Facilities

	6. Electric Vehicle Charging
	6.1 Charging types
	6.2 Power requirements
	6.3 Electric Vehicle Charging Recommendations

	7. Tariffs and charging periods
	7.1 Tariff Comparisons
	7.2 Tariff Options
	Recommended Option

	7.3 Season Tickets

	8. Town Specific Recommendations
	8.1 Biddulph
	8.2 Cheadle
	8.3 Leek
	8.4 Financial Implications of Providing New Decked Car Parks
	8.5 SMDC Rural and Village Car Parks

	9. Tourism
	9.1 Reducing the impact of tourism
	9.2 Supporting Tourism
	9.3 Potential new or expanded sites
	9.4 Camping Car Sites
	9.5 Coach Parking

	10. 5 Year Action Plan
	10.1 Strategic / Service Management
	10.2 Payments Strategy
	10.3 The Parking Estate
	10.4 Towns and Village Car Parks


	Appendix 3
	Slide Number 1
	Todays session 
	Overall Vision
	Wider Context: Technology
	Wider Context: impact of C-19
	Slide Number 6
	Car Park Service Financial Summary
	Car Park Estate – Performance
	Car Park Estate – Performance
	Car Park Estate – Performance
	Tariffs Comparison
	Compliance Management Service Benchmarking
	Consultation   
	SWOT Analysis of Base Case Findings
	Slide Number 15
	Payment Options – Replace Machines and/or Cashless Payment?
	Tariffs – Wider Research
	 Initial Tariff Recommendations
	 Initial Tariff Recommendations
	Slide Number 20
	Biddulph
	Cheadle
	Leek
	Leek – Recommendations
	Service Review – Financial Implications of Providing New Decked Car Parks
	Rural Car Parks
	Tourism
	Slide Number 28
	Next Steps

	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Sheet1

	Appendix 6
	Sumamry of suggestions


	13.1 Facilities Management Joint Venture
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


